

*

I Minho | 2010



Role of monocarboxylate transporters in solid tumours

O papel dos transportadores de monocarboxilatos em tumores sólidos



Universidade do Minho Escola de Ciências da Saúde

Céline Marques Pinheiro

Role of monocarboxylate transporters in solid tumours

O papel dos transportadores de monocarboxilatos em tumores sólidos

Tese de Doutoramento Ciências da Saúde – Ciências da Saúde

Trabalho efectuado sob a orientação da **Doutora Maria de Fátima Monginho Baltazar** Professora Auxiliar da Escola de Ciências da Saúde, Universidade do Minho, Braga, Portugal

É AUTORIZADA A REPRODUÇÃO PARCIAL DESTA TESE APENAS PARA EFEITOS DE INVESTIGAÇÃO, MEDIANTE DECLARAÇÃO ESCRITA DO INTERESSADO, QUE A TAL SE COMPROMETE;

Universidade do Minho, ____/___/____

Assinatura:	_
	-

A tese de doutoramento aqui apresentada foi desenvolvida no âmbito de financiamento pela Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (FCT) através de uma bolsa individual de doutoramento, com a referência SFRH/BD/27465/2006, e do projecto "Monocarboxylate transporters as potential therapeutic targets in cancer: inhibition studies in solid tumor models", com a referência PTDC/SAU-FCF/104347/2008.

AGRADECIMENTOS / ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Todas palavras não chegam para agradecer a quem de algum modo contribuiu para alcançar este momento...

Em primeiro lugar, gostaria de agradecer à Prof. Doutora Fátima Baltazar, orientadora científica desta tese, por toda a disponibilidade, apoio, interesse, simpatia e amizade que demonstrou durante estes 4 anos de trabalho. Por acreditar em mim e me ter dado a oportunidade de me dedicar a uma das coisas que mais me dá prazer: a investigação. Espero poder continuar neste projecto que tantos frutos deu e muitos mais tem para dar...

À Professora Doutora Cecília Leão, directora do Instituto de Investigação em Ciências da Vida e da Saúde da Universidade do Minho, agradeço a grande oportunidade de realizar o meu trabalho nesta instituição de excelência e de dar um pequeno contributo para a ciência de elevado nível que se realiza neste instituto. Queria ainda agradecer o interesse pelo meu trabalho assim como a disponibilidade e simpatia constantes.

Sem dúvida, tenho muito que agradecer a todos os meus colegas de laboratório, os que lá passaram e aos que ainda lá continuam, a fazer dos dias laboratoriais mais do que apenas mais um dia de trabalho.

Em particular, à Luísa pela amizade, conversas aos lanches (e durante as "imunos") e por toda a ajuda que me deste no laboratório. À Ísis pela amizade em tempos "agitados"....

Muito especialmente à Olga, à Sandra, à Sara, à Vera, à Tatiana, à Ana Paula, à Mónica e também ao João, por todos os magníficos momentos no laboratório. E por algum momento menos feliz também... Por todas as gargalhas, ao almoço, ao lanche, ..., no ICVS e fora dele! Mas principalmente, por toda a vossa amizade. Os nossos percursos científicos podem separar-se, mas a amizade fica...

Tenho de agradecer novamente à Vera, pela preciosa ajuda no laboratório sempre que eu já não tinha mãos disponíveis, e a todos os que me deram conselhos, nos meus momentos de menor "lucidez" científica!

Ao Bruno, à Marta, à Inês e ao André, por todo o companheirismo no dia-a-dia e nas actividades extra laboratoriais, que tanto ajudavam a descomprimir!

Aos restantes elementos das Ciências Cirúrgicas, que partilharam comigo as suas ideias e sugestões, e por fazerem deste Domínio aquilo que ele é.

Agradeço igualmente ao Prof. Doutor Rui Reis e ao Prof. Doutor Adhemar Longatto, pela partilha de conhecimento e ajuda na resolução de problemas do dia-a-dia.

Um especial agradecimento vai para o Professor Doutor Fernando Schmitt, pelo precioso contributo das nossas conversas científicas no desenvolvimento do meu trabalho e nas publicações alcançadas. Por todo o apoio, incentivo e imensa simpatia com que sempre me recebe.

Tenho ainda de agradecer aos demais elementos do Instituto de Investigação em Ciências da Vida e da Saúde, principalmente àqueles que contribuíram de algum modo para o meu trabalho, principalmente ao Luís, sempre disponível para me ajudar nas questões da histologia.

A todos os co-autores das publicações, em especial à Joana Paredes e à Bárbara Sousa, pelo enorme contributo que deram para o meu trabalho. Espero que assim continue.

To Professor Luc Pellerin, for all the support and advice, which really contributed to the beginning of MCT studies in our group.

Agradeço ainda à Professora Doutora Luísa Villa e a todos aqueles com quem tive o prazer de colaborar no Brasil. Obrigada pelo apoio e simpatia com que me receberam.

À Prof. Doutora Elsa Logarinho, por toda a ajuda a resolver diversos problemas práticos.

Não posso deixar de agradecer à minha família, em particular aos meus pais, à minha irmã Sílvia e meu irmão Diogo, por todo o apoio, carinho e bons momentos que me proporcionam desde sempre. Sílvia, a ti agradeço-te, além do apoio em casa, todo o apoio que me deste também no laboratório nestes últimos meses! Agradeço também à Yuli que, depois de prima das brincadeiras de infância, se tornou uma grande amiga.

Por último, a ti, Ricardo, por todo o amor, companhia, paciência, por aturares os meus "momentos", ouvires todos os meus desabafos, seja que horas forem, e por compreenderes o tempo que dedico à Ciência. Não me imagino mais sem ti! LY.

ABSTRACT / RESUMO

ABSTRACT

Most solid tumours rely on glycolysis for energy production, even in conditions of high oxygen tension ("aerobic glycolysis", also known as the Warburg effect), giving rise to enhanced lactate production. This lactate production is responsible for extracellular acidification, which, conditioning the tumour environment, favours tumour invasion and suppresses anticancer immune response. Transport of lactate across the plasma membrane is mediated by a family of proton-coupled <u>monoc</u>arboxylate <u>transporters</u> (MCTs), which comprises 14 members. The isoforms MCT1-MCT4 are proton symporters that exhibit different affinities for lactate, leading to different levels of tissue expression. Since some MCT isoforms (especially MCT1 and MCT4) play a role in the intracellular pH homeostasis, by exporting the accumulating lactic acid, they are up-regulated in glycolytic tumours, where high levels of lactate are produced, such as high grade gliomas, colorectal carcinomas and lung cancer. However, the role of MCTs in tumours is far from being well understood and their potential as therapeutic targets is poorly explored, being the main aim of this work to further elucidate the significance of MCT expression in solid tumours.

Thus, MCTs expression and their clinic-pathological value were evaluated in human series of colorectal, cervical, gastric and breast carcinomas. Also, MCT regulation by chaperones was further investigated by analysing CD147 in cervical, gastric and breast carcinomas series, as well as performing a screening in colorectal, breast, lung and ovary tumour samples, where CD44 expression was evaluated, as a putative MCT chaperone, in addition to CD147. Finally, some *in vitro* studies were performed, to determine the contribution of MCTs to cancer cell metabolic profile and viability.

Importantly, up-regulation of MCTs, in particular MCT1, was found in colorectal, cervical and breast carcinomas, but not in gastric carcinomas, which, in fact, showed a decrease of MCT4 along towards malignancy. Also, MCT1 was associated with poor prognosis, especially in breast carcinomas, as well as in gastric carcinoma where MCT1/CD147 co-expression was associated with poorer patient prognostic. Also, as anticipated, CD147 was found to be co-expressed with both MCT1 and MCT4 in the large series studied (cervical, gastric and breast carcinomas). In the tumour screening, CD44 was only associated with MCT1 in lung cancer, however, series were very small and some results warrant further attention. Finally, the *in vitro* studies showed a CHC-induced inhibition of cell proliferation in human breast cancer cell lines that was, in some cases, accompanied by metabolic alterations.

In conclusion, the results presented in this thesis have an important impact on the comprehension of MCT contribution to malignant phenotype and pave the way for further studies aiming to the development of cancer therapies directed to MCTs.

RESUMO

A maioria dos tumores sólidos depende da glicólise para produção de energia, mesmo em condições de alta pressão parcial de oxigénio ("glicólise aeróbia", também conhecida como o efeito de Warburg), dando origem a uma maior produção de lactato. Esta produção de lactato é responsável pela acidificação extracelular, o que condiciona o ambiente do tumor, favorecendo a invasão tumoral e a supressão da resposta imune contra o tumor. O transporte de lactato através da membrana plasmática é mediado pelos transportadores de monocarboxilatos (MCTs), que pertencem a uma família composta actualmente por 14 membros. O transporte mediado pelas isoformas MCT1-MCT4 é um simporte com protões e cada isoforma possui afinidade distinta para o lactato, apresentando uma distribuição diferente nos vários tecidos. Uma vez que algumas isoformas (especialmente o MCT1 e o MCT4) desempenham um papel na homeostasia intracelular, ao exportar o ácido láctico acumulado, está descrito um aumento destas isoformas em alguns tumores glicolíticos, onde são produzidos níveis elevados de lactato, como seja em gliomas de alto grau, carcinomas colorectais e cancro do pulmão. No entanto, o papel dos MCTs em tumores está longe de ser completamento elucidado e o seu potencial como alvo terapêutico ainda se encontra pouco explorado, sendo o objectivo principal deste trabalho caracterizar o papel dos MCTs em tumores sólidos.

Assim, a expressão e valor clínico-patológico dos MCTs foram avaliados em séries humanas de carcinoma colorectal, do colo do útero, do estômago e da mama. Para além disso, a regulação dos MCTs por proteínas chaperonas foi investigada, analisando a expressão da CD147 nas séries de carcinoma do colo do útero, do estômago e da mama, assim como a realização de um estudo-piloto onde a expressão da CD44, outra possível chaperone dos MCTs, foi avaliada em tumores colorectais, da mama, do pulmão e do ovário, para além da CD147. Finalmente, alguns estudos *in vitro* foram realizados de modo a elucidar a contribuição dos MCTs para o perfil metabólico e viabilidade das células tumorais.

De notar que um aumento na expressão dos MCTs, em particular do MCT1, foi encontrado nos carcinomas colorectal, do colo do útero e de mama, mas não nos carcinomas gástricos, que, na realidade, mostraram uma diminuição do MCT4 com o aumento da malignidade. Além disso, a expressão do MCT1 foi associada a um pior prognóstico, em especial nos carcinomas da mama, assim como no carcinoma gástrico, onde a co-expressão do MCT1 com a CD147 foi associada a um pior prognóstico do paciente. Como antecipado, a CD147 estava co-expressa quer com o MCT1 quer com o MCT4, quando avaliado nas séries de maior dimensão (carcinomas do colo uterino, gástrico e da mama). No estudo-piloto, a CD44 estava associada apenas com o MCT1 no

cancro do pulmão, no entanto, o tamanho das séries era muito reduzido e alguns dos resultados obtidos merecem ser explorados no futuro. Finalmente, os estudos *in vitro* mostraram que o tratamento com CHC induz uma inibição da proliferação celular em linhas celulares de tumor da mama, a qual foi, em alguns casos, acompanhada por alterações metabólicas.

Em conclusão, os resultados apresentados nesta tese têm um grande impacto na compreensão da contribuição dos MCTs para o fenótipo maligno e abrem caminho para estudos posteriores que visem ao desenvolvimento de terapias anti-tumorais direccionadas aos MCTs.

CONTENTS

CONTENTS

Contents		xiii
Abbreviations li	st	xix
Aims and Thesi	s Layout	xxiii
Chapter 1. Ge	eneral Introduction	1
1.1. Monoc	arboxylate transporters	3
1.1.1. The	MCT family	3
1.1.1.1.	MCT1	5
1.1.1.2.	MCT2	7
1.1.1.3.	MCT4	8
1.1.1.4.	Other MCT isoforms	9
1.1.2. Role	e of MCTs in metabolic homeostasis	9
1.1.2.1.	Brain lactate shuttle	11
1.1.2.2.	Skeletal muscle lactate shuttle	12
1.1.3. MC	Ts in disease	13
1.1.3.1.	Exercise-induced hyperinsulinism	13
1.1.3.2.	Erythrocyte lactate transporter defect	14
1.1.3.3.	Inflammatory bowel diseases	14
1.1.3.4.	Cancer	15
1.1.4. MC	T regulation	15
1.1.4.1.	Transcriptional level	16
1.1.4.2.	Post-transcriptional level	17
1.1.4.3.	Transporter activity level	17
1.1.4.4.	Hormonal regulation	19
1.1.5. Inhi	bition of MCT activity	20
1.1.5.1.	Classical inhibitors	20
1.1.5.2.	Specific inhibitors	21
1.1.5.3.	Other inhibitors	21
1.2. Role of	f MCT in cancer cell metabolic phenotype	22
1.2.1. Can	cer hallmarks: contribution of microenvironment	22
1.2.1.1.	The Warburg effect	23
1.2.1.2.	Microenvironmental hypoxia and acidosis: the emergence of	f the hyper-
	glycolytic acid-resistant phenotype	25

1.2.1.3. Molecular mechanisms: contribution of HIF-1α	27
1.2.2. Are MCTs suitable targets for cancer therapy?	29
1.2.2.1. Lactate as a contributor for the malignant phenotype	
1.2.2.2. MCT expression in human solid tumours	
1.2.2.3. MCT targeting in tumour models	
1.3. References	
Chapter 2. MCTs in colorectal carcinoma	55
2.1. Chapter overview	57
2.2. Published results	59
2.2.1. Increased expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1, 2 and 4 i	n colorectal
carcinomas	61
Chapter 3. MCTs in cervical carcinoma	71
3.1. Chapter overview	73
3.2. Published results	75
3.2.1. Increasing expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1 and 4 along	progression
to invasive cervical carcinoma	77
3.2.2. Monocarboxylate transporters 1 and 4 are associated with CD147	in cervical
carcinoma	87
Chapter 4. MCTs in gastric carcinoma	97
4.1. Chapter overview	99
4.2. Published results	101
4.2.1. The prognostic value of CD147/EMMPRIN is associated with mono	ocarboxylate
transporter 1 co-expression in gastric cancer	103
Chapter 5. MCTs in breast carcinoma	113
5.1. Chapter overview	115
5.2. Published results	117
5.2.1. Monocarboxylate transporter 1 is up-regulated in basal-like breast car	rcinoma 119
5.3. Submitted results	129
5.3.1. GLUT1 and CAIX expression profiles in breast cancer correlate	with MCT1
overexpression and adverse prognostic factors	131
5.4. Unpublished results	143
5.4.1. Sensitivity of breast cancer cells to CHC, a monocarboxylate tr	ansporter 1
inhibitor	145
Chapter 6. Further insights on MCT regulation	161

6.1. Chapter overview	163
6.2. Published results	165
6.2.1. Expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1, 2 and 4 in human tumours	and
their association with CD147 and CD44	167
Chapter 7. General Discussion	177
7.1. Overview on the contribution to the state of the art	179
7.1.1. MCT expression in solid tumours	179
7.1.2. MCT regulation	182
7.1.3. Effect of MCT inhibition in <i>in vitro</i> models of solid tumours	184
7.2. Conclusions and Future Perspectives	185
7.3. References	187
Appendix I	193
Appendix II	201

ABBREVIATIONS LIST

ABBREVIATIONS LIST

AE1	<u>a</u> nion <u>e</u> xchanger <u>1</u>
AML-1a	<u>a</u> cute <u>m</u> yeloid <u>l</u> eukemia- <u>la</u>
ANF	<u>a</u> lbumin <u>n</u> egative <u>f</u> actor
AP	<u>a</u> ctivated <u>p</u> rotein
CA	<u>c</u> arbonic <u>a</u> nhydrase
CHC	α- <u>c</u> yano-4- <u>h</u> ydroxy <u>c</u> innamate
COX	<u>c</u> yclo <u>ox</u> ygenase
CREB	<u>c</u> AMP- <u>r</u> esponse <u>e</u> lement- <u>b</u> inding protein
DIDS	4,4'- <u>dii</u> sothiocyanostilbene-2,2'- <u>dis</u> ulphonate
FdG-PET	¹⁸ F- <u>f</u> luoro <u>d</u> eoxyglucose <u>p</u> ositron <u>e</u> mission <u>t</u> omography
GBM	glio <u>b</u> lastoma <u>m</u> ultiforme
GLUT1	<u>glu</u> cose <u>t</u> ransporter <u>1</u>
HIF-1a	hypoxia-inducible transcription factor-lalpha
HMGCoA	3- <u>h</u> ydroxyl-3- <u>m</u> ethylglutaryl <u>co</u> enzyme <u>A</u>
HPV	<u>h</u> uman <u>p</u> apilloma <u>v</u> irus
IGF-IR	<u>i</u> nsulin-like growth <u>f</u> actor <u>r</u> eceptor type <u>I</u>
INF-γ	<u>in</u> ter <u>f</u> eron- <u>gamma</u>
LDH-A	<u>l</u> actate <u>d</u> ehydrogenase <u>A</u>
МСТ	<u>m</u> ono <u>c</u> arboxylate <u>t</u> ransporter
MZF1	<u>m</u> yeloid <u>z</u> inc <u>f</u> inger <u>1</u>
NF-E2	<u>n</u> uclear <u>f</u> actor <u>e</u> rythroid 2
NF-κB	<u>n</u> uclear <u>f</u> actor- <u>kappaB</u>
NHE1	$\underline{N}a^+/\underline{H}^+$ exchanger 1
NMP1	<u>n</u> uclear <u>m</u> atrix <u>p</u> rotein- <u>1</u>
Nrf2	<u>N</u> F-E2 <u>r</u> elated <u>f</u> actor <u>2</u>
NSAIDs	<u>n</u> on- <u>s</u> teroidal <u>a</u> nti- <u>i</u> nflammatory <u>d</u> rug <u>s</u>
pCMBS	<u>p-c</u> hloro <u>m</u> ercuri <u>b</u> enzene <u>s</u> ulphonate
PDH	<u>p</u> ruvate <u>d</u> e <u>h</u> ydrogenase
PDK1	<u>p</u> yruvate <u>d</u> ehydrogenase <u>k</u> inase <u>1</u>
PGC-1a	<u>p</u> eroxisome proliferator-activated receptor <u>g</u> amma, <u>c</u> o-activator <u>1 alpha</u>
РКС	<u>p</u> rotein <u>k</u> inase <u>C</u>
PPARα	<u>p</u> eroxisome <u>p</u> roliferator- <u>a</u> ctivated <u>r</u> eceptor <u>alpha</u>

PPRE	<u>p</u> eroxisome <u>p</u> roliferator-activated receptor <u>r</u> esponse <u>e</u> lements
PrP	<u>p</u> rion- <u>r</u> elated <u>p</u> rotein
REMP	<u>r</u> etinal <u>e</u> pithelial <u>m</u> embrane <u>p</u> rotein
siRNA	<u>s</u> mall- <u>i</u> nterfering <u>RNA</u>
SP1	<u>s</u> imian-virus-40- <u>p</u> rotein- <u>1</u>
Sp1	<u>s</u> timulating <u>p</u> rotein- <u>1</u>
T_3	<u>tri</u> iodo <u>t</u> hryonine
TCA	<u>t</u> ri <u>c</u> arboxylic <u>a</u> cid
TMD	<u>t</u> rans <u>m</u> embrane <u>d</u> omain
TNF-α	<u>t</u> umour <u>n</u> ecrosis <u>f</u> actor- <u>alpha</u>
TSH	<u>t</u> hyroid- <u>s</u> timulating <u>h</u> ormone
USF	<u>u</u> pstream <u>s</u> timulatory <u>f</u> actor
VEGF	<u>v</u> ascular <u>e</u> ndothelial growth <u>f</u> actor

AIMS AND THESIS LAYOUT

AIMS AND THESIS LAYOUT

Accumulation of lactate in the tumour microenvironment is a widely described event and this lactate has been associated with poor prognosis in cancer patients. Also, lactate has been recently described as the key metabolic intermediate in the metabolic symbiosis between glycolytic cancer cells and oxidative cancer cells. <u>Monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs)</u>, as facilitators of lactate efflux from cells, mainly the isoforms 1 and 4, are key proteins in cancer cell metabolism and survival. Actually, these membrane proteins have been pointed out several times as promising cancer therapeutic targets. However, studies on MCT contribution to the malignant phenotype are still scarce and more basic scientific efforts on this matter are needed, which will probably result in important findings, with clinical implications.

Therefore, the main aim of this thesis was to further characterise MCT expression in different human solid tumours, as well as to give a contribution to understand the role of MCT in cancer cell hyper-glycolytic phenotype, providing evidence for the exploitation of MCTs as potential targets for cancer therapy.

In **Chapter 1**, a general introduction to the thesis subject is provided, with special emphasis on MCT family members, their role in homeostasis and disease, as well as their regulation and inhibition. The current knowledge on MCT contribution to tumour microenvironment, lactate production and its contribution to the malignant phenotype and the potential of MCTs as targets in cancer therapy are also reviewed.

In **Chapters 2-5**, MCT characterisation in human solid tumours, including results already published, is presented, giving a contribution to the knowledge on MCT behaviour in cancer metabolic adaptations. Characterisation of MCT expression in colorectal carcinoma is presented in **Chapter 2**. In **Chapter 3**, MCT expression, as well as expression of MCT1 and 4 chaperone, CD147, in cervical carcinoma are shown. Characterisation of MCT and CD147 expression in gastric carcinomas is included in **Chapter 4**. Finally, **Chapter 5** provides the results obtained in breast cancer, both in human samples and in *in vitro* models. Besides the published results on MCT and CD147 characterisation in breast carcinoma, **Chapter 5** also includes results, already submitted for publication, where the expression of MCTs was associated with proteins implicated in the metabolic adaptation to hypoxia, i.e. CAIX and GLUT1. Also, unpublished results of *in vitro* MCT inhibition in human breast cancer cell lines, to evaluate the contribution of MCTs for cancer cell metabolic profile and survival, are presented in **Chapter 5**.

Moreover, as MCT regulatory mechanisms are still poorly elucidated, **Chapter 6** presents the published results of a screening study (in a commercial tissue microarray containing breast carcinomas, colon adenocarcinomas, non-small cell lung cancer and ovarian adenocarcinomas), where the recently described MCT regulation by CD44 is explored, in addition to CD147.

Finally, in **Chapter 7**, the main conclusions of **Chapters 2-6** are summarised and further discussed, and some important future directions are suggested.

Chapter 1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1. MONOCARBOXYLATE TRANSPORTERS

Monocarboxylic acids play a major role in cellular metabolism, with lactate, the end product of glycolysis, being especially important. For some highly glycolytic tissues such as red blood cells, white muscle and tumour cells, which rely on glycolysis for energy supply, lactate is produced in high rates and so must be rapidly expelled out of the cell, to maintain high rates of glycolysis. On the other hand, in brain or cardiac and red muscles, where lactate is oxidised as a respiratory fuel, or kidney and liver were lactate is the major gluconeogenic substrate, lactate must be rapidly transported into the cell [1]. Transportation of monocarboxylates through the plasma membrane was originally thought to be via non-ionic diffusion of the free acid, however, following demonstration that lactate and pyruvate transport into human erythrocytes could be strongly inhibited after treatment with chemicals [2], a specific monocarboxylate transport in different cell types like erythrocytes, cardiac myocytes and hepatocytes, among others, the different characteristic observed led to the hypothesis of the existence of a family of monocarboxylate transporters (for review see [3]).

1.1.1. THE MCT FAMILY

The monocarboxylate transporter (MCT) family is presently composed by 14 members (Table 1), and belongs to the major facilitator superfamily [4]. MCTs are encoded by the *SLC16* gene family [5], which is conserved among species, including rat, mouse, chicken and others. Hydropathy plots predict 10-12 α -helical transmembrane domains (TMD) for MCT members, with both N- and C-termini located within the cytoplasm [5], as illustrated in Figure 1 for MCT1. Like members of other families, MCTs exhibit the highest sequence conservation in TMDs and in the shorter loops between TMDs. In contrast, the hydrophilic regions (N- and C-termini as well as the loop between TMDs 6 and 7) show little conservation, indicating that these regions are unlikely to be directly involved in transport, being probably critical in other functional aspects such as substrate specificity or regulation of activity [6]. Theoretical predictions [6] and experimental evidence [7,8] indicate that none of the MCT family members is glycosylated. To function, an MCT translocates a proton and a monocarboxylate through the plasma membrane by an ordered mechanism in which H⁺ binding is followed by monocarboxylate binding to the protonated

transporter [9]. Therefore, MCT activity is dependent on both substrate concentration and proton gradient.

МСТ	UniGene name	Alternate (*former) Name	Sequence accession ID	Human gene locus	Tissue distribution	Transport mechanism
MCT1	SLC16A1		NM_003051	1p13.2	Ubiquitous	H ⁺ cotransporter exchanger
MCT2	SLC16A7		NM_004731	12q14.1	Testis, liver, kidney, skeletal muscle, heart, brain, spleen, pancreas	H ⁺ cotransporter
MCT3	SLC16A8	REMP	NM_013356	22q13.1	Retinal pigment epithelium (RPE), choroids plexus, aorta, placenta, kidney	H ⁺ cotransporter
MCT4	SLC16A3	(*MCT3)	NM_004207	17q25.3	White muscle, white blood cells, tumors, RPE, brain kidney, placenta, small intestine, lung, heart	H ⁺ cotransporter
MCT5	SLC16A4	(*MCT4)	NM_004696	1p13.3	Placenta, intestine, colon	Orphan
MCT6	SLC16A5	(*MCT5)	NM_004695	17q25.1	Kidney, muscle, placenta, intestine, brain, heart, pancreas, prostate, lung	Facilitated diffusion
MCT7	SLC16A6	(*MCT6)	NM_004694	17q24.2	Pancreas, brain, muscle	Orphan
MCT8	SLC16A2	XPCT (*MCT7)	NM_006517	Xq13.2	Liver, brain, kidney, heart, placenta	Orphan
MCT9	SLC16A9		BN000144	10q21.2	Endometrium, testis, ovary, breast, brain, kidney, adrenal, retina	Orphan
MCT10	SLC16A10	TAT1	NM_018593	6q21-q22	Intestine, kidney, skeletal muscle, heart, liver, placenta	Facilitated diffusion/ exchanger
MCT11	SLC16A11		NM_153357	17p13.2	Skin, lung, ovary, breast, pancreas, RPE, choroid plexus	Orphan
MCT12	SLC16A12		ENSG000 00152779	10q23.3	Kidney	Orphan
MCT13	SLC16A13		BN000145	17p13.1	Breast, bone marrow	Orphan
MCT14	SLC16A14		BN000146	2q36.3	Brain, heart, ovary, breast, lung, pancreas, RPE, choroid plexus	Orphan

Table 1. The human SLC16 family of transporters (from [10]).

Although lactate is the monocarboxylate whose transport across the plasma membrane is quantitatively more important, MCTs are also important for the transport of many other metabolically important monocarboxylates such as pyruvate, the branched-chain oxoacids derived from leucine, valine and isoleucine, and the ketone bodies acetoacetate, β -hydroxybutyrate and acetate [1]. Consequently, MCTs have a central role in mammalian cell metabolism and are critical for the communication between cells [3], as illustrated in Figure 2.

Besides being a family of 14 members, only the first four (MCT1-MCT4) have been demonstrated experimentally to facilitate the proton-linked transport of metabolically important monocarboxylates [8,11-13]. **MCT3**, formerly known as REMP (from retinal epithelial membrane

protein), was firstly described the chicken retinal pigment epithelium [14] and then functionally characterised and renamed MCT3 [8]. Subsequent studies showed the very particular distribution of MCT3, limited to the retinal pigment and choroid plexus epithelia [15-18], indicating that these isoform seems to be a very specialised MCT. Therefore, this introduction will only focus on **MCT1**, **MCT2** and **MCT4** isoforms, whose function is responsible for the name of the family of transporters.

EXTRACELLULAR



Figure 1. MCT1 protein diagram (from [19], see Appendix I).

1.1.1.1. MCT1

Most of the early functional studies on plasma membrane lactate transport were performed using red blood cells, since a homogeneous population of these cells could be readily obtained. However, MCTs were biochemically studied for many years before their molecular characterisation was performed [2,20-23]. The discovery and cloning of a mutant allele encoding a protein with preferential transport of the cholesterol precursor mevalonate (Mev) in Chinese hamster ovary cells resulted in new information about the molecular features of MCTs. When characterising the Mev mutation [24], it was found that the wild-type protein preferentially transported pyruvate [25]. This novel protein was designated <u>monocarboxylate transporter 1</u>

(MCT1) and kinetically resembles the biochemically characterised erythrocyte MCT.

Human MCT1 gene, *SLC16A1* (for review see [19], Appendix I), firstly cloned in 1994, by Garcia and colleagues [26], is located chromosome 1 (1p13.2-p12). Structural gene organisation as well as isolation and characterisation of *SLC16A1* promoter was achieved in 2002, by Cuff and Shirazi-Beechey [27]. *SLC16A1* comprises 5 coding exons [27] and, although there are no evidences for alternative splicing in the 5' and 3' <u>unt</u>ranslated regions (UTR) [1], 6 transcripts have been identified, 4 resulting in proteins of different sizes and 2 with no translation product (ENSG00000155380 [28]). MCT1 functional protein is composed by 500 amino acids and has a molecular weight of 53,958 Daltons (P53985, [29]).



Figure 2. Metabolic pathways involving monocarboxylate transport across the mitochondrial and plasma membranes (adapted from [1]). Abbreviations: Ac, <u>ac</u>etoacetate; β HB, <u> β -hydroxybutyrate</u>; Glc-1-P, <u>glucose 1-phosphate</u>; Glc-6-P, <u>glucose 6-phosphate</u>.

MCT1 has an ubiquous distribution in human tissues, with higher expressions in heart and

muscle [6,12,30]. Although conserved among species, MCT1 expression levels in tissues is species-specific [31]. The wide pattern of expression observed for MCT1 may be explained by its substrate affinities that indicate that MCT1, with intermediate substrate affinities, may be involved in both uptake and efflux of monocarboxylates from cells (Table 2). MCT1 transports a variety of substrates including short chain (C2-C5) unbranched aliphatic monocarboxylates such as acetate and propionate. Monocarboxylates with C2 or C3 substitutions (excluding amino- and amidosubstitutions) are also transported or even preferred (e.g. pyruvate, L-lactate, acetoacetate and β hydroxybutyrate) [32-34]. The simplest monocarboxylates and sulphonates are not transported [5]. Also, as can be seen in Table 2, MCT1 is stereoselective for lactate but not for β -hydroxybutyrate.

Although plasma membrane expression is required to the export or uptake of monocarboxylates, MCT1 has also been described to be expressed in mitochondria [35-41] and peroxisome [42]. In these organelles, MCT1 is believed to participate in a lactate oxidation complex to maintain organelle redox and proper functioning.

	MCT1 ^[33,34,43]	MCT2 ^[44]	MCT4 ^[13,45]
L-Lactate	2.2-4.5	0.7	28.0-34.0
D-Lactate	51.0		519.0
Pyruvate	0.6-1.0	0.08	153.0
L -β-hydroxybutyrate	8.1-11.4		824.0
D-β-hydroxybutyrate	8.1-10.1	1.2	130.0
Acetoacetate	5.5	0.8	
Propionate	1.5		
Acetate	3.5		

Table 2. K_m values (mM) of different mammalian MCT isoforms for a range of monocarboxylates.

1.1.1.2. MCT2

In 1995, the second MCT isoform was cloned and sequenced from a hamster liver cDNA library [46]. The *SLC16A7* gene, which encodes for MCT2, is located in chromosome 12 (12q13) [12], comprises 5 coding exons and, although only one transcript is identified in a public database for human *SLC16A7* (ENSG00000118596, [28]), there is evidence for alternatively spliced mRNA species in human and rat [12,31], but no evidence of splice variants of the protein. This isoform

shares approximately 50% sequence identity with MCT1, contains 478 amino acids and has a molecular weight of 52,186 Da (O60669, [29]).

Northern blot analysis of human tissues showed a much more restricted tissue distribution of MCT2, as compared to MCT1, with MCT2 mRNA found in spleen, heart, kidney, pancreas, skeletal muscle, brain, and leukocyte [12]. These results were subsequently validated by Western blot analysis [30]. The fact that, when both MCT1 and MCT2 are expressed in the same tissue, the expression pattern is cell-specific, suggests a distinct functional role between these isoforms [46-49]. Subsequent expression of human MCT2 in *Xenopus* oocytes revealed its unique biochemical feature of facilitating the proton-linked transport of a range of monocarboxylates, especially pyruvate, with a considerable high affinity, supporting the previous evidence of an alternative biological role [12,44]. Therefore, MCT2 emerges as a high affinity transporter (Table 2), being adapted to perform the uptake of monocarboxylates into cells. As a result, MCT2 is found in tissues that use lactate as a respiratory fuel, like brain [30,48-51] or cardiac and skeletal muscle [30,46], and kidney and liver were lactate is the major gluconeogenic substrate [30,31,46]. As MCT1, MCT2 is also found in mitochondria [38,41].

1.1.1.3. MCT4

In 1998, Price and colleagues subsequently cloned four additional human MCT isoforms [6]. These are now referred to as MCT4, MCT5, MCT6 and MCT7, formerly known as MCTs 3-6 [1]. When these four new sequences were identified, one of them, was more closely related to chicken MCT3 than to MCT1 and MCT2, and, despite the much broader tissue distribution [6], the protein was named mammalian MCT3 (*SLC16A3*) [6]. However, Philp and colleagues subsequently cloned rat and mouse MCT3 (*SLC16A8*). This new MCT3, having an expression confined to the retinal pigment epithelium [16,17], as the chicken MCT3 [8,14], suggests that this was the true mammalian equivalent to the chicken MCT3. Therefore, the MCT3 identified by Philp and colleagues maintained the name, while the four isoforms identified as MCT 3-6 by Price and colleagues were renamed MCT 4-7 [1].

The human *SLC16A3* gene (for review see [52], Appendix II), which encodes for MCT4, is located in chromosome 17 (17q25.3), comprises 5 exons and 3 transcripts, with different initiation sites but no difference in protein product has been identified (ENSG00000155380, [28]). The protein is constituted by 465 residues, corresponding to a molecular weight of 49,469 Da (O15427, [29]).

Like MCT1, and in opposition to MCT2 and MCT3, MCT4 has a broader distribution, being particularly observed in highly glycolytic tissues such as white skeletal muscle fibers, astrocytes, and white blood cells [6,13,53]. This led to the hypothesis that MCT4 may be of particular importance in tissues that rely on glycolysis to meet their energy demands, producing high amounts of lactate that need to be rapidly exported [1,53]. In fact, the kinetic properties of MCT4 show that this isoform is adapted to the export of lactate [13,45]. MCT4 shows a much lower affinity for substrates than MCT1 and MCT2 (Table 2), with K_m values of around 30 mM for L-lactate [13,45] and 150 mM for pyruvate [45].

1.1.1.4. OTHER MCT ISOFORMS

Although performing functions different from the family related isoforms MCT1-MCT4, other MCT isoforms have been characterised in the last years. SLC18A10 gene encodes for an aromatic amino-acid transporter (T-type amino-acid transporter 1, named TAT1 rather than MCT10) [54] and has been also recently described, in parallel with MCT8 (SLC16A2) [55], as a thyroid hormone transporter [56]. Importantly, mutations in SLC16A2 have been associated with X linked severe mental retardation and neurological dysfunction [57-61]. MCT6 (SLC16A5) transports bumetanide, but neither L-lactic acid nor L-tryptophan. Butemanide transports is sensitive to pH and membrane potential but does not depend on proton gradient [62]. Although the substrate for MCT12 (SLC16A12) is still unknown, recent studies suggest a function in the establishment and/or maintenance of homeostasis in the eye lens and probably also in the kidney, and a mutation SLC16A12 has been associated with development of cataracts [63,64]. Furthermore, SLC16A12 has been identified as a possible biomarker for colon, prostate and breast carcinoma, due to gene hypermethylation [65]. Finally, a polymorphism in SLC16A9 (encoding **MCT9**) was found to be associated with altered serum uric acid [66], however MCT9 substrate is still unknown, as for the remaining members of the family (MCT5, MCT7, MCT11, MCT13 and MCT14).

1.1.2. ROLE OF MCTS IN METABOLIC HOMEOSTASIS

As already mentioned, monocarboxylate transporter across the plasma membrane, both efflux and uptake, is of extreme importance to maintain the cellular metabolic homeostasis. Rapid
efflux of lactic acid across the plasma membrane is essential to all mammalian cells that are glycolytic or become glycolytic due to environmental conditions like hypoxia [3]. Lactic acid may be exported by MCT1; however, in cells that rely on glycolysis for energy production, MCT4 appears to be the major isoform. MCT4 has a high K_m for pyruvate, so, unlike MCT1, ensures that this metabolite is not lost from the cell but reduced to lactic acid, regenerating NAD⁺, therefore allowing glycolysis to continue [5]. Uptake of lactate is also of great importance in tissues such as liver and kidney, where lactic acid is transported into the cell to support gluconeogenesis and lipogenesis, and in tissues like heart, skeletal muscle and brain, where lactate, together with ketone bodies, is used as a major respiratory fuel [1]. Both skeletal muscle and heart express MCT1 to meet this role, while in liver, kidney and brain both MCT1 and MCT2 can be used, with the latter providing a higher affinity lactate uptake mechanism [1]. Despite the role of MCTs in a wide tissue range, no detectable MCT activity is found in the β-cells of the Islets of Langerhans in the endocrine pancreas. This phenomenon is also of major physiological relevance, since, by not allowing the for pyruvate and lactate, that could enter the citric acid cycle and produce ATP, ensures that adequate amounts of insulin are secreted [67].

Importantly, lactate is a quantitatively important oxidisable substrate and gluconeogenic precursor, being responsible for coordination of intermediary metabolism in diverse tissues. This role of lactate as oxidative and gluconeogenic substrate, as well as in cell signalling, is explained by the "cell-cell" and "intracellular lactate shuttle" concepts [68-70]. According to the "cell-cell lactate shuttle" hypothesis, lactate produced in glycolytic cells will be utilised continuously under fully aerobic conditions. This is the case of lactate exchanges between glycolytic astrocytes and oxidative neurons [71], between white-glycolytic and red-oxidative fibres within a working muscle, and between tissues of net release of lactate and gluconeogenic tissues [72]. In the "intracellular lactate shuttle", mitochondria play a fundamental role in the oxidative catabolism of lactate, thanks to a lactate oxidation complex composed of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) and MCTs, which is associated with the electron transport chain [39,40,73]. An "intracellular lactate shuttle" is also present in the peroxisome [42]. As lactate is more reduced than pyruvate, lactate oxidation to pyruvate (or exchange with pyruvate, and subsequent oxidation) induces a change in the cell redox balance. Hence, lactate production in one compartment and its removal from another, whether the compartments are at the cellular or tissue level, represents a major signalling mechanism [5]. In this regard, MCTs, as responsible for lactate shuttling, play an important role in metabolic coordination, linking glycolysis to oxidative metabolism and gluconeogenesis [69], as well as providing some harmonisation to the cytosolic redox potential [5].

Two cell-cell lactate shuttles have been described with more detail, one in the **brain** and the other in **skeletal muscle**, as presented bellow.

1.1.2.1. BRAIN LACTATE SHUTTLE

The classical view of neuroenergetics describes that normal brain is restricted almost exclusively to glucose as the substrate for energy production, which is directly delivered to neurons via the blood supply [74]. However, recent evidence revealed a more complex metabolic pathway, where astrocytes play a role in providing lactate as an additional energy source for neurons (for review see [75-77]).

It was previously shown that lactate produced by muscle during exercise could be used by the brain [78-80], as well as that astrocytes have the capacity of producing lactate in the presence of normal oxygen levels [81]. With the description of MCT cell-specific expression by both in vitro and in vivo studies, new evidence for a complementary metabolism between neurons and astrocytes was provided [48-51,82-84]. MCT1 expression is found in astrocytes [48-51,82-84], as well as in brain endothelial cells [51,82]. Although firstly reported in astrocytes [82,84], MCT2 is exclusively found in neurons [48-51,83], while MCT4 presents a strong expression in the plasma membrane of astrocytes [51]. Thus, a mechanism of cell-cell lactate shuttle between astrocytes and neurons (Figure 3) is consistent with, on one hand, the fact that neurons contain more mitochondria than astrocytes [85], hence neurons are mainly oxidative while astrocytes are mainly glycolytic, and, on the other hand, the K_m values of each MCT isoform (Table 2). Thus, glycolytic astrocytes consume glucose supplied by the blood flow and the resultant lactate is exported through MCT1 and MCT4 to the extracellular space; this lactate will be transported by the high affinity MCT2 into the oxidative neurons, to be used as a energy substrate for mitochondrial oxidation [51,71,75-77]. As mentioned above, MCT activity is not limited to plasma membrane as neurons contain a mitochondrial lactate oxidation complex that has the potential to facilitate both intracellular and cell-cell lactate shuttles in brain [73].



Figure 3. Schematic illustration of lactate shuttle between astrocytes and neurons (adapted from [51]). Abbreviations: GLUT, <u>glucose transporter</u>; LDH, <u>lactate dehydrogenase</u>; MCT, <u>monocarboxylate transporter</u>; Ox Phos, <u>ox</u>idative <u>phos</u>phorylation; TCA, <u>tricarboxylic acid</u>.

1.1.2.2. Skeletal muscle lactate shuttle

It is known that lactate is released from diverse tissues like skeletal muscle, skin and red blood cells, but the high glycolytic rates of skeletal muscle makes this tissue the main producer of lactate in the body. This lactate derived from glycolytic skeletal fibers may be consumed by adjacent oxidative skeletal fibers or enter the blood flow and be taken up by other tissues such as heart and brain to be used as a respiratory fuel, or liver as substrate of gluconeogenesis [1]. MCT1 and MCT4 are both found in skeletal muscle; however, their relative amounts are dependent on the type of muscle fiber. MCT1 expression is prominent in slow twitch (red) muscle fibers [30,53,86-89], which present oxidative metabolism, and correlates with the concentration of mitochondria [86]. In contrast, MCT4 is preferentially expressed in glycolytic fast twitch (white) muscle fibers [30,53,87-89]. MCT fiber-specific distribution and differences in MCT affinity for lactate (Table 2), support the hypothesis of a cell-cell lactate shuttle in skeletal muscle where lactate produced by glycolytic fibers is exported by the low affinity MCT4 [13,45], and subsequently imported by oxidative fibers through MCT1, which has a higher affinity for lactate than MCT4. The major role

of MCTs in muscle function is supported by the increase in the density of both MCT isoform, especially MCT1, after training periods [90-98].

1.1.3. MCTS IN DISEASE

Considering the fundamental role of lactate transporters in key metabolic processes like glycolysis and gluconeogenesis, it is not surprising that alterations in MCT expression or function are associated with physiological dysfunctions. In fact, MCT4 overexpression was reported in a patient with a mitochondrial myopathy [99] and MCT4 down-regulation (35% lower expression) was described in the *vastus lateralis* muscle of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease [100]. However, these alterations in MCT4 expression appear to be more a consequence rather than a cause of the disease.

In contrast, *SLC16A1* mutations associated with **exercise-induced hyperinsulinism** [101] and **erythrocyte lactate transporter defect** [102], as well as a decrease in *SLC16A1* gene transcription in **inflammatory bowel diseases**, have been described and will be further explored below.

1.1.3.1. EXERCISE-INDUCED HYPERINSULINISM

Exercise-induced hyperinsulinism is characterised by inappropriate insulin secretion by pancreatic β -cells, especially during anaerobic exercise, in response to exogenous catabolic metabolites such as lactate and pyruvate [103-105]. As previously mentioned, pancreatic β -cells show no MCT activity [67], however, an increase of MCTs in β -cells plasma membrane, will allow the entry of pyruvate into the cell and a consequent increase in ATP production and insulin secretion. Although no mutations were detected in the coding regions of eight MCT genes in earlier studies [104], sequencing of the 5' UTR and promoter regions of the SLC16A1 gene brought new insights on the mechanism for this disease [101]. By studying affected members of a Finnish family, segregating autosomal dominant exercise-induced hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemia, Otonkoski and colleagues identified two functional alterations in SLC16A1. First, a +163G-A transition in exon 1, located within a binding site for nuclear matrix protein-1 (NMP1) and predicted to disrupt the binding sites of 2 potential transcriptional repressors (albumin negative factor (ANF) and acute myeloid leukemia-la (AML-la)), and, second, a 25-bp insertion between nucleotides -23 and -24, introducing additional binding sites for the ubiquitous transcription factors simian-virus-40-protein-1 (SP1), upstream stimulatory factor (USF) and myeloid zinc finger 1 (MZF1). The first variation leads to a 3.5-fold increase in transcription while the second variation leads to a 10-fold increase in transcription. These mutations were not found in 94 Finnish and German controls, excluding the probability of being polymorphisms [101].

1.1.3.2. ERYTHROCYTE LACTATE TRANSPORTER DEFECT

In 1986, a rare condition in which apparently healthy patients suffered severe chest pain and muscle cramping after vigorous exercise, was associated with an impaired capacity of lactate transport by skeletal muscle and red cells [106]. More recently, Merezhinskaya and colleagues identified three heterozygous transitions in the *SLC16A1* gene, in patients with erythrocyte lactate transporter defect. Firstly, a 610A>G transition (resulting in a lys204-to-glu (K204E) substitution in a highly conserved residue); secondly, a 1414G>A transition (resulting in a gly472-to-arg (G472R) substitution halfway along the cytoplasmic C-terminal chain, in a non-conserved residue); and thirdly, a 1470A>T transition (resulting in a glu490-to-asp (E490D), which revealed to be a common polymorphism) were identified in patient's muscle biopsies. Erythrocyte lactate clearance in patients with the 2 mutations was 40 to 50% that of normal control values, while for patients with the polymorphism erythrocyte lactate clearance was 60 to 65% of mean normal [102]. However, heterologous expression of the MCT1 K204E mutant, considered the most important alteration due to its location in a conserved residue, failed to support any difference in its properties from wild type MCT1 [5]. Thus, it remains unclear if mutations in MCT1 are responsible for cryptic exercise intolerance.

1.1.3.3. INFLAMMATORY BOWEL DISEASES

Butyrate, a monocarboxylate commonly referred to as a short-chain fatty acid, is produced in the lumen of the colon by microbial fermentation of dietary carbohydrates that escape digestion in the small intestine. This monocarboxylate is the major energy source for colonic epithelial cells and exerts a variety of effects important to intestinal health and function [107]. Impaired oxidation of butyrate has been associated with inflammatory bowel disease, but the mechanism was not known [108,109]. Recently, it was observed that inflammation caused down-regulation of MCT1

expression in the colonic tissue, the MCT isoform responsible for butyrate uptake in colonic epithelial cells [110]. Also, treatment of intestinal epithelial cell lines with pro-inflammatory cytokines (interferon-gamma (INF- γ) and tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) induced down-regulation of MCT1 gene transcription, which was associated with a reduction in butyrate uptake and subsequent oxidation. Thus, reduction in MCT1-mediated butyrate uptake is the cause of butyrate oxidation deficiency in intestinal inflammation [111].

1.1.3.4. CANCER

It is known that tumour cells are highly glycolytic, producing lactic acid in excess, and both biochemical and molecular evidence suggest the up-regulation of MCTs in some tumour cells [112]. However, since the role of MCTs in solid tumours is the main subject of this thesis, a more detailed review of the state of the art is included latter on.

1.1.4. MCT REGULATION

Reports on MCT expression variations, especially MCT1, have been described in different physiological as well as pathological conditions including, among others, MCT up-regulation in skeletal muscle in response to training [90-98], down-regulation after muscle denervation [53] and in inflammatory bowel diseases [111], changes in MCT expression during development [113-117] or substrate-induced MCT1 up-regulation [118-120]. Importantly, regulatory mechanisms vary among MCT isoforms, which allow induction of specific isoforms upon different stimuli, adapting cells to different energy demands.

Although the regulatory mechanisms of MCT expression are far from being completely unveiled, plenty of evidence indicates that MCTs are regulated at various points up to the functional protein, including both **transcriptional**, and **post-transcriptional** [31,88,95,119,120] regulation that affects protein amounts as well as regulators of **transporter activity**, like chaperone proteins. Further, **hormone** regulation has also been described for MCTs, as well as regulation by signalling pathways like insulin-like growth factor receptor type I (IGF-IR) activation, which up-regulates MCT1 [121].

1.1.4.1. TRANSCRIPTIONAL LEVEL

Transcriptional regulation of genes is a complex mechanism involving intervention of many regulatory proteins, including transcription factors, functioning as enhancers or repressors of gene transcription [122]. Analysis of *SLC16A1* 5'-flanking region allowed the identification of putative binding site sequences for the transcription factors USF, <u>nuclear factor-kappaB</u> (NF- κ B), <u>activated protein 1</u> and 2 (AP1 and AP2) and <u>stimulating protein-1</u> (Sp1) [27]. In fact, USF1 and USF2 have been described as potential repressor proteins for MCT1 [123], NF- κ B pathway has been involved in the butyrate-induced MCT1 up-regulation [124], while AP2 has been associated to protein <u>kinase C</u> (PKC)-dependent stimulation of the *SLC16A1* promoter [125].

Additionally, lactate-induced increase in MCT1 has been linked to activation of NF- κ B and <u>n</u>uclear <u>factor erythroid 2</u> (NF-E2) pathways, as well as <u>c</u>AMP-<u>r</u>esponse <u>element-binding</u> protein (CREB) and <u>NF-E2 related factor <u>2</u> (Nrf2) transcription factors, the last three elements possessing also putative transcription binding sites in the *SLC16A1* 5'-flanking region [120].</u>

More recently, the co-activators peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma, <u>co</u>activator <u>1 alpha</u> (PGC-1 α) [126] and peroxisome proliferator-<u>a</u>ctivated receptor <u>alpha</u> (PPAR α) [127,128] have been associated with MCT1, but not with MCT2 and MCT4 up-regulations. In fact, promoter analyses of MCT1, MCT2 and MCT4 have shown that the *SLC16A1* promoter contains two peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor response <u>e</u>lements (PPRE) while *SLC16A7* and *SLC16A3* each contain one PPRE [126].

In expression studies, *SLC16A1* was also shown to be activated by *c-myc* and *n-myc* protooncogenes [129-131], while the pro-inflammatory cytokines IFN- γ and TNF- α , have also been implicated in the transcriptional control of MCT1, by down-regulating *SLC16A1* transcription [111].

Hypoxia conditions, which are known to induce the glycolytic phenotype, are also associated with altered expression of MCTs [132-138]. The first report described a tissue-specific change in MCT expression after chronic hypoxia, where MCT1 did not change in heart, soleus, or gastrocnemius muscles, while MCT4 increased significantly in heart muscle. However, in the plantaris muscle, both MCT1 and MCT4 showed a significant decrease after chronic hypoxia [132]. A subsequent study suggested that the increase in neuronal, astrocytic and endothelial MCT1 expression, observed after permanent occlusion of the left middle cerebral artery, is mediated by the hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha (HIF-1a) [133], the major transcriptional regulator of adaptation to hypoxic stress; however, this view was promptly contested by Ullah and collaborators who, after performing functional studies with MCT1, MCT2 and MCT4 promoters,

showed that only MCT4 promoter was activated by hypoxia and that this response was mediated by HIF-1 α [135]. Additionally, MCT4, but not MCT1, was shown to be up-regulated by hypoxia in human bladder cancer cells [134] and in trophoblast cells [136], and MCT1 and hypoxia were described as being mutually exclusive [137]. However, recent evidence describe a hypoxiamediated increase in both MCT1 and MCT4 and decrease in MCT2, with MCT1 and MCT4 change being HIF-1 α -dependent [138]. From this, one can conclude that evidence so far, especially on MCT1 regulation by hypoxia, is very controversial and more efforts have to be made to enlighten the knowledge on MCTs' regulation by hypoxia.

1.1.4.2. POST-TRANSCRIPTIONAL LEVEL

The relatively long 3'UTR of *SLC16A1* (1.6kb), on which initiation factors and regulatory proteins interact to enhance or repress translation [139], suggests that MCT1 expression, but not MCT2 nor MCT4 which have much shorter 3'UTRs, might also depend on translational regulation [1,5].

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are a group of small non-coding RNAs (approximately 22 nucleotides) that play a critical role in a variety of biological processes, like development, differentiation and apoptosis. Mature miRNAs negatively regulate their targets through complementary sequence pairing with the 3' UTR of mRNA targets, inducing transcript degradation or translational repression (for review see [140]). One of the most well characterised miRNAs in mammalian nervous system is miR-124, which has been described to regulate MCT1; miR-124 regulates *SLC16A1* through binding to its 3' UTR and MCT1 protein level is reduced after miR-24 transfection [141]. Regulation of *SLC16A1* mRNA stability has already been described in the context of MCT1 regulation by butyrate [119].

1.1.4.3. TRANSPORTER ACTIVITY LEVEL

Other factors that may regulate functional expression of MCTs are accessory proteins that are involved in trafficking and anchoring of membrane proteins to specific cellular locations. In this context, CD147 emerges as the major and better studied regulator of MCT expression.

CD147, also known as basigin, EMMPRIN, OX-47 and HT7, is a broadly distributed plasma membrane glycoprotein discovered in 1982 [142], which belongs to the immunoglobulin

superfamily [143]. Originally identified as a tumour surface protein with the ability of inducing matrix metalloproteinases, with a critical role in tumour progression, CD147 expression is found in cells other than tumour cells where it plays an important role in fetal, neuronal, lymphocyte and extracellular matrix development as well as tissue repair (for review see [144,145]). Co-immunoprecipitation and chemical cross-linking studies showed that CD147 specifically interacts with MCT1 (Figure 4) and MCT4, but not MCT2. Also, co-transfection of CD147 allowed active expression of MCT1 and MCT4, but not MCT2, in the plasma membrane of MCT-transfected cells. When CD147 was not co-transfected, MCT accumulated in a peri-nuclear compartment [146]. The close association between CD147 and both MCT1 and MCT4 within the plasma membrane was confirmed by co-localisation studies [67,147,148].



Figure 4. <u>Monocarboxylate transporter 1</u> (MCT1) and CD147 predicted interaction (from [146]). This interaction is proposed to involve an arginine residue within the transmembrane segment 8 of MCT1 and a glutamic acid residue in the transmembrane segment of CD147.

Importantly, subsequent studies showed that, besides being important for MCT membrane location [149-153], CD147 has also a role in MCT1, 3 and 4 expression [18,151,153,154] and improvement of MCT activity [149,155]. On the other hand, MCT1 and MCT4 have also shown to be regulators of CD147 maturation and trafficking to the plasma membrane [150,151]. As mentioned above, although also requiring an ancillary protein for proper expression, MCT2 does not interact with CD147 nor is influenced by CD147 expression [18,146]. This function is fulfilled by another member of the immunoglobulin superfamily, the gp70 protein [156], which, in co-

immunoprecipitation and co-localisation studies, was found to interact with MCT2 [155]. Gp70 has also been described as interacting with MCT1 in rat erythrocytes [157].

More recently, other players were included in the MCT/CD147 complex. The widely distributed transmembrane glycoprotein **CD44** and its main ligand, hyaluronan, were implicated in the regulation of lactate efflux and membrane localisation of MCTs, in human breast carcinoma cells [158]. In fact, CD44 co-immunoprecipitates with MCT1, MCT4 and CD147 and co-localises with these proteins in the plasma membrane. Perturbation of endogenous hyaluronan, using hyaluronan oligosaccharides, induced intracellular accumulation of CD44, MCT1 and MCT4. These observations suggest that constitutive interactions between hyaluronan, CD44 and CD147 regulate MCT localisation and function of MCT1 and MCT4 [158]. Importantly, a role of CD44 activation has been described in cell growth control, adhesion, migration, invasion, and chemoresistance [159-161], which may count on the contribution of MCTs.

Additionally, other modulators of transporter activity may directly affect MCT function, independently of affecting protein amounts and location, including <u>carbonic anhydrase</u> (CA) II, which enhance both MCT1 and MCT4 activity by direct binding [162-164], <u>prion-related protein</u> (PrP) [165] and intracellular calcium [166].

1.1.4.4. HORMONAL REGULATION

Hormonal regulation of MCTs may involve transcriptional and post-transcriptional mechanisms. MCTs' regulation by hormones has been firstly described in 2002, as luminal leptin was shown to significantly up-regulate MCT1-mediated butyrate uptake, in Caco2-BBE cell monolayers. This increased uptake was achieved through two distinct mechanisms: an increase in the intracellular pool of MCT1 protein, with no changes in CD147 amounts, and translocation of MCT1/CD147 to the apical membrane of Caco2-BBE cell monolayers [167]. Shortly after, the hormones thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH), noradrenaline, triiodothryonine (T₃) and somatostatin were also described as modulators of MCT expression [168-171]. TSH regulates MCT1 protein levels [170]; noradrenaline induces MCT2, but not MCT1 expression, in mouse neurons, at the translational level, with the requirement of an yet unknown transcriptional step [168]; MCT4, but not MCT1, is induced by T₃ in rat skeletal muscle [169]; and somatostatin increases MCT1 association with CD147 at the plasma membrane, with an increase in the apical membrane levels of MCT1 protein in parallel to a decrease in the intracellular MCT1 pool [171].

1.1.5. INHIBITION OF MCT ACTIVITY

Several agents are known to inhibit MCT activity, in an isoform-dependent manner. These include classical inhibitors like α -<u>c</u>yano-4-<u>h</u>ydroxy<u>c</u>innamate (CHC) or quercetin, inhibitors that influence MCT activity in a specific manner like AstraZeneca inhibitors, and molecules that, being used in particular contexts, have also been described as inhibitors of MCT activity like cholesterol synthesis inhibitors (statins) and <u>n</u>on-<u>s</u>teroidal <u>anti-i</u>nflammatory <u>drugs</u> (NSAIDs) (for review see [10]).

1.1.5.1. CLASSICAL INHIBITORS

Identification of MCT inhibitors was achieved during characterisation of MCT1, as the most studied MCT isoform. Bulky or aromatic monocarboxylates were among the first inhibitors of lactate transport to be identified, which, as substrate analogues, are competitive inhibitors of MCT1 [3]. Later on, other types of molecules were identified as inhibiting MCT1 activity, as well as the activity of other isoforms.

Classical reversible inhibitors of MCTs fall into three broad categories (for review, see [3,5,11]):

(1) Bulky or aromatic monocarboxylates like phenyl-pyruvate and CHC. In this category, the derivatives of α -cyanocinnamate are the most potent, with K_i values of 50-500 μ M. However, although CHC is often used as a MCT1 specific inhibitor [137,172,173], it also inhibits the mitochondrial pyruvate transporter with a K_i<5 μ M, as well as the <u>a</u>nion <u>exchanger 1</u> (AE1), which is responsible for Cl⁻/HCO₃⁻ membrane exchange [174].

(2) Amphiphilic compounds with widely divergent structures like bioflavonoids (e.g. phloretin and quercetin) [175] and inhibitors of anion transport (e.g. niflumate). Phloretin and quercetin are particularly potent inhibitors of MCT1 but, like the majority of MCT classical inhibitors, they also inhibit other membrane transport systems.

(3) Stilbenedisulphonates (e.g. 4,4'-<u>dii</u>sothiocyanostilbene-2,2'-<u>dis</u>ulphonate (DIDS)). These inhibitors are some of the most effective MCT inhibitors with K_i <40 μ M, however, with much lower affinity than for AE1.

Additionally, miscellaneous inhibitors including thiol reagents, such as the organomercurial thiol reagent <u>*p*-chloromercurib</u>enzene <u>sulphonate</u> (pCMBS), and amino reagents (e.g. pyridoxal phosphate and phenylglyoxal) irreversibly inhibit MCTs (for review, see [3,5,11]).

Importantly, these inhibitors have different affinities among MCT isoforms. MCT2 is more sensitive to CHC, DIDS and phloretin than MCT1 [44], but is not sensitive to pCMBS, due to the different ancillary protein [155]; MCT3 is insensitive to CHC, pCMBS and phloretin [176]; and MCT4, although also sensitive to CHC, DIDS and pCMBS, inhibition is achieved with a much lower affinity, which is in accordance with the low affinity characteristics of this transporter [13,45].

1.1.5.2. Specific inhibitors

As mentioned above, none of the MCT classical inhibitors is either MCT specific or MCT isoform specific. Therefore, to investigate the role of MCT in cellular function, MCT specific inhibitors should be used.

T cell activation is dependent on glycolysis and this leads to a high rate of lactate production, due to a higher energetic demand during proliferation and cytokine production [177]. In the immunological context this may be of great importance, as inhibition of T cell activation has therapeutic implications in immunosuppressive therapy. It was in this perspective that specific MCT1 inhibitors arose, when MCT1 was identified as the target for newly developed **AstraZeneca immunomodulatory compounds**, that potently inhibit human and rat T lymphocyte activation [178,179]. These compounds have shown promising results in allograft rejection both in mouse and rat [180,181], having also been used in the context of the astrocytes-neuron lactate shuttle, where inhibition of both MCT1 and MCT2 was achieved [182]. In fact, some of these compounds appear to be MCT isoform specific [178], while others, although binding with higher affinity to MCT1, also bind to other MCT isoforms [182].

1.1.5.3. OTHER INHIBITORS

Lonidamine is a derivative of indazole-3-carboxylic acid, which for a long time, has been known to inhibit glycolysis in cancer cells. Although this action was originally attributed to hexokinase inhibition [183], further studies revealed that lonidamine inhibits lactate efflux from cancer cells [184,185], through inhibition of MCT1 and MCT4 [130]. Actually, despite a lack of knowledge of its precise mechanism of action, lonidamine has been effective in clinical trials against various tumours, especially as a sensitizer to other chemotherapies [186].

Statins are 3-<u>hydroxyl-3-methylg</u>lutaryl <u>co</u>enzyme <u>A</u> (HMGCoA) reductase inhibitors, which are used as safe and effective drugs for managing hypercholesterolemia [187]. Lipophilic compounds, such as fluvastatin, atorvastatin, lovastatin acid, simvastatin acid and cerivastatin, have monocarboxylate structures within the compounds, making these molecules putative MCT substrates. Actually, these statins have been shown to be MCT4 substrates and, therefore, inhibitors of lactate and other substrates' transport [188-190]. The interaction of simvastatin with MCT4 accounts for the simvastatin-induced muscular toxicity, observed in MCT4 expressing skeletal muscle but not in MCT1 expressing heart muscle [191].

Although apparently being transported through a transport system other than MCT in trophoblast BeWo cells [192], **NSAIDs** have been described as partially transported by MCT1 in Caco-2 cells [193], and also described as potent inhibitors of lactate transport [188,189,192].

1.2. ROLE OF MCT IN CANCER CELL METABOLIC PHENOTYPE

The role of MCTs in physiological homeostasis is widely accepted and described in detail in some tissues. Also, as mentioned previously, MCT has also a role in disease. However, in what concerns tumour biology, a lot of work is needed to shed some light in that area. Even though, if one looks at the microenvironmental scenario and molecular events that occurs in carcinogenesis, it is possible to anticipate an important contribution of MCTs in the progression to malignancy.

1.2.1. CANCER HALLMARKS: CONTRIBUTION OF MICROENVIRONMENT

Over the last years, much attention has been given to the genetic and epigenetic alterations occurring in cancer development, which ultimately leads to emergence of invasive cancer. In fact, conceptual models of epithelial carcinogenesis are typically based on Darwinian dynamics and depict a sequence of heritable changes, as described in the genetic model of colorectal tumourigenesis described by Fearon and Volgestein [194], that give rise to a population of cells possessing the hallmarks of invasive cancer (Figure 5) [195]. Therefore, in general, cancer evolution consists in accumulation of alterations in oncogenes, proto-oncogenes and tumour suppressor genes that will increase growth-promotion signals and decrease growth inhibitors [196]. However, this classical view does not account for the other component of Darwinian dynamics, where the environment exerts a selection force that will only allow the emergence of

successful adaptations. In this context, the specific changes that occur in tumour microenvironment are emerging as key components in carcinogenesis.



Figure 5. The hallmarks of cancer. Although through various mechanistic strategies, all cancers have acquired the same set of functional capabilities during their development (from [195]).

1.2.1.1. THE WARBURG EFFECT

More than half a century ago, Otto Warburg demonstrated that cancer cells rapidly convert the majority of glucose into lactate, even in the presence of sufficient oxygen to support mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation [197]. This phenomenon is presently known as "aerobic glycolysis" or "**Warburg effect**" (Figure 6). Although Warburg's hypothesis that impaired mitochondrial metabolism underlies the high rates of glycolysis has proven incorrect [198-200], the original observation of increased glycolysis in tumours has been confirmed repeatedly. In fact, this increased glucose uptake by cancer cells is the rationale behind the whole-body non-invasive ¹⁸F-<u>f</u>luoro<u>d</u>eoxyglucose positron <u>e</u>mission tomography (FdG-PET) technique. This widespread clinical application is used for diagnosis, initial staging, restaging, prediction, monitoring of treatment response and surveillance in a variety of cancers [201].



Figure 6. Schematic representation of the main differences between oxidative phosphorylation, anaerobic glycolysis and aerobic glycolysis (adapted from [202]).

Aerobic glycolysis, where metabolism of glucose to lactate generates only around 4 ATP per molecule of glucose (Figure 6), is a much less efficient energetic pathway than mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation, where complete oxidation of one molecule of glucose through yields around 30 ATP [203]. Additionally, the metabolic products of glycolysis, including lactic acid and H^+ , cause a consistent acidification of the extracellular space [204-207], which might result in cellular toxicity. Therefore, why do cancer cells engage into the glycolytic phenotype, where only a fraction of the energy is obtained from glucose and possibly harmful products are produced? At first glance, cancer cells have no proliferative advantage in having a glycolytic metabolism, however, as discussed below, this apparent deleterious feature is, in fact, the key cellular trait that allows selection for cancer cells [208].

1.2.1.2. MICROENVIRONMENTAL HYPOXIA AND ACIDOSIS: THE EMERGENCE OF THE HYPER-GLYCOLYTIC ACID-RESISTANT PHENOTYPE

Epithelial cells and the underlying stroma are physically separated by a basement membrane. As carcinogenesis occurs, the epithelial cell layer becomes increasingly thicker, driving cells towards a lumen that is further away from blood supply, as blood vessels are confined to the stroma (Figure 7). Therefore, early carcinogenesis and development of the malignant phenotype occur in an avascular environment, and cancer cells become dependent on glucose and oxygen diffusion through blood vessels and basement membrane to fulfil the major metabolic demands [208,209]. The first limiting substrate for cell growth is oxygen, with hypoxia expected at distances between 100 to 150 µm from the vessel wall [210-212], while glucose diffusion distances are substantially larger [196,211,213].



Figure 7. Model for cell-environment interactions in carcinogenesis (adapted from [208]). Cell colours represent different cell types: grey for normal epithelial cells, pink for hyper-proliferative cells, blue for hypoxic cells, green for glycolytic cells and yellow for motile cells. Light orange nuclei represent one mutation while dark orange nuclei represent more than one mutation. Blebbing membranes show apoptotic cells. Abbreviations: HIF-1 α , <u>hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha</u>; VEGF, <u>vascular endothelial growth factor</u>.

Hence, if early hyperplastic lesions develop further than a few layers beyond the basement membrane, regional development of hypoxia will occur, limiting cell growth. This intermittent hypoxia will promote selection for cells with anaerobic glycolysis constitutively up-regulated, allowing further cell growth [208,209,214]. However, how could the cell benefit from entering an energetically less efficient metabolism? Besides being a successful adaptation to hypoxic microenvironment, anaerobic glycolysis allows cancer cells to use the most abundant extracellular nutrient, glucose, to produce ATP, which, thanks to the high glycolytic rates (more than 30-fold higher than normal cells [215]), can easily exceed the ATP yield of oxidative phosphorylation [216]. Additionally, excess pyruvate provides a source for anabolic substrates essential for biosynthetic pathways, including ribose sugars for nucleotides, glycerol and citrate for lipids, and nonessential aminoacids [216,217]. Importantly, aerobic glycolysis may protect DNA from damage by oxygen radicals produced by oxidative phosphorylation [218].

The next limiting step was originally thought to be the glucose diffusion limit [208], however, new evidence demonstrates that the microenvironment acidosis created by the glycolytic phenotype is responsible for further selection, in this case, of an acid-resistant phenotype [196,209,214]. Since prolonged exposure to an acidic microenvironment typically results in necrosis or apoptosis [219,220], additional adaptations of cancer cells will include resistance to acid-induced apoptosis and up-regulation of membrane pH regulators [208]. This potential disadvantage of hyper-glycolytic phenotype, in fact provides further competitive advantage [208] since, on one hand, the significant decrease in local extracellular pH generates a microenvironment that is fatal to the surrounding normal cells, but harmless to cancer cells and, on the other hand, facilitates cancer cell invasion behaviour [221-224] through the acid-induced degradation of the extracellular matrix [225,226] and angiogenesis [227,228].

Therefore, adaptation to hypoxia and acidosis will force the emergence of an adaptive phenotype with constitutive up-regulation of glycolysis and resistance to acid-induced toxicity, that will invade the normoxic regions and ultimately breach the basement membrane towards invasion (Figure 7) [196]. Hence, aerobic glycolysis, a common feature in primary tumours, is pointed as an additional hallmark of cancer, as it is required for evolution of invasive human cancers (Figure 8) [208,229].



Figure 8. The hallmarks of cancer (adapted from [229]). The eight rectangular icons represent the hallmarks of cancer, while the three circular icons indicate three important components of the physiological microenvironment that must be overcome in cancer progression. Abbreviation: CiS, <u>c</u>arcinoma <u>in situ</u>.

1.2.1.3. MOLECULAR MECHANISMS: CONTRIBUTION OF HIF-1a

As mentioned above, the glycolytic phenotype arises as an adaptation to the hypoxic environment. It is widely known that the major regulator of adaptation to hypoxic stress is the transcriptional factor **HIF-1** α , which has been widely associated with cancer progression [230-235]. In fact, many enzymes from the glycolytic pathway like the <u>glucose transporter 1</u> (GLUT1) [236,237], <u>lactate dehydrogenase A</u> (LDH-A) [238], <u>pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1</u> (PDK1) [239,240], among others [235,241,242], are HIF-1 α targets (Figure 9). With the increase in glucose uptake into the cell, due to higher amounts of glucose transporters, as well as clearance of pyruvate by rapid conversion of pyruvate into lactate through LDH-A (with regeneration of NAD⁺), high glycolytic rates can be maintained. Actually, metastatic cancer cells expressing high levels of HIF-1 α , are highly glycolytic, even under normal oxygen conditions, whereas non-metastatic cancer cells consume low amounts of glucose and have low HIF-1 α levels [243]. Additionally, by up-regulating PDK1 (which inactivates the tricarboxylic <u>a</u>cid (TCA) cycle enzyme <u>pyruvate dehydrogenase</u> (PDH)), HIF-1 α will also contribute to suppress the

mitochondrial metabolism, rescuing cells from ROS generation and hypoxia-induced apoptosis [239,240]. Besides contributing to the constitutive glycolytic metabolism, HIF-1 α also contributes to the acid-resistant phenotype, by up-regulating, at least, two important pH regulators, MCT4 [135,138] and CAIX [244-246]. As mentioned above, by co-transporting lactate with H⁺, MCT4 has an important function as pH regulator. In fact, MCT4 will not only be important for the acid-resistant phenotype, but also for the hyper-glycolytic phenotype in the way that, by exporting newly formed lactate, will allow continuous conversion of pyruvate to lactate and, therefore, continuous aerobic glycolysis. CAIX catalyses the extracellular hydration of CO₂ into HCO₃⁻ and H⁺. Then, HCO₃⁻ enters the cell through AE1 where, in combination with the accumulating H⁺ derived from the glycolytic metabolism, forms CO₂ and H₂O, that will exit the cell by diffusion, causing trapping of the H⁺ in the extracellular milieu [174,247]. Therefore, HIF-1 α plays a major role in inducing the hyper-glycolytic acid-resistant phenotype.



Figure 9. Major signalling network to regulate metabolism in proliferating cells (from [216]). Abbreviations: 3-PG, <u>3</u>-phosphoglycerate; AAs, <u>aminoacids</u>; Ac-CoA, <u>acetyl-coenzyme A</u>; FH, <u>fumarate hydratase</u>; GF, growth <u>factor</u>; glc, <u>glucose</u>; glc-6-P, <u>glucose-6-phosphate</u>; GLUT1, <u>glucose transporter 1</u>; HIF-1α, <u>hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha</u>; Lac, <u>lactate</u>; LDH-A, <u>lactate dehydrogenase A</u>; mTOR, <u>mammalian target of rapamycin</u>; ROS, <u>reactive oxygen species</u>; PDH, <u>pyruvate dehydrogenase</u>; PDK1, <u>pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1</u>; PI3K, <u>phosphatidylinositol <u>3-kinase</u>; PTEN, <u>phosphatase and tensin homolog</u>; Pyr, <u>pyr</u>uvate; SDH, <u>succinate dehydrogenase</u>; TCA, <u>tricarboxylic acid</u>; TSC, <u>tuberous sclerosis complex</u>; VHL, <u>von Hippel-Lindau</u>.</u>

Additionally, constitutive up-regulation of the glycolytic phenotype may occur through oncogene activation or tumour suppressor inactivation. Among others, *AKT* [248-250] and *c-myc* [251-253] oncogenes have been described as activating aerobic glycolysis (Figure 9), the last one in cooperation with HIF-1 α [254-256]. Loss of the tumour suppressor p53 has also been implicated in the glycolytic phenotype [257,258].

1.2.2. ARE MCTS SUITABLE TARGETS FOR CANCER THERAPY?

The frequency and severity of tumour hypoxia and its association with malignant progression make the hypoxia-induced metabolic adaptations promising targets for cancer therapy [259]. Actually, the development of treatments that target tumour metabolism is receiving renewed attention, with several potential drugs targeting metabolic pathways currently in clinical trials (Table 3, for review see [260]). However, MCTs are not yet included in this list of metabolic targets for cancer therapy.

Compound	Target	Effect	Stage as anti- tumour therapy	Tumour types targeted	Study number(s)
2-deoxyglucose	Hexokinase	Inhibits glycolysis	Phase I/II	Advanced solid tumours (e.g. lung, breast, prostate and gastric)	 NCT00633087 NCT00096707 NCT00247403
Lonidamine	Hexokinase	Inhibits glycolysis	Phase III	Benign prostatic hyperplasia	 NCT00435448 NCT00237536
3-bromopyruvate	Hexokinase	Inhibits glycolysis	Preclinical	N/A	N/A
TLN-232	Pyruvate kinase	Inhibits glycolysis	Phase II	Metastatic melanoma and renal cell carcinoma	NCT00735332
Dichloroacetate	PDK1	Reactivates PDH	Phase I/II	Metastatic solid tumours, glioma and GBM	 NCT00540176 NCT00566410 NCT00703859
Phenylacetate	Glutamine	Reduces plasma glutamine levels	Phase II	Brain tumours (e.g. glioma, astrocytoma and medulloblastoma)	 NCT00003241 NCT00006450 NCT00001565
Acetazolamide, Indisulam and other sulfonamides	Carbonic anhydrases	pH regulation	Phase II	Solid tumours (e.g. pancreatic, lung, melanoma and metastatic breast)	 NCT00060567 NCT00165594 NCT00165880 Others
Cariporide	NHE1	pH regulation	Preclinical	N/A	N/A
Perifosine and GSK690693	AKT	Inhibits AKT	Phase I/II	Solid tumours (e.g. renal cancer and NSCLC) and lymphoma	 NCT00399789 NCT00399152 NCT00493818
PX-478	HIF1a	Inhibits HIF signalling	Phase I	Advanced solid tumours and lymphoma	NCT00522652
Acriflavine	HIF1a	Inhibits HIF signalling	Preclinical	N/A	N/A
Tirapazamine and other bioreductive compounds	Нурохіа	Resensitizes cells to other treatments	Phase III	Solid tumours (e.g. cervical, SCLC and NSCLC)	 NCT00033410 NCT00098995 NCT00017459
Bevacizumab and related compounds	Hypoxia, VEGF and VEGFR	Blocks angiogenesis	US FDA approved	Solid tumours (e.g. malignant glioma, NSCLC, ovarian and colorectal)	>100
MK-0646, BIIB022, AVE1642 and others	IGF1R	Blocks IGF signalling	Phase I/II	Solid tumours (e.g. NSCLC, pancreatic, hepatocellular carcinoma and metastatic breast)	 NCT00799240 NCT00555724 NCT00791544 Others

Table 3. Compounds targeting tumour glycolysis metabolism (adapted from [260]).

As mentioned, the acid-resistant phenotype is essential for cancer cell survival. Hence, different pH regulating systems are present in the plasma membrane of cancer cells (Figure 10), including the $\underline{Na^+/H^+}$ exchanger <u>1</u> (NHE1), CAIX and AE1. Intracellular H⁺ ions are primarily extruded by NHE1, while lactic acid together with H⁺ are exported by MCTs, in particular MCT1 and MCT4. CAIX, as already described, works in collaboration with AE1 to trap H⁺ ions in the extracellular space (for review see [261]). Although MCTs are not the major H⁺ transporters, they perform a double role in the adaptation to hypoxia: export of lactate, essential to the hyper-glycolytic phenotype, and pH regulation, important to the acid-resistant phenotype. Thus, MCTs appear as very promising targets in cancer cells with hyper-glycolytic acid-resistant phenotype.



Figure 10. Therapeutic targets for manipulation of metabolism in malignant tumours (from [260]). Abbreviations: 5-FU, <u>5-fluorouracil</u>; α KG, <u>alpha-ketoglutarate</u>; ACLY, <u>ATP citrate ly</u>ase; CA, <u>carbonic anhydrase</u>; CINN, α -cyano-4-hydroxycinnamate; DCA, <u>dichloroacetate</u>; FASN, <u>fatty acid synthase</u>; G6P, glucose-<u>6-phosphate</u>; Glut, <u>glucose transporter</u>; HK, <u>hexokinase</u>; IGF1, <u>insulin-like growth factor 1</u>; IGF1R, <u>IGF1 receptor</u>; LDH, <u>lactate dehydrogenase</u>; Mal, <u>malate</u>; MCT, <u>monocarboxylate transporter</u>; NHE1, <u>Na+/H+ exchanger 1</u>; OAA, <u>oxaloacetate</u>; PDH, <u>pyruvate dehydrogenase</u>; PDK, <u>pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase</u>; PEP, <u>phosphoenol pyruvate</u>; PK, <u>pyruvate kinase</u>; R5P, <u>ribose 5-phosphate</u>; TCA, tricarboxylic <u>acid</u>.

1.2.2.1. LACTATE AS A CONTRIBUTOR FOR THE MALIGNANT PHENOTYPE

As mentioned before, tumour acidity is associated with cancer cell invasion behaviour, i.e. increased migration, invasion and metastases. Additionally, cancer acidosis is also associated with mutagenesis/clastogenesis, radioresistance and resistance to anthracyclines [208]. It has long been known that lactic acid is the main source of tumour acidity, as hyperglycemia acidifies the tumour microenvironment [204,262,263]. Although lactate has been proven to cause acidification of the extracellular milieu [264-268], other sources of acidity, like carbon dioxide, which were described later on, probably have higher contribution to acidification of tumour microenvironment [264-267]. Although sharing its role as tumour acidifier, lactate has other properties which contribute modestly to the malignant behaviour of cancer cells. As mentioned above, T cell activation is dependent on high rates of glycolysis, therefore, dependent on a rapid efflux of lactate from T cells [177]. However, if extracellular concentration of lactate is high, lactate efflux from T cells will be inhibited. This is the case of the tumour micromilieu and, as a consequence, T cell metabolism and function will be disturbed, decreasing the immune response against tumour cells [268]. Also, evidence shows that both lactate and pyruvate regulate hypoxia-inducible gene expression, independently from hypoxia, by stimulating the accumulation of HIF-1 α [269]. This indicates that, lactate, per se, stimulates the hyper-glycolytic phenotype, providing a positive feed-back. Moreover, exogenous lactate was demonstrated to increase cellular motility [270], vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), the major angiogenic factor [271-273], as well as hyaluronan and its receptor CD44, which are molecules involved in the process of cancer invasion and metastisation [274,275]. Altogether, this evidence shows the various biological activities of lactate that can enhance the malignant phenotype of tumour cells, contributing to the association of high tumour lactate concentrations with incidence of metastases [276-279], tumour recurrence, patient survival [278,279] and radioresistance [280].

Although glucose is the major source of lactate in most solid tumours, it is important to note that other cancer pathways rather than glycolysis can culminate in the production of lactate. This is the case of glutaminolysis and serinolysis [281-284]. Nevertheless, lactate will always be a metabolic end-product, either cancer cells use glycolysis or other energetic pathways for energy and biomass production.

As already mentioned, lactate, besides being an end-product of different metabolic pathways, may also be a substrate for oxidative phosphorylation. Actually, as described in skeletal muscle and in brain, a cell-cell lactate shuttle as been proposed for cancer cells. Therefore, a metabolic symbiosis between glycolytic and oxidative cancer cells was described, in which the

peripheral and oxygenated oxidative cells consume the lactate produced by the central and less oxygenated glycolytic cells [137]. As discussed below, this might have important therapeutical implications.

1.2.2.2. MCT EXPRESSION IN HUMAN SOLID TUMOURS

Giving the increased lactate and acid production by cancer cells, one can anticipate that MCTs, especially MCT1 and MCT4, as the transporters responsible for lactate efflux from cells, with a pH regulation function, are increased in tumours. Also, as already mentioned, MCTs are regulated by HIF-1 α [133,135,138] and *c-myc* oncogene [129,131], which are key molecular players in the metabolic adaptations in cancer progression. Although less explored than other proteins involved in the glycolytic pathway or even than other pH regulators, reports on the importance of MCTs in cancer are becoming more frequent with years.

The first report on MCT expression in human tumour samples described a decrease of MCT1 expression (by Western blot) in colonic transition from normality to malignancy [110], which was further supported by a larger study analysing MCT1, MCT2, and MCT4 expressions by Northern blot, Western blot and, only for MCT1, immunohistochemistry, in 25 healthy colon samples, 20 adenomas and 30 carcinomas. MCT1 decrease was confirmed, while MCT2 and MCT4 protein expression was not detected, despite mRNA expression of MCT4 [285]. However, evidence from Koukourakis and collaborators [286] showed a clear and strong membranous expression of MCT1 in cancer cells in all the 70 colorectal carcinomas analysed but not in the 20 normal colonic samples. These contradictory results are probably due to antibody specificity, with special attention to the fact that the first immunohistochemical study failed to show MCT1 expression in the plasma membrane of cancer cells, which is essential for plasma membrane lactate efflux. Koukourakis and collaborators also found MCT1 expression in tumour-associated fibroblasts, favouring absorption of the accumulating lactate from the extracellular matrix, to be used as energy source, as well as lack of endothelial MCT1, to avoid lactate absorption and vascular destruction by acidosis. Additionally, MCT2 was strongly expressed in the cytoplasm of cancer cells and tumour-associated fibroblasts, indicating a possible role of MCT2 in the mitochondrial uptake of pyruvate. Finally, MCT4 was weakly expressed in the tumour micromilieu, suggesting a minimal role in the metabolic intratumoural communication. Besides MCTs, other relevant metabolic proteins were studied and a model of complementary metabolism between cancer cells, tumour-associated fibroblasts and vessels is proposed (Figure 11) [286]. A

similar metabolic cooperation between lung cancer cells and tumour-associated stroma was described, where overexpression of MCT1 was found in all tumours examined, with MCT2 and MCT4 also expressed in cancer cells. Tumour-associated stroma weakly expressed MCTs while no expression of MCTs was found in normal lung [287]. MCT1, in association with its chaperone CD147, was also described in alveolar soft part sarcoma [148].



Figure 11. Model of metabolic cooperation between cancer cells, tumour-associated fibroblasts and endothelial cells (from [286]). **Step 1**, glucose (G) reaches cancer cells through the tumour-associated vasculature followed by absorption by <u>glucose</u> transporter <u>1</u> (GLUT1). Glucose absorption by stromal fibroblasts is much lower, while, endothelial cells absorb glucose directly from the blood. **Step 2**, in cancer cells, glucose is transformed into pyruvate (P) and subsequently to lactate (L). Cancer cells may, therefore, have minimal requirements for oxygen so that oxygen use is reduced. **Step 3**, the high concentrations of lactate in the cancer cell cytoplasm is rapidly extruded to the extracellular matrix through the intense activity of the <u>monoc</u>arboxylate transporter <u>1</u> (MCT1). **Step 4**, the high expression of MCT1 in stromal fibroblasts results, under low pH conditions, in intense absorption of lactate that is eventually used as a fuel to acquire energy after its oxidation back to pyruvate. Aerobic metabolism is, therefore, the main source of energy acquired by fibroblasts; thus, the oxygen diffused from the tumour-associated vessels is used mainly by the stroma and not by cancer cells. **Step 5**, excess pyruvate production within fibroblasts creates a gradient between cytoplasm and extracellular matrix, with MCT1 exporting pyruvate that can be used subsequently by cancer cells as a fuel, ending again in lactate production. Abbreviations: LDH, lactate <u>dehydrogenase</u>; m, mitochondria; PDH, <u>pyruvate <u>dehydrogenase</u>; PDK, <u>pyruvate <u>d</u>ehydrogenase <u>kinase</u>.</u></u>

In neoplastic human tissues of the central nervous system, strong expression of MCT1 was found in ependymomas, hemangioblastomas and high grade glial neoplasms (anaplastic astrocytomas and glioblastoma multiforme (GBM)), whereas low-grade glial neoplasms (oligodendrogliomas and astrocytomas) were either negative or showed weak MCT1 expression. MCT1 expression was also present in microvessels and ependymocytes of normal tissues [288]. Additionally, Western blot analysis in total protein extracts from normal brain and primary brain tumours (GBMs) demonstrated that normal brain predominantly expressed MCT3, whereas MCT1 and MCT2 were the major isoforms present in GBM tumours. MCT4 was not detected in any of the tumour tissues [289]. A more recent study on a sympathetic nervous system tumour, neuroblastoma, showed, by mRNA quantification, that MCT1 expression in this type of tumour is also high and is associated with age >1 year at diagnosis, stage 4 disease, unfavourable Shimada histopathology, DNA diploid index, *n-myc* amplification and high-risk clinical group (Children's Oncology Group criteria) [130].

As expected, a general up-regulation of MCTs, especially MCT1, is found in solid tumours. However, evidence for MCT down-regulation is not only observed in colon carcinoma [110,285]. In fact, silencing of *SLC16A1* by gene promoter hypermethylation in 4 of 20 breast cases (20%) is suggested, however, the resultant decrease of mRNA and protein were not demonstrated [290].

1.2.2.3. MCT TARGETING IN TUMOUR MODELS

Inhibition of MCTs will have a direct effect on monocarboxylate transport, as well as on pH homeostasis, therefore having an important effect on cancer cell viability. Also, considering the above mentioned cell-cell lactate shuttle in cancer cells, where MCT1 has a crucial role as the gatekeeper of metabolic symbiosis of cancer cells, by importing lactate into oxidative cells, targeting of MCT1 will have important implications in cancer homeostasis (Figure 12). Blocking the capacity of aerobic cells to use lactate will force them to use glucose, depriving hypoxic tumour cells of adequate amounts of glucose and, therefore, favouring hypoxic cell death. Radiotherapy is then particularly suited to eliminate the remaining oxygenated cells in the vicinity of blood cells [137]. Finally, taking into account all the biological activities of lactate that can enhance the malignant phenotype, together with the fact that MCTs' up-regulation has been described in some tumours, MCT inhibition may be a useful therapeutic approach in cancer, counteracting lactate effects and, therefore, among others, increase the immune response against tumour cells and decrease migration capacity of cells.



Figure 12. Model for therapeutic targeting of lactate-based symbiosis in tumours (from [137]). Hypoxic tumour cells depend on glucose and glycolysis to produce energy. Lactate, the end-product of glycolysis, diffuses along its concentration gradient towards blood vessels. In contrast, oxygenated tumour cells import lactate through monocarboxylate transporter 1 (MCT1) and oxidise it to produce energy. In the respiration process, lactate is preferred over glucose. As a consequence, glucose freely diffuses through the oxygenated tumour cells to fuel glycolysis of distant, hypoxic tumour cells. This metabolic symbiosis can be disrupted by MCT1 inhibition. Upon MCT1 inhibition, oxidative tumour cells switch from lactate oxidation to glycolysis, thereby preventing adequate glucose delivery to glycolytic cells, which die from glucose starvation. This glycolytic switch is associated with a decrease in oxygen consumption of surviving tumour cells, which is responsible for increased tumour pO₂. MCT1 inhibition is thus a potent antitumour strategy that indirectly eradicates hypoxic/glycolytic tumour cells. Abbreviation: GLUT, <u>glu</u>cose <u>transporter</u>.

Actually, it was demonstrated that MCT1 inhibition decreases intracellular pH [130,137,172], leads to *in vitro* cell death [130,137,172,173,289] and enhances cancer cell radiosensitivity [173]. Additionally, silencing of MCT4 results in decreased cancer cell migration [151], by mechanisms that also involve interaction of MCT4 with β_1 -integrin [291]. Importantly, promising results using *in vivo* models have also been reported, where administration of CHC retarded tumour growth and rendered tumour cells sensitive to radiation [137].

Over the last few years, different approaches have been used to disrupt the function of tumour MCTs, including the already mentioned CHC [130,137,172,173] and lonidamine [130]. Additionally, since these inhibitors have also other targets rather than MCTs, <u>small-interfering RNAs</u> (siRNAs) have also been used to inhibit MCT activity in a more direct manner [130,137,289]. The use of MCT1 specific inhibitors designed by AstraZeneca may also be an effective strategy to block MCT1 tumour activity both *in vitro* and *in vivo* and, perhaps, may also be adequate compounds to use in the clinical context. As CD147 has an important role in MCT trafficking to the plasma membrane and MCT activity [18,146,149-155], indirect MCT inhibition through CD147 has also proven to have the ability of reducing the malignant potential of cancer cells [152-154].

1.3. REFERENCES

1. Halestrap AP, Price NT. The proton-linked monocarboxylate transporter (MCT) family: structure, function and regulation. Biochem J 1999; 343 Pt 2: 281-99.

2. Halestrap AP, Denton RM. Specific inhibition of pyruvate transport in rat liver mitochondria and human erythrocytes by alpha-cyano-4-hydroxycinnamate. Biochem J 1974; 138: 313-6.

3. Poole RC, Halestrap AP. Transport of lactate and other monocarboxylates across mammalian plasma membranes. Am J Physiol 1993; 264: C761-C782.

4. Pao SS, Paulsen IT, Saier MH, Jr. Major facilitator superfamily. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 1998; 62: 1-34.

5. Halestrap AP, Meredith D. The SLC16 gene family-from monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs) to aromatic amino acid transporters and beyond. Pflugers Arch 2004; 447: 619-28.

6. Price NT, Jackson VN, Halestrap AP. Cloning and sequencing of four new mammalian monocarboxylate transporter (MCT) homologues confirms the existence of a transporter family with an ancient past. Biochem J 1998; 329 (Pt 2): 321-8.

7. Carpenter L, Poole RC, Halestrap AP. Cloning and sequencing of the monocarboxylate transporter from mouse Ehrlich Lettre tumour cell confirms its identity as MCT1 and demonstrates that glycosylation is not required for MCT1 function. Biochim Biophys Acta 1996; 1279: 157-63.

8. Yoon H, Fanelli A, Grollman EF, Philp NJ. Identification of a unique monocarboxylate transporter (MCT3) in retinal pigment epithelium. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1997; 234: 90-4.

9. Wilson MC, Meredith D, Bunnun C, Sessions RB, Halestrap AP. Studies on the DIDSbinding site of monocarboxylate transporter 1 suggest a homology model of the open conformation and a plausible translocation cycle. J Biol Chem 2009; 284: 20011-21. 10. Morris ME, Felmlee MA. Overview of the proton-coupled MCT (SLC16A) family of transporters: characterization, function and role in the transport of the drug of abuse gamma-hydroxybutyric acid. AAPS J 2008; 10: 311-21.

11. Deuticke B. Monocarboxylate transport in erythrocytes. J Membr Biol 1982; 70: 89-103.

12. Lin RY, Vera JC, Chaganti RS, Golde DW. Human monocarboxylate transporter 2 (MCT2) is a high affinity pyruvate transporter. J Biol Chem 1998; 273: 28959-65.

13. Dimmer KS, Friedrich B, Lang F, Deitmer JW, Broer S. The low-affinity monocarboxylate transporter MCT4 is adapted to the export of lactate in highly glycolytic cells. Biochem J 2000; 350 Pt 1: 219-27.

14. Philp N, Chu P, Pan TC, Zhang RZ, Chu ML, Stark K, Boettiger D, Yoon H, Kieber-Emmons T. Developmental expression and molecular cloning of REMP, a novel retinal epithelial membrane protein. Exp Cell Res 1995; 219: 64-73.

15. Yoon H, Philp NJ. Genomic structure and developmental expression of the chicken nonocarboxylate transporter MCT3 gene. Exp Eye Res 1998; 67: 417-24.

16. Philp NJ, Yoon H, Grollman EF. Monocarboxylate transporter MCT1 is located in the apical membrane and MCT3 in the basal membrane of rat RPE. Am J Physiol 1998; 274: R1824-R1828.

17. Philp NJ, Yoon H, Lombardi L. Mouse MCT3 gene is expressed preferentially in retinal pigment and choroid plexus epithelia. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2001; 280: C1319-C1326.

18. Philp NJ, Ochrietor JD, Rudoy C, Muramatsu T, Linser PJ. Loss of MCT1, MCT3, and MCT4 expression in the retinal pigment epithelium and neural retina of the 5A11/basigin-null mouse. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2003; 44: 1305-11.

19. Pinheiro C, Baltazar F. SLC16A1 (solute carrier family 16, member 1 (monocarboxylic acid transporter 1)). Atlas Genet Cytogenet Oncol Haematol. 2010.

20. Halestrap AP. Transport of pyruvate nad lactate into human erythrocytes. Evidence for the involvement of the chloride carrier and a chloride-independent carrier. Biochem J 1976; 156: 193-207.

21. Poole RC, Cranmer SL, Halestrap AP, Levi AJ. Substrate and inhibitor specificity of monocarboxylate transport into heart cells and erythrocytes. Further evidence for the existence of two distinct carriers. Biochem J 1990; 269: 827-9.

22. Poole RC, Halestrap AP. Inhibition and labelling of the erythrocyte lactate transporter by stilbene disulphonates. Biochem Soc Trans 1990; 18: 1245-6.

23. Poole RC, Cranmer SL, Holdup DW, Halestrap AP. Inhibition of L-lactate transport and band 3-mediated anion transport in erythrocytes by the novel stilbenedisulphonate N,N,N',N'-tetrabenzyl-4,4'-diaminostilbene-2,2'-disulphonate (TBenzDS). Biochim Biophys Acta 1991; 1070: 69-76.

24. Kim CM, Goldstein JL, Brown MS. cDNA cloning of MEV, a mutant protein that facilitates cellular uptake of mevalonate, and identification of the point mutation responsible for its gain of function. J Biol Chem 1992; 267: 23113-21.

25. Garcia CK, Goldstein JL, Pathak RK, Anderson RG, Brown MS. Molecular characterization of a membrane transporter for lactate, pyruvate, and other monocarboxylates: implications for the Cori cycle. Cell 1994; 76: 865-73.

26. Garcia CK, Li X, Luna J, Francke U. cDNA cloning of the human monocarboxylate transporter 1 and chromosomal localization of the SLC16A1 locus to 1p13.2-p12. Genomics 1994; 23: 500-3.

27. Cuff MA, Shirazi-Beechey SP. The human monocarboxylate transporter, MCT1: genomic organization and promoter analysis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2002; 292: 1048-56.

28. Ensemble Genome Browser. http://www.ensembl.org/index.html. 2010.

29. ProtKB/Swiss-Prot. http://www.uniprot.org/uniprot/. 2010.

30. Fishbein WN, Merezhinskaya N, Foellmer JW. Relative distribution of three major lactate transporters in frozen human tissues and their localization in unfixed skeletal muscle. Muscle Nerve 2002; 26: 101-12.

31. Jackson VN, Price NT, Carpenter L, Halestrap AP. Cloning of the monocarboxylate transporter isoform MCT2 from rat testis provides evidence that expression in tissues is species-specific and may involve post-transcriptional regulation. Biochem J 1997; 324 (Pt 2): 447-53.

32. Poole RC, Cranmer SL, Halestrap AP, Levi AJ. Substrate and inhibitor specificity of monocarboxylate transport into heart cells and erythrocytes. Further evidence for the existence of two distinct carriers. Biochem J 1990; 269: 827-9.

33. Carpenter L, Halestrap AP. The kinetics, substrate and inhibitor specificity of the lactate transporter of Ehrlich-Lettre tumour cells studied with the intracellular pH indicator BCECF. Biochem J 1994; 304 (Pt 3): 751-60.

34. Broer S, Schneider HP, Broer A, Rahman B, Hamprecht B, Deitmer JW. Characterization of the monocarboxylate transporter 1 expressed in Xenopus laevis oocytes by changes in cytosolic pH. Biochem J 1998; 333 (Pt 1): 167-74.

35. Brooks GA, Brown MA, Butz CE, Sicurello JP, Dubouchaud H. Cardiac and skeletal muscle mitochondria have a monocarboxylate transporter MCT1. J Appl Physiol 1999; 87: 1713-8.

36. Dubouchaud H, Butterfield GE, Wolfel EE, Bergman BC, Brooks GA. Endurance training, expression, and physiology of LDH, MCT1, and MCT4 in human skeletal muscle. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2000; 278: E571-E579.

37. Butz CE, McClelland GB, Brooks GA. MCT1 confirmed in rat striated muscle mitochondria. J Appl Physiol 2004; 97: 1059-66.

38. Benton CR, Campbell SE, Tonouchi M, Hatta H, Bonen A. Monocarboxylate transporters in subsarcolemmal and intermyofibrillar mitochondria. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2004; 323: 249-53.

39. Hashimoto T, Masuda S, Taguchi S, Brooks GA. Immunohistochemical analysis of MCT1, MCT2 and MCT4 expression in rat plantaris muscle. J Physiol 2005; 567: 121-9.

40. Hashimoto T, Hussien R, Brooks GA. Colocalization of MCT1, CD147, and LDH in mitochondrial inner membrane of L6 muscle cells: evidence of a mitochondrial lactate oxidation complex. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2006; 290: E1237-E1244.

41. Yoshida Y, Holloway GP, Ljubicic V, Hatta H, Spriet LL, Hood DA, Bonen A. Negligible direct lactate oxidation in subsarcolemmal and intermyofibrillar mitochondria obtained from red and white rat skeletal muscle. J Physiol 2007; 582: 1317-35.

42. McClelland GB, Khanna S, Gonzalez GF, Butz CE, Brooks GA. Peroxisomal membrane monocarboxylate transporters: evidence for a redox shuttle system? Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2003; 304: 130-5.

43. Poole RC, Cranmer SL, Halestrap AP, Levi AJ. Substrate and inhibitor specificity of monocarboxylate transport into heart cells and erythrocytes. Further evidence for the existence of two distinct carriers. Biochem J 1990; 269: 827-9.

44. Broer S, Broer A, Schneider HP, Stegen C, Halestrap AP, Deitmer JW. Characterization of the high-affinity monocarboxylate transporter MCT2 in Xenopus laevis oocytes. Biochem J 1999; 341 (Pt 3): 529-35.

45. Manning Fox JE, Meredith D, Halestrap AP. Characterisation of human monocarboxylate transporter 4 substantiates its role in lactic acid efflux from skeletal muscle. J Physiol 2000; 529 (Pt 2): 285-93.

46. Garcia CK, Brown MS, Pathak RK, Goldstein JL. cDNA cloning of MCT2, a second monocarboxylate transporter expressed in different cells than MCT1. J Biol Chem 1995; 270: 1843-9.

47. Gerhart DZ, Leino RL, Drewes LR. Distribution of monocarboxylate transporters MCT1 and MCT2 in rat retina. Neuroscience 1999; 92: 367-75.

48. Pierre K, Pellerin L, Debernardi R, Riederer BM, Magistretti PJ. Cell-specific localization of monocarboxylate transporters, MCT1 and MCT2, in the adult mouse brain revealed by double immunohistochemical labeling and confocal microscopy. Neuroscience 2000; 100: 617-27.

49. Pierre K, Magistretti PJ, Pellerin L. MCT2 is a major neuronal monocarboxylate transporter in the adult mouse brain. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 2002; 22: 586-95.

50. Debernardi R, Pierre K, Lengacher S, Magistretti PJ, Pellerin L. Cell-specific expression pattern of monocarboxylate transporters in astrocytes and neurons observed in different mouse brain cortical cell cultures. J Neurosci Res 2003; 73: 141-55.

51. Pellerin L, Halestrap AP, Pierre K. Cellular and subcellular distribution of monocarboxylate transporters in cultured brain cells and in the adult brain. J Neurosci Res 2005; 79: 55-64.

52. Pinheiro C, Baltazar F. SLC16A3 (solute carrier family 16, member 3 (monocarboxylic acid transporter 4)). Atlas Genet Cytogenet Oncol Haematol. 2010.

53. Wilson MC, Jackson VN, Heddle C, Price NT, Pilegaard H, Juel C, Bonen A, Montgomery I, Hutter OF, Halestrap AP. Lactic acid efflux from white skeletal muscle is catalyzed by the monocarboxylate transporter isoform MCT3. J Biol Chem 1998; 273: 15920-6.

54. Kim DK, Kanai Y, Chairoungdua A, Matsuo H, Cha SH, Endou H. Expression cloning of a Na+-independent aromatic amino acid transporter with structural similarity to H+/monocarboxylate transporters. J Biol Chem 2001; 276: 17221-8.

55. Friesema EC, Ganguly S, Abdalla A, Manning Fox JE, Halestrap AP, Visser TJ. Identification of monocarboxylate transporter 8 as a specific thyroid hormone transporter. J Biol Chem 2003; 278: 40128-35.

56. Friesema EC, Jansen J, Jachtenberg JW, Visser WE, Kester MH, Visser TJ. Effective cellular uptake and efflux of thyroid hormone by human monocarboxylate transporter 10. Mol Endocrinol 2008; 22: 1357-69.

57. Friesema EC, Grueters A, Biebermann H, Krude H, von MA, Reeser M, Barrett TG, Mancilla EE, Svensson J, Kester MH, Kuiper GG, Balkassmi S, Uitterlinden AG, Koehrle J, Rodien P, Halestrap AP, Visser TJ. Association between mutations in a thyroid hormone transporter and severe X-linked psychomotor retardation. Lancet 2004; 364: 1435-7.

58. Dumitrescu AM, Liao XH, Best TB, Brockmann K, Refetoff S. A novel syndrome combining thyroid and neurological abnormalities is associated with mutations in a monocarboxylate transporter gene. Am J Hum Genet 2004; 74: 168-75.

59. Brockmann K, Dumitrescu AM, Best TT, Hanefeld F, Refetoff S. X-linked paroxysmal dyskinesia and severe global retardation caused by defective MCT8 gene. J Neurol 2005; 252: 663-6.

60. Schwartz CE, May MM, Carpenter NJ, Rogers RC, Martin J, Bialer MG, Ward J, Sanabria J, Marsa S, Lewis JA, Echeverri R, Lubs HA, Voeller K, Simensen RJ, Stevenson RE. Allan-Herndon-Dudley syndrome and the monocarboxylate transporter 8 (MCT8) gene. Am J Hum Genet 2005; 77: 41-53.

61. Maranduba CM, Friesema EC, Kok F, Kester MH, Jansen J, Sertie AL, Passos-Bueno MR, Visser TJ. Decreased cellular T3 uptake and metabolism in Allan-Herndon-Dudley syndrome (AHDS) due to a novel mutation in the MCT8 thyroid hormone transporter. J Med Genet 2006; 43: 457-60.

62. Murakami Y, Kohyama N, Kobayashi Y, Ohbayashi M, Ohtani H, Sawada Y, Yamamoto T. Functional characterization of human monocarboxylate transporter 6 (SLC16A5). Drug Metab Dispos 2005; 33: 1845-51.

63. Kloeckener-Gruissem B, Vandekerckhove K, Nurnberg G, Neidhardt J, Zeitz C, Nurnberg P, Schipper I, Berger W. Mutation of solute carrier SLC16A12 associates with a syndrome combining juvenile cataract with microcornea and renal glucosuria. Am J Hum Genet 2008; 82: 772-9.

64. Zuercher J, Neidhardt J, Magyar I, Labs S, Moore AT, Tanner F, Waseem NH, Schorderet D, Munier FL, Bhattacharya SS, Berger W, Kloeckener-Gruissem B. Alterations of the 5'untranslated leader region of SLC16A12 lead to age-related cataract. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2010.

65. Chung W, Kwabi-Addo B, Ittmann M, Jelinek J, Shen L, Yu Y, Issa JP. Identification of novel tumor markers in prostate, colon and breast cancer by unbiased methylation profiling. PLoS One 2008; 3: e2079.

66. Kolz M, Johnson T, Sanna S, Teumer A, Vitart V, Perola M, Mangino M, Albrecht E, Wallace C, Farrall M, Johansson A, Nyholt DR, Aulchenko Y, Beckmann JS, Bergmann S, Bochud M, Brown M, Campbell H, Connell J, Dominiczak A, Homuth G, Lamina C, McCarthy MI, Meitinger T, Mooser V, Munroe P, Nauck M, Peden J, Prokisch H, Salo P, Salomaa V, Samani NJ, Schlessinger D, Uda M, Volker U, Waeber G, Waterworth D, Wang-Sattler R, Wright AF, Adamski J, Whitfield JB, Gyllensten U, Wilson JF, Rudan I, Pramstaller P, Watkins H, Doering A, Wichmann HE, Spector TD, Peltonen L, Volzke H, Nagaraja R, Vollenweider P, Caulfield M, Illig T, Gieger C. Meta-analysis of 28,141 individuals identifies common variants within five new loci that influence uric acid concentrations. PLoS Genet 2009; 5: e1000504.

67. Zhao C, Wilson MC, Schuit F, Halestrap AP, Rutter GA. Expression and distribution of lactate/monocarboxylate transporter isoforms in pancreatic islets and the exocrine pancreas. Diabetes 2001; 50: 361-6.

68. Brooks GA. Lactate shuttles in nature. Biochem Soc Trans 2002; 30: 258-64.

69. Brooks GA. Lactate: link between glycolytic and oxidative metabolism. Sports Med 2007; 37: 341-3.

70. Brooks GA. Cell-cell and intracellular lactate shuttles. J Physiol 2009; 587: 5591-600.

71. Pellerin L, Pellegri G, Bittar PG, Charnay Y, Bouras C, Martin JL, Stella N, Magistretti PJ. Evidence supporting the existence of an activity-dependent astrocyte-neuron lactate shuttle. Dev Neurosci 1998; 20: 291-9.

72. Juel C. Lactate-proton cotransport in skeletal muscle. Physiol Rev 1997; 77: 321-58.

73. Hashimoto T, Hussien R, Cho HS, Kaufer D, Brooks GA. Evidence for the mitochondrial lactate oxidation complex in rat neurons: demonstration of an essential component of brain lactate shuttles. PLoS One 2008; 3: e2915.

74. Clarke DD, Sokoloff L. Circulation and energy metabolism of the brain. In: Siege GJ, Agranoff BW, Albers RW, Fisher SK, Uhler MD, eds. Basic neurochemistry: molecular, cellular and medical aspects. Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, 1998.

75. Pellerin L, Magistretti PJ. Neuroenergetics: calling upon astrocytes to satisfy hungry neurons. Neuroscientist 2004; 10: 53-62.

76. Pellerin L. How astrocytes feed hungry neurons. Mol Neurobiol 2005; 32: 59-72.

77. Bergersen LH. Is lactate food for neurons? Comparison of monocarboxylate transporter subtypes in brain and muscle. Neuroscience 2007; 145: 11-9.

78. Ide K, Horn A, Secher NH. Cerebral metabolic response to submaximal exercise. J Appl Physiol 1999; 87: 1604-8.

79. Ide K, Schmalbruch IK, Quistorff B, Horn A, Secher NH. Lactate, glucose and O2 uptake in human brain during recovery from maximal exercise. J Physiol 2000; 522 Pt 1: 159-64.

80. Dalsgaard MK, Quistorff B, Danielsen ER, Selmer C, Vogelsang T, Secher NH. A reduced cerebral metabolic ratio in exercise reflects metabolism and not accumulation of lactate within the human brain. J Physiol 2004; 554: 571-8.

81. Walz W, Mukerji S. Lactate production and release in cultured astrocytes. Neurosci Lett 1988; 86: 296-300.

82. Gerhart DZ, Enerson BE, Zhdankina OY, Leino RL, Drewes LR. Expression of monocarboxylate transporter MCT1 by brain endothelium and glia in adult and suckling rats. Am J Physiol 1997; 273: E207-E213.

83. Broer S, Rahman B, Pellegri G, Pellerin L, Martin JL, Verleysdonk S, Hamprecht B, Magistretti PJ. Comparison of lactate transport in astroglial cells and monocarboxylate transporter 1 (MCT 1) expressing Xenopus laevis oocytes. Expression of two different monocarboxylate transporters in astroglial cells and neurons. J Biol Chem 1997; 272: 30096-102.

84. Gerhart DZ, Enerson BE, Zhdankina OY, Leino RL, Drewes LR. Expression of the monocarboxylate transporter MCT2 by rat brain glia. Glia 1998; 22: 272-81.

85. Oliveira JM, Goncalves J. In situ mitochondrial Ca2+ buffering differences of intact neurons and astrocytes from cortex and striatum. J Biol Chem 2009; 284: 5010-20.

86. McCullagh KJ, Poole RC, Halestrap AP, O'Brien M, Bonen A. Role of the lactate transporter (MCT1) in skeletal muscles. Am J Physiol 1996; 271: E143-E150.

87. Pilegaard H, Terzis G, Halestrap A, Juel C. Distribution of the lactate/H+ transporter isoforms MCT1 and MCT4 in human skeletal muscle. Am J Physiol 1999; 276: E843-E848.

88. Bonen A, Miskovic D, Tonouchi M, Lemieux K, Wilson MC, Marette A, Halestrap AP. Abundance and subcellular distribution of MCT1 and MCT4 in heart and fast-twitch skeletal muscles. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2000; 278: E1067-E1077.

89. Bergersen LH, Thomas M, Johannsson E, Waerhaug O, Halestrap A, Andersen K, Sejersted OM, Ottersen OP. Cross-reinnervation changes the expression patterns of the monocarboxylate transporters 1 and 4: An experimental study in slow and fast rat skeletal muscle. Neuroscience 2006; 138: 1105-13.

90. Baker SK, McCullagh KJ, Bonen A. Training intensity-dependent and tissue-specific increases in lactate uptake and MCT-1 in heart and muscle. J Appl Physiol 1998; 84: 987-94.

91. Pilegaard H, Domino K, Noland T, Juel C, Hellsten Y, Halestrap AP, Bangsbo J. Effect of high-intensity exercise training on lactate/H+ transport capacity in human skeletal muscle. Am J Physiol 1999; 276: E255-E261.

92. Dubouchaud H, Butterfield GE, Wolfel EE, Bergman BC, Brooks GA. Endurance training, expression, and physiology of LDH, MCT1, and MCT4 in human skeletal muscle. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2000; 278: E571-E579.

93. Green H, Halestrap A, Mockett C, O'Toole D, Grant S, Ouyang J. Increases in muscle MCT are associated with reductions in muscle lactate after a single exercise session in humans. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2002; 282: E154-E160.

94. Juel C, Klarskov C, Nielsen JJ, Krustrup P, Mohr M, Bangsbo J. Effect of highintensity intermittent training on lactate and H+ release from human skeletal muscle. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2004; 286: E245-E251.

95. Coles L, Litt J, Hatta H, Bonen A. Exercise rapidly increases expression of the monocarboxylate transporters MCT1 and MCT4 in rat muscle. J Physiol 2004; 561: 253-61.

96. Thomas C, Perrey S, Lambert K, Hugon G, Mornet D, Mercier J. Monocarboxylate transporters, blood lactate removal after supramaximal exercise, and fatigue indexes in humans. J Appl Physiol 2005; 98: 804-9.

97. Burgomaster KA, Cermak NM, Phillips SM, Benton CR, Bonen A, Gibala MJ. Divergent response of metabolite transport proteins in human skeletal muscle after sprint interval training and detraining. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2007; 292: R1970-R1976.

98. Mohr M, Krustrup P, Nielsen JJ, Nybo L, Rasmussen MK, Juel C, Bangsbo J. Effect of two different intense training regimens on skeletal muscle ion transport proteins and fatigue development. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2007; 292: R1594-R1602.

99. Baker SK, Tarnopolsky MA, Bonen A. Expression of MCT1 and MCT4 in a patient with mitochondrial myopathy. Muscle Nerve 2001; 24: 394-8.

100. Green HJ, Burnett ME, D'Arsigny CL, O'Donnell DE, Ouyang J, Webb KA. Altered metabolic and transporter characteristics of vastus lateralis in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Appl Physiol 2008; 105: 879-86.

101. Otonkoski T, Jiao H, Kaminen-Ahola N, Tapia-Paez I, Ullah MS, Parton LE, Schuit F, Quintens R, Sipila I, Mayatepek E, Meissner T, Halestrap AP, Rutter GA, Kere J. Physical exercise-induced hypoglycemia caused by failed silencing of monocarboxylate transporter 1 in pancreatic beta cells. Am J Hum Genet 2007; 81: 467-74.

102. Merezhinskaya N, Fishbein WN, Davis JI, Foellmer JW. Mutations in MCT1 cDNA in patients with symptomatic deficiency in lactate transport. Muscle Nerve 2000; 23: 90-7.

103. Meissner T, Otonkoski T, Feneberg R, Beinbrech B, Apostolidou S, Sipila I, Schaefer F, Mayatepek E. Exercise induced hypoglycaemic hyperinsulinism. Arch Dis Child 2001; 84: 254-7.

104. Otonkoski T, Kaminen N, Ustinov J, Lapatto R, Meissner T, Mayatepek E, Kere J, Sipila I. Physical exercise-induced hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemia is an autosomal-dominant trait characterized by abnormal pyruvate-induced insulin release. Diabetes 2003; 52: 199-204.

105. Meissner T, Friedmann B, Okun JG, Schwab MA, Otonkoski T, Bauer T, Bartsch P, Mayatepek E. Massive insulin secretion in response to anaerobic exercise in exercise-induced hyperinsulinism. Horm Metab Res 2005; 37: 690-4.

106. Fishbein WN. Lactate transporter defect: a new disease of muscle. Science 1986; 234: 1254-6.

107. Hamer HM, Jonkers D, Venema K, Vanhoutvin S, Troost FJ, Brummer RJ. Review article: the role of butyrate on colonic function. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2008; 27: 104-19.

108. Duffy MM, Regan MC, Ravichandran P, O'Keane C, Harrington MG, Fitzpatrick JM, O'Connell PR. Mucosal metabolism in ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. Dis Colon Rectum 1998; 41: 1399-405.

109. Den HE, Hiele M, Evenepoel P, Peeters M, Ghoos Y, Rutgeerts P. In vivo butyrate metabolism and colonic permeability in extensive ulcerative colitis. Gastroenterology 1998; 115: 584-90.

110. Ritzhaupt A, Wood IS, Ellis A, Hosie KB, Shirazi-Beechey SP. Identification of a monocarboxylate transporter isoform type 1 (MCT1) on the luminal membrane of human and pig colon. Biochem Soc Trans 1998; 26: S120.

111. Thibault R, de CP, Daly K, Bourreille A, Cuff M, Bonnet C, Mosnier JF, Galmiche JP, Shirazi-Beechey S, Segain JP. Down-regulation of the monocarboxylate transporter 1 is involved in butyrate deficiency during intestinal inflammation. Gastroenterology 2007; 133: 1916-27.

112. Enerson BE, Drewes LR. Molecular features, regulation, and function of monocarboxylate transporters: implications for drug delivery. J Pharm Sci 2003; 92: 1531-44.

113. Leino RL, Gerhart DZ, Drewes LR. Monocarboxylate transporter (MCT1) abundance in brains of suckling and adult rats: a quantitative electron microscopic immunogold study. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 1999; 113: 47-54.

114. Hatta H, Tonouchi M, Miskovic D, Wang Y, Heikkila JJ, Bonen A. Tissue-specific and isoform-specific changes in MCT1 and MCT4 in heart and soleus muscle during a 1-yr period. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2001; 281: E749-E756.

115. Okamura H, Spicer SS, Schulte BA. Developmental expression of monocarboxylate transporter in the gerbil inner ear. Neuroscience 2001; 107: 499-505.

116. Rafiki A, Boulland JL, Halestrap AP, Ottersen OP, Bergersen L. Highly differential expression of the monocarboxylate transporters MCT2 and MCT4 in the developing rat brain. Neuroscience 2003; 122: 677-88.

117. Baud O, Fayol L, Gressens P, Pellerin L, Magistretti P, Evrard P, Verney C. Perinatal and early postnatal changes in the expression of monocarboxylate transporters MCT1 and MCT2 in the rat forebrain. J Comp Neurol 2003; 465: 445-54.

118. Leino RL, Gerhart DZ, Duelli R, Enerson BE, Drewes LR. Diet-induced ketosis increases monocarboxylate transporter (MCT1) levels in rat brain. Neurochem Int 2001; 38: 519-27.

119. Cuff MA, Lambert DW, Shirazi-Beechey SP. Substrate-induced regulation of the human colonic monocarboxylate transporter, MCT1. J Physiol 2002; 539: 361-71.

120. Hashimoto T, Hussien R, Oommen S, Gohil K, Brooks GA. Lactate sensitive transcription factor network in L6 cells: activation of MCT1 and mitochondrial biogenesis. FASEB J 2007; 21: 2602-12.

121. Kang KW, Jin MJ, Han HK. IGF-I receptor gene activation enhanced the expression of monocarboxylic acid transporter 1 in hepatocarcinoma cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2006; 342: 1352-5.

122. Lodish H, Berk A, Zipursky SL, Matsudaira P, Baltimore D, Darnell JE. Molecular cell biology. W. H. Freeman & Co., 1999.

123. Hadjiagapiou C, Borthakur A, Dahdal RY, Gill RK, Malakooti J, Ramaswamy K, Dudeja PK. Role of USF1 and USF2 as potential repressor proteins for human intestinal monocarboxylate transporter 1 promoter. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2005; 288: G1118-G1126.

124. Borthakur A, Saksena S, Gill RK, Alrefai WA, Ramaswamy K, Dudeja PK. Regulation of monocarboxylate transporter 1 (MCT1) promoter by butyrate in human intestinal epithelial cells: involvement of NF-kappaB pathway. J Cell Biochem 2008; 103: 1452-63.

125. Saksena S, Dwivedi A, Gill RK, Singla A, Alrefai WA, Malakooti J, Ramaswamy K, Dudeja PK. PKC-dependent stimulation of the human MCT1 promoter involves transcription factor AP2. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2009; 296: G275-G283.

126. Benton CR, Yoshida Y, Lally J, Han XX, Hatta H, Bonen A. PGC-1alpha increases skeletal muscle lactate uptake by increasing the expression of MCT1 but not MCT2 or MCT4. Physiol Genomics 2008; 35: 45-54.

127. Konig B, Koch A, Giggel K, Dordschbal B, Eder K, Stangl GI. Monocarboxylate transporter (MCT)-1 is up-regulated by PPARalpha. Biochim Biophys Acta 2008; 1780: 899-904.

128. Konig B, Fischer S, Schlotte S, Wen G, Eder K, Stangl GI. Monocarboxylate transporter 1 and CD147 are up-regulated by natural and synthetic peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha agonists in livers of rodents and pigs. Mol Nutr Food Res 2010.

129. Coller HA, Grandori C, Tamayo P, Colbert T, Lander ES, Eisenman RN, Golub TR. Expression analysis with oligonucleotide microarrays reveals that MYC regulates genes involved in growth, cell cycle, signaling, and adhesion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000; 97: 3260-5.

130. Fang J, Quinones QJ, Holman TL, Morowitz MJ, Wang Q, Zhao H, Sivo F, Maris JM, Wahl ML. The H+-linked monocarboxylate transporter (MCT1/SLC16A1): a potential therapeutic target for high-risk neuroblastoma. Mol Pharmacol 2006; 70: 2108-15.

131. Kang KW, Im YB, Go WJ, Han HK. C-myc amplification altered the gene expression of ABC- and SLC-transporters in human breast epithelial cells. Mol Pharm 2009; 6: 627-33.

132. McClelland GB, Brooks GA. Changes in MCT 1, MCT 4, and LDH expression are tissue specific in rats after long-term hypobaric hypoxia. J Appl Physiol 2002; 92: 1573-84.

133. Zhang F, Vannucci SJ, Philp NJ, Simpson IA. Monocarboxylate transporter expression in the spontaneous hypertensive rat: effect of stroke. J Neurosci Res 2005; 79: 139-45.

134. Ord JJ, Streeter EH, Roberts IS, Cranston D, Harris AL. Comparison of hypoxia transcriptome in vitro with in vivo gene expression in human bladder cancer. Br J Cancer 2005; 93: 346-54.

135. Ullah MS, Davies AJ, Halestrap AP. The plasma membrane lactate transporter MCT4, but not MCT1, is up-regulated by hypoxia through a HIF-1alpha-dependent mechanism. J Biol Chem 2006; 281: 9030-7.

136. Kay HH, Zhu S, Tsoi S. Hypoxia and lactate production in trophoblast cells. Placenta 2007; 28: 854-60.

137. Sonveaux P, Vegran F, Schroeder T, Wergin MC, Verrax J, Rabbani ZN, De Saedeleer CJ, Kennedy KM, Diepart C, Jordan BF, Kelley MJ, Gallez B, Wahl ML, Feron O, Dewhirst MW. Targeting lactate-fueled respiration selectively kills hypoxic tumor cells in mice. J Clin Invest 2008; 118: 3930-42.

138. Perez de HF, Wood IS, Trayhurn P. Hypoxia stimulates lactate release and modulates monocarboxylate transporter (MCT1, MCT2, and MCT4) expression in human adipocytes. Pflugers Arch 2009.

139. Proud CG. Regulation of mRNA translation. Essays Biochem 2001; 37: 97-108.

140. Zhang B, Pan X, Cobb GP, Anderson TA. microRNAs as oncogenes and tumor suppressors. Dev Biol 2007; 302: 1-12.

141. Li KK, Pang JC, Ching AK, Wong CK, Kong X, Wang Y, Zhou L, Chen Z, Ng HK. miR-124 is frequently down-regulated in medulloblastoma and is a negative regulator of SLC16A1. Hum Pathol 2009; 40: 1234-43.

142. Biswas C. Tumor cell stimulation of collagenase production by fibroblasts. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1982; 109: 1026-34.

143. Biswas C, Zhang Y, DeCastro R, Guo H, Nakamura T, Kataoka H, Nabeshima K. The human tumor cell-derived collagenase stimulatory factor (renamed EMMPRIN) is a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily. Cancer Res 1995; 55: 434-9.

144. Gabison EE, Hoang-Xuan T, Mauviel A, Menashi S. EMMPRIN/CD147, an MMP modulator in cancer, development and tissue repair. Biochimie 2005; 87: 361-8.

145. Iacono KT, Brown AL, Greene MI, Saouaf SJ. CD147 immunoglobulin superfamily receptor function and role in pathology. Exp Mol Pathol 2007; 83: 283-95.

146. Kirk P, Wilson MC, Heddle C, Brown MH, Barclay AN, Halestrap AP. CD147 is tightly associated with lactate transporters MCT1 and MCT4 and facilitates their cell surface expression. EMBO J 2000; 19: 3896-904.

147. Wilson MC, Meredith D, Halestrap AP. Fluorescence resonance energy transfer studies on the interaction between the lactate transporter MCT1 and CD147 provide information on the topology and stoichiometry of the complex in situ. J Biol Chem 2002; 277: 3666-72.

148. Ladanyi M, Antonescu CR, Drobnjak M, Baren A, Lui MY, Golde DW, Cordon-Cardo C. The precrystalline cytoplasmic granules of alveolar soft part sarcoma contain monocarboxylate transporter 1 and CD147. Am J Pathol 2002; 160: 1215-21.

149. Makuc J, Cappellaro C, Boles E. Co-expression of a mammalian accessory trafficking protein enables functional expression of the rat MCT1 monocarboxylate transporter in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. FEMS Yeast Res 2004; 4: 795-801.

150. Deora AA, Philp N, Hu J, Bok D, Rodriguez-Boulan E. Mechanisms regulating tissuespecific polarity of monocarboxylate transporters and their chaperone CD147 in kidney and retinal epithelia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005; 102: 16245-50.
151. Gallagher SM, Castorino JJ, Wang D, Philp NJ. Monocarboxylate transporter 4 regulates maturation and trafficking of CD147 to the plasma membrane in the metastatic breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231. Cancer Res 2007; 67: 4182-9.

152. Baba M, Inoue M, Itoh K, Nishizawa Y. Blocking CD147 induces cell death in cancer cells through impairment of glycolytic energy metabolism. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2008; 374: 111-6.

153. Su J, Chen X, Kanekura T. A CD147-targeting siRNA inhibits the proliferation, invasiveness, and VEGF production of human malignant melanoma cells by down-regulating glycolysis. Cancer Lett 2009; 273: 140-7.

154. Schneiderhan W, Scheler M, Holzmann KH, Marx M, Gschwend JE, Buchholz M, Gress TM, Adler G, Seufferlein T, Oswald F. CD147 Silencing Inhibits Lactate Transport and Reduces Malignant Potential of pancreatic cancer cells in in-vivo and in-vitro Models. Gut 2009; 58: 1391-8.

155. Wilson MC, Meredith D, Fox JE, Manoharan C, Davies AJ, Halestrap AP. Basigin (CD147) is the target for organomercurial inhibition of monocarboxylate transporter isoforms 1 and 4: the ancillary protein for the insensitive MCT2 is EMBIGIN (gp70). J Biol Chem 2005; 280: 27213-21.

156. Huang RP, Ozawa M, Kadomatsu K, Muramatsu T. Developmentally regulated expression of embigin, a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily found in embryonal carcinoma cells. Differentiation 1990; 45: 76-83.

157. Poole RC, Halestrap AP. Interaction of the erythrocyte lactate transporter (monocarboxylate transporter 1) with an integral 70-kDa membrane glycoprotein of the immunoglobulin superfamily. J Biol Chem 1997; 272: 14624-8.

158. Slomiany MG, Grass GD, Robertson AD, Yang XY, Maria BL, Beeson C, Toole BP. Hyaluronan, CD44, and emmprin regulate lactate efflux and membrane localization of monocarboxylate transporters in human breast carcinoma cells. Cancer Res 2009; 69: 1293-301.

159. Marhaba R, Zoller M. CD44 in cancer progression: adhesion, migration and growth regulation. J Mol Histol 2004; 35: 211-31.

160. Toole BP, Slomiany MG. Hyaluronan, CD44 and Emmprin: partners in cancer cell chemoresistance. Drug Resist Updat 2008; 11: 110-21.

161. Toole BP, Slomiany MG. Hyaluronan: a constitutive regulator of chemoresistance and malignancy in cancer cells. Semin Cancer Biol 2008; 18: 244-50.

162. Becker HM, Hirnet D, Fecher-Trost C, Sultemeyer D, Deitmer JW. Transport activity of MCT1 expressed in Xenopus oocytes is increased by interaction with carbonic anhydrase. J Biol Chem 2005; 280: 39882-9.

163. Becker HM, Deitmer JW. Nonenzymatic proton handling by carbonic anhydrase II during H+-lactate cotransport via monocarboxylate transporter 1. J Biol Chem 2008; 283: 21655-67.

164. Becker HM, Klier M, Deitmer JW. Nonenzymatic augmentation of lactate transport via monocarboxylate transporter isoform 4 by carbonic anhydrase II. J Membr Biol 2010; 234: 125-35.

165. Kleene R, Loers G, Langer J, Frobert Y, Buck F, Schachner M. Prion protein regulates glutamate-dependent lactate transport of astrocytes. J Neurosci 2007; 27: 12331-40.

166. Cheeti S, Lee CH. The involvement of intracellular calcium in the MCT-mediated uptake of lactic acid by HeLa cells. Mol Pharm 2010; 7: 169-76.

167. Buyse M, Sitaraman SV, Liu X, Bado A, Merlin D. Luminal leptin enhances CD147/MCT-1-mediated uptake of butyrate in the human intestinal cell line Caco2-BBE. J Biol Chem 2002; 277: 28182-90.

168. Pierre K, Debernardi R, Magistretti PJ, Pellerin L. Noradrenaline enhances monocarboxylate transporter 2 expression in cultured mouse cortical neurons via a translational regulation. J Neurochem 2003; 86: 1468-76.

169. Wang Y, Tonouchi M, Miskovic D, Hatta H, Bonen A. T3 increases lactate transport and the expression of MCT4, but not MCT1, in rat skeletal muscle. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2003; 285: E622-E628.

170. Fanelli A, Grollman EF, Wang D, Philp NJ. MCT1 and its accessory protein CD147 are differentially regulated by TSH in rat thyroid cells. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2003; 285: E1223-E1229.

171. Saksena S, Theegala S, Bansal N, Gill RK, Tyagi S, Alrefai WA, Ramaswamy K, Dudeja PK. Mechanisms Underlying Modulation of Monocarboxylate Transporter 1 (MCT1) by Somatostatin in Human Intestinal Epithelial Cells. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2009.

172. Wahl ML, Owen JA, Burd R, Herlands RA, Nogami SS, Rodeck U, Berd D, Leeper DB, Owen CS. Regulation of intracellular pH in human melanoma: potential therapeutic implications. Mol Cancer Ther 2002; 1: 617-28.

173. Colen CB, Seraji-Bozorgzad N, Marples B, Galloway MP, Sloan AE, Mathupala SP. Metabolic remodeling of malignant gliomas for enhanced sensitization during radiotherapy: an in vitro study. Neurosurgery 2006; 59: 1313-23.

174. Kopito RR. Molecular biology of the anion exchanger gene family. Int Rev Cytol 1990; 123: 177-99.

175. Wang Q, Morris ME. Flavonoids modulate monocarboxylate transporter-1-mediated transport of gamma-hydroxybutyrate in vitro and in vivo. Drug Metab Dispos 2007; 35: 201-8.

176. Grollman EF, Philp NJ, McPhie P, Ward RD, Sauer B. Determination of transport kinetics of chick MCT3 monocarboxylate transporter from retinal pigment epithelium by expression in genetically modified yeast. Biochemistry 2000; 39: 9351-7.

177. Frauwirth KA, Thompson CB. Regulation of T lymphocyte metabolism. J Immunol 2004; 172: 4661-5.

178. Murray CM, Hutchinson R, Bantick JR, Belfield GP, Benjamin AD, Brazma D, Bundick RV, Cook ID, Craggs RI, Edwards S, Evans LR, Harrison R, Holness E, Jackson AP, Jackson CG, Kingston LP, Perry MW, Ross AR, Rugman PA, Sidhu SS, Sullivan M, Taylor-Fishwick DA, Walker PC, Whitehead YM, Wilkinson DJ, Wright A, Donald DK. Monocarboxylate transporter MCT1 is a target for immunosuppression. Nat Chem Biol 2005; 1: 371-6.

179. Guile SD, Bantick JR, Cheshire DR, Cooper ME, Davis AM, Donald DK, Evans R, Eyssade C, Ferguson DD, Hill S, Hutchinson R, Ingall AH, Kingston LP, Martin I, Martin BP, Mohammed RT, Murray C, Perry MW, Reynolds RH, Thorne PV, Wilkinson DJ, Withnall J. Potent blockers of the monocarboxylate transporter MCT1: novel immunomodulatory compounds. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 2006; 16: 2260-5.

180. Ekberg H, Qi Z, Pahlman C, Veress B, Bundick RV, Craggs RI, Holness E, Edwards S, Murray CM, Ferguson D, Kerry PJ, Wilson E, Donald DK. The specific monocarboxylate transporter-1 (MCT-1) inhibitor, AR-C117977, induces donor-specific suppression, reducing acute and chronic allograft rejection in the rat. Transplantation 2007; 84: 1191-9.

181. Bueno V, Binet I, Steger U, Bundick R, Ferguson D, Murray C, Donald D, Wood K. The specific monocarboxylate transporter (MCT1) inhibitor, AR-C117977, a novel immunosuppressant, prolongs allograft survival in the mouse. Transplantation 2007; 84: 1204-7.

182. Rae C, Nasrallah FA, Broer S. Metabolic effects of blocking lactate transport in brain cortical tissue slices using an inhibitor specific to MCT1 and MCT2. Neurochem Res 2009; 34: 1783-91.

183. Floridi A, Paggi MG, Marcante ML, Silvestrini B, Caputo A, De MC. Lonidamine, a selective inhibitor of aerobic glycolysis of murine tumor cells. J Natl Cancer Inst 1981; 66: 497-9.

184. Ben-Horin H, Tassini M, Vivi A, Navon G, Kaplan O. Mechanism of action of the antineoplastic drug lonidamine: 31P and 13C nuclear magnetic resonance studies. Cancer Res 1995; 55: 2814-21.

185. Ben-Yoseph O, Lyons JC, Song CW, Ross BD. Mechanism of action of lonidamine in the 9L brain tumor model involves inhibition of lactate efflux and intracellular acidification. J Neurooncol 1998; 36: 149-57.

186. Di CS, Ferretti G, Papaldo P, Carlini P, Fabi A, Cognetti F. Lonidamine: efficacy and safety in clinical trials for the treatment of solid tumors. Drugs Today (Barc) 2003; 39: 157-74.

187. Zhou Q, Liao JK. Pleiotropic effects of statins. - Basic research and clinical perspectives -. Circ J 2010; 74: 818-26.

188. Nagasawa K, Nagai K, Sumitani Y, Moriya Y, Muraki Y, Takara K, Ohnishi N, Yokoyama T, Fujimoto S. Monocarboxylate transporter mediates uptake of lovastatin acid in rat cultured mesangial cells. J Pharm Sci 2002; 91: 2605-13.

189. Nagasawa K, Nagai K, Ishimoto A, Fujimoto S. Transport mechanism for lovastatin acid in bovine kidney NBL-1 cells: kinetic evidences imply involvement of monocarboxylate transporter 4. Int J Pharm 2003; 262: 63-73.

190. Kobayashi M, Otsuka Y, Itagaki S, Hirano T, Iseki K. Inhibitory effects of statins on human monocarboxylate transporter 4. Int J Pharm 2006; 317: 19-25.

191. Sirvent P, Bordenave S, Vermaelen M, Roels B, Vassort G, Mercier J, Raynaud E, Lacampagne A. Simvastatin induces impairment in skeletal muscle while heart is protected. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2005; 338: 1426-34.

192. Emoto A, Ushigome F, Koyabu N, Kajiya H, Okabe K, Satoh S, Tsukimori K, Nakano H, Ohtani H, Sawada Y. H(+)-linked transport of salicylic acid, an NSAID, in the human trophoblast cell line BeWo. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2002; 282: C1064-C1075.

193. Choi JS, Jin MJ, Han HK. Role of monocarboxylic acid transporters in the cellular uptake of NSAIDs. J Pharm Pharmacol 2005; 57: 1185-9.

194. Fearon ER, Vogelstein B. A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. Cell 1990; 61: 759-67.

195. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 2000; 100: 57-70.

196. Gatenby RA, Smallbone K, Maini PK, Rose F, Averill J, Nagle RB, Worrall L, Gillies RJ. Cellular adaptations to hypoxia and acidosis during somatic evolution of breast cancer. Br J Cancer 2007; 97: 646-53.

197. Warburg O. On the origin of cancer cells. Science 1956; 123: 309-14.

198. Wang T, Marquardt C, Foker J. Aerobic glycolysis during lymphocyte proliferation. Nature 1976; 261: 702-5.

199. Brand K. Glutamine and glucose metabolism during thymocyte proliferation. Pathways of glutamine and glutamate metabolism. Biochem J 1985; 228: 353-61.

200. Moreno-Sanchez R, Rodriguez-Enriquez S, Marin-Hernandez A, Saavedra E. Energy metabolism in tumor cells. FEBS J 2007; 274: 1393-418.

201. Jadvar H, Alavi A, Gambhir SS. 18F-FDG uptake in lung, breast, and colon cancers: molecular biology correlates and disease characterization. J Nucl Med 2009; 50: 1820-7.

202. Vander Heiden MG, Cantley LC, Thompson CB. Understanding the Warburg effect: the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. Science 2009; 324: 1029-33.

203. Hinkle PC, Kumar MA, Resetar A, Harris DL. Mechanistic stoichiometry of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation. Biochemistry 1991; 30: 3576-82.

204. Dellian M, Helmlinger G, Yuan F, Jain RK. Fluorescence ratio imaging of interstitial pH in solid tumours: effect of glucose on spatial and temporal gradients. Br J Cancer 1996; 74: 1206-15.

205. van SR, Bhujwalla ZM, Raghunand N, Ballesteros P, Alvarez J, Cerdan S, Galons JP, Gillies RJ. In vivo imaging of extracellular pH using 1H MRSI. Magn Reson Med 1999; 41: 743-50.

206. Bhujwalla ZM, Artemov D, Ballesteros P, Cerdan S, Gillies RJ, Solaiyappan M. Combined vascular and extracellular pH imaging of solid tumors. NMR Biomed 2002; 15: 114-9.

207. Schornack PA, Gillies RJ. Contributions of cell metabolism and H+ diffusion to the acidic pH of tumors. Neoplasia 2003; 5: 135-45.

208. Gatenby RA, Gillies RJ. Why do cancers have high aerobic glycolysis? Nat Rev Cancer 2004; 4: 891-9.

209. Gillies RJ, Gatenby RA. Adaptive landscapes and emergent phenotypes: why do cancers have high glycolysis? J Bioenerg Biomembr 2007; 39: 251-7.

210. Dewhirst MW, Secomb TW, Ong ET, Hsu R, Gross JF. Determination of local oxygen consumption rates in tumors. Cancer Res 1994; 54: 3333-6.

211. Helmlinger G, Yuan F, Dellian M, Jain RK. Interstitial pH and pO2 gradients in solid tumors in vivo: high-resolution measurements reveal a lack of correlation. Nat Med 1997; 3: 177-82.

212. Secomb TW, Hsu R, Braun RD, Ross JR, Gross JF, Dewhirst MW. Theoretical simulation of oxygen transport to tumors by three-dimensional networks of microvessels. Adv Exp Med Biol 1998; 454: 629-34.

213. Griffiths JR, McIntyre DJ, Howe FA, Stubbs M. Why are cancers acidic? A carriermediated diffusion model for H+ transport in the interstitial fluid. Novartis Found Symp 2001; 240: 46-62. 214. Smallbone K, Gatenby RA, Gillies RJ, Maini PK, Gavaghan DJ. Metabolic changes during carcinogenesis: potential impact on invasiveness. J Theor Biol 2007; 244: 703-13.

215. Ganapathy V, Thangaraju M, Prasad PD. Nutrient transporters in cancer: relevance to Warburg hypothesis and beyond. Pharmacol Ther 2009; 121: 29-40.

216. DeBerardinis RJ, Lum JJ, Hatzivassiliou G, Thompson CB. The biology of cancer: metabolic reprogramming fuels cell growth and proliferation. Cell Metab 2008; 7: 11-20.

217. Gatenby RA, Gillies RJ. Glycolysis in cancer: a potential target for therapy. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2007; 39: 1358-66.

218. Brand KA, Hermfisse U. Aerobic glycolysis by proliferating cells: a protective strategy against reactive oxygen species. FASEB J 1997; 11: 388-95.

219. Park HJ, Lyons JC, Ohtsubo T, Song CW. Acidic environment causes apoptosis by increasing caspase activity. Br J Cancer 1999; 80: 1892-7.

220. Williams AC, Collard TJ, Paraskeva C. An acidic environment leads to p53 dependent induction of apoptosis in human adenoma and carcinoma cell lines: implications for clonal selection during colorectal carcinogenesis. Oncogene 1999; 18: 3199-204.

221. Martinez-Zaguilan R, Seftor EA, Seftor RE, Chu YW, Gillies RJ, Hendrix MJ. Acidic pH enhances the invasive behavior of human melanoma cells. Clin Exp Metastasis 1996; 14: 176-86.

222. Smallbone K, Gavaghan DJ, Gatenby RA, Maini PK. The role of acidity in solid tumour growth and invasion. J Theor Biol 2005; 235: 476-84.

223. Rofstad EK, Mathiesen B, Kindem K, Galappathi K. Acidic extracellular pH promotes experimental metastasis of human melanoma cells in athymic nude mice. Cancer Res 2006; 66: 6699-707.

224. Gatenby RA, Gawlinski ET, Gmitro AF, Kaylor B, Gillies RJ. Acid-mediated tumor invasion: a multidisciplinary study. Cancer Res 2006; 66: 5216-23.

225. Kato Y, Lambert CA, Colige AC, Mineur P, Noel A, Frankenne F, Foidart JM, Baba M, Hata R, Miyazaki K, Tsukuda M. Acidic extracellular pH induces matrix metalloproteinase-9 expression in mouse metastatic melanoma cells through the phospholipase D-mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling. J Biol Chem 2005; 280: 10938-44.

226. Kato Y, Ozawa S, Tsukuda M, Kubota E, Miyazaki K, St-Pierre Y, Hata R. Acidic extracellular pH increases calcium influx-triggered phospholipase D activity along with acidic sphingomyelinase activation to induce matrix metalloproteinase-9 expression in mouse metastatic melanoma. FEBS J 2007; 274: 3171-83.

227. Fukumura D, Xu L, Chen Y, Gohongi T, Seed B, Jain RK. Hypoxia and acidosis independently up-regulate vascular endothelial growth factor transcription in brain tumors in vivo. Cancer Res 2001; 61: 6020-4.

228. Xu L, Fukumura D, Jain RK. Acidic extracellular pH induces vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in human glioblastoma cells via ERK1/2 MAPK signaling pathway: mechanism of low pH-induced VEGF. J Biol Chem 2002; 277: 11368-74.

229. Gillies RJ, Gatenby RA. Hypoxia and adaptive landscapes in the evolution of carcinogenesis. Cancer Metastasis Rev 2007; 26: 311-7.

230. Semenza GL. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 and the molecular physiology of oxygen homeostasis. J Lab Clin Med 1998; 131: 207-14.

231. Semenza GL. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1: master regulator of O2 homeostasis. Curr Opin Genet Dev 1998; 8: 588-94.

232. Semenza GL. Regulation of mammalian O2 homeostasis by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 1999; 15: 551-78.

233. Semenza GL. Hypoxia, clonal selection, and the role of HIF-1 in tumor progression. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol 2000; 35: 71-103.

234. Semenza GL. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1: control of oxygen homeostasis in health and disease. Pediatr Res 2001; 49: 614-7.

235. Greijer AE, van der GP, Kemming D, Shvarts A, Semenza GL, Meijer GA, van de Wiel MA, Belien JA, van Diest PJ, van der WE. Up-regulation of gene expression by hypoxia is mediated predominantly by hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF-1). J Pathol 2005; 206: 291-304.

236. Chen C, Pore N, Behrooz A, Ismail-Beigi F, Maity A. Regulation of glut1 mRNA by hypoxia-inducible factor-1. Interaction between H-ras and hypoxia. J Biol Chem 2001; 276: 9519-25.

237. Baumann MU, Zamudio S, Illsley NP. Hypoxic upregulation of glucose transporters in BeWo choriocarcinoma cells is mediated by hypoxia-inducible factor-1. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2007; 293: C477-C485.

238. Firth JD, Ebert BL, Ratcliffe PJ. Hypoxic regulation of lactate dehydrogenase A. Interaction between hypoxia-inducible factor 1 and cAMP response elements. J Biol Chem 1995; 270: 21021-7.

239. Kim JW, Tchernyshyov I, Semenza GL, Dang CV. HIF-1-mediated expression of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase: a metabolic switch required for cellular adaptation to hypoxia. Cell Metab 2006; 3: 177-85.

240. Papandreou I, Cairns RA, Fontana L, Lim AL, Denko NC. HIF-1 mediates adaptation to hypoxia by actively downregulating mitochondrial oxygen consumption. Cell Metab 2006; 3: 187-97.

241. Hu CJ, Wang LY, Chodosh LA, Keith B, Simon MC. Differential roles of hypoxiainducible factor 1alpha (HIF-1alpha) and HIF-2alpha in hypoxic gene regulation. Mol Cell Biol 2003; 23: 9361-74.

242. Warnecke C, Zaborowska Z, Kurreck J, Erdmann VA, Frei U, Wiesener M, Eckardt KU. Differentiating the functional role of hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1alpha and HIF-2alpha (EPAS-1) by the use of RNA interference: erythropoietin is a HIF-2alpha target gene in Hep3B and Kelly cells. FASEB J 2004; 18: 1462-4.

243. Robey IF, Lien AD, Welsh SJ, Baggett BK, Gillies RJ. Hypoxia-inducible factorlalpha and the glycolytic phenotype in tumors. Neoplasia 2005; 7: 324-30.

244. Wykoff CC, Beasley NJ, Watson PH, Turner KJ, Pastorek J, Sibtain A, Wilson GD, Turley H, Talks KL, Maxwell PH, Pugh CW, Ratcliffe PJ, Harris AL. Hypoxia-inducible expression of tumor-associated carbonic anhydrases. Cancer Res 2000; 60: 7075-83.

245. Svastova E, Hulikova A, Rafajova M, Zat'ovicova M, Gibadulinova A, Casini A, Cecchi A, Scozzafava A, Supuran CT, Pastorek J, Pastorekova S. Hypoxia activates the capacity of tumor-associated carbonic anhydrase IX to acidify extracellular pH. FEBS Lett 2004; 577: 439-45.

246. Chiche J, Ilc K, Laferriere J, Trottier E, Dayan F, Mazure NM, Brahimi-Horn MC, Pouyssegur J. Hypoxia-inducible carbonic anhydrase IX and XII promote tumor cell growth by counteracting acidosis through the regulation of the intracellular pH. Cancer Res 2009; 69: 358-68.

247. Swietach P, Vaughan-Jones RD, Harris AL. Regulation of tumor pH and the role of carbonic anhydrase 9. Cancer Metastasis Rev 2007; 26: 299-310.

248. Plas DR, Talapatra S, Edinger AL, Rathmell JC, Thompson CB. Akt and Bcl-xL promote growth factor-independent survival through distinct effects on mitochondrial physiology. J Biol Chem 2001; 276: 12041-8.

249. Rathmell JC, Fox CJ, Plas DR, Hammerman PS, Cinalli RM, Thompson CB. Aktdirected glucose metabolism can prevent Bax conformation change and promote growth factorindependent survival. Mol Cell Biol 2003; 23: 7315-28.

250. Elstrom RL, Bauer DE, Buzzai M, Karnauskas R, Harris MH, Plas DR, Zhuang H, Cinalli RM, Alavi A, Rudin CM, Thompson CB. Akt stimulates aerobic glycolysis in cancer cells. Cancer Res 2004; 64: 3892-9.

251. Shim H, Dolde C, Lewis BC, Wu CS, Dang G, Jungmann RA, la-Favera R, Dang CV. c-Myc transactivation of LDH-A: implications for tumor metabolism and growth. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1997; 94: 6658-63.

252. Osthus RC, Shim H, Kim S, Li Q, Reddy R, Mukherjee M, Xu Y, Wonsey D, Lee LA, Dang CV. Deregulation of glucose transporter 1 and glycolytic gene expression by c-Myc. J Biol Chem 2000; 275: 21797-800.

253. Kim JW, Zeller KI, Wang Y, Jegga AG, Aronow BJ, O'Donnell KA, Dang CV. Evaluation of myc E-box phylogenetic footprints in glycolytic genes by chromatin immunoprecipitation assays. Mol Cell Biol 2004; 24: 5923-36.

254. Gordan JD, Thompson CB, Simon MC. HIF and c-Myc: sibling rivals for control of cancer cell metabolism and proliferation. Cancer Cell 2007; 12: 108-13.

255. Dang CV, Kim JW, Gao P, Yustein J. The interplay between MYC and HIF in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2008; 8: 51-6.

256. Huang LE. Carrot and stick: HIF-alpha engages c-Myc in hypoxic adaptation. Cell Death Differ 2008; 15: 672-7.

257. Kondoh H, Lleonart ME, Gil J, Wang J, Degan P, Peters G, Martinez D, Carnero A, Beach D. Glycolytic enzymes can modulate cellular life span. Cancer Res 2005; 65: 177-85.

258. Mathupala SP, Heese C, Pedersen PL. Glucose catabolism in cancer cells. The type II hexokinase promoter contains functionally active response elements for the tumor suppressor p53. J Biol Chem 1997; 272: 22776-80.

259. Dang CV, Semenza GL. Oncogenic alterations of metabolism. Trends Biochem Sci 1999; 24: 68-72.

260. Tennant DA, Duran RV, Gottlieb E. Targeting metabolic transformation for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 2010; 10: 267-77.

261. Pouyssegur J, Dayan F, Mazure NM. Hypoxia signalling in cancer and approaches to enforce tumour regression. Nature 2006; 441: 437-43.

262. Volk T, Jahde E, Fortmeyer HP, Glusenkamp KH, Rajewsky MF. pH in human tumour xenografts: effect of intravenous administration of glucose. Br J Cancer 1993; 68: 492-500.

263. Jahde E, Rajewsky MF. Tumor-selective modification of cellular microenvironment in vivo: effect of glucose infusion on the pH in normal and malignant rat tissues. Cancer Res 1982; 42: 1505-12.

264. Newell K, Franchi A, Pouyssegur J, Tannock I. Studies with glycolysis-deficient cells suggest that production of lactic acid is not the only cause of tumor acidity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1993; 90: 1127-31.

265. Montcourrier P, Silver I, Farnoud R, Bird I, Rochefort H. Breast cancer cells have a high capacity to acidify extracellular milieu by a dual mechanism. Clin Exp Metastasis 1997; 15: 382-92.

266. Yamagata M, Hasuda K, Stamato T, Tannock IF. The contribution of lactic acid to acidification of tumours: studies of variant cells lacking lactate dehydrogenase. Br J Cancer 1998; 77: 1726-31.

267. Helmlinger G, Sckell A, Dellian M, Forbes NS, Jain RK. Acid production in glycolysis-impaired tumors provides new insights into tumor metabolism. Clin Cancer Res 2002; 8: 1284-91.

268. Fischer K, Hoffmann P, Voelkl S, Meidenbauer N, Ammer J, Edinger M, Gottfried E, Schwarz S, Rothe G, Hoves S, Renner K, Timischl B, Mackensen A, Kunz-Schughart L, Andreesen R, Krause SW, Kreutz M. Inhibitory effect of tumor cell-derived lactic acid on human T cells. Blood 2007; 109: 3812-9.

269. Lu H, Forbes RA, Verma A. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 activation by aerobic glycolysis implicates the Warburg effect in carcinogenesis. J Biol Chem 2002; 277: 23111-5.

270. Walenta S, Schroeder T, Mueller-Klieser W. Metabolic mapping with bioluminescence: basic and clinical relevance. Biomol Eng 2002; 18: 249-62.

271. Spector JA, Mehrara BJ, Greenwald JA, Saadeh PB, Steinbrech DS, Bouletreau PJ, Smith LP, Longaker MT. Osteoblast expression of vascular endothelial growth factor is modulated by the extracellular microenvironment. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2001; 280: C72-C80.

272. Kumar VB, Viji RI, Kiran MS, Sudhakaran PR. Endothelial cell response to lactate: implication of PAR modification of VEGF. J Cell Physiol 2007; 211: 477-85.

273. Hunt TK, Aslam RS, Beckert S, Wagner S, Ghani QP, Hussain MZ, Roy S, Sen CK. Aerobically derived lactate stimulates revascularization and tissue repair via redox mechanisms. Antioxid Redox Signal 2007; 9: 1115-24.

274. Stern R, Shuster S, Neudecker BA, Formby B. Lactate stimulates fibroblast expression of hyaluronan and CD44: the Warburg effect revisited. Exp Cell Res 2002; 276: 24-31.

275. Rudrabhatla SR, Mahaffey CL, Mummert ME. Tumor microenvironment modulates hyaluronan expression: the lactate effect. J Invest Dermatol 2006; 126: 1378-87.

276. Schwickert G, Walenta S, Sundfor K, Rofstad EK, Mueller-Klieser W. Correlation of high lactate levels in human cervical cancer with incidence of metastasis. Cancer Res 1995; 55: 4757-9.

277. Walenta S, Salameh A, Lyng H, Evensen JF, Mitze M, Rofstad EK, Mueller-Klieser W. Correlation of high lactate levels in head and neck tumors with incidence of metastasis. Am J Pathol 1997; 150: 409-15.

278. Walenta S, Wetterling M, Lehrke M, Schwickert G, Sundfor K, Rofstad EK, Mueller-Klieser W. High lactate levels predict likelihood of metastases, tumor recurrence, and restricted patient survival in human cervical cancers. Cancer Res 2000; 60: 916-21. 279. Brizel DM, Schroeder T, Scher RL, Walenta S, Clough RW, Dewhirst MW, Mueller-Klieser W. Elevated tumor lactate concentrations predict for an increased risk of metastases in head-and-neck cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2001; 51: 349-53.

280. Quennet V, Yaromina A, Zips D, Rosner A, Walenta S, Baumann M, Mueller-Klieser W. Tumor lactate content predicts for response to fractionated irradiation of human squamous cell carcinomas in nude mice. Radiother Oncol 2006; 81: 130-5.

281. Mazurek S, Grimm H, Oehmke M, Weisse G, Teigelkamp S, Eigenbrodt E. Tumor M2-PK and glutaminolytic enzymes in the metabolic shift of tumor cells. Anticancer Res 2000; 20: 5151-4.

282. Mazurek S, Zwerschke W, Jansen-Durr P, Eigenbrodt E. Effects of the human papilloma virus HPV-16 E7 oncoprotein on glycolysis and glutaminolysis: role of pyruvate kinase type M2 and the glycolytic-enzyme complex. Biochem J 2001; 356: 247-56.

283. Mazurek S, Zwerschke W, Jansen-Durr P, Eigenbrodt E. Metabolic cooperation between different oncogenes during cell transformation: interaction between activated ras and HPV-16 E7. Oncogene 2001; 20: 6891-8.

284. DeBerardinis RJ, Mancuso A, Daikhin E, Nissim I, Yudkoff M, Wehrli S, Thompson CB. Beyond aerobic glycolysis: transformed cells can engage in glutamine metabolism that exceeds the requirement for protein and nucleotide synthesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007; 104: 19345-50.

285. Lambert DW, Wood IS, Ellis A, Shirazi-Beechey SP. Molecular changes in the expression of human colonic nutrient transporters during the transition from normality to malignancy. Br J Cancer 2002; 86: 1262-9.

286. Koukourakis MI, Giatromanolaki A, Harris AL, Sivridis E. Comparison of metabolic pathways between cancer cells and stromal cells in colorectal carcinomas: a metabolic survival role for tumor-associated stroma. Cancer Res 2006; 66: 632-7.

287. Koukourakis MI, Giatromanolaki A, Bougioukas G, Sivridis E. Lung cancer: a comparative study of metabolism related protein expression in cancer cells and tumor associated stroma. Cancer Biol Ther 2007; 6: 1476-9.

288. Froberg MK, Gerhart DZ, Enerson BE, Manivel C, Guzman-Paz M, Seacotte N, Drewes LR. Expression of monocarboxylate transporter MCT1 in normal and neoplastic human CNS tissues. Neuroreport 2001; 12: 761-5.

289. Mathupala SP, Parajuli P, Sloan AE. Silencing of monocarboxylate transporters via small interfering ribonucleic acid inhibits glycolysis and induces cell death in malignant glioma: an in vitro study. Neurosurgery 2004; 55: 1410-9.

290. Asada K, Miyamoto K, Fukutomi T, Tsuda H, Yagi Y, Wakazono K, Oishi S, Fukui H, Sugimura T, Ushijima T. Reduced expression of GNA11 and silencing of MCT1 in human breast cancers. Oncology 2003; 64: 380-8.

291. Gallagher SM, Castorino JJ, Philp NJ. Interaction of monocarboxylate transporter 4 with {beta}1-integrin and its role in cell migration. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2009; 296: C414-C421.

Chapter 2. MCTS IN COLORECTAL CARCINOMA

2.1. CHAPTER OVERVIEW

It is known that butyrate plays an important role in the maintenance of colonic homeostasis. This short-chain fatty acid is implicated in the regulation of colonic mucosa growth and *in vitro* cell proliferation and differentiation, involving the activation of several differentiation-specific genes. Additionally, butyrate has a potent effect in inhibiting inflammation and carcinogenesis (for review see [1]). Transport of butyrate into the colonic epithelial cells is mostly done through MCT1 [2], conferring to this MCT isoform a major role in colonic homeostasis.

The multistep colon carcinogenesis is generally known to result from the accumulation of molecular genetic alterations, mainly activation of oncogenes; inactivation of tumour-suppressor genes; and abnormalities in genes involved in DNA mismatch repair [3]. However, other alterations have been described that point to an important metabolic switch from butyrate β -oxidation to glycolysis [4], including up-regulation of GLUT1 [5,6] and production of high levels of glycolytic metabolites, such as lactate [7].

As mentioned previously, data on MCT1 expression in colorectal cancer is quite controversial with reports showing a decrease of MCT1 in the transition from normality to malignancy [5,8], as well as absence of MCT2 and MCT4 expression in colon carcinoma [5], while another describes an increase of MCT1 in colorectal carcinoma, as well as a strong expression of MCT2 in cancer cells cytoplasm, when comparing to normal colonic tissues [6]. In this regard, the evaluation of MCT1, as well as other MCT isoforms in colorectal carcinoma compared to non-neoplastic tissues, will give an important contribution to the understanding of the adaptations that occur toward the metabolic switch occurring in colon carcinogenesis.

In this chapter, MCT1, MCT2 and MCT4 expressions were evaluated in a comprehensive series of 126 colorectal samples. In this study, already published in an international scientific periodical with referees, a significant increase of MCT1, MCT2 and MCT4 expressions was observed. Importantly, while the increase in MCT1 and MCT4 was associated with an increase in cancer cell plasma membrane expression, in the case of MCT2, the increase in cytoplasm expression was accompanied by a loss of plasma membrane expression, pointing to a possible role of MCT2 in an intracellular organelle, possibly mitochondria. Importantly, analysis of MCT1 expression in regard to the clinic-pathological parameters showed associations of MCT1 plasma membrane expression with vascular invasion as well as a borderline association of MCT4 overall expression with smaller tumours, which will need further confirmation.

1. Hamer HM, Jonkers D, Venema K, Vanhoutvin S, Troost FJ, Brummer RJ. Review article: the role of butyrate on colonic function. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2008; 27: 104-19.

2. Hadjiagapiou C, Schmidt L, Dudeja PK, Layden TJ, Ramaswamy K. Mechanism(s) of butyrate transport in Caco-2 cells: role of monocarboxylate transporter 1. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2000; 279: G775-G780.

3. Kountouras J, Boura P, Lygidakis NJ. New concepts of molecular biology for colon carcinogenesis. Hepatogastroenterology 2000; 47: 1291-7.

4. Mazzanti R, Solazzo M, Fantappie O, Elfering S, Pantaleo P, Bechi P, Cianchi F, Ettl A, Giulivi C. Differential expression proteomics of human colon cancer. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2006; 290: G1329-G1338.

5. Lambert DW, Wood IS, Ellis A, Shirazi-Beechey SP. Molecular changes in the expression of human colonic nutrient transporters during the transition from normality to malignancy. Br J Cancer 2002; 86: 1262-9.

6. Koukourakis MI, Giatromanolaki A, Harris AL, Sivridis E. Comparison of metabolic pathways between cancer cells and stromal cells in colorectal carcinomas: a metabolic survival role for tumor-associated stroma. Cancer Res 2006; 66: 632-7.

7. Hirayama A, Kami K, Sugimoto M, Sugawara M, Toki N, Onozuka H, Kinoshita T, Saito N, Ochiai A, Tomita M, Esumi H, Soga T. Quantitative metabolome profiling of colon and stomach cancer microenvironment by capillary electrophoresis time-of-flight mass spectrometry. Cancer Res 2009; 69: 4918-25.

8. Ritzhaupt A, Wood IS, Ellis A, Hosie KB, Shirazi-Beechey SP. Identification of a monocarboxylate transporter isoform type 1 (MCT1) on the luminal membrane of human and pig colon. Biochem Soc Trans 1998; 26: S120.

2.2. PUBLISHED RESULTS

The results presented in this chapter were **published** in an international scientific periodical with referees:

Pinheiro C, Longatto-Filho A, Scapulatempo C, Ferreira L, Martins S, Pellerin L, Rodrigues M, Alves VA, Schmitt F, Baltazar F (2008). Increased expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1, 2 and 4 in colorectal carcinomas. *Virchows Arch* 452:139-146.

The results presented in this chapter were also presented as oral communication in the following national scientific meeting:

XLI Congresso Sociedade Portuguesa de Microscopia 2006, Braga, Portugal. **Pinheiro C**, Longatto A, Ferreira L, Scapulatempo C, Alves VAF, Milanezi F, Schmitt F, Baltazar F. Characterization of monocarboxylate transporters in colorectal carcinomas.

Additionally, these results were presented as poster in the following international scientific meetings:

Twenty-seventh International Congress of the International-Academy-of-Pathology, 2008, Athens, Greece. Scapulatempo C, Longatto A, Simoes K, **Pinheiro C**, Schmitt F, Baltazar F, Alves V. Apoptosis detected by cleaved cytokeratin 18 (M30) immunohistochemistry in colorectal cancer is related to acidic tumoral microenviroment. Abstract **published** in conference proceedings (Histopathology 53 (Sp. Iss. 1):159-160);

Twenty-first European Congress of Pathology, 2007, Istambul, Turkey. **Pinheiro C**, Longatto-Filho A, Ferreira L, Scapulatempo C, Alves VAF, Pellerin L, Schmitt F, Baltazar F. Altered expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1, 2 and 4 in colorectal carcinomas. Abstract **published** in conference proceedings (Virchows Arch 451:325);

Tenth Cancer Research UK Beatson International Cancer Conference, 2007, Glasgow, United Kingdom. **Pinheiro C**, Longatto-Filho A, Ferreira L, Scapulatempo C, Pellerin L, Alves VAF, Schmitt F, Baltazar F. Monocarboxylate transporters as new targets for colorectal cancer therapy?

2.2.1. INCREASED EXPRESSION OF MONOCARBOXYLATE TRANSPORTERS 1, 2 AND 4 IN COLORECTAL CARCINOMAS

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Increased expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1, 2, and 4 in colorectal carcinomas

Céline Pinheiro • Adhemar Longatto-Filho • Cristovam Scapulatempo • Luísa Ferreira • Sandra Martins • Luc Pellerin • Mesquita Rodrigues • Venancio A. F. Alves • Fernando Schmitt • Fátima Baltazar

Received: 10 September 2007 / Revised: 5 November 2007 / Accepted: 6 December 2007 / Published online: 10 January 2008 © Springer-Verlag 2007

Abstract Tumour cells are known to be highly glycolytic, thus producing high amounts of lactic acid. Monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs), by promoting the efflux of the accumulating acids, constitute one of the most important mechanisms in the maintenance of tumour intracellular pH.

C. Pinheiro · A. Longatto-Filho · L. Ferreira · S. Martins · F. Baltazar (⊠) Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS),

School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, Campus de Gualtar, 4710-057 Braga, Portugal e-mail: fbaltazar@ecsaude.uminho.pt

A. Longatto-Filho
 Instituto Adolfo Lutz,
 São Paulo, Brazil

C. Scapulatempo · V. A. F. Alves Department of Pathology, University of São Paulo School of Medicine, São Paulo, Brazil

S. Martins · M. Rodrigues S. Marcos Hospital, Braga, Portugal

L. Pellerin Faculty of Biology and Medicine, University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

F. Schmitt Institute of Pathology and Immunology of University of Porto (IPATIMUP), Porto, Portugal

F. Schmitt Medical Faculty of the University of Porto, Porto, Portugal Since data concerning MCT expression in colorectal carcinomas (CRC) are scarce and controversial, the present study aimed to assess the expressions of MCT1, 2, and 4 in a well characterized series of CRC and assess their role in CRC carcinogenesis. CRC samples (126 cases) were analyzed for MCT1, MCT2, and MCT4 immunoexpression and findings correlated with clinico-pathological parameters. Expression of all MCT isoforms in tumour cells was significantly increased when compared to adjacent normal epithelium. Remarkably, there was a significant gain of membrane expression for MCT1 and MCT4 and loss of plasma membrane expression for MCT2 in tumour cells. Plasma membrane expression of MCT1 was directly related to the presence of vascular invasion. This is the larger study on MCT expression in CRC and evaluates for the first time its clinico-pathological significance. The increased expression of these transporters suggests an important role in CRC, which might justify their use, especially MCT1 and MCT4, as targets in CRC drug therapy.

Keywords Monocarboxylate transporter -Colorectal carcinoma

Introduction

Highly proliferative cancer cells maintain a high rate of glycolysis, producing large amounts of acids, mainly lactic acid. Despite this fact, only the interstitial pH of tumours is low, while the intracellular pH of tumours is either normal or higher than that of normal tissues [3, 10]. In order to prevent apoptosis by cellular acidosis, tumour cells increase proton efflux through pH regulators, such as proton pumps, sodium-proton exchangers, bicarbonate transporters, and

🙆 Springer

140

monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs), which are described to be up-regulated in tumour cells [11].

MCTs play a central role in cellular metabolism and are essential for transport of monocarboxylates, such as lactate, across the plasma membrane. Based on sequence homologies, 14 MCT family members were identified, although only a few have been functionally characterized. MCT1-MCT4 isoforms are proton symporters, which have lactate as a common substrate, each isoform exhibiting different biochemical properties [9]. Substrate specificity has been associated with the tissue distribution of each transporter, depending on their metabolic activity: MCT1 has an ubiquitous distribution [6], while MCT2, having a high affinity for the substrate, is found in tissues that use lactate as a substrate (e.g., liver) [2]. MCT4, which is a lowaffinity transporter, is present in highly glycolytic tissues (e.g., slow-twitch muscle) [4] and MCT3 is exclusively found in the retinal pigment epithelium and in the choroid plexus epithelium [16].

Using in vitro and ex vivo models, Wahl et al. [19] demonstrated that MCTs are major players in the regulation of pH in melanoma cells and proposed that MCT inhibitors may be particularly effective against malignant melanoma. There are also evidence for the upregulation of MCTs in other tumours such as alveolar sarcoma of soft tissues [13], high grade glial neoplasms [7, 15], and colorectal carcinomas (CRC) [12].

Lactate release from tumour cells is a common endpoint of several metabolic alterations, raising the hypothesis of an association with tumour progression [21]. Some evidence support this hypothesis: low interstitial pH is associated with the upregulation of various angiogenic molecules, which support tumour growth, invasion, and metastasis such as vascular endothelial growth factor [8]. Lactate accumulation has also been associated with metastization and lower disease-free and overall survival in squamous cell carcinomas of the uterine cervix and head and neck carcinomas [1, 20]. Targeting MCT activity would not only induce apoptosis due to cellular acidosis, but would also lead to reduction in tumour angiogenesis, invasion, and metastasis. Thus, MCTs can constitute an attractive target for cancer therapy.

Data concerning expression of MCTs in CRC are scarce and controversial. While Lambert et al. [14] described a decrease in MCT1 expression during transition to malignancy, Koukourakis et al. [12] reported an increase in MCT1 expression in tumour cells, which is supported by the metabolic alterations induced by anaerobic glycolysis. The latter study also assessed the expression of MCT2 and MCT4, finding a strong cytoplasmic expression of MCT2 in cancer cells, but a weak expression of MCT4 in the tumour environment, suggesting a minimal role of this MCT isoform in CRC metabolic homeostasis.

🙆 Springer

Our study aimed to contribute to the elucidation of the role of MCTs in CRC, by assessing the immunohistochemical expression of the MCT isoforms 1, 2, and 4 in a large and well characterized series of CRC and evaluating its clinico-pathological significance.

Materials and methods

A series of formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissues from 126 CRC was retrieved from the files of the Medical School of the University of São Paulo (Brazil). Tissue samples were analyzed for MCT1, MCT2, and MCT4 immunohistochemical expression using specific antibodies. Comparison of MCT expression in tumour vs normal cells was also possible since, for most cases, the same paraffin section contained both tumour and normal colonic epithelium. MCT immunohistochemical expression was correlated with the available clinico-pathological data, which included: age, gender, tumour size, macroscopic presentation, histological type, tumour localization, depth of invasion, vascular invasion, nodal metastasis, and TNM classification. Normal colorectal mucosa, liver, and skeletal muscle samples were obtained prospectively from patients undergoing surgery: colorectal mucosa and abdominal wall skeletal muscle were obtained from a patient with diagnosis of diverticulosis; liver was from a patient with a diagnosis of metastatic colon carcinoma. Informed written consent was obtained from the individuals prior to removal of the tissue.

Western blotting

The specificity of the antibodies used in immunohistochemistry was evaluated by Western blotting. Tissue samples from human colon, liver, and muscle were used as positive controls for the expression of MCT1, 2, and 4, respectively. Briefly, fresh samples were collected, homogenized in a lysis buffer and then centrifuged at 6,000 rpm, 20 min at 4°C. The supernatants were collected and protein concentrations were determined by the method of Lowry. Protein was separated on a 10% (w/v)polyacrylamide gel and transferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Piscataway, NJ, USA). Membranes were blocked with 1% Tween, 10% milk, and 1% bovine serum albumin in TBS for 1 h. Membranes were then incubated overnight at 4°C with primary polyclonal antibodies for MCT1 (AB3538P, Chemicon International, Temecula, CA, USA), MCT2 (sc-14926, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA), and MCT4 (AB3316P, Chemicon International), diluted 1:200 for MCT1 and MCT4, and 1:100 for MCT2. Membranes were then incubated with the secondary

antibody coupled to horseradish peroxidase (SantaCruz Biotechnology) and bound antibodies were visualized by chemiluminescence (Supersignal West Femto kit, Pierce, Rockford, IL, USA).

Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry was performed according to avidinbiotin-peroxidase complex principle (R.T.U. VECTAS-TAIN Elite ABC Kit (Universal), Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA), with the primary antibodies for MCT1, MCT2, and MCT4, used in Western blotting, diluted 1:200. Briefly, deparaffinized and rehydrated sections were incubated in 0.3% hydrogen peroxide for 30 min, to inactivate endogenous peroxidases, and washed in PBS. Antigen retrieval was performed by immersing slide-mounted sections in 0.01 M citrate buffered solution (pH 6.0) and microwaving (600 W) for 15 min then washed in PBS. Tissue sections were then incubated with a protein blocking solution for 20 min and incubated with the primary antibody overnight at room temperature. Sections were then sequentially washed in PBS and incubated with biotinylated secondary antibody for 30 min, R.T.U. Vectastain® Elite ABC reagent for 45 min at 37°C and developed with 3,3'-diamino-benzidine (DAB+ Substrate System, DakoCytomation, Carpinteria, CA, USA) for 10 min. Negative controls were performed by using the adequate serum controls for the primary antibodies used (N1699 and X0907, DakoCytomation, Carpinteria, CA, USA). Normal colon, kidney, and skeletal muscle tissues were used as positive controls for MCT1, MCT2, and MCT4, respectively. Tissue sections were counterstained with haematoxylin and permanently mounted.

Immunohistochemical evaluation

Sections were scored semi-quantitatively for immunoreaction extension as follows: 0: 0% of immunoreactive cells; 1: <5% of immunoreactive cells; 2: 5-50% of immunoreactive cells; and 3: >50% of immunoreactive cells. Also, intensity of staining was scored semi-qualitatively as 0: negative; 1: weak; 2: intermediate; and 3: strong. Immunoreaction final score was defined as the sum of both parameters (extension and intensity), and grouped as negative (0), weak (2), moderate (3), and strong (4-6). For statistical purposes, only moderate and strong immunoreaction final scores were considered as positive. Finally, positive plasma membrane staining was also assessed. Evaluation of MCT immunohistochemical expression was performed blindly by two independent observers and discordant cases were discussed in a double-head microscope in order to determine a final score.

141



Fig. 1 Western blotting of human tissue lysates for *MCT1*, 2, and 4. Normal colon, liver, and skeletal muscle were used for *MCT1*, 2, and 4 detection, respectively

Statistical analysis

Data were stored and analyzed using the SPSS statistical software (version 14.0, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). The comparison of MCT expression between tumour and normal cells as well as the relationship between MCT expressions and the clinico-pathological parameters were examined for statistical significance using Pearson's chi-square (χ^2) test, with the threshold for significant *p* values being <0.05.

Results

One hundred and twenty six cases of CRC, corresponding to 56 women and 70 men with a median age of 64 (range 24–95), were analyzed for MCT1, MCT2, and MCT4 immunohistochemical expression. Western blot analyses of normal human tissues, using the antibodies for the three MCT isoforms, revealed protein bands around 50 kDa (Fig. 1), consistent with the molecular weight described for these membrane proteins [7].

Table 1 summarizes the frequency of MCT isoforms 1, 2, and 4 expressions in tumour cells and normal adjacent epithelium. In positive cases, cytoplasmic staining was always present while the frequency of plasma membrane staining differed for each isoform, being more frequent for

Table 1 Pattern of MCT staining in tumour vs normal adjacent epithelium

Isoform	n	Immunoreaction		Plasma membrane		
Positive (%		Positive (%)	р	Positive (%)	р	
MCT1			< 0.001		< 0.001	
Normal	86	34.9		9.3		
Tumour	126	85.7		51.6		
MCT2			0.017		0.031	
Normal	84	83.3		14.3		
Tumour	126	93.7		5.6		
MCT4			< 0.001		< 0.001	
Normal	89	55.1		9.0		
Tumour	126	96.0		38.1		

142

Virchows Arch (2008) 452:139-146



Fig. 2 Immunohistochemical expression of MCT1, 2, and 4 in colon carcinoma samples. Staining in tumour cells (b, d, and f: MCT1, 2, and 4, respectively) was stronger than in the adjacent normal

epithelium (a, c, and e: MCT1, 2, and 4, respectively). MCT1 plasma membrane staining (b) was frequently observed in tumour cells

MCT1 than for the other isoforms (51.6% vs 38.1% for MCT4 vs 5.6% for MCT2).

MCT1 immunoexpression in tumour cells was significantly increased, when compared to adjacent normal epithelium (85.7% vs 34.9%, p<0.001, Table 1). Importantly, plasma membrane staining was also significantly more frequent in tumour than in normal cells (51.6% vs 9.3%, p<0.001, Table 1). Plasma membrane expression of MCT1 (Fig. 2) was directly related to the presence of vascular invasion (p=0.003, Table 2).

Staining for MCT2 in tumour cells was also more frequent than in the adjacent normal epithelium (93.7% vs 83.3%; p=0.017, Table 1). Remarkably, there was a significant loss of plasma membrane staining in tumour cells (14.3% vs 5.6%; p<0.001, Table 1). Although it was possible to observe "granule" like cytoplasmic staining for all MCT isoforms, this pattern was much more common for MCT2 in tumour cells (Fig. 2).

MCT4 was the most frequently expressed isoform in tumour cells, with 96% of the cases showing positive

🙆 Springer

66

Virchows Arch (2008) 452:139-146

143

	Plasma membrane							
Clinical data	MCT1			MCT2		MCT4		
	n	Positive (%)	р	Positive (%)	р	Positive (%)	р	
Tumour size (cm)			0.897		0.117		0.572	
<5	53	50.9		1.9		35.8		
≥5	71	52.1		8.5		40.8		
Macroscopic type			0.826		0.360		0.548	
Exophytic	26	46.2		0.0		30.8		
Ulcerative	49	55.1		8.2		40.8		
Infiltrative	12	58.3		0.0		25.0		
Sessile-ulcerated	39	48.7		7.7		43.6		
Histological type			0.563		0.551		0.586	
Adenocarcinoma	111	50.5		5.4		38.7		
Mucinous	10	60.0		10.0		30.0		
Localization ^a			0.261		0.474		0.923	
Right colon	21	42.9		4.8		38.1		
Left colon	40	45.0		2.5		40.0		
Rectum	61	59.0		8.2		36.1		
Invasion			0.251		0.208		0.829	
T1+T2	22	40.9		0.0		36.4		
T3+T4	103	54.4		6.8		38.8		
Vascular invasion ^b			0.003		0.090		0.400	
Absent	57	36.8		1.8		42.1		
Present	69	63.8		8.7		34.8		
Nodal metastasis			0.212		0.697		1.000	
Absent	63	46.0		4.8		38.1		
Present	63	57.1		6.3		38.1		
TNM			0.408		0.722		0.276	
Stage I	16	43.8		0.0		31.3		
Stage II	35	42.9		5.7		40.0		
Stage III	38	60.5		7.9		28.9		
Stage IV	36	55.6		5.6		50.0		

Table 2 Assessment of correlation between MCTs membrane expression and the clinico-patholog	ical data
---	-----------

^a Tumour localization was grouped as follows: right colon—cecum and ascendant colon; left colon—splenic flexure, descendant colon, sigmoid and rectosigmoid.

^b Vascular invasion includes both lymph and blood vessel invasion.

staining, and expression was significantly more frequent than adjacent normal epithelium (p < 0.001, Table 1). Figure 2 shows representative cases of MCT4 positive staining in tumour cells and in adjacent normal epithelium. As observed for MCT1, MCT4 plasma membrane staining in tumour cells was significantly more frequent than in the adjacent normal epithelium (p < 0.001, Table 1). Assessment of correlation between MCT4 expression and the clinicopathological data revealed a positive association between MCT4 positivity and small size tumours (p=0.049, Table 3).

Discussion

Experimental evidence point at MCTs as potential targets for cancer therapy [5, 15, 19]. However, the role of these

membrane proteins in solid tumour development and survival is not fully understood. In the present study, we showed an evident increase in MCT immunoexpression in CRC cells when compared to adjacent normal epithelium. Most importantly, we evaluated the correlation between MCT expression in CRC and clinico-pathological data for the first time.

Although MCT1 is described as having a ubiquitous distribution, it appears that this MCT isoform plays an important role in the bidirectional transport of lactate and other short-chain fatty acids across the colonic luminal membrane [17]. Unexpectedly, when analysing MCT expression in the available adjacent normal epithelium, we found that MCT1 was the least expressed isoform. However, since these normal tissue areas are in the surroundings of tumour cells, we cannot rule out the possibility that these areas are under the influence of

1	л	л
	-+	+

Virchows Arch (2008) 452:139-146

	Immunoreaction						
Clinical data	N	MCT1		MCT2		MCT4	
		Positive (%)	р	Positive (%)	Р	Positive (%)	р
Tumour size (cm)			0.383		0.117		0.049
<5	53	88.7		98.1		100.0	
≥5	71	83.1		91.5		93.0	
Macroscopic type			0.267		0.967		0.480
Exophytic	26	76.9		92.3		100.0	
Ulcerative	49	89.8		93.9		93.9	
Infiltrative	12	75.0		91.7		91.7	
Sessile-ulcerated	39	89.7		94.9		97.4	
Histological type			0.509		0.413		0.542
Adenocarcinoma	111	87.4		93.7		96.4	
Mucinous	10	80.0		100.0		100.0	
Localization ^a			0.586		0.714		0.900
Right colon	21	81.0		90.5		95.2	
Left colon	40	82.5		95.0		95.0	
Rectum	61	88.5		95.1		96.7	
Invasion			0.220		0.570		0.292
T1+T2	22	77.3		90.9		100.0	
T3+T4	103	87.4		94.2		95.1	
Vascular invasion ^b			0.942		0.081		0.810
Absent	57	86.0		89.5		96.5	
Present	69	85.5		97.1		95.7	
Nodal metastasis			0.611		1.000		0.648
Absent	63	84.1		93.7		95.2	
Present	63	87.3		93.7		96.8	
TNM			0.610		0.591		0.238
Stage I	16	75.0		87.5		100.0	
Stage II	35	85.7		97.1		91.4	
Stage III	38	86.8		92.1		94.7	
Stage IV	36	88.9		94.4		100.0	

Table 3 Assessment of correlation between MCTs immunoreaction and the clinico-pathological dat
--

^a Tumour localization was grouped as follows: right colon-cecum and ascendant colon; left colon-splenic flexure, descendant colon, sigmoid and rectosigmoid.

^b Vascular invasion includes both lymph and blood vessel invasion.

tumour microenvironment and could show altered MCT expression. It would then be important to further analyze MCT expression in a series of normal colorectal samples. Data concerning MCT1 expression in solid tumours is scarce and there are conflicting data related to CRC [12, 14, 17]. Our immunohistochemical findings are in agreement with the results of Koukourakis et al. [12]. Although using different antibodies from this previous study, we were also able to detect a high percentage of positive cases for MCT1 expression as well as MCT1 plasma membrane expression in a high number of cases. However, these findings diverge from previous reports, where the authors described a decrease in MCT1 expression in CRC during transition from normality to malignancy [14, 17]. Concerning the clinico-pathological data, we found a significant correlation between MCT1 plasma membrane staining and vascular invasion. MCT1 plasma membrane localization is essential

🖉 Springer

for transporter activity and, assuming a role in the efflux of accumulating acids, MCT1 activity would lead to extracellular acidification. Then, the positive correlation between MCT1 plasma membrane staining and vascular invasion would be in harmony with previous reports which stated that extracellular acidification induces invasion [10].

Data concerning MCT2 expression in solid tumour is also limited. Contrasting with the results presented by Lambert et al. [14], we found expression of MCT2 in both adjacent normal epithelium and tumour cells in CRC. The staining pattern was cytoplasmic and, in a low number of cases, associated with the plasma membrane. Notably, we found a significant decrease in plasma membrane staining in tumour cells, when comparing to adjacent normal epithelium. This finding is in agreement with the results of Koukourakis et al. [12], who described lack of plasma membrane expression in tumour cells but a strong cyto-

Virchows Arch (2008) 452:139-146

plasmic expression. The authors hypothesized that this cytoplasmic expression was probably associated with the presence of MCT2 in mitochondrial membranes. Taking into consideration the physiological role of MCT2 in the transport of pyruvate into the mitochondria, one could hypothesize that the highly glycolytic tumour cell would up-regulate MCT2 in an attempt to oxidize the excess pyruvate produced. This process would also contribute to the "removal" of the acid accumulated in the cytoplasm.

Concerning MCT4, we found it to be the most frequently expressed isoform in tumour cells, an expression which was significantly increased when compared to the adjacent normal epithelium. These findings contrast with the results of Lambert et al. [14], who did not find MCT4 expression in colon carcinoma and with the results of Koukourakis et al. [12], who described weak MCT4 expression in the tumour environment. This discrepancy could be related to the specificity of the antibodies used. In our study, the frequency of MCT4 staining in tumour cells was significantly different from the adjacent normal epithelium, which, together with the Western blot results, led us to believe in the specificity of the antibody used. We also found an increase in MCT4 plasma membrane staining in tumour cells when comparing with the adjacent normal epithelium. This fact supports the hypothesis that MCTs are important in the efflux of accumulated acids in tumour cells, specially MCT4 which, due to its low affinity for lactate, would be important in highly glycolytic cells [4]. We can thus postulate that MCT4 presence in the plasma membrane will allow continuous glycolytic rate (by "removing" the end product), prevention of apoptosis due to intracellular acidification and contribution to cancer cell survival. Evaluation of the correlation between MCT4 expression and clinico-pathological data revealed positive associations with tumour size, however the correlation is weak (p=0.049). Nevertheless, assuming that the glycolysis rate in smaller tumours is higher than in bigger tumours [18], and considering the role of MCT4 in lactate efflux, it is understandable that MCT4 activity would not be so crucial in bigger-sized tumours.

One of the most notable findings in this study was the significant gain of MCT1 and MCT4 plasma membrane expression and loss of MCT2 plasma membrane expression in cancer cells. Since MCTs need to be in the plasma membrane in order to export the accumulating acids in highly glycolytic cells, and taking into consideration the substrate affinities of the different isoforms, MCT1 and MCT4 expression in the membrane is in agreement with the metabolic alterations observed in cancer cells. On the other hand, MCT2, which is involved in the uptake of mono-carboxylates into the cells in normal cell metabolism [2], does not appear to have an important role in highly glycolytic cancer cells.

This is the most comprehensive study on MCT expression in CRC and the above findings point to MCTs, specially MCT1 and MCT4, as playing an important role in CRC. MCT aberrant expression might justify future studies using these proteins as targets in CRC drug therapy. So far, however, the level of human toxicity and efficacy of the known MCT inhibitors are not currently known [7] and the search for effective and safe inhibitors would be of great value.

Acknowledgments CP received a PhD fellowship from Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (SFRH/BD/27465/2006).

Conflict of interest statement We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

References

- Brizel DM, Schroeder T, Scher RL, Walenta S, Clough RW, Dewhirst MW, Mueller-Klieser W (2001) Elevated tumour lactate concentrations predict for an increased risk of metastases in headand-neck cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 51:349–353
- Broer S, Broer A, Schneider HP, Stegen C, Halestrap AP, Deitmer JW (1999) Characterization of the high-affinity monocarboxylate transporter MCT2 in *Xenopus laevis* oocytes. Biochem J 341:529–535
- Dang CV, Semenza GL (1999) Oncogenic alterations of metabolism. Trends Biochem Sci 24:68–72
- Dimmer KS, Friedrich B, Lang F, Deitmer JW, Broer S (2000) The low-affinity monocarboxylate transporter MCT4 is adapted to the export of lactate in highly glycolytic cells. Biochem J 1:219–227
- Fang J, Quinones QJ, Holman TL, Morowitz MJ, Wang Q, Zhao H, Sivo F, Maris JM, Wahl ML (2006) The H+-linked monocarboxylate transporter (MCT1/SLC16A1): a potential therapeutic target for high-risk neuroblastoma. Mol Pharmacol 70:2108–2115
- Fishbein WN, Merezhinskaya N, Foellmer JW (2002) Relative distribution of three major lactate transporters in frozen human tissues and their localization in unfixed skeletal muscle. Muscle Nerve 26:101–112
- Froberg MK, Gerhart DZ, Enerson BE, Manivel C, Guzman-Paz M, Seacotte N, Drewes LR (2001) Expression of monocarboxylate transporter MCT1 in normal and neoplastic human CNS tissues. Neuroreport 12:761–765
- Fukumura D, Xu L, Chen Y, Gohongi T, Seed B, Jain RK (2001) Hypoxia and acidosis independently up-regulate vascular endothelial growth factor transcription in brain tumors in vivo. Cancer Res 61:6020–6024
- Halestrap AP, Meredith D (2004) The SLC16 gene family—from monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs) to aromatic amino acid transporters and beyond. Pflugers Arch 447:619–628
- Helmlinger G, Sckell A, Dellian M, Forbes NS, Jain RK (2002) Acid production in glycolysis-impaired tumors provides new insights into tumor metabolism. Clin Cancer Res 8:1284–1291
- Izumi H, Torigoe T, Ishiguchi H, Uramoto H, Yoshida Y, Tanabe M, Ise T, Murakami T, Yoshida T, Nomoto M, Kohno K (2003) Cellular pH regulators: potentially promising molecular targets for cancer chemotherapy. Cancer Treat Rev 29:541–549
- Koukourakis MI, Giatromanolaki A, Harris AL, Sivridis E (2006) Comparison of metabolic pathways between cancer cells and stromal cells in colorectal carcinomas: a metabolic survival role for tumor-associated stroma. Cancer Res 66:632–637
- Ladanyi M, Antonescu CR, Drobnjak M, Baren A, Lui MY, Golde DW, Cordon-Cardo C (2002) The precrystalline cytoplasmic

146

Virchows Arch (2008) 452:139-146

granules of alveolar soft part sarcoma contain monocarboxylate transporter 1 and CD147. AJP 160:1215-1221

- Lambert DW, Wood IS, Ellis A, Shirazi-Beechey SP (2002) Molecular changes in the expression of human colonic nutrient transporters during the transition from normality to malignancy. Br J Cancer 86:1262–1269
- Mathupala SP, Parajuli P, Sloan AE (2004) Silencing of monocarboxylate transporters via small interfering ribonucleic acid inhibits glycolysis and induces cell death in malignant glioma: an in vitro study. Neurosurgery 55:1410–1419
- Philp NJ, Yoon H, Lombardi L (2001) Mouse MCT3 gene is expressed preferentially in retinal pigment and choroid plexus epithelia. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 280:1319–1326
- Ritzhaupt A, Wood IS, Ellis A, Hosie KB, Shirazi-Beechey SP (1998) Identification and characterization of a monocarboxylate

transporter (MCT1) in pig and human colon: its potential to transport L-lactate as well as butyrate. J Physiol 513:719–732
18. Vaupel P (2004) The role of hypoxia-induced factors in tumor

- Vaupel P (2004) The role of hypoxia-induced factors in tumor progression. Oncologist 9:10–17
- Wahl ML, Owen JA, Burd R, Herlands RA, Nogami SS, Rodeck U, Berd D, Leeper DB, Owen CS (2002) Regulation of intracellular pH in human melanoma: potential therapeutic implications. Mol Cancer Ther 1:617–628
- Walenta S, Wetterling M, Lehrke M, Schwickert G, Sundfor K, Rofstad EK, Mueller-Klieser W (2000) High lactate levels predict likelihood of metastases, tumor recurrence, and restricted patient survival in human cervical cancers. Cancer Res 60:916–921
- Walenta S, Schroeder T, Mueller-Klieser W (2004) Lactate in solid malignant tumors: potential basis of a metabolic classification in clinical oncology. Curr Med Chem 11:2195–2204

🙆 Springer

Chapter 3. MCTs IN CERVICAL CARCINOMA

3.1. CHAPTER OVERVIEW

Cervical carcinogenesis is probably the best defined carcinogenic mechanism. In fact, it is widely accepted that cervical carcinogenesis is triggered by human papillomavirus (HPV) infection, which, present in virtually all cervical tumours, is a necessary cause for cervical cancer development [1]. Although the glycolytic metabolism has been associated with cervical tumours since long time ago [2,3], it was recently demonstrated that HPV-16 E7 oncogene is associated with increased glutaminolysis [4] as well as an increase in transketolase-like enzyme 1, a crucial enzyme of the non-oxidative pathway of the pentose phosphate pathway [5,6]. However, although the relevance of glycolysis in cervical neoplasia is still unknown, lactate, which can result from, besides glycolysis, glutaminolysis and other metabolic pathways [4,7-9], continues being a metabolic end-product that needs to be transported out of the cell.

Despite the important role of lactate in cervical cancer, where high lactate levels have been described as predictor of poor prognosis [10,11], expression of MCTs has not yet been described in human cervical carcinoma samples.

In the following studies, published in international scientific periodicals with referees, the expressions of MCT1, MCT2 and MCT4, as well as the MCT1/MCT4 chaperone CD147, were assessed in a large series of cervical lesions, which included 29 chronic cervicitis (non-neoplastic), 30 low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions, 32 high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions, 49 squamous cell carcinomas, 51 adenocarcinomas, and 30 adenosquamous carcinomas of the uterine cervix. In the first study, a significant increase in overall and plasma membrane expression of MCT1 and MCT4 was observed from pre-invasive to invasive squamous lesions and from normal glandular epithelium to adenocarcinomas. For MCT2, the significant alterations in the expression along the progression to the invasive phenotype did not follow a clear increase/decrease pattern. Importantly, it was quite interesting to note that both MCT1 and MCT4 were only expressed in the parabasal and basal cell layers of the normal squamous epithelium, are lost in the upper layers, but "reappear" in altered cells. It seems that these altered cells recover the MCT expression phenotype of the parabasal cell layer, which represents the main proliferative pool of cells. Also, MCT2 was more frequently observed in squamous cell carcinomas, while MCT4 was more frequently observed in adenocarcinomas. Importantly, HPV-positive pre-invasive cases expressed more MCT1 and MCT4 than HPV negative pre-invasive cases, and also presented more MCT1 in plasma membrane. In the second study, CD147 expression was evaluated in the same series of cervical lesions, aiming to evaluate the association between CD147 and MCT expression and support, in human samples, the role of CD147 as a chaperone of MCT1 and MCT4. CD147 was

increased in all cervical lesions, as compared to normal corresponding tissues, and, importantly, CD147 was more frequently expressed in MCT1 and MCT4 positive cases. However, it is important to note that these associations were not between plasma membrane expressions, excluding the role in protein trafficking to the plasma membrane. Moreover, co-expression of MCT1 and CD147 was associated with lymph-node metastasis in adenocarcinomas.

In conclusion, these results point to an important role of both MCT1 and MCT4, as well as their co-expression with CD147, in cervical cancer cell metabolic and microenvironmental adaptations along progression to invasive carcinomas.

1. Walboomers JM, Jacobs MV, Manos MM, Bosch FX, Kummer JA, Shah KV, Snijders PJ, Peto J, Meijer CJ, Munoz N. Human papillomavirus is a necessary cause of invasive cervical cancer worldwide. J Pathol 1999; 189: 12-9.

2. Marshall MJ, Goldberg DM, Neal FE, Millar DR. Enzymes of glucose metabolism in carcinoma of the cervix and endometrium of the human uterus. Br J Cancer 1978; 37: 990-1001.

3. Lee WY, Huang SC, Hsu KF, Tzeng CC, Shen WL. Roles for hypoxia-regulated genes during cervical carcinogenesis: somatic evolution during the hypoxia-glycolysis-acidosis sequence. Gynecol Oncol 2008; 108: 377-84.

4. Mazurek S, Zwerschke W, Jansen-Durr P, Eigenbrodt E. Effects of the human papilloma virus HPV-16 E7 oncoprotein on glycolysis and glutaminolysis: role of pyruvate kinase type M2 and the glycolytic-enzyme complex. Biochem J 2001; 356: 247-56.

5. Kohrenhagen N, Voelker HU, Schmidt M, Kapp M, Krockenberger M, Frambach T, Dietl J, Kammerer U. Expression of transketolase-like 1 (TKTL1) and p-Akt correlates with the progression of cervical neoplasia. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2008; 34: 293-300.

6. Chen H, Yue JX, Yang SH, Ding H, Zhao RW, Zhang S. Overexpression of transketolase-like gene 1 is associated with cell proliferation in uterine cervix cancer. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2009; 28: 43.

7. Mazurek S, Zwerschke W, Jansen-Durr P, Eigenbrodt E. Metabolic cooperation between different oncogenes during cell transformation: interaction between activated ras and HPV-16 E7. Oncogene 2001; 20: 6891-8.

8. Mazurek S, Grimm H, Oehmke M, Weisse G, Teigelkamp S, Eigenbrodt E. Tumor M2-PK and glutaminolytic enzymes in the metabolic shift of tumor cells. Anticancer Res 2000; 20: 5151-4.

9. DeBerardinis RJ, Mancuso A, Daikhin E, Nissim I, Yudkoff M, Wehrli S, Thompson CB. Beyond aerobic glycolysis: transformed cells can engage in glutamine metabolism that exceeds the requirement for protein and nucleotide synthesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007; 104: 19345-50.

10. Schwickert G, Walenta S, Sundfor K, Rofstad EK, Mueller-Klieser W. Correlation of high lactate levels in human cervical cancer with incidence of metastasis. Cancer Res 1995; 55: 4757-9.

11. Walenta S, Wetterling M, Lehrke M, Schwickert G, Sundfor K, Rofstad EK, Mueller-Klieser W. High lactate levels predict likelihood of metastases, tumor recurrence, and restricted patient survival in human cervical cancers. Cancer Res 2000; 60: 916-21.

3.2. PUBLISHED RESULTS

The results presented in this chapter were **published** in international scientific periodicals with referees:

Pinheiro C, Longatto-Filho A, Ferreira L, Pereira SM, Etlinger D, Moreira MA, Jubé LF, Queiroz GS, Schmitt F, Baltazar F (2008). Increasing expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1 and 4 along progression to invasive cervical carcinoma. *Int J Gynec Pathol* 27:568-574;

Pinheiro C, Longatto-Filho A, Pereira SM, Etlinger D, Moreira MA, Jubé LF, Queiroz GS, Schmitt F, Baltazar F (2009). Monocarboxylate transporters 1 and 4 are associated with CD147 in cervical carcinoma. *Dis Markers* 26:97-103.

The results presented in this chapter were also presented as poster in the following international scientific meetings:

Eurogin 2007, Monte Carlo, Monaco. **Pinheiro C**, Longatto-Filho A, Moreira MAR, Queiroz GS, Oton GJB, Júnior AF, Ribeiro LFJ, Schmitt FC, Baltazar F. Altered expression of monocarboxylate transporters in pre-invasive and invasive lesions of the uterine cervix;

Twentieth EORTC-NCI-AACR Symposium on Molecular Targets and Cancer Therapeutics, 2008, Geneva, Switzerland. **Pinheiro C**, Longatto-Filho A, Pereira SM, Etlinger D, Jubé LF, Queiroz GS, Schmitt F, Baltazar F. CD147 expression correlates with monocarboxylate transporters 1 and 4 in cervical carcinoma. Abstract **published** in conference proceedings (EJC Supplements 6:118-119).

3.2.1. INCREASING EXPRESSION OF MONOCARBOXYLATE TRANSPORTERS 1 AND 4 ALONG PROGRESSION TO INVASIVE CERVICAL CARCINOMA

International Journal of Gynecological Pathology 00:1–7, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore © 2008 International Society of Gynecological Pathologists

Original Article

Increasing Expression of Monocarboxylate Transporters 1 and 4 Along Progression to Invasive Cervical Carcinoma

Céline Pinheiro, B.Sc., Adhemar Longatto-Filho, M.Sc., Ph.D., P.M.I.A.C., Luísa Ferreira, B.Sc., Sônia Maria Miranda Pereira, B.Sc., Daniela Etlinger, B.Sc., Marise A. R. Moreira, M.D., Ph.D., Luiz Fernando Jubé, M.D., Geraldo Silva Queiroz, M.D., Fernando Schmitt, M.D., Ph.D., F.I.A.C., and Fátima Baltazar, Ph.D.

Cancer cells are highly proliferative and in a hypoxic microenvironment are dependent on anaerobic glycolysis for energy. This leads to production

Céline Pinheiro received a PhD fellowship from Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (SFRH/BD/27465/2006).

of large quantities of lactate, which is widely believed to be the main cause of tumor acidity (1,2). As lactate release from tumor cells is a common end point downstream of several metabolic alterations, it could be hypothesized that this event is associated with tumor progression. Actually, lactate content within cervical cancer was associated with increased incidence of metastasis (3,4) and with a shorter diseasefree and overall survival (4). Similar results were found in head and neck cancer (5,6). Also, low interstitial pH is associated with upregulation of various angiogenic molecules, such as vascular endothelial growth factor (7), which support tumor growth, invasion, and metastasis.

The transport of lactate across the plasma membrane is mediated by a family of proton-coupled

Summary: Solid tumor cells are known to be highly glycolytic and, to prevent apoptosis by cellular acidosis, cells increase proton efflux through pH regulators, such as monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs). However, the role of these membrane proteins in solid tumor development and survival is not fully understood. We aimed to evaluate the expression of the MCT isoforms 1, 2, and 4 in a large series of cervical lesions (neoplastic and nonneoplastic) and assess its clinical-pathologic significance. The series analyzed included 29 chronic cervicitis, 30 low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions, 32 high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions, 49 squamous cell carcinomas, 51 adenocarcinomas, and 30 adenosquamous carcinomas of the uterine cervix. Analysis of the expression of MCT isoforms 1, 2, and 4 was performed by immunohistochemistry with specific antibodies. Immunoreactions were evaluated both qualitatively and semiquantitatively. We found a significant increase in MCT expression from preinvasive to invasive squamous lesions and from normal glandular epithelium to adenocarcinomas. This is the first study evaluating the significance of MCT expression in lesions of the uterine cervix, including invasive carcinomas, and the results found herein led us to believe that these membrane proteins are involved in the progression to invasiveness in uterine cervix carcinoma. Key Words: Monocarboxylate transporters-Cervical carcinoma-HPV.

From the Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Health Sciences (C.P., A.L.-F., L.F., F.B.), University of Minho, Campus of Gualtar, Braga, Portugal; Instituto Adolfo Lutz (A.L.-F, S.M.M.P., D.E.), São Paulo, Brazil; Department of Pathology, School of Medicine (M.A.R.M.), Federal University of Goiás, Goiânia, Go., Brazil; Hospital Araújo Jorge (L.F.J., G.S.Q.), Goiânia, Go., Brazil; IPATIMUP, Institute of Pathology and Immunology of the University of Porto (F.S.), Porto, Portugal; and Medical Faculty of the University of Porto (F.S.), Portugal.

Address correspondence and reprint requests to Fátima Baltazar, PhD, School of Health Sciences, Life and Health Sciences Research Institute, University of Minho, Braga 4710-057, Portugal. E-mail: fbaltazar@ecsaude.uminho.pt.

C. PINHEIRO ET AL.

monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs), which comprises 14 members. The isoforms MCT1 to MCT4 are proton symporters that exhibit different affinities for lactate, leading to different tissue expression: MCT1 has an ubiquitous distribution (8), whereas MCT2, having high affinity for the substrate, is found in tissues that use lactate for gluconeogenesis (eg, liver) (9). MCT3 is exclusively found in the retinal pigment epithelium and in the choroid plexus epithelium (10) and MCT4, which is a low-affinity transporter, is present in highly glycolytic tissues (eg, skeletal muscle) (11).

As MCTs are vital for intracellular pH homeostasis, by exporting the accumulating lactic acid (12), it is reasonable to hypothesize that these proteins may be upregulated in cancer, where high levels of lactate are produced. There is evidence for the upregulation of MCTs in tumors, such as soft tissue sarcoma (13), high-grade gliomas (14,15), colorectal carcinomas (16,17), neuroblastomas (18), and lung cancer (19), however, only one of these studies investigated the clinico-pathologic significance of MCT expression.

In cervical cancer, as already mentioned, lactate was associated with poor prognosis, however, to the best of our knowledge, no study evaluating the role of MCT expression has been performed. Therefore, the aim of this work was to study the role of MCTs in cervical cancer and its precursor lesions, by evaluating the immunohistochemical expression of the MCT isoforms 1, 2, and 4 in a large series of cervical lesions (neoplastic and non-neoplastic) and assessing its clinico-pathologic value.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The material studied was comprised of 91 formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded samples selected from the files of Pathology Division of Adolfo Lutz Institute, São Paulo, Brazil, which included 29 cases of chronic cervicitis (herein designated as "negative" for human papillomavirus [HPV]-induced lesion), 30 cases of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade I (CIN 1, herein designated as low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion [LSIL), and 32 cases of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grades II and III (CIN2/3, herein designated as high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion [HSIL]). Liquid-based cytology samples (DNACitoliq system, Digene Brasil, São Paulo, Brazil) of cases categorized as intraepithelial lesions were tested for high-risk human papillomavirus with

Int J Gynecol Pathol, Vol. 00, No. 0, **B** 2008

Hybrid Capture II (HC2) System (Digene Brasil, São Paulo, Brazil). The protocol was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions, using the residual material of cytologic examination. We also analyzed a series of formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue samples from 130 patients with squamous cell carcinoma (SCC, n=49), adenocarcinoma (AC, n = 51), and adenosquamous cell carcinoma (ASC, n = 30) of the uterine cervix, examined and treated at 2 Institutions: Araújo Jorge Hospital and the Pathology Department of the School of Medicine of the Federal University of Goiás, Goiania, in Goias State, Brazil. All histopathologic diagnoses were revised and categorized according to the World Health Organization classification (20). Clinico-pathologic data of the patients included age at diagnosis, lymph node and/or distant metastasis, recurrence, and overall survival.

Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemistry was performed according avidin-biotin-peroxidase complex principle to (R.T.U. Vectastain Elite ABC Kit [Universal], Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA), with the primary antibodies for MCT1 (AB3538P, Chemicon International, Temecula, CA), MCT2 (sc-14926, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA), and MCT4 (AB3316P, Chemicon International, Temecula, CA), diluted 1:200, as previously described (17). Briefly, deparaffinized and rehydrated slide-mounted sections were incubated in 0.3% hydrogen peroxide for 30 minutes, to inactivate endogenous peroxidases, and washed in phosphate-buffered saline. Antigen retrieval was performed by immersing sections in 0.01 mol/ L of citrate-buffered solution (pH 6.0), and microwaving (600 W) for 15 minutes, and then washed in phosphate-buffered saline. Tissue sections were then incubated with protein blocking solution for 20 minutes and incubated with the primary antibody overnight at room temperature. Sections were then sequentially washed in phosphate-buffered saline and incubated with biotinylated secondary antibody for 30 minutes, R.T.U. Vectastain Elite ABC reagent for 45 minutes at 37°C, and developed with 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB + Substrate System, Dako, Carpinteria, CA) for 10 minutes. Negative controls were performed by using adequate negative controls for the primary antibodies (X0907 and N1699, Dako, Carpinteria, CA). Colon carcinoma was used as positive control for MCT1 and MCT4, whereas for MCT2 kidney was used. Tissue sections were

2

MCTS IN CERVICAL CARCINOMA

counterstained with hematoxylin and permanently mounted.

Immunohistochemical Evaluation

Sections were evaluated for immunoreaction, which included both cytoplasmic and membranepositive staining. Immunoreaction extent was scored semiquantitatively as follows: 0-0% of immunoreactive cells; 1-<5% of immunoreactive cells; 2-5% to 50% of immunoreactive cells; and $3 \rightarrow 50\%$ of immunoreactive cells. Also, intensity of staining was scored semigualitatively as 0-negative; 1weak; 2-intermediate; and 3-strong. Immunoreaction final score was defined as the sum of both parameters (extent and intensity), and grouped as negative (0), weak (2), moderate (3), and strong (4-6). For statistical purposes, only moderate and strong immunoreaction final scores were considered as positive. Finally, positive plasma membrane staining was also assessed and positive cases included all plasma membrane positive cases, with or without cytoplasmic expression. Evaluation of MCT immunohistochemical expression was performed blindly by 2 independent observers. Discordant results were discussed in a double-head microscope and a final score was agreed.

Statistical Analysis

Data were stored and analyzed using the SPSS statistical software (version 14.0, SPSS Inc, Chicago, Illinois). The comparison of MCT expression between tumor and normal cells as well as the relationship between MCT expression and the clinico-pathologic parameters were examined for statistical significance using Pearson's χ^2 test, being threshold for significance *P* values <0.05. Survival curve was plotted using the method of Kaplan and Meier and data compared using the logrank test, using a cut-off of 24 months. Owing to lack of information, 18 cases of SCC, 8 cases of AC, and 1 case of ASC were not included in the statistical analysis regarding the clinic-pathologic parameters.

RESULTS

In general, MCT expression was predominantly found in the cytoplasm, with some cases presenting also plasma membrane staining (Figs. 1, 2). In addition, MCT2 expression was frequently found in fibroblasts and blood vessels, whereas MCT1 and MCT4 expressions were seldom found in these structures. In the normal squamous epithelium, we observed the following expression pattern: both MCT1 and MCT4 were limited to the parabasal and basal cell layers, whereas MCT2 was observed not only in the parabasal and basal cell layers, but also in the upper layers.

Figure 2 compares the frequency of MCT isoforms 1, 2, and 4 expression in all the squamous epithelial lesions studied, as well as non-neoplastic and neoplastic glandular tissues. For statistical purposes, positive MCT immunoreaction in cervicitis (negative for HPV-induced lesions) was only considered positive if located in the squamous epithelial area. A significant increase in MCT1 and MCT4 expression in the squamous epithelium was observed in the transition from normality to malignancy (P < 0.001, Figs. 1A–D, 2A, C). However, plasma membrane expression, essential for transporter activity, maintained this progressive increase only for MCT4 (P < 0.001, Fig. 2C), whereas for MCT1 a loss in membrane expression was observed in SCC (P < 0.001, Fig. 2A). Regarding MCT2 expression in the squamous epithelium, the differences observed did not follow the same pattern as MCT1 and MCT4. with cervicitis and HSIL presenting a more frequent expression than low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion and SCC (P<0.001, Fig. 2B). Also, membrane expression of MCT2 was low, when compared with MCT1 and MCT4. Concerning the glandular epithelium, as we do not have intermediate lesions, it was only possible to compare neoplastic tissues (AC) with normal glandular tissue of the biopsy material. MCT4 was the most frequently expressed isoform in normal glands (Figs. 1E, 2C), followed by MCT2. Interestingly, MCT1 expression was not found in normal glandular tissue. In adenocarcinomas, all MCT isoforms presented a significantly increased expression in tumor cells, when compared with normal glandular tissue (P < 0.001 for MCT1 and MCT2 and P = 0.002 for MCT4, Fig. 2), whereas membrane expression was absent in the normal gland but present in tumor cells for MCT1 and MCT4 (P < 0.001). MCT2 membrane expression was absent in both normal and tumor glandular cells. Figures 1D, F-H show representative cases of MCT expression in the different tumor histologic types studied.

Clinical outcome was available for 103 carcinoma cases (31 SCC, 43 AC, and 29 ASC) enabling the assessment of correlations with MCT expression (Table 1). The only correlations found were with
C. PINHEIRO ET AL.



FIG. 1. Immunohistochemical expression of monocarboxylate transporter (MCT) 1, 2, and 4 in cervical lesions. A to D, Progressive increase of MCT1 expression in the squamous epithelium, in progression to invasive phenotype (A, negative for HPV-induced lesion; B, low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion; C, high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion; and D, squamous cell carcinoma); E, MCT4 expression in the normal glandular; F to H, representative cases of MCT expression in the different tumor histologic types studied (F, MCT1 expression in adenocarcinoma; G, MCT2 expression in squamous cell carcinoma; and H, MCT4 expression in adenosquamous carcinoma). All pictures are at a $\times 200$ magnification.

the histologic type, being MCT2 less frequently expressed in SCC (P=0.001) and MCT4 more frequently expressed in AC (P<0.001). No associations were found between MCT plasma membrane

expression and clinico-pathologic data (data not shown). As expression of MCT2 and MCT4 was significantly distinct among histologic types, association with age, lymph node/distant metastasis, and

Int J Gynecol Pathol, Vol. 00, No. 0, **B** 2008



FIG. 2. Frequency of monocarboxylate transporter (MCT) staining in all squamous lesions studied, as well as in non-neoplastic and neoplastic glandular tissues. "Immunoreaction" includes both cytoplasmic and membrane-positive staining; "membrane" includes all plasma membrane-positive cases, with or without cytoplasmic expression. A, MCT1; B, MCT2; and C, MCT4; ^anegative for HPVinduced cervical lesions; ^bnormal glandular epithelium; continuous line: statistical significance for membrane staining results; *P = 0.002; *P < 0.001. AC indicates adenocarcinoma; HSIL, high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion; LSIL, low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion; SCC, squamous cell carcinoma.

recurrence was assessed by histologic type; however, no correlations were found (data not shown). Survival data of the patients were also available and, although not statistically significant, we found a tendency for patients with MCT4 expressing ASC to present a shorter overall survival (P = 0.099, Fig. 3).

HPV status of the biopsy material was determined, and samples included 54/91 HPV-positive cases (7/29 cervicitis, 16/30 low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion, and 31/32 HSIL). Table 2 depicts the correlation between MCT expression and HPV status. HPV positivity correlated with both MCT1 expression (P = 0.003) and membrane localization (P = 0.005) and also with MCT4 expression (P = 0.005).

DISCUSSION

It was recently described that lactate is associated with poor prognosis in cervical cancer (3,4); however, no study evaluating the role of MCT expression in this type of tumors has been performed. So, the present work is an attempt to bring some light into the understanding of the metabolic alterations that occur during cervical cancer progression, with especial focus on lactate transport in tumor cells.

On the whole, we found a significant increase in MCT expression from preinvasive to invasive squamous lesions and from normal glandular epithelium to adenocarcinomas. It was quite interesting to note that both MCT1 and MCT4 were only expressed in the parabasal and basal cell layers of the normal squamous epithelium, lost in the upper layers, but "reappear" in altered cells. It seems that these altered

TABLE 1.	Correlation	between MCT	' immunoreaction	and the	clinico-patholo	ogic da	ata in	carcinoma	cases
----------	-------------	-------------	------------------	---------	-----------------	---------	--------	-----------	-------

MCTS IN CERVICAL CARCINOMA

Immunoreaction		MCT	<u>_1</u>	MCI	Γ2	MCT4		
Clinical data	n	Positive (%)	Р	Positive (%)	Р	Positive (%)	Р	
Age*			0.518		0.612		0.924	
>49	43	60.5		69.8		67.4		
≤ 49	60	66.7		65.0		68.3		
Histologic type			0.284		0.001		< 0.001	
SCC	49	71.4		49.0		40.8		
AC	51	58.8		72.5		88.0		
ASC	30	73.3		86.7		63.3		
Lymph node/ metastasis†			0.755		0.779		0.873	
Absent	77	64.9		66.2		67.5		
Present	26	61.5		69.2		69.2		
Recurrence			0.675		0.275		0.839	
Negative	96	63.5		65.6		67.7		
Positive	7	71.4		85.7		71.4		

* Mean value was used for age cut-off.

†Lymph node/metastasis includes both lymph node and distant metastasis.

AC indicates adenocarcinoma; ASC, adenosquamous carcinoma; MCT, monocarboxylate transporter; SCC, squamous cell carcinoma.

Int J Gynecol Pathol, Vol. 00, No. 0, **2008**

C. PINHEIRO ET AL.



FIG. 3. The illustration represents the survival curve related to monocarboxylate transporter (MCT) 4 immunoreaction in adenosquamous cell carcinoma. Patients with tumor negative for the expression of MCT4 show shorter survival (interrupted line), whereas longer survival values were obtained for patients with tumor positive for MCT4 expression (continuous line) (P = 0.099).

cells recover the MCT expression phenotype of the parabasal cell layer, which represents the main proliferative pool of cells. However, it is important to note that the membrane expression of these 2 isoforms does not follow a similar pattern: MCT1 membrane expression decreases in the transition from HSIL to SCC, whereas an evident increase in MCT4 membrane expression is observed. As membrane localization of the transporter is essential for efflux of accumulating acids, it is reasonable to assume that highly proliferative cancer cells would express increased levels of MCT4, the low-affinity isoform, in the membrane, to allow continuous glycolytic rate, prevent apoptosis owing to intracellular acidification, and contribute to cancer cell survival. The reason why MCT1 is not overexpressed in the plasma membrane of SCC cells, despite the fact of being more expressed in SCC than in the other lesions, is not evident; however, this event may be associated

 TABLE 2. Correlation between MCT expression and HPV status in preinvasive lesions

		Immunorea	ction	Plasma membrane		
MCT isoform	n	Positive (%)	Р	Positive (%)	Р	
MCT1			0.003		0.005	
HPV-negative	37	10.8		10.8		
HPV-positive	54	38.9		37.0		
MCT2			0.951		0.786	
HPV-negative	37	56.8		2.7		
HPV-positive	54	57.4		1.9		
MCT4			0.037		0.412	
HPV-negative	36	8.3		0.0		
HPV-positive	54	25.9		1.9		

HPV indicates human papillomavirus; MCT, monocarboxylate transporter.

Int J Gynecol Pathol, Vol. 00, No. 0, **B** 2008

with the already described dependence of MCT1 and MCT4 on the expression of the same ancillary protein CD147 for correct expression in the plasma membrane (21,22). We can then speculate that the levels of CD147 might, in some way, favor MCT4 membrane expression instead of MCT1 membrane expression, the isoform most prone to export the high levels of lactate resultant from the high glycolytic rates of cancer cells. As MCT2 does not follow a regular pattern of expression throughout squamous lesions in evolution to malignancy, one can hypothesize that this isoform does not play, at first sight, an important role in the metabolism of these cells. This observation is in agreement with the main role of MCT2, which is the uptake of monocarboxylates into lactate consuming cells (9). In fact, MCT2 expression is barely found in the plasma membrane of cervical lesions, being even absent in the plasma membrane of tumor cells.

In glandular neoplastic tissue, a significant gain in all isoforms was observed, when compared with normal tissue. This increase in expression was accompanied by a significant gain of plasma membrane expression for MCT1 and MCT4, which is in accordance with the cancer metabolic alterations already mentioned. However, we observed a significant gain of MCT2 in the cytoplasm of tumor cells, but lack of membrane expression. This event was already observed by Koukourakis et al. (16), in colorectal adenocarcinomas, who hypothesized that this cytoplasmic expression could be associated with the presence of MCT2 in mitochondrial membranes. Assuming the physiologic role of MCT2 in the transport of pyruvate into the mitochondria, one could suppose that the highly glycolytic tumor cell would upregulate MCT2 in an attempt to oxidize the excess pyruvate produced. This event would also contribute to the "removal" of the acid accumulated in the cytoplasm.

Despite the lack of significant associations between MCT expression and the clinico-pathologic data available for the patients, one cannot ignore the trend for patients with MCT4 expressing ASC to present a worse overall survival. ASCs are a rare type of cervical carcinoma, described to be very aggressive (23). As the number of patients with ASC and with a minimum follow-up of 24 months was low (n = 21), an increase in the number of cases would be crucial to improve statistical power. If confirmed, this assumption would complement the knowledge on cervical carcinoma prognosis, where the presence of lactate has a poor prognostic value (3,4).

84

MCTS IN CERVICAL CARCINOMA

HPV is responsible for one of the most common sexually transmitted infections worldwide and infection with high-risk HPV types is a necessary cause of cervical cancer (24). The frequency of high-risk HPV infection increases with the progression of the lesion, being present in virtually all cancer cases (25). Interestingly, we found that HPV-positive preinvasive cases express more MCT1 and MCT4 than HPVnegative cases, and also present more MCT1 in plasma membrane. Thus, we can speculate that HPV infection may, by some mechanism, stimulate MCT1 and MCT4 expressions as well as trafficking of MCT1 to the plasma membrane, but not MCT2 expression, probably with the purpose of favoring higher glycolytic rates during tumorigenesis, as HPV stimulates cell proliferation (26,27). However, functional studies will be needed to confirm this hypothesis.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study evaluating the significance of MCT expression in cervical cancer. All the above findings point at MCT1 and MCT4, especially MCT4, as having an important role in cervical cancer development and survival. If confirmed by further studies, these metabolic alterations may be explored to develop new directed therapeutic interventions in cervical cancer.

REFERENCES

- Tannock IF, Rotin D. Acid pH in tumors and its potential for therapeutic exploitation. *Cancer Res* 1989;49:4373–84.
- De Milito A, Fais S. Tumor acidity, chemoresistance and proton pump inhibitors. *Future Oncol* 2005;1:779–86.
- Schwickert G, Walenta S, Sundfor K, et al. Correlation of high lactate levels in human cervical cancer with incidence of metastasis. *Cancer Res* 1995;55:4757–9.
- Walenta S, Wetterling M, Lehrke M, et al. High lactate levels predict likelihood of metastases, tumor recurrence, and restricted patient survival in human cervical cancers. *Cancer Res* 2000;60:916–21.
- Brizel DM, Schroeder T, Scher RL, et al. Elevated tumor lactate concentrations predict for an increased risk of metastases in head-and-neck cancer. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2001;51:349–53.
- Walenta S, Salameh A, Lyng H, et al. Correlation of high lactate levels in head and neck tumors with incidence of metastasis. *Am J Pathol* 1997;150:409–15.
- Fukumura D, Xu L, Chen Y, et al. Hypoxia and acidosis independently up-regulate vascular endothelial growth factor transcription in brain tumors in vivo. *Cancer Res* 2001;61: 6020–4.
- Fishbein WN, Merezhinskaya N, Foellmer JW. Relative distribution of three major lactate transporters in frozen human tissues and their localization in unfixed skeletal muscle. *Muscle Nerve* 2002;26:101–12.

- Broer S, Broer A, Schneider HP, et al. Characterization of the high-affinity monocarboxylate transporter MCT2 in *Xenopus laevis* oocytes. *Biochem J* 1999;341:529–35.
- Philp NJ, Yoon H, Lombardi L. Mouse MCT3 gene is expressed preferentially in retinal pigment and choroid plexus epithelia. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 2001;280:1319–26.
- Dimmer KS, Friedrich B, Lang F, et al. The low-affinity monocarboxylate transporter MCT4 is adapted to the export of lactate in highly glycolytic cells. *Biochem J* 2000;1:219–27.
- Izumi H, Torigoe T, Ishiguchi H, et al. Cellular pH regulators: potentially promising molecular targets for cancer chemotherapy. *Cancer Treat Rev* 2003;29:541–9.
 Ladanyi M, Antonescu CR, Drobnjak M, et al. The precrystal-
- Ladanyi M, Antonescu CR, Drobnjak M, et al. The precrystalline cytoplasmic granules of alveolar soft part sarcoma contain monocarboxylate transporter 1 and CD147. *Am J Pathol* 2002;160:1215–21.
- Froberg MK, Gerhart DZ, Enerson BE, et al. Expression of monocarboxylate transporter MCT1 in normal and neoplastic human CNS tissues. *Neuroreport* 2001;12:761–5.
- Mathupala SP, Parajuli P, Sloan AE. Silencing of monocarboxylate transporters via small interfering ribonucleic acid inhibits glycolysis and induces cell death in malignant glioma: an in vitro study. *Neurosurgery* 2004;55:1410–9.
- Koukourakis MI, Giatromanolaki A, Harris AL, et al. Comparison of metabolic pathways between cancer cells and stromal cells in colorectal carcinomas: a metabolic survival role for tumor-associated stroma. *Cancer Res* 2006;66:632–7.
- Pinheiro C, Longatto-Filho A, Scapulatempo C, et al. Increased expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1, 2 and 4 in colorectal carcinomas. *Virchows Arch* 2008;452: 139–146.
- Fang J, Quinones QJ, Holman TL, et al. The H+-linked monocarboxylate transporter (MCT1/SLC16A1): a potential therapeutic target for high-risk neuroblastoma. *Mol Pharmacol* 2006;70:2108–15.
- Koukourakis MI, Giatromanolaki A, Bougioukas G, et al. Lung cancer: a comparative study of metabolism related protein expression in cancer cells and tumor associated stroma. *Cancer Biol Ther* 2007;6:1476–9.
- Tavassoli FA, Deville P, eds. Tumours of the Breast and Female Genital Organs. World Health Organization Classification of Tumours. Lyon: IARC Press; 2003;259:89.
- Kirk P, Wilson MC, Heddle C, et al. CD147 is tightly associated with lactate transporters MCT1 and MCT4 and facilitates their cell surface expression. *EMBO J* 2000;19:3896– 904.
- 22. Wilson MC, Meredith D, Fox JE, et al. Basigin (CD147) is the target for organomercurial inhibition of monocarboxylate transporter isoforms 1 and 4: the ancillary protein for the insensitive MCT2 is EMBIGIN (gp70). J Biol Chem 2005;280: 27213–21.
- Yasuda S, Kojima A, Maeno Y, et al. Poor prognosis of patients with stage Ib1 adenosquamous cell carcinoma of the uterine cervix with pelvic lymphnode metastasis. *Kobe J Med Sci* 2006;52:9–15.
- Woodman CB, Collins SI, Young LS. The natural history of cervical HPV infection: unresolved issues. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2007;7:11–22.
- Schiffman M, Kjaer SK. Chapter 2: Natural history of anogenital human papillomavirus infection and neoplasia. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 2003;31:14–9.
- Doorbar J. Molecular biology of human papillomavirus infection and cervical cancer. *Clin Sci (London)* 2006;110: 525–41.
- Snoeck R. Papillomavirus and treatment. Antiviral Res 2006; 71:181–91.

Int J Gynecol Pathol, Vol. 00, No. 0,
2008

3.2.2. MONOCARBOXYLATE TRANSPORTERS 1 AND 4 ARE ASSOCIATED WITH CD147 IN CERVICAL CARCINOMA

Monocarboxylate transporters 1 and 4 are associated with CD147 in cervical carcinoma

Céline Pinheiro^a, Adhemar Longatto-Filho^{a,b}, Sônia Maria Miranda Pereira^b, Daniela Etlinger^b, Marise A. R. Moreira^c, Luiz Fernando Jubé^d, Geraldo Silva Queiroz^d, Fernando Schmitt^{e,f} and Fátima Baltazar^{a,*}

^aLife and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, Campus of Gualtar, Braga, Portugal

^bInstituto Adolfo Lutz, São Paulo, Brazil

^cDepartment of Pathology, School of Medicine, Federal University of Goi ás, Goiânia, Go., Brazil

^dHospital Araújo Jorge, Goiânia, Go., Brazil

^eIPATIMUP, Institute of Pathology and Immunology, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal ^fMedical Faculty of the University of Porto, Porto, Portugal

Abstract. Due to the highly glycolytic metabolism of solid tumours, there is an increased acid production, however, cells are able to maintain physiological pH through plasma membrane efflux of the accumulating protons. Acid efflux through MCTs (monocarboxylate transporters) constitutes one of the most important mechanisms involved in tumour intracellular pH maintenance. Still, the molecular mechanisms underlying the regulation of these proteins are not fully understood. We aimed to evaluate the association between CD147 (MCT1 and MCT4 chaperone) and MCT expression in cervical cancer lesions and the clinico-pathological significance of CD147 expression, alone and in combination with MCTs. The series included 83 biopsy samples of precursor lesions and surgical specimens of 126 invasive carcinomas. Analysis of CD147 expression was performed by immunohistochemistry. CD147 expression was higher in squamous and adenocarcinoma tissues than in the non-neoplastic counterparts and, importantly, both MCT1 and MCT4 were more frequently expressed in CD147 positive cases. Additionally, co-expression of CD147 with MCT1 was associated with lymph-node and/or distant metastases in adenocarcinomas. Our results show a close association between CD147 and MCT1 and MCT4 expressions in human cervical cancer and provided evidence for a prognostic value of CD147 and MCT1 co-expression.

Keywords: CD147, monocarboxylate transporters, cervical carcinoma

1. Introduction

In order to maintain high growth rates in hypoxic environment, cancer cells switch to anaerobic glycolysis to obtain energy. Actually, this metabolic change is maintained even in the presence of oxygen, as described by Warburg [1]. One consequence of cytosolic glucose metabolism is the increase in intracellular lactic acid concentration, which has to be tightly regulated to allow tumour cell survival and proliferation. Acid efflux through Monocarboxylate Transporters (MCTs) constitutes one of the most important mechanisms involved in the maintenance of tumour intracellular pH [2]. Indeed, MCT upregulation has been recently reported in some tumours, including brain [3–5], colorectal [6,7], lung [8] and, more recently, we described upregulation of MCT1 and 4 in cervical cancer [9].

MCT expression appears to be influenced by altered physiologic conditions, however, the underlying molecular events involved in MCT regulation are poorly understood. Recently, it was demonstrated that prop-

ISSN 0278-0240/09/\$17.00 © 2009 - IOS Press and the authors. All rights reserved

^{*}Corresponding author: Fátima Baltazar, Life and Health Sciences Research Institute, School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, 4710-057 Braga, Portugal. Tel.: +351 253604828; Fax: +351 253604820; E-mail: fbaltazar@ecsaude.uminho.pt.

C. Pinheiro et al. / Monocarboxylate transporters 1 and 4 are associated with CD147 in cervical carcinoma

er expression and activity of MCT1 and MCT4 requires an ancillary protein known as CD147 or EMM-PRIN [10–12]. On the other hand, silencing studies showed that maturation and cell surface expression of CD147 depends on MCT1 and MCT4 expressions [13, 14]. CD147 has already been described as a key element in tumour growth and metastasis by stimulating the synthesis of several matrix metalloproteinases, leading to enhanced tumour cell invasion [15,16], and also by stimulating angiogenesis [17]. This protein is described to be up-regulated in several human cancers [16,18,19], including cervical squamous cell carcinoma [20], where it was found to correlate with pelvic lymph-node metastasis and resistance to radiotherapy [21].

Given that CD147 is described as an MCT regulator, we aimed to assess the association between CD147 and MCT1, MCT2 and MCT4 expressions, in a large and complete series of cervical lesions. Also, and since CD147 is poorly explored in cervical carcinoma, we intended to unveil the prognostic value of CD147 expression, alone and in combination with MCTs.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Case selection

The material studied comprised 83 formalin-fixed paraffin embedded samples selected from the files of Pathology Division of Adolfo Lutz Institute, São Paulo, Brazil, which included biopsies of 28 chronic cervicitis (herein designated as "negative" for HPV-induced lesion), 26 Cervical Intraepithelial Neoplasia grade I (CIN 1, herein designated as low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion - LSIL) and 29 Cervical Intraepithelial Neoplasia grades II and III (CIN2/3, herein designated as high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions HSIL). We also analyzed a series of formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue samples from 126 patients with squamous cells carcinoma (SCC, n = 49), adenocarcinoma (AC, n = 50) and adenosquamous carcinoma (ASC, n = 27) of the uterine cervix, examined and treated at two Institutions: Araújo Jorge Hospital and the Pathology Department of the School of Medicine of the Federal University of Goiás, Goiania, in Goiás State, Brazil. All histopathological diagnoses were revised and categorized according to the WHO classification [22]. Clinico-pathological data of the patients included age at diagnosis, HPV status, lymphnode and/or distant metastasis, recurrence and overall survival.

2.2. MCT immunohistochemistry

Data on MCT1, MCT2 and MCT4 expressions was available for all the 209 samples [9]. MCT immunohistochemistry was performed according to avidinbiotin-peroxidase complex principle (R.T.U. VECTAS-TAIN Elite ABC Kit (Universal), Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA), with the primary antibodies for MCT1 (AB3538P, Chemicon International, Temecula, CA, USA), MCT2 (sc-14926, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA) and MCT4 (AB3316P, Chemicon International, Temecula, CA, USA), diluted 1:200, as previously described [7].

2.3. CD147 immunohistochemistry

CD147 immunohistochemistry was performed based on the streptavidin-biotin-peroxidase complex principle (Ultravision Detection System Anti-polyvalent, HRP, Lab Vision Corporation, Fremont, CA), using a primary antibody raised against CD147 (18-7344, ZYMED Laboratories Inc., South San Francisco, CA, diluted 1:750). Briefly, deparaffinized and rehydrated sections were immersed in EDTA (pH 8.0), heated up to 98°C in a water bath for 15 minutes and washed in PBS. Endogenous peroxidases were inactivated with 3% hydrogen peroxide in methanol for 10 minutes, followed by washing in PBS. Tissue sections were incubated with blocking solution for 10 minutes and incubated at room temperature with the primary antibody for 2 hours. Sections were then sequentially washed in PBS and incubated with biotinylated goat anti-polyvalent antibody for 10 minutes, streptavidin peroxidase for 10 minutes, and developed with 3,3'diamino-benzidine (DAB+ Substrate System, Dako, Carpinteria, CA) for 10 minutes. Negative controls were performed by using the adequate serum control (N1698, Dako, Carpinteria, CA) and cervical squamous carcinoma was used as positive control. Tissue sections were counterstained with haematoxylin and permanently mounted.

2.4. Immunohistochemical evaluation

Sections were evaluated for immunoreaction, which included cytoplasmic and/or membrane positive staining. Immunoreaction extent was scored semiquantitatively as follows: 0: 0% of immunoreactive cells; 1: < 5% of immunoreactive cells; 2: 5–50% of immunoreactive cells; and 3: > 50% of immunoreactive cells. Also, intensity of staining was scored semi-

C. Pinheiro et al. / Monocarboxylate transporters 1 and 4 are associated with CD147 in cervical carcinoma

qualitatively as 0: negative; 1: weak; 2: intermediate; and 3: strong. Immunoreaction final score was defined as the sum of both parameters (extent and intensity), and grouped as negative (score 0 and 2) and positive (3–6), as previously described [7]. Finally, since plasma membrane location of CD147 is essential for MCT1 and MCT4 membrane localization and activity [10–12], we also grouped the plasma membrane positive cases, including all the positive cases, with or without cytoplasmic expression. Immunohistochemical evaluation was performed blindly by two independent observers and discordant results were discussed in a double-head microscope and a final score was agreed.

2.5. Statistical analysis

Data were stored and analyzed using the SPSS statistical software (version 14.0, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). The comparison of CD147 expression between tumor and normal cells as well as the relationship between CD147 expression and the clinico-pathological parameters were examined for statistical significance using Pearson's chi-square (χ^2) test and Fisher's exact test (when n < 5), being threshold for significance pvalues < 0.05. The same analysis was performed in order to compare CD147 expression with MCTs. Survival curves were plotted using the method of Kaplan and Meier and data compared using the log-rank test, using a cut-off of 24 months. Due to lack of information, 18 cases of SCC and 1 case of ASC were not evaluated for clinico-pathological significance.

3. Results

We analyzed the expression of CD147 in a series of cervical samples which included 83 biopsies of cervix intraepithelial lesions and 126 surgical specimens of invasive cervical carcinomas. CD147 expression was mainly found in the plasma membrane (Fig. 1), with cases presenting both membrane and cytoplasmic staining and some only cytoplasmic expression. Figure 2 compares the frequency of CD147 expression in all the squamous epithelial lesions studied, as well as nonneoplastic and neoplastic glandular tissues. CD147 expression was significantly different in the various squamous epithelial lesions (p < 0.001, Fig. 2), showing a more frequent expression in squamous neoplasias than in their non-neoplastic counterparts. Concerning the glandular epithelium, since our series does not include adenocarcinoma precursor lesions, it was only possible



Fig. 1. Immunohistochemical expression of CD147 in cervical lesions. Representative cases of CD147 expression in: high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion (A); squamous cell carcinoma (B); adenocarcinoma (C). All pictures are at 400X magnification.

to compare neoplastic lesions (AC) with non-neplastic glandular tissue from the biopsy material. Here, an evident gain in CD147 expression was observed in adenocarcinoma tumour cells (Fig. 1C), when compared to normal glandular tissue (p < 0.001, Fig. 2).

HPV status of the biopsy material was known and samples included 50/88 high risk HPV positive cases (6/28 cervicitis, 16/26 LSIL and 28/29 HSIL); however, no association was found between HPV infection and CD147 expression (data not shown). The clinicopathological significance of CD147 expression, as well

C. Pinheiro et al. / Monocarboxylate transporters 1 and 4 are associated with CD147 in cervical carcinoma



Fig. 2. Frequency of CD147 staining in all squamous lesions studied, including non-neoplastic and neoplastic glandular tissues. "Immunoreaction" refers to both cytoplasmic and membrane positive staining; "membrane" refers to plasma membrane positive cases, with or without cytoplasmic expression; ^anegative for HPV-induced cervical lesions; ^bnon-neoplastic glandular epithelium; continuous line: statistical significance for immunoreaction results; interrupted line: statistical significance for membrane staining results; *p < 0.001; **p = 0.001. LSIL – low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion; SCC – squamous cell carcinoma; AC – adenocarcinoma.

as co-expression of CD147 and both MCT1 and MCT4 was assessed for 99 carcinomas (Table 1). Considering all primary tumours, no association was found with the clinico-pathological data; however, since the 3 histological types behave differently and probably present different metabolic activity, associations were assessed by histological type. Regarding individual expression of CD147, no significant associations were observed, but co-expression of CD147 with MCT1 was significantly associated with lymph-node and/or distant metastases in adenocarcinomas (p = 0.033). No statistically significant associations were found with survival data (data not shown).

Consistent with the assumption that CD147 functions as a regulator of MCT1 and MCT4 expressions, we observed that both MCT1 and MCT4 correlated with CD147 immunoreaction (p = 0.001 for MCT1 immunoreaction and MCT4 plasma membrane expression; p = 0.002 for MCT1 plasma membrane expression and MCT4 immunoreaction, Table 2), while only MCT4 immunoreaction was associated with plasma membrane expression of CD147 (p = 0.014, Table 2). As anticipated, no association was found between CD147 and MCT2 expressions.

4. Discussion

MCTs were recently described as crucial proteins in cancer cell pH homeostasis [2]. Although regulation of MCT expression is still far from being well understood, one of the best characterized MCT regulation mechanisms is through the co-expression with CD147 at the plasma membrane [10–13].

The important contribution of CD147 in promoting tumour growth, invasion and metastasis has been widely explored in past years [16,19], however, in what concerns cervical cancer, this issue is far from being clarified. Here, we describe the expression of CD147 in a complete series of cervical carcinoma but also look at an important feature of this protein, little explored in cancer: the association with MCTs. In the present study, we observed an increase in CD147 expression in both squamous and glandular tumours, when compared to non-neoplastic corresponding tissues. Nonetheless, in opposition to previous results from Sier and collaborators [20], who described no staining in normal epithelial cells, we observed a considerable expression of CD147 in the non-neoplastic epithelium. However, the non-neoplastic epithelium herein described was in fact biopsy material from cervicitis, which may explain the presence of CD147, knowing that this protein has a role in inflammation [23]. The frequency of CD147 expression in our tumour series was around 70%, which is in accordance with previous results in cervical squamous cell carcinomas [21]. In opposition to what we previously observed for MCT2 and MCT4 [9], CD147, like MCT1, was not differently expressed among the three histological types studied and no association was observed with the clinico-pathological data, namely with lymph-node metastases, contrasting with what has been recently described [21].

Taking into consideration the close association between CD147 and MCTs [10–14], we sought for correlations between these proteins in a series of cervical lesions. We observed that both MCT1 and MCT4 overexpressions correlated with CD147, while only MCT4 was associated with CD147 plasma membrane stain-

	Expression		CD147	7	CD147	7	CD147+M	ICT1	CD147+M	CT4
			immunorea	ction	membra	ne				
Clinical data		n	Positive (%)	p						
All carcinomas										
Age ^a				0.204		0.941		0.598		0.200
	> 49	48	64.6		45.8		16.7		19.1	
	≤ 49	58	75.9		46.6		20.7		10.3	
Histological type				0.734		0.755		0.819		0.683
	SCC	49	71.4		38.8		16.3		10.2	
	AC	50	70.0		46.0		20.0		16.0	
	ASC	27	63.0		44.4		14.8		14.8	
Lymph node/metastases ^b				0.539		0.254		0.149		0.376
	Absent	79	69.6		43.0		15.2		12.8	
	Present	25	76.0		56.0		28.0		20.0	
Recurrence				1.000		0.729		0.667		0.495
	Negative	95	70.5		45.3		17.9		13.8	
	Positive	9	77.8		55.6		22.2		22.2	
SCC										
Age ^a				1.000		0.576		0.664		0.607
	> 49	14	78.6		42.9		14.3		7.1	
	≤ 49	17	82.4		52.9		23.5		17.6	
Lymph node/metastases ^b				0.553		0.172		1.000		0.112
	Absent	26	76.9		42.3		19.2		7.7	
	Present	5	100.0		80.0		20.0		40.0	
Recurrence										
	Negative	31	80.6		48.4		19.4		12.9	
	Positive	0								
AC										
Age ^a				0.305		0.674		0.942		0.130
	> 49	24	62.5		50.0		20.8		26.1	
	≤ 49	25	76.0		44.0		20.0		8.0	
Lymph node/metastases ^b				0.405		0.446		0.033		0.613
	Absent	39	66.7		43.6		12.8		15.8	
	Present	8	87.5		62.5		50.0		25.0	
Recurrence				0.657		0.690		1.000		0.587
	Negative	40	67.5		45.0		20.0		15.4	
	Positive	7	85.7		57.1		14.3		28.6	
ASC										
Age ^a				0.339		1.000		1.000		0.538
	> 49	10	50.0		40.0		10.0		20.0	
	≤ 49	16	68.8		43.8		18.8		6.3	
Lymph node/metastasis ^b				0.756		0.951		1.000		1.000
	Absent	14	64.3		42.9		14.3		14.3	
	Present	12	58.3		41.7		16.7		8.3	
Recurrence				1.000		1.000		0.289		1.000
	Negative	24	62.5		41.7		12.5		12.5	
	Positive	2	50.0		50.0		50.0		0.0	

C. Pinheiro et al. / Monocarboxylate transporters 1 and 4 are associated with CD147 in cervical carcinoma

Table 1

101

^aThe age cut off was considered as the mean age of the patients at time of diagnosis; ^bLymph node/metastasis includes both lymph-node and distant metastases. "CD147+MCT isoform" refers to co-expression of CD147 and MCT in the plasma membrane. SCC – squamous cell carcinoma; AC – adenocarcinoma; ASC – adenosquamous carcinoma.

"Immunoreaction" refers to both cytoplasmic and membrane positive staining; "membrane" refers to plasma membrane positive cases, with or without cytoplasmic expression.

ing. Although it was expectable to found correlations between membrane expressions, since part of the regulation involves membrane co-localization of the proteins [10,11], absence of CD147 is also responsible for lower levels of MCT1 and MCT4 whole protein expression [12] and for endolysosomal degradation of MCT4 [13], explaining the association between overall expressions. As anticipated, since the MCT2 chaperone is not CD147 but gp70 [11] and lack of CD147 does not affect MCT2 protein levels [12], we found no association between CD147 and MCT2 expression. Knowing that MCTs need to interact with CD147 to be

C. Pinheiro et al. / Monocarboxylate transporters 1 and 4 are associated with CD147 in cervical carcinoma

	MCT isoform		CD147	1	CD147	,	
			Immunorea	ction	Plasma membrane		
		n	Positive (%)	р	Positive (%)	р	
MCT1	immunoreaction			0.001		0.110	
	Negative	142	43.7		32.4		
	Positive	109	64.2		42.2		
	plasma membrane			0.002		0.182	
	Negative	179	46.4		34.1		
	Positive	72	68.1		43.1		
MCT2	immunoreaction			0.322		0.389	
	Negative	106	50.0		40.6		
	Positive	142	56.3		35.2		
MCT4	immunoreaction			0.002		0.014	
	Negative	126	44.4		30.2		
	Positive	119	63.9		45.4		
	plasma membrane			0.001		0.146	
	Negative	210	49.5		35.7		
	Positive	35	80.0		48.6		

Table 2

"Immunoreaction" refers to both cytoplasmic and membrane positive staining; "membrane" refers to plasma membrane positive cases, with or without cytoplasmic expression.

functionally active [10,11], we hypothesized that coexpression of the transporters with the chaperone could favor the malignant potential of cancer cells. In fact, we observed that co-expression of CD147 and MCT1 in adenocarcinomas was more frequent in patients with lymph-node and/or distant metastases, being in accordance with the synergistic activity between MCTs and CD147, leading to an enhanced metastatic potential of cancer cells, through acidification of the tumor microenvironment [13]. Some other possibly relevant associations did not achieve significance, due to the number of cases representing each histological type; thus, larger studies are needed to confirm or decline these associations.

In sum, we evaluated the clinico-pathological significance of CD147 in cervical cancer, alone and in combination with MCTs, and provided evidence for the association between CD147 and both MCT1 and 4 expressions in human samples. We also showed that CD147 and MCT1 co-expression could have a prognostic value. Nevertheless, further studies are needed to explore the possible synergistic effect of these molecules in the metastatic potential of cervical carcinoma cells.

Acknowledgments

CP received a PhD fellowship from Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (SFRH/BD/27465/2006).

References

- O. Warburg, On the origin of cancer cells, Science 123 (1956), 309-314.
- [2] M.L. Wahl, J.A. Owen, R. Burd, R.A. Herlands, S.S. Nogami, U. Rodeck, D. Berd, D.B. Leeper and C.S. Owen, Regulation of intracellular pH in human melanoma: potential therapeutic implications, Mol Cancer Ther 1 (2002), 617-628.
- M.K. Froberg, D.Z. Gerhart, B.E. Enerson, C. Manivel, M. [3] Guzman-Paz, N. Seacotte and L.R. Drewes, Expression of monocarboxylate transporter MCT1 in normal and neoplastic human CNS tissues, Neuroreport 12 (2001), 761-765.
- [4] S.P. Mathupala, P. Parajuli and A.E. Sloan, Silencing of monocarboxylate transporters via small interfering ribonucleic acid inhibits glycolysis and induces cell death in malignant glioma: an in vitro study, Neurosurgery 55 (2004), 1410-1419.
- [5] J. Fang, Q.J. Quinones, T.L. Holman, M.J. Morowitz, Q. Wang, H. Zhao, F. Sivo, J.M. Maris and M.L. Wahl, The H+-linked monocarboxylate transporter (MCT1/SLC16A1): a potential therapeutic target for high-risk neuroblastoma, Mol Pharmacol 70 (2006), 2108-2115.
- [6] M.I. Koukourakis, A. Giatromanolaki, A.L. Harris and E. Sivridis, Comparison of metabolic pathways between cancer cells and stromal cells in colorectal carcinomas: a metabolic survival role for tumor-associated stroma. Cancer Res 66 (2006), 632-637.
- [7] C. Pinheiro, A. Longatto-Filho, C. Scapulatempo, L. Ferreira, S. Martins, L. Pellerin, M. Rodrigues, V.A. Alves, F. Schmitt and F. Baltazar, Increased expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1, 2 and 4 in colorectal carcinomas, Virchows Arch 452 (2008), 139-146.
- [8] M.I. Koukourakis, A. Giatromanolaki, G. Bougioukas and E. Sivridis, Lung cancer: a comparative study of metabolism related protein expression in cancer cells and tumor associated stroma, Cancer Biol Ther 6 (2007), 1476-1479.
- [9] C. Pinheiro, A. Longatto-Filho, L. Ferreira, S.M. Pereira, D. Etlinger, M.A. Moreira, L.F. Jubé, G.S. Queiroz, F.C. Schmitt and F. Baltazar, Increasing expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1 and 4 along progression to invasive cervix carcinoma, Int J Gynec Pathol 27 (2008), 568-574.

C. Pinheiro et al. / Monocarboxylate transporters 1 and 4 are associated with CD147 in cervical carcinoma

- [10] P. Kirk, M.C. Wilson, C. Heddle, M.H. Brown, A.N. Barclay and A.P. Halestrap, CD147 is tightly associated with lactate transporters MCT1 and MCT4 and facilitates their cell surface expression, *EMBO J* 19 (2000), 3896–3904.
- [11] M.C. Wilson, D. Meredith, J.E. Fox, C. Manoharan, A.J. Davies and A.P. Halestrap, Basigin (CD147) is the target for organomercurial inhibition of monocarboxylate transporter isoforms 1 and 4: the ancillary protein for the insensitive MCT2 is EMBIGIN (gp70), *J Biol Chem* 280 (2005), 27213–27221.
- [12] N.J. Philp, J.D. Ochrietor, C. Rudoy, T. Muramatsu and P.J. Linser, Loss of MCT1, MCT3, and MCT4 expression in the retinal pigment epithelium and neural retina of the 5A11/basigin-null mouse, *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 44 (2003), 1305–1311.
- [13] S.M. Gallagher, J.J. Castorino, D. Wang and N.J. Philp, Monocarboxylate transporter 4 regulates maturation and trafficking of CD147 to the plasma membrane in the metastatic breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231, *Cancer Res* 67 (2007), 4182– 4189.
- [14] A.A. Deora, N. Philp, J. Hu, D. Bok and E. Rodriguez-Boulan, Mechanisms regulating tissue-specific polarity of monocarboxylate transporters and their chaperone CD147 in kidney and retinal epithelia, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102** (2005), 16245–16250.
- [15] K.T. Iacono, A.L. Brown, M.I. Greene and S.J. Saouaf, CD147 immunoglobulin superfamily receptor function and role in pathology, *Exp Mol Pathol* 83 (2007), 283–295.
- [16] K. Nabeshima, H. Iwasaki, K. Koga, H. Hojo, J. Suzumiya and M. Kikuchi, Emmprin (basigin/CD147): matrix metalloproteinase modulator and multifunctional cell recognition

molecule that plays a critical role in cancer progression, *Pathol Int* **56** (2006), 359–367.

- [17] Y. Tang, M.T. Nakada, P. Kesavan, F. McCabe, H. Millar, P. Rafferty, P. Bugelski and L. Yan, Extracellular matrix metalloproteinase inducer stimulates tumor angiogenesis by elevating vascular endothelial cell growth factor and matrix metalloproteinases, *Cancer Res* 65 (2005), 3193–3199.
- [18] S. Riethdorf, N. Reimers, V. Assmann, J.W. Kornfeld, L. Terracciano, G. Sauter and K. Pantel, High incidence of EMM-PRIN expression in human tumors, *Int J Cancer* 19 (2006), 1800–1810.
- [19] E.E. Gabison, T. Hoang-Xuan, A. Mauviel and S. Menashi, EMMPRIN/CD147, an MMP modulator in cancer, development and tissue repair, *Biochimie* 87 (2005), 361–368.
- [20] C.F. Sier, K. Zuidwijk, H.J. Zijlmans, R. Hanemaaijer, A.A. Mulder-Stapel, F.A. Prins, E.J. Dreef, G.G. Kenter, G.J. Fleuren and A. Gorter, EMMPRIN-induced MMP-2 activation cascade in human cervical squamous cell carcinoma, *Int J Cancer* 118 (2006), 2991–2998.
- [21] X.Z. Ju, J.M. Yang, X.Y. Zhou, Z.T. Li and X.H. Wu, EMM-PRIN expression as a prognostic factor in radiotherapy of cervical cancer, *Clin Cancer Res* 14 (2008), 494–501.
- [22] M. Wells, A.G. Östör, C.P. Crum, S. Franceschi, M. Tommasino, J.M. Nesland, A.K. Goodman, R. Sankaranarayanan, A.G. Hanselaar and J. Albores-Saavedra, Tumours of the uterine cervix, in: WHO Classification Tumours of the breast and female genital organs, F.A. Tavassoli and P. Deville, eds, IARC Press, Lyon, 2003, pp. 259–289.
- [23] V. Yurchenko, S. Constant and M. Bukrinsky, Dealing with the family: CD147 interactions with cyclophilins, *Immunology* 117 (2006), 301–309.

Chapter 4. MCTs IN GASTRIC CARCINOMA

4.1. CHAPTER OVERVIEW

The primary epithelial tumour of the stomach is the adenocarcinoma, which develops from the stomach mucosa, usually maintaining glandular differentiation [1]. Clinical and epidemiological studies have suggested a link between gastric cancer and concurrent or previous infection with a bacterium or virus. In this context, *Helicobacter pylori* emerges as a contributor for gastric cancer in around 60% of cases and multiple studies have shown that *H. pylori* infection is associated with a 2.7- to 12-fold increase in risk of gastric cancer development [2].

It is widely known that the normal gastric environment is very acidic and many pH regulators are involved in cellular homeostasis, including AE, NHE and Na⁺/HCO₃⁻ co-transporter [3]. Gastric mucosa is protected from the acidic environment by different mechanisms, including the mucus-bicarbonate-phospholipid "barrier" [4]; however, this barrier may be impaired in different clinical conditions, such as *H. pylori* infection [5,6], contributing to perpetuation of chronic inflammation and gastric carcinogenesis [5].

Little is known on the metabolic features of gastric cancer cells, however, recent studies point at an enhanced glycolytic metabolism in gastric carcinoma [7,8].

In the following study, already published in an international periodical with referees, aiming to determine if MCTs may have an important role in gastric cancer, MCT1, MCT4 and CD147 expressions were evaluated in a series of 190 gastric primary tumours, as well as in 71 nonneoplastic tissues and 42 lymph-node metastases. In contrast to what was found in the previous types of tumours, neither MCT1 nor MCT4 were up-regulated in gastric adenocarcinomas. Actually, MCT4 expression was more frequently observed in normal gastric mucosa than in gastric cancer cells and even less frequently observed in lymph-node metastasis, indicating a progressive loss of this MCT isoform with disease progression. Also, MCT4 expression was associated with Lauren's classification of intestinal-type carcinoma. MCT1 and CD147 were expressed similarly in normal gastric mucosa, primary tumours and lymph-node metastasis; however, MCT1 was present in the majority of samples (around 80%) while CD147 was present in less than a half of the samples. This may indicate that MCT1 has a major contribution in gastric homeostasis, which is maintained along carcinogenesis, while CD147 should have a more modest role in this type of cancer. Both MCT1 and MCT4 expressions were positively associated with CD147 and, importantly, the prognostic value of CD147 was associated with co-expression with MCT1, but not with MCT4.

In conclusion, these results suggest that, although not up-regulated in gastric carcinoma, the complex MCT1/CD147 may have an important prognostic value in this type of tumour.

1. Catalano V, Labianca R, Beretta GD, Gatta G, de BF, Van CE. Gastric cancer. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2005; 54: 209-41.

2. Stadtlander CT, Waterbor JW. Molecular epidemiology, pathogenesis and prevention of gastric cancer. Carcinogenesis 1999; 20: 2195-208.

3. Heitzmann D, Warth R. Physiology and pathophysiology of potassium channels in gastrointestinal epithelia. Physiol Rev 2008; 88: 1119-82.

4. Laine L, Takeuchi K, Tarnawski A. Gastric mucosal defense and cytoprotection: bench to bedside. Gastroenterology 2008; 135: 41-60.

5. Sun YQ, Soderholm JD, Petersson F, Borch K. Long-standing gastric mucosal barrier dysfunction in Helicobacter pylori-induced gastritis in mongolian gerbils. Helicobacter 2004; 9: 217-27.

6. Henriksnas J, Phillipson M, Storm M, Engstrand L, Soleimani M, Holm L. Impaired mucusbicarbonate barrier in Helicobacter pylori-infected mice. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2006; 291: G396-G403.

7. Hirayama A, Kami K, Sugimoto M, Sugawara M, Toki N, Onozuka H, Kinoshita T, Saito N, Ochiai A, Tomita M, Esumi H, Soga T. Quantitative metabolome profiling of colon and stomach cancer microenvironment by capillary electrophoresis time-of-flight mass spectrometry. Cancer Res 2009; 69: 4918-25.

8. Liu X, Wang X, Zhang J, Lam EK, Shin VY, Cheng AS, Yu J, Chan FK, Sung JJ, Jin HC. Warburg effect revisited: an epigenetic link between glycolysis and gastric carcinogenesis. Oncogene 2010; 29: 442-50.

4.2. PUBLISHED RESULTS

The results presented in this chapter were **published** in an international scientific periodical with referees:

Pinheiro C, Longatto-Filho A, Simoes K, Jacob CE, Bresciani CJC, Zilberstein B, Cecconello I, Alves VAF, Schmitt F, Baltazar F (2009). The prognostic value of CD147/EMMPRIN is associated with monocarboxylate transporter 1 co-expression in gastric cancer. *Eur J Cancer* 45:2418-2424.

The results presented in this chapter were also presented as poster in the following international scientific meetings/course:

Third Intercontinental Congress of Pathology, 2008, Barcelona, Spain. **Pinheiro C**, Longatto-Filho A, Ferreira L, Simões K, Alves V, Schmitt F, Baltazar F. Monocarboxylate transporter expression correlates with CD147 in gastric cancer. Abstract **published** in conference proceedings (Virchows Arch 452 (Suppl. 1):S202-S203);

Twenty-seventh International Congress of the International-Academy-of-Pathology, 2008, Athens, Greece. Simoes K, Longatto A, **Pinheiro C**, Schmitt F, Ressio RA, Baltazar F, Alves V. Increased apoptosis in gastric carcinogenesis progression can be influenced by mechanisms involved in tumoral microenviroment pH control. Abstract **published** in conference proceedings (Histopathology 53 (Sp. Iss. 1):162-163);

JOINT 4th Eortc Pathobiology Group Annual Meeting & 1st International Multidisciplinary Cancer Research Congress, 2009, Antalya, Turkey. **Pinheiro C**, Longatto A, Simoes K, Jacob CE, Bresciani CJC, Zilberstein B, Cecconello I, Alves VAF, Schmitt F, Baltazar F. The prognostic value of monocarboxylate transporters in gastric cancer;

FEBS Advanced Lecture Course "Matrix Pathobiology, Signaling and Molecular Targets", 2009, Patras, Greece. **Pinheiro C**, Longatto-Filho A, Simoes K, Jacob CE, Bresciani CJC, Zilberstein B, Cecconello I, Alves VAF, Schmitt F, Baltazar F. The prognostic value of CD147/EMMPRIN is associated with monocarboxylate transporter 1 co-expression in gastric cancer.

4.2.1. THE PROGNOSTIC VALUE OF **CD147/EMMPRIN** IS ASSOCIATED WITH MONOCARBOXYLATE TRANSPORTER **1** CO-EXPRESSION IN GASTRIC CANCER

EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF CANCER 45 (2009) 2418-2424



The prognostic value of CD147/EMMPRIN is associated with monocarboxylate transporter 1 co-expression in gastric cancer

Céline Pinheiro^a, Adhemar Longatto-Filho^{a,b}, Kleber Simões^c, Carlos Eduardo Jacob^d, Cláudio José Caldas Bresciani^d, Bruno Zilberstein^d, Ivan Cecconello^d, Venâncio Avancini Ferreira Alves^c, Fernando Schmitt^{e,f}, Fátima Baltazar^{a,*}

^aLife and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, Campus of Gualtar,

4710-057 Braga, Portugal

^bInstituto Adolfo Lutz, São Paulo, Brazil

^cDepartment of Pathology, University of São Paulo, School of Medicine, São Paulo, Brazil

^dDepartment of Gastroenterology, University of São Paulo, School of Medicine, São Paulo, Brazil

eIPATIMUP, Institute of Molecular Pathology and Immunology of the University of Porto, Porto, Portugal

^fMedical Faculty of the University of Porto, Portugal

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 21 February 2009 Received in revised form 7 June 2009 Accepted 16 June 2009 Available online 21 July 2009

Keywords: Monocarboxylate transporters CD147/EMMPRIN Gastric cancer Immunohistochemistry

ABSTRACT

The aim of the present work was to assess the role of monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs), namely MCT1 and MCT4 as well as MCT/CD147 co-expression in gastric tissues and evaluate their clinico-pathological significance in gastric carcinoma. For that, we analysed the immunohistochemical expression of MCT1, MCT4 and CD147, in a large series of gastric samples, including non-neoplastic, tumour and metastatic tissues. A significant decrease in MCT4 plasma membrane expression was observed from non-neoplastic to gastric primary malignant tissues and to lymph-node metastasis and both MCT1 and MCT4 correlated with CD147. Importantly, both MCT4 and CD147 were more frequently expressed in Lauren's intestinal-type tumours and MCT1/CD147 co-expression was associated with advanced gastric carcinoma, Lauren's intestinal type, TNM staging and lymph-node metastasis. Our results showed that the prognostic value of CD147 was associated with MCT1 co-expression in gastric cancer cells, supporting the view that CD147 plasma membrane activity is dependent on MCT co-expression.

© 2009 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

Despite the worldwide decline in incidence and mortality of gastric carcinoma along the second half of the 20th century, it is still the 4th most common cancer and the 2nd leading cause of cancer-related deaths in the world.¹ Prognosis of gastric carcinoma patients depends on several pathological vari-

ables. Among them, histological typing seems to have some prognostic relevance. The most prestigious histological classifications include: Lauren's and World Health Organization (WHO). Lauren's histological classification identifies two major patterns: intestinal-type (which principally includes papillary, well-differentiated adenocarcinomas, moderately differentiated or mucinous adenocarcinomas without signet

^{*} Corresponding author: Tel.: +351 253604828; fax: +351 253604820. E-mail address: fbaltazar@ecsaude.uminho.pt (F. Baltazar).

^{0959-8049/\$ -} see front matter © 2009 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2009.06.018

EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF CANCER 45 (2009) 2418-2424

ring cell carcinoma (SRC) cells of WHO classification) and diffuse-type carcinomas (usually corresponding to poorly differentiated adenocarcinomas, SRC and undifferentiated adenocarcinomas of WHO classification). This classification distinguishes, by microscopic morphology, two main cancer entities with different clinical and epidemiological features (for review see [2]). The prognosis of gastric carcinoma depends also largely on tumour classification in early gastric cancer, which presents a better prognosis, or advanced gastric carcinoma, with an unfavourable prognosis.³ Although this nomenclature may suggest a progression from one entity to the other, it is still not clear whether these are different stages of the same tumour or independent entities.⁴

Early epithelial carcinogenesis occurs under hypoxic conditions, since altered cells are separated from the vascularised stroma that supplies oxygen and nutrients. To maintain ATP levels, cancer cells increase their rates of glycolysis, developing a significant proliferative advantage. However, this phenotype leads to an overload of lactic acid, which must be expelled out of the cell, causing a decrease in the extracellular pH. Constitutive up-regulation of glycolysis requires additional adaptations, namely, resistance to apoptosis and up-regulation of membrane transporters to maintain normal intracellular pH.5 Besides being an adaptation to high glycolytic phenotype, acidic environment represents per se a significant advantage for tumour cells since it is associated with increased migration, invasion and metastases, among others.^{5–7} One of the most important groups of proteins involved in intracellular pH regulation is monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs), which are also responsible for transmembrane transport of lactate.⁸ Indeed, there are evidences for the upregulation of MCTs in tumours, such as high grade glial neoplasms,^{9,10} colorectal,^{11,12} cervical¹³ and lung carcinomas,¹⁴ but only our studies^{12,13} evaluated the clinico-pathological significance of MCT altered expression. Besides an increased MCT expression in colorectal¹² and cervical carcinomas,¹³ we found an association between MCT1 positivity and vascular invasion in colorectal carcinomas $^{\rm 12}$ and both MCT1 and MCT4 expressions with high risk HPV infection in uterine cervix carcinomas.13

MCT expression appears to be influenced by altered physiologic conditions, however, the underlying molecular events involved in MCT regulation are poorly understood. Recently, it was demonstrated that proper expression and activity of MCT1 and MCT4 require co-expression of CD147, also known as EMMPRIN or Basigin.¹⁵⁻¹⁹ On the other hand, silencing studies showed that maturation and cell surface expression of CD147 depend on MCT1 and MCT4 expressions.18,19 Recently, our group described a close association of both MCT1 and MCT4 with CD147, in cervical cancer.²⁰ CD147 alone has already been described as a key element in oncogenesis by stimulating the synthesis of several matrix metalloproteinases, leading to enhanced tumour cell invasion.^{21,22} This protein is described to be up-regulated in human cancers,²¹⁻²³ including gastric carcinomas,²⁴ however if its role in cancer is associated with MCTs is not known.

One of the aims of the present study is to assess the role of MCTs in gastric cancer, by analysing the immunohistochemical expression of the MCT isoforms 1 and 4 in a large series of gastric samples, including non-neoplastic, tumour and metastatic tissues, and evaluate its clinico-pathological value. We also intend to infer about the significance of MCT and CD147 co-expression.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Case selection

Gastric tissues were obtained from 190 patients with gastric carcinoma (including 71 non-neoplastic tissues, 190 primary tumours and 42 lymph-node metastases). Samples were retrieved from the files of the Department of Pathology, Hospital das Clinicas, University of São Paulo, School of Medicine, São Paulo, Brazil, and organised in 10 tissue microarrays (TMAs). To achieve representative sampling and minimise sample loss, sample duplicates were included in the TMAs. Even so, some cases were lost during the immunohistochemical procedure. Relevant data available included patient's age and gender as well as tumour size and location, macroscopic classification, Lauren's classification, TNM staging, depth of invasion, lymph-node metastases and both lymphatic and vascular invasions.

2.2. Immunohistochemistry

2.2.1. MCT and CD147 detections

MCT immunohistochemistry was performed according to the avidin-biotin-peroxidase complex method (R.T.U. VEC-TASTAIN Elite ABC Kit (Universal), Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA), with primary antibodies for MCT1 (AB3538P, Chemicon International, Temecula, CA) and MCT4 (AB3316P, Chemicon International, Temecula, CA), diluted 1:200, as previously described.12 Immunohistochemistry for CD147 was performed according to the streptavidin-biotinperoxidase complex principle (Ultravision Detection System Anti-polyvalent, HRP, Lab Vision Corporation, Fremont, CA), using a primary antibody raised against CD147 (18-7344, ZYMED Laboratories Inc., South San Francisco, CA) diluted 1:750, as previously described.²⁰ Negative controls were performed by using appropriate serum controls for the primary antibodies (N1699, Dako, Carpinteria, CA), colon carcinoma tissue was used as positive control for both MCT1 and MCT4 and cervical squamous carcinoma for CD147. Tissue sections were counterstained with haematoxylin and permanently mounted.

2.2.2. Immunohistochemical evaluation

Since plasma membrane location is essential for protein activity, immunoreactions for MCTs and CD147 were only considered positive when plasma membrane staining was present. Sections were scored semi-quantitatively for plasma membrane immunoreaction as follows: 0: 0% of immunoreactive cells; 1: <5% of immunoreactive cells; 2: 5–50% of immunoreactive cells; and 3: >50% of immunoreactive cells. Also, intensity of staining was scored semi-qualitatively as follows: 0: negative; 1: weak; 2: intermediate; and 3: strong. The final score was defined as the sum of both parameters (extent and intensity), and grouped as negative (scores 0 and 2) and positive (scores 3–6), as previously described.¹² Immunohistochemical evaluation was performed blindly

EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF CANCER 45 (2009) 2418-2424

by two independent observers and discordant cases were discussed in a double-head microscope in order to determine the final score.

2.3. Statistical analysis

Data were stored and analysed using the SPSS statistical software (version 16.0, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL). All comparisons were examined for statistical significance using Pearson's chi-square (χ^2) test and Fisher's exact test (when n < 5), being threshold for significance p values <0.05.

Results

A total of 303 gastric samples organised into TMAs (Tissue Microarrays), including 71 non-neoplastic mucosas, 190 primary tumours and 42 metastatic tissues, were assessed for MCT1 and MCT4 immunohistochemical expressions. We also evaluated CD147 as putative regulator of MCT expression in gastric cells.

In general, positive MCT1 expression was observed in both plasma membrane and cytoplasm (Fig. 1A), while MCT4 expression was mainly observed in the cytoplasm, with few cases presenting plasma membrane staining (Fig. 1B). Regarding CD147, expression was mainly found in the plasma membrane (Fig. 1C). Table 1 summarises MCT and CD147 expressions in non-neoplastic and primary tumour tissues, as well as in lymph-node metastasis. As can be seen, no significant differences were observed for MCT1 and CD147 expressions. On the other hand, a significant decrease was observed for MCT4 plasma membrane expression in the transition from non-neoplastic to gastric primary malignant tissues and to lymph-node metastasis (*p* < 0.001).

In order to assess the role of CD147 in MCT regulation, as described in the literature, ^{15–19} we searched for associations between the expression of this regulator and the expressions of MCT1 and MCT4 in gastric carcinoma (Table 2). This analysis showed that both MCT1 and MCT4 correlated with CD147 (p = 0.021 and p = 0.001, respectively). Fig. 1A and C shows sequential tumour sections stained for MCT1 and CD147, in which positive cells for both proteins can be seen.

The clinico-pathological data available allowed assessment of correlations with MCTs (Table 3) and CD147 expressions (Table 4). Importantly, both MCT4 and CD147 were more frequently expressed in Lauren's intestinal-type tumours (p < 0.001 and p = 0.010, respectively). Additionally, although not significant (p = 0.065), MCT4 was more frequently expressed in early gastric cancer. CD147 expression was also associated with male gender (p = 0.031), advanced gastric carcinoma (p = 0.001), TNM stages III/IV (p = 0.006), depth of invasion (p = 0.002) and presence of lymph-node metastasis (p = 0.003). As proper membrane expression and activity of both MCT1 and MCT4 require association with CD147,¹⁵⁻¹⁹ we also analysed the clinico-pathological significance of MCT/CD147 co-expression (Table 4). Simultaneous expression of MCT1 and CD147 was associated with advanced gastric carcinoma (p = 0.030), Lauren's intestinal-type (p = 0.020), TNM stages III/IV (p = 0.004) and presence of lymph-node metastasis (p = 0.018), and, although not significant, a tendency for invading tumours to co-express MCT1 and CD147 was also observed (p = 0.073). Co-expression of MCT4 and CD147 was only associated with Lauren's intestinal type (p = 0.023). Since MCT4 and CD147 were more frequently expressed in Lauren's intestinal type, we also evaluated the clinico-pathological significance of the co-expression of these molecules, in the tumours included in this group. Similar associations were found when analysing all primary tumours, with the addition of an association between MCT4 and younger patients (p = 0.044) and between CD147 and bigger tumours (p = 0.024) (data not shown).

4. Discussion

Up-regulation of glycolysis and adaptation to acidosis are key events in the transition from *in situ* to invasive cancer.⁵ Owing to their essential function in exporting lactate, the end-product of glycolysis, MCTs are likely to be key elements in the regulation of tumour intracellular pH and induction of extracellular acidosis. Thus, the role of these transporters in tumours must be clarified in order to understand their contribution to the glycolytic and acidic phenotypes of tumours. Few reports lay on this matter and none tackled



Fig. 1 – Immunohistochemical expression of monocarboxylate transporter 1 (MCT1), monocarboxylate transporter 4 (MCT4) and CD147 in gastric cancer samples. MCT1 expression was observed in both plasma membrane and cytoplasm (A), MCT4 expression was mainly observed in the cytoplasm, although few cases presented plasma membrane staining (B), while CD147 expression was clearly found in the plasma membrane (C). Tumour cells positive for both MCT1 and CD147 can be seen in the sequential sections A and C.

EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF CANCER 45 (2009) 2418-2424

Table 1 – Frequency of monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs) and CD147 expressions in gastric samples.													
	MCT1				MCT4		CD147						
	n	Positive (%)	р	n	Positive (%)	р	n	Positive (%)	р				
			0.654			<0.001			0.624				
Non-neoplastic	71	84.5		61	50.8		66	39.4					
Primary tumour	177	79.7		175	18.3		160	41.2					
Lymph-node metastasis	35	82.9		35	8.6		39	48.7					

Table 2 – Asso	Table 2 – Association between monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs) and CD147 expressions in gastric primary tumours.										
		MCT1			MCT4						
	n	Positive (%)	р	n	Positive (%)	р					
CD147			0.021			0.001					
Negative	89	73.0		84	10.7						
Positive	61	88.5		61	32.8						

Table 3 – Correlations between monocarboxylate transporter 1 (MCT1) and 4 (MCT4) membrane expressions in primary tumours and the clinico-pathological data.

Clinico-pathological data		MCT1			MCT4	
	n	Positive (%)	р	n	Positive (%)	р
Age			0.788			0.380
>61	86	81.4		85	15.3	
≼61	84	79.8		83	20.5	
Gender			0.333			0.208
Female	56	83.9		56	12.5	
Male	116	77.6		113	20.4	
Tumour size (cm)			0.664			0.223
<4	69	81.2		67	22.4	
≥ 4	102	78.4		100	15.0	
Tumour localisation			0.402			0.503
Body	42	76.2		40	17.5	
Antrum	114	83.3		112	18.8	
Others	6	66.7		6	0.0	
Macroscopic classification			0.397			0.065
Early gastric cancer	54	75.9		50	26.0	
Advanced gastric cancer	119	81.5		120	14.2	
Lauren's classification			0.269			< 0.001
Intestinal-type	105	82.9		107	26.2	
Diffuse-type	62	75.8		59	3.4	
TNM			0.604			0.789
IB + II	145	78.6		142	18.3	
III + IV	27	85.2		27	14.8	
рТ			0.405			0.120
Mucosa	54	75.9		50	26.0	
Muscular propria/subserosa	111	82.9		111	13.5	
Adjacent structures	6	66.7		7	28.6	
Lymph-node metastasis			0.189			0.440
Absent	76	75.0		76	19.7	
Present	95	83.2		92	15.2	
Lymphatic invasion			0.557			0.288
Absent	97	81.4		94	20.2	
Present	72	77.8		72	13.9	
Vascular invasion			0.950			0.194
Absent	143	79.7		140	19.3	
Present	24	79.2		24	8.3	
Median was used for age and tumour	size cut-off					

EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF CANCER 45 (2009) 2418-2424

Table 4 – Correlations between CD147 and MCT (monocarboxylate transporter)/CD147 expressions in primary tumours and the clinico-pathological data.

Clinico-pathological data					Plasma membra	ine			
		CD147			MCT1/CD147			MCT4/CD147	,
	n	Positive (%)	р	n	Positive (%)	р	n	Positive (%)	р
Age			0.894			0.634			0.355
>61	83	41.0		80	35.0		78	11.5	
≼61	69	42.0		67	38.8		65	16.9	
Gender			0.031			0.109			0.209
Female	51	29.4		48	27.1		48	8.3	
Male	103	47.6		101	40.6		96	16.7	
Tumour size (cm)			0.055			0.456			0.517
<4	60	31.7		59	32.2		55	16.4	
≥ 4	93	47.3		89	38.2		88	12.5	
Tumour localisation			0.891			0.983			0.649
Body	36	38.9		35	37.1		33	15.2	
Antrum	103	41.7		100	37.0		97	13.4	
Others	6	33.3		6	33.3		5	0.0	
Macroscopic classification			0.001			0.030			0.626
Early gastric cancer	52	23.1		50	24.0		44	15.9	
Advanced gastric cancer	103	50.5		100	42.0		101	12.9	
Lauren's classification			0.010			0.020			0.023
Intestinal-type	101	49.5		97	43.3		96	18.8	
Diffuse-type	48	27.1		47	23.4		45	4.4	
TNM			0.006			0.004			0.304
IB + II	134	37.3		129	31.8		125	12.8	
III + IV	14	70.0		20	65.0		19	21.1	
рТ			0.002			0.073			0.307
Mucosa	52	23.1		50	24.0		44	15.9	
Muscular propria/subserosa	95	50.5		92	42.4		93	11.8	
Adjacent structures	6	66.7		6	50.0		6	33.3	
Lymph-node metastasis			0.003			0.018			0.815
Absent	74	29.7		71	26.8		68	14.7	
Present	79	53.2		77	45.5		75	13.3	
Lymphatic invasion			0.474			0.864			0.913
Absent	89	39.3		84	35.7		80	13.8	
Present	62	45.2		62	37.1		61	13.1	
Vascular invasion			0.692			0.649			0.738
Absent	127	40.9		122	36.9		117	14.5	
Present	22	45.5		22	31.8		22	9.1	
Median was used for age and t	umour si	ze cut-off.							

gastric tumours. Therefore, the present study is an attempt to shed light on the involvement of MCTs in tumours arising from the gastric mucosa. With this purpose, we analysed MCT immunohistochemical expression in gastric samples organised into TMAs. The TMA technology allows simultaneous screening of large series of samples without losing tumour representativity.²⁵

Although MCTs have been little explored in cancer, there are evidences for the up-regulation of these proteins in a variety of tumours^{9–14} but also reports of down-regulation.^{26,27} Interestingly, in the present study, no alteration in expression frequency was identified for MCT1, whereas a significant decrease in MCT4 expression was observed. It is important to highlight that the gastric milieu is not comparable to the majority of body tissues, since gastric mucosa is permanently under acidic conditions. This particular condition demands a very high metabolic conversion which may involve high MCT4 activity in homeostasis. Considering the acidic environment of gastric cells, the role of MCTs in cellular pH regulation,⁸ as well as the capacity of MCT4 to export lactate through a proton symport, it is, perhaps, not surprising to find important levels of MCT4 in normal gastric cells. Similarly to what we observed for MCT4, carbonic anhydrase IX, also involved in the maintenance of intracellular pH and commonly up-regulated in cancer, is less frequently expressed in gastric carcinoma than in normal gastric epithelium.²⁸ To note that both MCT4 and carbonic anhydrase IX are HIF-1 α (hypoxiainducible factor 1) target proteins,^{28,29} which may give some clues about the metabolic and molecular alterations occurring in the transition from normal gastric epithelium to gastric carcinoma. However, the reason why these two molecules are down-regulated in gastric cancer cells, as well as the mechanism by which these events take place, remains to be unveiled.

Despite the fact that MCT4 was down-regulated in our series of gastric tumour samples, a significant association with Lauren's intestinal-type tumours was found. This group of tumours includes well-differentiated carcinomas in opposition to the diffuse-type group, which are poorly-differentiated carcinomas with worse prognosis.^{2,3} Therefore, intestinal-type EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF CANCER 45 (2009) 2418-2424

tumours are more alike normal gastric epithelium and the increased expression of MCT4 in this type of tumours is in agreement with our observation that the non-neoplastic epithelium expresses more MCT4.

CD147 is described as an important key element in oncogenesis^{21,22} and there are some published data regarding its significance in gastric carcinoma.24,30 In the present work, we found a higher CD147 expression in intestinal-type carcinomas, which is in agreement with the results reported by others.³⁰ Additionally, CD147 has been pointed as a good marker for local invasion and prognosis, being associated with tumour size, depth of invasion and both lymphatic and blood vessel invasions.²⁴ We confirmed some of these associations, namely tumour size (only for intestinal tumour type) and depth of invasion, and also found positive associations with higher TNM staging and lymph-node metastasis, supporting the role of CD147 as a good indicator of prognosis. Although the last associations were not described by Zheng and collaborators,24 our results are in agreement with the enhanced metastatic capacity of CD147 expressing tumour cells, due to its role as a matrix metalloproteinase-inducing factor as well as inducer of VEGF and hyaluronan production.^{21,22} Importantly, we assessed the correlation between MCTs and CD147, as this molecule is described as an important regulator of MCT activity and expression.¹⁵⁻¹⁹ Here, we observed a close association between the expressions of CD147 and both MCT1 and MCT4, which provides further evidence for the regulation of MCT1/MCT4 by CD147, specifically in gastric tumour cells. On the other hand, there are a significant number of MCT positive cases, negative for CD147, which led us to speculate that MCT plasma membrane expression may depend on a yet non-identified regulation mechanism. Nevertheless, most clinico-pathological associations found for CD147 were maintained for MCT1/CD147 co-expression, which supports previous data showing that CD147 activity is dependent on MCT1 co-expression.¹⁹ Although CD147 expression was also associated with MCT4, the co-expression of MCT4/CD147 gave no additional information than the expression of MCT4 alone, showing that, in opposition to MCT1, MCT4 associated to CD147, is not contributing to the aggressive phenotype of gastric cancer.

In the present study, we analysed the expression of MCT1 and MCT4 in non-neoplastic gastric mucosa, primary gastric tumours and lymph-node metastases, as well as CD147 as MCT regulator, in gastric tissues. Importantly, we evaluated for the first time the correlation between MCT expression and clinico-pathological data in gastric cancer and found important associations, especially with intestinal-type carcinomas. Notably, our data confirm the prognostic value of CD147 in cancer and show for the first time that this value is associated with MCT1 co-expression in gastric cancer cells.

Ethics

The present study has been approved by the local Ethic Committees.

Conflict of interest statement

None declared.

Acknowledgement

We thank the Portuguese Science and Technology Foundation for C.P.'s PhD fellowship (SFRH/BD/27465/2006).

REFERENCES

- 1. Globocan 2002, http://www-dep.iarc.fr/ [accessed December 2008]
- Vauhkonen M, Vauhkonen H, Sipponen P. Pathology and molecular biology of gastric cancer. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 2006;20:651–74.
- Dicken BJ, Bigam DL, Cass C, Mackey JR, Joy AA, Hamilton SM. Gastric adenocarcinoma: review and considerations for future directions. Ann Surg 2005;241:27–39.
- Vecchi M, Nuciforo P, Romagnoli S, et al. Gene expression analysis of early and advanced gastric cancers. Oncogene 2007;26:4284–94.
- Gatenby RA, Gillies RJ. Why do cancers have high aerobic glycolysis? Nat Rev Cancer 2004;4:891–9.
- Gatenby RA, Gawlinski ET, Gmitro AF, Kaylor B, Gillies RJ. Acidmediated tumor invasion: a multidisciplinary study. *Cancer* Res 2006;66:5216–23.
- Rofstad EK, Mathiesen B, Kindem K, Galappathi K. Acidic extracellular pH promotes experimental metastasis of human melanoma cells in athymic nude mice. *Cancer Res* 2006;66:6699–707.
- Izumi H, Torigoe T, Ishiguchi H, et al. Cellular pH regulators: potentially promising molecular targets for cancer chemotherapy. *Cancer Treat Rev* 2003;29:541–9.
- Mathupala SP, Parajuli P, Sloan AE. Silencing of monocarboxylate transporters via small interfering ribonucleic acid inhibits glycolysis and induces cell death in malignant glioma: an in vitro study. *Neurosurgery* 2004;55:1410–9.
- Fang J, Quinones QJ, Holman TL, et al. The H+-linked monocarboxylate transporter (MCT1/SLC16A1): a potential therapeutic target for high-risk neuroblastoma. Mol Pharmacol 2006;70:2108–15.
- Koukourakis MI, Giatromanolaki A, Harris AL, Sivridis E. Comparison of metabolic pathways between cancer cells and stromal cells in colorectal carcinomas: a metabolic survival role for tumor-associated stroma. *Cancer Res* 2006;66:632–7.
- Pinheiro C, Longatto-Filho A, Scapulatempo C, et al. Increased expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1, 2 and 4 in colorectal carcinomas. Virchows Arch 2008;452:139–46.
- Pinheiro C, Longatto-Filho A, Ferreira L, et al. Increasing expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1 and 4 along progression to invasive cervical carcinoma. Int J Gynec Pathol 2008;27:568–74.
- Koukourakis MI, Giatromanolaki A, Bougioukas G, Sivridis E. Lung cancer: a comparative study of metabolism related protein expression in cancer cells and tumor associated stroma. *Cancer Biol Ther* 2007;6:1476–9.
- Kirk P, Wilson MC, Heddle C, Brown MH, Barclay AN, Halestrap AP. CD147 is tightly associated with lactate transporters MCT1 and MCT4 and facilitates their cell surface expression. EMBO J 2000;19:3896–904.
- Wilson MC, Meredith D, Fox JE, Manoharan C, Davies AJ, Halestrap AP. Basigin (CD147) is the target for organomercurial inhibition of monocarboxylate transporter isoforms 1 and 4: the ancillary protein for the insensitive MCT2 is EMBIGIN (gp70). J Biol Chem 2005;280:27213–21.
- 17. Philp NJ, Ochrietor JD, Rudoy C, Muramatsu T, Linser PJ. Loss of MCT1, MCT3, and MCT4 expression in the retinal pigment

epithelium and neural retina of the 5A11/basigin-null mouse. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2003;44:1305–11.

- Gallagher SM, Castorino JJ, Wang D, Philp NJ. Monocarboxylate transporter 4 regulates maturation and trafficking of CD147 to the plasma membrane in the metastatic breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231. Cancer Res 2007;67:4182–9.
- Deora AA, Philp N, Hu J, Bok D, Rodriguez-Boulan E. Mechanisms regulating tissue-specific polarity of monocarboxylate transporters and their chaperone CD147 in kidney and retinal epithelia. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2005;102:16245–50.
- 20. Pinheiro C, Longatto-Filho A, Pereira SMM et al. Monocarboxylate transporters 1 and 4 are associated with CD147 in cervical carcinoma. *Dis Markers* In press
- Nabeshima K, Iwasaki H, Koga K, Hojo H, Suzumiya J, Kikuchi M. Emmprin (basigin/CD147): matrix metalloproteinase modulator and multifunctional cell recognition molecule that plays a critical role in cancer progression. *Pathol Int* 2006;56:359–67.
- Gabison EE, Hoang-Xuan T, Mauviel A, Menashi S. EMMPRIN/ CD147, an MMP modulator in cancer, development and tissue repair. Biochimie 2005;87:361–8.
- Riethdorf S, Reimers N, Assmann V, et al. High incidence of EMMPRIN expression in human tumors. Int J Cancer 2006;19:1800–10.

- 24. Zheng HC, Takahashi H, Murai Y, et al. Upregulated EMMPRIN/CD147 might contribute to growth and angiogenesis of gastric carcinoma: a good marker for local invasion and prognosis. Br J Cancer 2006;**95**:1371–8.
- Kononem J, Bubendorf L, Kallioniemi A, et al. Tissue microarrays for high-throughput molecular profiling of tumor specimens. Nat Med 1998;4:844–7.
- Lambert DW, Wood IS, Ellis A, Shirazi-Beechey SP. Molecular changes in the expression of human colonic nutrient transporters during the transition from normality to malignancy. Br J Cancer 2002;86:1262–9.
- Asada K, Miyamoto K, Fukutomi T, et al. Reduced expression of GNA11 and silencing of MCT1 in human breast cancers. Oncology 2003;64:380–8.
- Leppilampi M, Saamio J, Karttunen TJ, et al. Carbonic anhydrase isozymes IX and XII in gastric tumors. World J Gastroenterol 2003;9:1398–403.
- 29. Ullah MS, Davies AJ, Halestrap AP. The plasma membrane lactate transporter MCT4, but not MCT1, is up-regulated by hypoxia through a HIF-1alpha-dependent mechanism. J Biol Chem 2006;281:9030–7.
- Zheng H, Takahashi H, Murai Y, et al. Pathobiological characteristics of intestinal and diffuse-type gastric carcinoma in Japan: an immunostaining study on the tissue microarray. J Clin Pathol 2007;60:273–7.

Chapter 5. MCTs IN BREAST CARCINOMA

5.1. CHAPTER OVERVIEW

As the majority of carcinogenesis processes, the progression of normal mammary epithelium into invasive carcinoma is widely accepted as a multistep process, where different events like loss of tumour-suppressor function, abnormal oncogene activation, abnormal response to growth factors, among others, take place [1].

FdG-PET is considered the most reliable imaging technique for the diagnosis and prognosis of breast cancer, especially regarding the detection of distant metastases, recurrent disease as well as monitoring response to therapy [1]. As increased glucose uptake by cancer cells is on the basis of this imaging technique, breast cancer cells have to exhibit enhanced glycolytic rates, which has been confirmed by some studies [2,3].

Although MCT expression has been evaluated in some breast cancer cell lines, no data on the frequency or prognostic value of MCT expression in human breast carcinoma was available.

In this chapter, three distinct studies in breast carcinoma are presented. Firstly, results already published in an international periodical with referees showed an increase of MCT1 expression in breast carcinoma, in a series comprising 249 samples. Also, both MCT1 and MCT4 expressions were associated with CD147. Importantly, MCT1 and CD147, alone or in coexpression, were associated with basal-like subtype (a more aggressive breast cancer group) and other poor prognostic variables, pointing at a role of MCT1/CD147 in breast carcinoma aggressiveness. In the second study, already submitted for publication, GLUT1 and CAIX were evaluated as indicators of the hypoxia-induced adaptations towards a glycolytic phenotype. Importantly, both MCT1 and CD147, but not MCT4, were significantly associated with GLUT1 and CAIX. Also, additional data on the prognostic value of GLUT1 and CAIX was provided, showing the association of these two proteins with poor prognostic variables, and supporting the association of CAIX with shorter disease-free survival. Finally, in vitro studies were performed to shed some light into the contribution of MCT1 to breast cancer cell metabolism and viability. For that, MCT1 inhibition studies were performed in a variety of human breast cancer cells. In this work, after analysing the expression of MCT1, MCT4, CD147, as well as GLUT1 and CAIX in the human breast cancer cell lines MCF-7/AZ, SkBr3, MDA-MB-468, BT-20, MDA-MB-231 and Hs578T, MCT1 inhibition studies were carried out using the MCT1 classical inhibitor CHC. This inhibitor induced a significant decrease in total biomass of almost all cell lines, though at different magnitudes, which did not correlate with MCT1 expression. Importantly, MDA-MB-468, a basallike subtype breast cancer line, showed a CHC-induced inhibition of total biomass, which was accompanied with a decrease in glucose consumption and lactate production, evidencing the role of MCT1 in this group of breast carcinomas. However, the most sensitive cell line, MDA-MB-231, was negative for MCT1 expression and CHC-induced inhibition was not accompanied by extracellular decrease in lactate amounts, suggesting an off-target effect of CHC.

Overall, the results presented in this chapter point at MCT1 as a potential therapeutic target in breast cancer, with special emphasis on basal-like subtype, which so far does not have a specific molecular therapy.

1. Kenemans P, Verstraeten RA, Verheijen RH. Oncogenic pathways in hereditary and sporadic breast cancer. Maturitas 2008; 61: 141-50.

2. Gatenby RA, Smallbone K, Maini PK, Rose F, Averill J, Nagle RB, Worrall L, Gillies RJ. Cellular adaptations to hypoxia and acidosis during somatic evolution of breast cancer. Br J Cancer 2007; 97: 646-53.

3. Schmidt M, Voelker HU, Kapp M, Krockenberger M, Dietl J, Kammerer U. Glycolytic phenotype in breast cancer: activation of Akt, up-regulation of GLUT1, TKTL1 and down-regulation of M2PK. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 2010; 136: 219-25.

5.2. PUBLISHED RESULTS

This chapter includes the following results, **published** in an international scientific periodical with referees:

Pinheiro C, Albergaria A, Paredes J, Sousa B, Dufloth R, Vieira D, Schmitt F, Baltazar F. Monocarboxylate transporter 1 is upregulated in basal-like breast carcinoma. *Histopathology* In press.

The following results were also presented as poster in the following international scientific meetings:

CNIO-ONCOTRAIN Meeting: "New battlefields in human cancer- Attacking in many fronts", 2008, Madrid, Spain. **Pinheiro C**, Sousa B, Ferreira L, Dufloth R, Vieira D, Schmitt F, Baltazar F. Monocarboxylate transporter 1 is upregulated in ER negative breast cancer;

Eleventh Cancer Research UK Beatson International Cancer Conference, 2008, Glasgow, United Kingdom. **Pinheiro C**, Sousa B, Ferreira L, Dufloth R, Vieira D, Schmitt F, Baltazar F. Monocarboxylate transporter 1 (MCT1) overexpression is associated with poor prognosis in breast carcinomas.
5.2.1. MONOCARBOXYLATE TRANSPORTER 1 IS UP-REGULATED IN BASAL-LIKE BREAST CARCINOMA

Histopathology 2010 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2559.2010.03560.x

Monocarboxylate transporter 1 is up-regulated in basal-like breast carcinoma

Céline Pinheiro,¹ André Albergaria,^{1,2} Joana Paredes,² Bárbara Sousa,² Rozany Dufloth,³ Daniella Vieira,³ Fernando Schmitt^{2,4} & Fátima Baltazar¹

¹Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, Campus of Gualtar, Braga, ²IPATIMUP, Institute of Molecular Pathology and Immunology of the University of Porto, Porto, Portugal, ³Federal University of Santa Catarina – UFSC – Florianópolis (SC), Brazil, and ⁴Medical Faculty of the University of Porto, Porto, Portugal

Date of submission 10 March 2009 Accepted for publication 1 September 2009

Pinheiro C, Albergaria A, Paredes J, Sousa B, Dufloth R, Vieira D, Schmitt F & Baltazar F (2010) *Histopathology*

Monocarboxylate transporter 1 is up-regulated in basal-like breast carcinoma

Aims: Monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs) have been considered promising targets for cancer therapy, since they facilitate lactate efflux in glycolytic tumours. However, their role in solid tumours is still poorly understood. Thus, the present work aimed to contribute to understanding the involvement of MCT1 and MCT4 in breast cancer progression as well as MCT regulation by CD147.

Methods and results: The expression of the membrane transporters MCT1 and MCT4 was analysed in a series of breast carcinomas (249 cases) and their clinicopathological significance investigated. Additionally, we

analysed the significance of CD147 co-expression, as an important regulator of MCT expression and activity. MCT1 was significantly increased in breast carcinomas when compared with normal breast tissue and, importantly, both MCT1 and CD147 were associated with poor prognostic variables such as basal-like subtype and high grade tumours.

Conclusions: These results provide evidence for a prognostic value of MCT1 in breast carcinoma and support the exploitation of the complex MCT1/CD147 as a promising target for cancer therapy, especially in basallike breast carcinoma.

Keywords: breast carcinoma, CD147, immunohistochemistry, monocarboxylate transporter

Abbreviations: CK, cytokeratin; DAB, 3,3'-diaminobenzidine; DCIS, ductal carcinoma *in situ;* EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor; ER, oestrogen receptor; MCTs, monocarboxylate transporters; PR, progesterone receptor; TMA, tissue microarray

Introduction

Despite advances in cancer therapy, breast cancer is still the leading cause of cancer-related death in women worldwide.¹ Breast cancer can be classified according to gene expression profiles into four main groups: basal-like, luminal (A and B), HER2+ and normal-like breast carcinomas,^{2–7} which have important prognostic implications: basal-like and HER2+ tumours have

Address for correspondence: F Baltazar, Life and Health Sciences Research Institute, School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, 4710-057 Braga, Portugal. e-mail: fbaltazar@ecsaude.uminho.pt

© 2010 The Authors. Journal compilation © 2010 Blackwell Publishing Limited.

more aggressive clinical behaviour when compared with luminal and normal-like breast carcinomas.^{2–4,6,7} Basal-like breast carcinomas, in contrast to the other groups, do not have a specific molecular therapy, necessitating the search for new molecular targets in this aggressive group of tumours.^{8,9}

The extracellular pH of solid tumours is generally low, whereas cytosolic pH is normal or higher than that of normal tissues.^{10,11} In breast cancer cells, this lower extracellular pH is explained by, *inter alia*, two complementary mechanisms: increased lactate production through glycolysis and proton-pump activity in the plasma membrane. The former, which is quantitatively more important, is consistent with the

2 C Pinheiro et al.

known high glycolytic rates of cancer cells, especially under anaerobic conditions, which results in production of large amounts of lactate.¹² Acidification of the extracellular microenvironment has several implications in tumour progression, e.g. up-regulation of various angiogenic molecules including vascular endothelial growth factor,^{13,14} which support tumour growth, invasion and metastasis, and up-regulation of proteases implicated in cancer cell invasiveness, through digestion of the extracellular matrix.¹⁴

One of the most important mechanisms involved in intracellular pH regulation is the co-transport of lactate and a proton, which is mediated by a family of membrane proteins known as monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs).¹⁵ These proteins are also responsible for the transport of pyruvate and ketone bodies, being critical for metabolic communication between cells.¹⁶ Taking into consideration the high glycolytic rates of cancer cells, it is to be expected that MCTs would be up-regulated, to allow maintenance of glycolysis rates and prevent apoptosis by intracellular acidosis. Indeed, there is evidence for the up-regulation of MCTs in several tumours.¹⁷⁻²⁴ However, only a few studies have evaluated the clinicopathological significance of MCT overexpression.^{23–25} We have recently described MCT1 and MCT4 overexpression in colorectal carcinomas, as well as an association between plasma membrane expression of MCT1 and vascular invasion.²⁴ Furthermore, we observed an increase in MCT1 and MCT4 during progression to invasive cervical carcinoma and an association between both MCT1 and MCT4 expression and high-risk human papillomavirus infection.²³ Moreover, we observed preferential expression of MCT4 in intestinal-type gastric carcinoma, although with a decrease in MCT4 expression from normal to malignant gastric mucosa.²⁵

To the best of our knowledge, MCT analysis in breast cancer samples has been performed in only one study, where silencing of MCT1 by methylation of the 5' region of the gene was suggested, in four of 19 breast cancer samples.²⁶ However, this result is far from clarifying the role of MCTs in breast cancer development and/or progression.

It was recently demonstrated that CD147, a known key regulator of oncogenesis, $^{27-29}$ is an ancillary protein required for cell surface expression and activity of MCT1 and MCT4. $^{30-32}$ On the other hand, silencing studies have shown that maturation and cell surface expression of CD147 depends on both MCT1 and MCT4 expression. 33,34 Recently, and supporting this evidence, we described a close association between both MCT1 and MCT4 and CD147 in cervical cancer. 35

In the present work, we sought to assess the involvement of MCT1 and MCT4 in breast cancer progression by analysing the expression of these membrane transporters in a series of breast carcinomas, and to investigate its clinicopathological significance. We also aimed to contribute to the understanding of MCT regulation by CD147 in tumours, by analysing the significance of MCT and CD147 co-expression in breast carcinoma.

Materials and methods

CASE SELECTION

Case selection was based on availability of follow-up information and amount of material, ensuring adequate numbers for statistical analysis. Thus, a series of 249 formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded primary breast carcinomas was retrieved from the files of the Department of Pathology, Hospital do Divino Espírito Santo (Azores, Portugal) and from the Federal University of Santa Catarina (Florianópolis-SC, Brazil). Samples were obtained from patients aged 30-89 years. Haematoxylin and eosin-stained sections of all cases were reviewed by three pathologists (R.D., D.V. and F.S.) and the diagnoses were confirmed as follows: 208 invasive ductal carcinomas, seven invasive lobular carcinomas, three mixed lobular-ductal carcinomas, three tubular, eight medullary and 20 invasive breast carcinomas of other special histological types. Representative areas of tumour samples, as well as 53 samples of normal breast tissue, mostly from the same breast with tumour, were carefully selected and organized into tissue microarrays (TMAs), with cores of 2 mm diameter. Each case was represented in the TMA by at least two cores. In 45 cases, areas of ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) were present and were also analysed. Relevant clinicopathological data from these tumours included tumour size, molecular classification, histological grade and lymph node metastasis. The distribution of prognostic factors with a high number of cases with lymph node metastasis and oestrogen receptor (ER)-negative status, reflects a large number of advanced cases in the series.

The molecular classification was carried out based on immunohistochemical results for ER, progesterone receptor (PR), HER2, epidermal growth factor receptor, cytokeratin (CK) 5, CK14, vimentin and Ki67. Tumours positive for ER and/or PR were classified as luminal. Cases positive for ER/PR and for HER2 and/or high Ki67 index were subclassified as luminal B. Cases classified as HER2 overexpressing were characterized by HER2 overexpression and negativity for ER/PR, and cases defined as 'basal-like' were negative

© 2010 The Authors. Journal compilation © 2010 Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Histopathology

MCT1 in breast cancer 3

for ER/PR and HER2 and positive for at least one of the 'basal markers' tested.

Follow-up information was available for 218 cases, ranging from a minimum of two to a maximum of 129 months (median 32 months). Disease-free survival interval data were evaluated and defined as the time from the date of surgery to the date of breast cancerderived relapse/metastasis. Due to the short follow-up of the studied series and consequent limited number of death events, overall survival was not analysed.

This study was conducted under the relevant national law regulating the usage of biological specimens from tumour banks, where the samples are exclusively available for research purposes in the case of retrospective studies.

IMMUNOHISTOCHEMISTRY

MCT detection

Immunohistochemistry was performed according to the avidin-biotin-peroxidase complex principle [R.T.U. VECTASTAIN Elite ABC Kit (Universal); Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA], with the primary antibodies for MCT1 (AB3538P; Chemicon International, Temecula, CA, USA) and MCT4 (AB3316P; Chemicon International), diluted 1:200 for MCT1 and 1:100 for MCT4, as previously described.^{23–25} Briefly, deparaffinized and rehydrated tissue sections were submitted to antigen retrieval by immersion in citrate buffer (0.01 M, pH 6.0) and heated to 98°C for 20 min, in a water bath. Tissues were then incubated with the primary antibody overnight at room temperature and immunoreactivity was visualized with 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB+ Substrate System; Dako, Carpinteria, CA, USA). Colonic carcinoma was used as positive control for both MCT1 and MCT4.

CD147 detection

Immunohistochemistry was performed according to the avidin–biotin–peroxidase complex principle (Ultravision Detection System Anti-polyvalent, Horseradish peroxidase; Lab Vision Corp., Fremont, CA, USA), using a primary antibody raised against CD147 (18-7344; Zymed Laboratories Inc., South San Francisco, CA, USA) diluted 1:750, as previously described.³⁵ Briefly, deparaffinized and rehydrated tissue sections were submitted to antigen retrieval by immersion in ethylenediamine tetraaceticacid (pH 8.0) heated to 98°C for 15 min, in a water bath. Tissues were then incubated with the primary antibody, 2 h at room temperature, and immunoreactivity was visualized with DAB (DAB+ Substrate System; Dako). Cervical squamous carcinoma was used as positive control.

Immunohistochemical evaluation

Since plasma membrane location is essential for protein activity, immunoreactions for MCTs and CD147 were considered positive only when plasma membrane reactivity was present. Sections were scored semiquantitatively in relation to the positive control as previously described:^{23–25,35} 0, 0% of immunoreactive cells; 1, <5% of immunoreactive cells; 2, 5–50% of immunoreactive cells; and 3, >50% of immunoreactive cells. Also, intensity of staining was scored as: 0, negative; 1, weak; 2, intermediate; and 3, strong. Final immunoreactivity score was defined as the sum of both parameters (extent and intensity), and grouped as negative (score 0 and 2) and positive (3–6). Evaluation was performed blindly by two independent observers and discordant results were discussed at a double-head microscope to reach the final score.

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Data were stored and analysed using Statview statistical software (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). All comparisons were examined for statistical significance using Pearson's chi-squared test or Fisher's exact test, as appropriate; the threshold for significance was set at P < 0.05. Disease-free survival curves were estimated by the method of Kaplan–Meier and data compared using the log rank test. A cut-off of 60 months (5 years) was considered, since in the first 5 years following primary therapy recurrence rates are expected to be highest, especially in series with high numbers of ER–cases like ours, where the hazard of recurrence is higher.³⁶ Cases lacking one or more of the clinicopathological variables were not included in the specific statistical analysis.

Results

A total of 249 breast carcinoma samples for MCT1, MCT4 and CD147 immunohistochemical expression were analysed. Due to technical problems (mainly tissue loss during immunohistochemistry), some cases are missing in the expression analysis.

MCT1 expression was mainly found at the plasma membrane whereas MCT4 was observed both in the cytoplasm and plasma membrane (Figure 1A,B). CD147 was mainly detected at the plasma membrane (Figure 1C), with some cases also showing cytoplasmic immunoreactivity. Table 1 summarizes the frequency of MCT and CD147 expression in non-neoplastic mammary epithelium and tumour samples. A significant increase in MCT1 expression was observed in tumours when compared with normal tissues

^{© 2010} The Authors. Journal compilation © 2010 Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Histopathology

4 C Pinheiro et al.



Figure 1. Immunohistochemical expression of monocarboxylate transporter (MCT) 1, MCT4 and CD147 in breast carcinoma samples. MCT1 expression is mainly found on the plasma membrane of tumour cells (A), whereas MCT4 reactivity is found both in the cytoplasm and plasma membrane (B). CD147 is mainly observed on the plasma membrane of tumour cells (C).

(P = 0.0138), with 19.5% of tumours showing MCT1 expression, while no significant difference was observed for MCT4 and CD147.

Analysis of CD147 and MCT plasma membrane expression showed an association between CD147 and

Table 1.	Frequency of monod	arboxylate	transporter	(MCT)
1, MCT4	and CD147 expressi	on in breas	t carcinoma	tissues
compare	d with normal breast	epithelium		

	п	Positive (%)	Р
MCT1			
Normal breast epithelium	53	3 (5.7)	0.0138
Breast carcinoma	221	43 (19.4)	
MCT4 Normal breast epithelium	45	0 (0.0)	0.0823
Breast carcinoma	219	16 (7.3)	
CD147			
Normal breast epithelium	47	2 (4.2)	0.2570
Breast carcinoma	219	24 (11.0)	

both MCT1 and MCT4 (P < 0.0001 and P = 0.0083, respectively, Table 2). DCIS, when present in tissue sections, was also evaluated for MCT and CD147 expression. DCIS was found in 45 sections, and results for MCT and CD147 expression were always concordant with the corresponding invasive lesion.

Biological and clinical data available allowed the assessment of correlations with MCT and CD147 expression (Table 3). Importantly, we found significant correlations between prognostic parameters and both MCT and CD147 membranous expression. Correlations between MCT1 expression and basal-like subtype (P < 0.0001), high histological grade (P = 0.0003), absence of ER and PR expression (P < 0.0001) and P = 0.0001, respectively), CK5 and CK14 expression (P = 0.0362 and P = 0.0006, respectively), vimentin expression (P < 0.0001) and Ki67 expression (P = 0.0297) were observed. No association was observed between MCT4 expression and clinicopathological

 Table 2. Association between CD147 and monocarboxylate

 transporter (MCT) expression in breast carcinoma samples

	п	CD147 Positive (%)	Р
MCT1			
Negative	172	5 (2.9)	< 0.0001
Positive	42	19 (45.2)	
MCT4			
Negative	200	19 (9.5)	0.0083
Positive	16	5 (31.2)	

© 2010 The Authors. Journal compilation © 2010 Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Histopathology

MCT1 in breast cancer 5

Clinico nathological	MCT1			MCT4			CD147		
data	n	Positive (%)	Р	n	Positive (%)	Р	n	Positive (%)	Р
Tumour size, mm <20	73	10 (13.7)	0.2544	72	6 (8.3)	0.3152	73	7 (9.6)	0.7334
20–50	105	21 (20.0)		104	9 (8.6)		104	13 (12.5)	
>50	25	7 (28.0)		25	0 (0.0)		25	2 (8.0)	
Subtype Luminal	125	13 (10.4)	<0.0001	122	10 (8.2)	0.9529	123	5 (4.1)	<0.0001
Basal-like	42	21 (50.0)		42	3 (7.1)		42	14 (33.3)	
HER2 overexpressing	32	5 (15.6)		33	3 (9.1)		32	4 (12.5)	
Histological grade	45	5 (11.1)	0.0003	43	5 (11.6)	0.1637	44	0 (0.0)	<0.0001
II	104	13 (12.5)		103	4 (3.9)		102	6 (5.9)	
111	71	25 (35.2)		71	7 (9.8)		71	18 (25.4)	
Oestrogen receptor Negative	95	30 (31.6)	<0.0001	95	6 (6.3)	0.5989	93	19 (20.4)	0.0002
Positive	125	13 (10.4)		122	10 (8.2)		123	5 (4.1)	
Progesterone receptor Negative	137	38 (27.7)	0.0001	139	11 (7.9)	0.6843	136	22 (16.2)	0.0014
Positive	80	5 (6.2)		78	5 (6.4)		80	2 (2.5)	
HER2 overexpression Negative	175	37 (21.1)	0.2135	172	11 (6.4)	0.4959	174	19 (10.9)	>0.9999
Positive	40	5 (12.5)		41	4 (9.8)		39	4 (10.2)	
EGFR Negative	206	39 (18.9)	0.2343	204	14 (6.9)	0.1925	204	21 (10.3)	0.1108
Positive	11	4 (36.4)		11	2 (18.2)		11	3 (27.3)	
CK5 Negative	174	29 (16.7)	0.0362	171	10 (5.8)	0.0974	170	14 (8.2)	0.0116
Positive	46	14 (30.4)		46	6 (13.0)		47	10 (21.3)	
CK14 Negative	201	34 (16.9)	0.0006	199	15 (7.5)	>0.9999	199	17 (8.5)	<0.0001
Positive	15	8 (53.3)		15	1 (6.7)		15	7 (46.7)	
Vimentin Negative	175	26 (14.8)	<0.0001	173	12 (6.9)	0.4869	172	9 (5.2)	<0.0001
Positive	36	17 (47.2)		36	4 (11.1)		36	15 (41.7)	

Table 3. Associations of monocarboxylate transporter (MCT) 1, MCT4 and CD147 expression with clinicopathological data from breast cancer cases

@ 2010 The Authors. Journal compilation @ 2010 Blackwell Publishing Ltd, $\mathit{Histopathology}$

6 C Pinheiro et al.

Clinicopathological data	MCT	MCT1			MCT4			CD147		
	n	Positive (%)	Р	n	Positive (%)	Р	n	Positive (%)	Р	
Ki67 <20%	139	21 (15.1)	0.0297	138	9 (6.5)	0.5258	138	10 (7.2)	0.0179	
>20%	81	22 (27.2)		79	7 (8.9)		79	14 (17.7)		
Lymph node metastas Absent	sis 95	21 (22.1)	0.2771	92	7 (7.6)	0.8866	95	15 (15.8)	0.1566	
Present	100	16 (16.0)		99	7 (7.1)		99	9 (9.1)		

Table 3. (Continued)

EGFR, Epidermal growth factor receptor.

factors. CD147 expression associations were very similar to those of MCT1: CD147 correlated with basal-like subtype (P < 0.0001), high histological grade (P < 0.0001), absence of ER and PR expression (P = 0.0002 and P = 0.0014, respectively), CK5 and CK14 expression (P = 0.0116 and P < 0.0001, respectively), vimentin expression (P < 0.0001) and Ki67 expression (P = 0.0179).

When analysing MCT1/CD147 co-expression (data not shown) as an indicator of transporter activity, we observed the same associations as for MCT1 and CD147 alone. The clinicopathological significance of MCT4/CD147 co-expression was not assessed since the number of cases co-expressing these two molecules was very low (n = 5).

Kaplan–Meier survival curves were estimated for each marker (MCTs and CD147), but no significant correlations were found (data not shown).

Discussion

Some evidence points to MCTs as potential targets for cancer therapy.^{19,22,37} However, the role of these proteins in solid tumour development and survival is still unclear, especially in breast cancer, where there is a very limited number of studies.

A previous report on breast cancer has suggested a possible silencing of MCT1 expression.²⁶ However, in the present study we showed a significant gain in MCT1 plasma membrane expression and no significant alteration in MCT4 expression in tumours when compared with non-neoplastic tissue. Considering the metabolic alterations of cancer, where high glycolytic rates lead to high levels of lactate, an increase in MCT1 expression would allow continuous glycolysis, avoiding intracellular acidosis and subsequent apoptosis. Also, and importantly, this would give a powerful growth advantage to cancer cells, necessary for progression to invasiveness.³⁸ Notably, and besides the increased expression in tumour cells, the presence of MCT1 in the plasma membrane was associated with various clinical and biological parameters. Importantly, MCT1 expression correlated with a basal-like phenotype, and, as expected, was associated with most of the basal markers studied, such as CK5, CK14 and vimentin, and inversely associated with the expression of ER and PR. These results are supported by data available in expression array datasets (ONCOMINE),39 where increased expression in MCT1 can be seen in basal-like breast carcinoma.^{40,41} Other correlations, such as the association with Ki67 proliferative index and high histological grade, suggest that MCT1 is present in more aggressive tumours.

Taking into consideration the need to export lactate in cancer cells and the fact that MCT4 is a lowaffinity transporter found in highly glycolytic tissues,42 an increase in MCT4 expression would be expected in breast tumours, similar to that observed in both colorectal²⁴ and cervical carcinomas.²³ However, in the present work, although MCT4 was not expressed in normal tissue and was detected in the plasma membrane of some tumour samples, this increase was not significant. Thus, our results point to preferential expression of the MCT isoform 1, as an adaptation to a malignant phenotype. Actually, despite the similar physiological function of MCT1 and MCT4, they are regulated by different mechanisms; for example, it has recently been described that hypoxia-inducible factor 1α , a major regulator of tumour cell adaptation to hypoxic stress, up-regulates MCT4, but not MCT1.43

CD147, a protein that, among many other functions,^{27–29} stimulates synthesis of matrix meta-lloproteinases, is up-regulated in many human

@ 2010 The Authors. Journal compilation @ 2010 Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Histopathology

MCT1 in breast cancer 7

cancers, 27,28,44,45 including breast carcinomas, 44,45 where it is described as a prognostic factor.⁴⁴ In the present work, this documented increase in CD147 was not observed, but the close association with both MCT1 and MCT4 previously demonstrated $^{25,30\text{--}35}$ was confirmed in the breast tumour samples analysed here. As observed for MCT1, CD147 expression was more frequently found in basal-like, ER- and PR- and high histological grade tumours as well as in tumours expressing CK5, CK14, vimentin and Ki67, which is in accordance with previous results on CD147 expression in breast carcinoma.44 MCT1/CD147 co-expression showed similar associations with MCT1 and CD147 alone. A similar importance for MCT1/CD147 coexpression in gastric cancer has already been described by our group in gastric cancer, where we observed an association of MCT1/CD147 co-expression with indicators of worse prognosis, such as advanced gastric cancer, higher TNM staging and presence of lymph node metastasis.²⁵ However, although these associations may be mostly attributed to CD147 and its many functions in cancer, $^{27-29}$ MCT1 alone also appears to have an important role in tumours with worse prognosis, as evidenced by the significant results obtained. Importantly, it should be noted that less than half of cases expressing MCT1 and MCT4 on the plasma membrane co-express CD147. This suggests that MCT trafficking to the plasma membrane might be dependent on another ancillary protein, as pointed out by recent in vitro evidence.46

In the present study, we have investigated the expression of MCT isoforms 1 and 4, and their chaperone CD147. Most importantly, we have evaluated for the first time the correlation between MCT expression in breast cancer and the clinicopathological data. It is important to highlight that MCT1 is upregulated in a subset of aggressive breast carcinomas (basal-like) and, since these tumours do not have a specific molecular therapy,⁸ the development of therapeutic approaches targeting MCT1 could be a promising strategy to treat such tumours. However, other studies, including *in vitro* approaches are warranted to confirm these observations.

Acknowledgements

C.P. and A.A. received PhD fellowships from FCT (Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology, SFRH/BD/27465/2006 and SFRH/BD/15316/2005, respectively). We also thank Dr Vitor Carneiro (pathologist from the Hospital do Divino Espírito Santo, Ponta Delgada, São Miguel, Açores) for his help in retrieving the breast cancer samples for this study.

References

- Globocan. 2002 Database. Available at http://www-dep.iarc.fr/ 2009. Last accessed
- van de Rijn M, Perou CM, Tibshirani R *et al.* Expression of cytokeratins 17 and 5 identifies a group of breast carcinomas with poor clinical outcome. *Am. J. Pathol.* 2002; 161; 1991– 1996.
- Sorlie T, Tibshirani R, Parker J et al. Repeated observation of breast tumor subtypes in independent gene expression data sets. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 2003; 100; 8418–8423.
- Sorlie T, Perou CM, Tibshirani R et al. Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 2001; 98; 10869–10874.
- Perou CM, Sorlie T, Eisen MB *et al.* Molecular portraits of human breast tumours. *Nature* 2000; 406; 747–752.
- Nielsen TO, Hsu FD, Jensen K et al. Immunohistochemical and clinical characterization of the basal-like subtype of invasive breast carcinoma. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2004; 10; 5367–5374.
- Sotiriou C, Neo SY, McShane LM *et al.* Breast cancer classification and prognosis based on gene expression profiles from a population-based study. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA* 2003; 100; 10393–10398.
- Matos I, Dufloth R, Alvarenga M, Zeferino LC, Schmitt F. p63, cytokeratin 5, and P-cadherin: three molecular markers to distinguish basal phenotype in breast carcinomas. *Virchows Arch.* 2005; 447; 688–694.
- Paredes J, Lopes N, Milanezi F, Schmitt FC. P-cadherin and cytokeratin 5: useful adjunct markers to distinguish basal-like ductal carcinomas *in situ*. *Virchows Arch.* 2007; 450; 73–80.
- Dang CV, Semenza GL. Oncogenic alterations of metabolism. Trends Biochem. Sci. 1999; 24; 68–72.
- 11. Helmlinger G, Sckell A, Dellian M, Forbes NS, Jain RK. Acid production in glycolysis-impaired tumors provides new insights into tumor metabolism. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2002; 8; 1284–1291.
- Montcourrier P, Silver I, Farnoud R, Bird I, Rochefort H. Breast cancer cells have a high capacity to acidify extracellular milieu by a dual mechanism. *Clin. Exp. Metastasis* 1997; 15: 382–392.
- 13. Fukumura D, Xu L, Chen Y, Gohongi T, Seed B, Jain RK. Hypoxia and acidosis independently up-regulate vascular endothelial growth factor transcription in brain tumors *in vivo. Cancer Res.* 2001; **61**; 6020–6024.
- Rofstad EK, Mathiesen B, Kindem K, Galappathi K. Acidic extracellular pH promotes experimental metastasis of human melanoma cells in athymic nude mice. *Cancer Res.* 2006; 66; 6699–6707.
- Izumi H, Torigoe T, Ishiguchi H *et al.* Cellular pH regulators: potentially promising molecular targets for cancer chemotherapy. *Cancer Treat. Rev.* 2003; 29: 541–549.
- Juel C, Halestrap AP. Lactate transport in skeletal muscle—role and regulation of the monocarboxylate transporter. J. Physiol. 1999; 517(Pt 3); 633–642.
- Ladanyi M, Antonescu CR, Drobnjak M et al. The precrystalline cytoplasmic granules of alveolar soft part sarcoma contain monocarboxylate transporter 1 and CD147. Am. J. Pathol. 2002; 160; 1215–1221.
- Froberg MK, Gerhart DZ, Enerson BE et al. Expression of monocarboxylate transporter MCT1 in normal and neoplastic human CNS tissues. *Neuroreport* 2001; 12; 761–765.
- Mathupala SP, Parajuli P, Sloan AE. Silencing of monocarboxylate transporters via small interfering ribonucleic acid inhibits glycolysis and induces cell death in malignant glioma: an *in vitro* study. *Neurosurgery* 2004; 55; 1410–1419.

@ 2010 The Authors. Journal compilation @ 2010 Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Histopathology

- 20. Koukourakis MI, Giatromanolaki A, Harris AL, Sivridis E. Comparison of metabolic pathways between cancer cells and stromal cells in colorectal carcinomas: a metabolic survival role for tumor-associated stroma. *Cancer Res.* 2006; 66; 632–637.
- Koukourakis MI, Giatromanolaki A, Bougioukas G, Sivridis E. Lung cancer: a comparative study of metabolism related protein expression in cancer cells and tumor associated stroma. *Cancer Biol. Ther.* 2007; 6; 1476–1479.
- Fang J, Quinones QJ, Holman TL et al. The H+-linked monocarboxylate transporter (MCT1/SLC16A1): a potential therapeutic target for high-risk neuroblastoma. Mol. Pharmacol. 2006; 70: 2108–2115.
- Pinheiro C, Longatto-Filho A, Ferreira L *et al.* Increasing expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1 and 4 along progression to invasive cervical carcinoma. *Int. J. Gynecol. Pathol.* 2008; 27; 568–574.
- 24. Pinheiro C, Longatto-Filho A, Scapulatempo C *et al.* Increased expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1, 2, and 4 in colorectal carcinomas. *Virchows Arch.* 2008; **452**; 139–146.
- Pinheiro C, Longatto-Filho A, Simoes K et al. The prognostic value of CD147/EMMPRIN is associated with monocarboxylate transporter 1 co-expression in gastric cancer. Eur. J. Cancer 2009; 45; 2418–2424.
- Asada K, Miyamoto K, Fukutomi T *et al.* Reduced expression of GNA11 and silencing of MCT1 in human breast cancers. *Oncology* 2003; 64: 380–388.
- Gabison EE, Hoang-Xuan T, Mauviel A, Menashi S. EMM-PRIN/CD147, an MMP modulator in cancer, development and tissue repair. *Biochimie* 2005; 87; 361–368.
- Nabeshima K, Iwasaki H, Koga K, Hojo H, Suzumiya J, Kikuchi M. Emmprin (basigin/CD147): matrix metalloproteinase modulator and multifunctional cell recognition molecule that plays a critical role in cancer progression. *Pathol. Int.* 2006; 56; 359– 367.
- Iacono KT, Brown AL, Greene MI, Saouaf SJ. CD147 immunoglobulin superfamily receptor function and role in pathology. *Exp. Mol. Pathol.* 2007; 83; 283–295.
- Kirk P, Wilson MC, Heddle C, Brown MH, Barclay AN, Halestrap AP. CD147 is tightly associated with lactate transporters MCT1 and MCT4 and facilitates their cell surface expression. *EMBO J.* 2000; 19; 3896–3904.
- 31. Wilson MC, Meredith D, Fox JE, Manoharan C, Davies AJ, Halestrap AP. Basigin (CD147) is the target for organomercurial inhibition of monocarboxylate transporter isoforms 1 and 4: the ancillary protein for the insensitive MCT2 is EMBIGIN (gp70). J. Biol. Chem. 2005; 280; 27213–27221.
- Philp NJ, Ochrietor JD, Rudoy C, Muramatsu T, Linser PJ. Loss of MCT1, MCT3, and MCT4 expression in the retinal pigment

epithelium and neural retina of the 5A11/basigin-null mouse. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 2003; 44; 1305–1311.

- 33. Gallagher SM, Castorino JJ, Wang D, Philp NJ. Monocarboxylate transporter 4 regulates maturation and trafficking of CD147 to the plasma membrane in the metastatic breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231. *Cancer Res.* 2007; 67; 4182–4189.
- 34. Deora AA, Philp N, Hu J, Bok D, Rodriguez-Boulan E. Mechanisms regulating tissue-specific polarity of monocarboxylate transporters and their chaperone CD147 in kidney and retinal epithelia. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA* 2005; 102; 16245–16250.
- 35. Pinheiro C, Longatto A, Pereira SMM *et al.* Monocarboxylate transporters 1 and 4 are associated with CD147 in cervical carcinoma. *Dis. Markers* 2009; 26: 97–103.
- Emens LA, Davidson NE. The follow-up of breast cancer. Semin. Oncol. 2003; 30; 338–348.
- 37. Wahl ML, Owen JA, Burd R *et al.* Regulation of intracellular pH in human melanoma: potential therapeutic implications. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* 2002; 1; 617–628.
- Gatenby RA, Gillies RJ. A microenvironmental model of carcinogenesis. Nat. Rev. Cancer 2008; 8; 56–61.
- Rhodes DR, Yu J, Shanker K et al. ONCOMINE: a cancer microarray database and integrated data-mining platform. Neoplasia 2004; 6; 1–6.
- Farmer P, Bonnefoi H, Becette V *et al.* Identification of molecular apocrine breast tumours by microarray analysis. *Oncogene* 2005; 24: 4660–4671.
- Richardson AL, Wang ZC, De NA et al. X chromosomal abnormalities in basal-like human breast cancer. Cancer Cell 2006; 9; 121–132.
- 42. Dimmer KS, Friedrich B, Lang F, Deitmer JW, Broer S. The lowaffinity monocarboxylate transporter MCT4 is adapted to the export of lactate in highly glycolytic cells. *Biochem. J.* 2000; 350(Pt 1); 219–227.
- 43. Ullah MS, Davies AJ, Halestrap AP. The plasma membrane lactate transporter MCT4, but not MCT1, is up-regulated by hypoxia through a HIF-1alpha-dependent mechanism. J. Biol. Chem. 2006; 281; 9030–9037.
- 44. Reimers N, Zafrakas K, Assmann V et al. Expression of extracellular matrix metalloproteases inducer on micrometastatic and primary mammary carcinoma cells. Clin. Cancer Res. 2004; 10; 3422–3428.
- Riethdorf S, Reimers N, Assmann V et al. High incidence of EMMPRIN expression in human tumors. Int. J. Cancer 2006; 119; 1800–1810.
- 46. Slomiany MG, Grass GD, Robertson AD *et al*. Hyaluronan, CD44, and emmprin regulate lactate efflux and membrane localization of monocarboxylate transporters in human breast carcinoma cells. *Cancer Res.* 2009; **69**; 1293–1301.

© 2010 The Authors. Journal compilation © 2010 Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Histopathology

5.3. SUBMITTED RESULTS

This chapter also comprises the following manuscript, **submitted** for publication to an international scientific periodical with referees:

Pinheiro C, Sousa B, Albergaria A, Paredes J, Dufloth R, Vieira D, Schmitt F, Baltazar F. GLUT1 and CAIX expression profiles in breast cancer correlate with MCT1 overexpression and adverse prognostic factors.

The following results were also presented as poster in the following international scientific meeting:

EACR-21, 2010, Oslo, Sweden. **Pinheiro C**, Sousa B, Albergaria A, Paredes J, Dufloth R, Vieira D, Schmitt F, Baltazar F. GLUT1 and CAIX expression profiles in breast cancer correlate with MCT1 overexpression.

.

5.3.1. GLUT1 AND CAIX EXPRESSION PROFILES IN BREAST CANCER CORRELATE WITH MCT1 OVEREXPRESSION AND ADVERSE PROGNOSTIC FACTORS

GLUT1 and CAIX expression profiles in breast cancer correlate with MCT1 overexpression and adverse prognostic factors

Céline Pinheiro, B.Sc.¹, Bárbara Sousa, B.Sc.², André Albergaria, M.Sc.^{1,2}, Joana Paredes, Ph.D.², Rozany Dufloth, M.D., Ph.D.³, Daniella Vieira, M.D., M.Sc.³, Fernando Schmitt, M.D., Ph.D., F.I.A.C.^{2,4}, Fátima Baltazar, Ph.D.^{1*}

¹Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, Campus of Gualtar, 4710-057 Braga, Portugal; ²IPATIMUP, Institute of Molecular Pathology and Immunology of the University of Porto, Porto, Portugal;

³Federal University of Santa Catarina – UFSC – Florianópolis (SC), Brazil; ⁴Medical Faculty of the University of Porto, Porto, Portugal.

ABSTRACT

The goal of the present work was to evaluate the correlation of glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1) and carbonic anhydrase IX (CAIX) with the monocarboxylate transporters 1 (MCT1) and 4 (MCT4) and their chaperone, CD147, in breast cancer. The clinico-pathological value of GLUT1 and CAIX was also evaluated. For that, we analysed the immunohistochemical expression of GLUT1 and CAIX, in a large series of invasive breast carcinoma samples (n=124), previously characterised for MCT1, MCT4 and CD147 expression. GLUT1 expression was found in 46% of the cases (57/124), while CAIX expression was found in 18% of the cases (22/122). Importantly, both MCT1 and CD147, but not MCT4, were associated with GLUT1 and CAIX expression. Also, GLUT1 and CAIX correlated with each other. Concerning the clinico-pathological values, GLUT1 was associated with high grade tumours, basal-like subtype, absence of progesterone receptor and presence of vimentin and Ki67 expression. Additionally, CAIX was associated with high tumour size, high histological grade, basal-like subtype, absence of estrogen and progesterone receptors and presence of basal cytokeratins and vimentin expression. Finally, patients with CAIX positive tumours had a significant shorter disease-free survival.

The association between MCT1 and both GLUT1 and CAIX may result from the hypoxia-mediated metabolic adaptations, which will confer a glycolytic, acid-resistant and more aggressive phenotype to cancer cells.

Keywords: GLUT1; CAIX; monocarboxylate transporters (MCT); CD147/EMMPRIN; breast carcinoma; immunohistochemistry.

Abbreviations: CA (carbonic anhydrase); ER (estrogen receptor); GLUT (glucose transporter); HIF-1α (hypoxia inducible-factor 1 alpha); MCT (monocarboxylate transporter); PR (progesterone receptor).

*Corresponding author: Fátima Baltazar, Life and Health Sciences Research Institute, School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, Campus of Gualtar, 4710-057 Braga, Portugal, Phone: +351 253604828, Fax: +351 253604820, E-mail: fbaltazar@ecsaude.uminho.pt

INTRODUCTION

Early epithelial carcinogenesis occurs under hypoxic conditions, since altered cells are separated from the vascularised stroma, source of oxygen and nutrients. To maintain the needed ATP levels, cancer cells increase their rates of glycolysis, acquiring a significant proliferative advantage. However, this phenotype leads to an overload of lactic acid, which must be exported from the cell, causing a decrease in the extracellular pH.

Constitutive up-regulation of glycolysis requires additional adaptations, namely, resistance to apoptosis

and up-regulation of membrane transporters to maintain normal intracellular pH¹. The need to increase glucose uptake, to allow high glucose consumption rates, is achieved by up-regulation of glucose transporters (GLUT) in the plasma membrane of cancer cells, especially the hypoxia-responsive GLUT1^{2;3}. The role of GLUT1 in breast cancer remains poorly elucidated ^{4;5}.

Besides being an adaptation to high glycolytic phenotype, acidic environment represents *per se* a significant advantage for tumour cells since it is associated with increased migration, invasion and metastases, among others ^{1;6;7}. Although lactate produced by glycolysis under hypoxic conditions is a significant contributor to the acidic extracellular pH, there is also a substantial contribution from carbonic acid ⁸. In this context, the hypoxia-responsive carbonic anhydrase isoforms, CAIX and CAXII, emerge as important contributors to the regulation of cancer cell intracellular pH ⁹⁻¹¹, with CAIX, in particular, being associated with poor prognosis in breast cancer ¹²⁻¹⁵.

Another important group of proteins involved in intracellular pH regulation are monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs), which are also responsible for transmembrane transport of lactate ¹⁶. By performing these two inter-dependent activities (lactate transport coupled with a proton), MCTs appear as strong potential targets for cancer therapy. Indeed, there are evidences for the up-regulation of MCTs in tumours, such as high grade glial neoplasms 17;18, colorectal 19;20, lung 21, cervical ²², and breast carcinomas ²³. Besides analysing MCT expression in tumours, our group also assessed for the first time the clinico-pathological value of their overexpression ^{20;22-24}. MCT expression appears to be influenced by altered physiologic conditions; however, the underlying molecular events involved in MCT regulation are poorly understood. Recently, it was demonstrated that proper expression and activity of MCT1 and MCT4 requires co-expression of CD147, also known as EMMPRIN or Basigin²⁵⁻²⁷. Based on this, we described the association between CD147 and both MCT1 and MCT4 in human cervical ²⁸, gastric ²⁴ and breast cancer ²³. Furthermore, the hypoxia inducible-factor 1 alpha (HIF-1 α), which regulates many genes codifying proteins involved in the glycolytic pathway (like GLUT1) and pH regulation (like the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger NHE1 and both CAIX and CAXII) ²⁹, also regulates MCT1 ³⁰ and MCT4 ^{30;31}. However, there is some controversy around MCT1 regulation by hypoxia, with some studies reporting MCT1 repression by hypoxia ^{31;32}.

One of the goals of the present study was to evaluate the association between the HIF-1 α downstream targets GLUT1 and CAIX and both MCT1 and MCT4, as well as their chaperone, CD147, in invasive breast carcinomas. We also intended to strengthen the clinico-pathological value of GLUT1 and CAIX in breast cancer.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Case selection

Case selection was based on availability of follow up information and amount of material, ensuring adequate numbers for statistical analysis. Thus, a series of 124 formalin-fixed paraffin embedded breast carcinoma tissues was retrieved from the files of the Department of Pathology, Hospital do Divino Espírito Santo, Azores, Portugal, and from the Federal University of Santa Catarina, Florianopolis-SC, Brazil. Haematoxylin/eosin stained sections of all cases were reviewed by three pathologists (R.D., D.V. and F.S.). Tumour samples were organised into 14 tissue microarrays (TMAs), with 20 tumour cores (2 mm diameter) each, also including several samples of normal breast tissue. Each case was represented in the TMA by at least two cores. Relevant clinicopathological data included tumour size (TNM), molecular subtype, histological grade, estrogen receptor (ER) and progesterone receptor (PR), human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2), epidermal growth

factor receptor 1 (EGFR), basal cytokeratins (CK5 and CK14), vimentin and Ki67 expression status. Information on lymph-node metastasis, disease-free survival and overall survival was also available. These tumour samples were previously analysed by our group for MCT1, MCT4 and CD147 expressions ²³.

Immunohistochemistry

GLUT1 and CAIX detection

Immunohistochemistry was performed based on the streptavidin-biotin-peroxidase complex principle (Ultravision Detection System Anti-polyvalent, HRP, Lab Vision Corporation, Fremont, CA), using rabbit polyclonal primary antibodies raised against GLUT1 (ab15309, AbCam, Cambridge, UK, diluted 1:500) and CAIX (ab15086, AbCam, Cambridge, UK, diluted 1:2000). Briefly, deparaffinised and rehydrated sections were immersed in citrate buffer (0.01M, pH 6.0) heated up to 98°C, in a water bath, for 10 minutes (GLUT1) or 20 minutes (CAIX) and washed in PBS. Endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked with 3% hydrogen peroxide in methanol for 10 minutes, followed by washing with PBS. Tissue sections were incubated with blocking solution for 10 minutes and incubated at room temperature with the primary antibody for 2 hours. Sections were then sequentially washed in PBS and incubated with biotinylated goat anti-polyvalent antibody for 10 minutes, streptavidin peroxidase for 10 minutes, and developed with 3,3'-diamino-benzidine (DAB+ Substrate System, Dako, Carpinteria, CA) for 10 minutes. Negative controls were performed by using an adequate serum controls for the primary antibodies (N1699, Dako, Carpinteria, CA) and skin and gastric mucosa were used as positive controls for GLUT1 and CAIX, respectively. Tissue sections were counterstained with haematoxylin and permanently mounted.

Immunohistochemical evaluation

As described for MCT and CD147²³, GLUT1 and CAIX immunohistochemical reactions were scored

semi-quantitatively for plasma membrane staining as follows: 0: 0% of immunoreactive cells; 1: <5% of immunoreactive cells; 2: 5-50% of immunoreactive cells; and 3: >50% of immunoreactive cells. Also, intensity of staining was scored semi-qualitatively as follows: 0: negative; 1: weak; 2: intermediate; and 3: strong. The final score was defined as the sum of both parameters (extension and intensity), and grouped as negative (score 0 and 2) and positive (score 3-6), as previously described.

Statistical analysis

Data were stored and analysed using the Statview statistical software (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC). All comparisons were examined for statistical significance using Pearson's chi-square (χ^2) test or Fisher's exact test, as adequate, being the threshold for significance *p* values <0.05. Disease-free and overall survival curves were plotted using the method of Kaplan-Meier and data compared using the log-rank test. A cut-off of 60 months (5 years) was considered, since in the first 5 years following primary therapy recurrence rates are expected to be highest, especially in series with high number of ER negative cases like ours, where the hazard of recurrence is higher ³³. Cases lacking one or more of the clinico-pathological variables were not included in the specific statistical analysis.

RESULTS

A total of 124 breast carcinoma samples, organised into TMAs (Tissue Microarrays), were assessed for GLUT1 and CAIX immunohistochemical expressions.

In general, positive GLUT1 expression was observed in both plasma membrane and cytoplasm (Figure 1A), while CAIX expression was mainly observed in the plasma membrane, with some cases presenting also cytoplasm staining (Figure 1B). GLUT1 expression was observed only in the epithelium cells of 1 out 20 normal samples evaluated (5%), with a



Figure 1. Immunohistochemical expression of glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1), carbonic anhydrase IX (CAIX) and monocarboxylate transporter 1 (MCT1), in breast carcinoma samples. GLUT1 and CAIX expression was frequently observed in perinecrotic regions (A and B, respectively). CAIX expression was usually focal and mainly restricted to tumour cells. Lower panel shows a breast cancer case simultaneously positive for MCT1 (C), GLUT1 (D) and CAIX (E), with staining in the same tumour region.

significantly higher frequency (46%) in tumour samples (57/124, p=0.0005), while CAIX expression was absent in normal tissue but was found in 18% (22/122) of breast cancer cases (p=0.0388). Importantly, the expression of both molecules was frequently observed in peri-necrotic regions, as can be observed in Figure 1 (A and B), especially CAIX which was usually focal and mainly restricted to tumour cells, adjacent to areas of necrosis.

Importantly, when comparing the expression of the previously analysed MCT1, MCT4 and CD147²³ with GLUT1 and CAIX, we found that both MCT1 and

CD147, but not MCT4, were more frequently expressed in GLUT1 and CAIX positive tumour samples (Table 1). Also, as expected, GLUT1 and CAIX were significantly co-expressed, with 81.8% (18/22) of CAIX positive cases also positive for GLUT1 *versus* 37.5% (36/96) GLUT1 positive in the CAIX negative group, p=0.0002. Figure 1 (C, D, E) shows a breast cancer case simultaneously positive for MCT1, GLUT1 and CAIX, in the same tumour area.

Assessment of the clinico-pathological value of GLUT1 and CAIX also retrieved important results (Table 2). We found significant associations between

Table 1. Association of CAIX and GLUT1 with MCT1, MCT4 and CD147 expression in breast

carcinoma samples.

	n	MCT1 Positive (%)	р	MCT4 Positive (%)	р	CD147 Positive (%)	р
GLUT1	106		<0.0001		0.3473		0.0032
Negative	55	1 (1.8)		4 (7.3)		2 (3.6)	
Positive	51	15 (29.4)		7 (13.7)		12 (23.5)	
CAIX	105		< 0.0001		0.6897		0.0005
Negative	84	6 (7.1)		8 (9.5)		7 (8.3)	
Positive	21	10 (47.6)		3 (14.3)		8 (38.0)	

GLUT1 expression and high grade tumours (p=0.0014), basal-like subtype (p=0.0008), absence of progesterone receptor (p=0.0162), presence of vimentin (p=0.0033) and high Ki67 expression (p=0.0339). Additionally, CAIX was associated with the majority of the clinicopathological parameters analysed, including tumour size (p=0.0034), histological grade (p=0.0263), molecular subtype (p=0.0050), ER and PR negativity (p=0.0014and p=0.0292, respectively), expression of CK5 (p=0.0002), CK14 (p=0.0102) and vimentin (p=0.0004). Analysis of GLUT1 expression and patient's survival (disease-free survival and overall survival) showed no significant differences between negative and positive groups (data not shown), but, importantly, patients with CAIX positive tumours had a lower disease free-survival than patients with CAIX negative tumours (43.2 versus 52.4 months, respectively, p=0.045) (Figure 2). No significant differences in overall survival were observed between the CAIX negative group and the CAIX positive group.

Table 2.	Associations of C	CAIX and GLUT1	expression	with	clinico-
	pathological data	from breast cance	er cases.		

		GLUT1			CAIX	
Clinico-pathological data	n	Positive	р	n	Positive	р
T size (TNM)	121	(70)	0.5218	119	(70)	0.0034
T 312C (11(1))	46	23 (50.0)	0.0210	45	6 (133)	
T2	63	25 (39.7)		63	9 (14.3)	
T3	12	6 (50.0)		11	6 (54.5)	
Histological grade	124		0.0014	122		0.0263
I	23	5 (21.7)		24	2 (8.3)	
II	55	22 (40.0)		51	6 (11.8)	
III	46	30 (65.2)		47	14 (29.8)	
Subtype	114		0.0008	113		0.0050
Luminal	78	31 (39.7)		79	8 (10.1)	
Basal-like	25	20 (80.0)		24	9 (37.5)	
HER2 overex pressing	11	3 (27.3)		10	3 (30.0)	
Estrogen receptor	124		0.1059	122		0.0014
Negative	45	25 (55.6)		42	14 (33.3)	
Positive	79	32 (40.5)		80	8 (10.0)	
Progesteron e receptor	124		0.0162	122		0.0292
Negative	75	41 (54.7)		73	18 (24.6)	
Positive	49	16 (32.6)		49	4 (8.2)	
HER2 overexpression	123		0.5885	121		0.4556
Negative	110	51 (46.4)		109	19 (17.4)	
Positive	13	5 (38.5)		12	3 (25.0)	-
EGFR	124		>0.9999	122		0.6643
Negative	115	53 (46.1)		113	20 (17.7)	
Positive	9	4 (44.4)		9	2 (22.2)	-
CK5	124		0.1188	122		0.0002
Negative	98	42 (42.8)		97	11 (11.3)	
Positive	26	15 (57.7)		25	11 (44.0)	
CK14	121		0.0508	121		0.0102
Negative	114	51 (44.7)		115	18 (15.6)	
Positive	7	6 (85.7)		6	4 (66.7)	
Vimentin	106		0.0033	106		0.0004
Negative	89	38 (42.7)		88	12 (13.6)	
Positive	17	14 (82.4)		18	9 (50.0)	
Ki67	124		0.0339	122		0.5214
< 20%	65	24 (36.9)		63	10 (15.9)	
> 20%	59	33 (55.9)		59	12 (20.3)	
Lymph-node metastasis	117		0.6326	115		0.5840
Absent	58	24 (41.4)		55	8 (14.5)	
Present	59	27 (45.8)		60	11 (18.3)	

Survival Functions



Figure 2. Disease-free survival (DFS) curve regarding CAIX immunoreaction in breast cancer patients. Patients with positive tumours for CAIX expression show shorter disease-free survival (interrupted line) than patients with CAIX negative tumours (continuous line) (p = 0.045).

DISCUSSION

Up-regulation of glucose conversion into lactate, even in the presence of oxygen (Warburg effect), has been described as a possible adaptive mechanism to overcome intermittent hypoxia in pre-malignant lesions. This metabolic switch leads to an increase in acid production by cancer cells and, therefore, the need for further adaptation by means of intracellular pH regulation and resistance to extracellular acidity¹. In MCTs this perspective, emerge as important contributors to cancer cell adaptation due to their function, on one hand, of lactate export, allowing continuous glycolysis, and, on the other hand, of tumour intracellular pH regulation and induction of extracellular acidosis, by co-transporting lactate and a proton. Although some literature review the contribution of MCTs to the glycolytic and acidic phenotype of tumours ^{34;35}, the significance of tumour MCT expression in this context is still not clear ^{19;21}. Thus, the main aim of the present work was to determine if glycolytic and acidresistant tumours, with up-regulation of GLUT1 and CAIX, present a higher expression of MCTs, supporting the involvement of these transporters in the metabolic

adaptations of cancer cells.

GLUT1, involved in glucose uptake, is upregulated in a variety of tumours (for review see 36), being the hypoxia transcription factor HIF-1 α the major regulator of its expression in cancer cells $^{37;38}$. HIF-1 α , the master transcriptional regulator of tumour cell adaptation to hypoxic stress, activates a number of genes, many of which code for protein involved in O₂ delivery, angiogenesis, energy preservation (including glucose transporters and glycolytic enzymes), and other processes essential to tumour cell survival, proliferation, and spread ²⁹. Moreover, GLUT1, CAIX and MCT4 are downstream targets of HIF-1 α ^{30;31;39} and both GLUT1 and CAIX are also recognised as tumour hypoxia markers ⁴⁰. However, in our study, MCT4 expression was not increased in GLUT1 or CAIX positive tumours. In contrast, MCT1 was more frequently expressed in both GLUT1 and CAIX positive tumours, pointing to a hypoxia dependent up-regulation of this MCT isoform, which is accompanied by co-expression of its chaperone CD147, essential for plasma membrane localisation and transporter activity ^{25-27;41;42}. This finding is of major importance since it reinforces the induction of MCT1

expression by hypoxia³⁰, which is contested by some groups ^{31;32}. With these associations, one can support the role of functional MCT1 as the lactate transporter responsible for lactate efflux in highly glycolytic breast cancer cells, especially in basal-like tumours. The transport activity of MCT1 is considered one of the most important mechanisms of intracellular pH regulation ¹⁶. Besides MCTs, carbonic anhydrases, especially CAIX, play a major role in maintenance of intracellular (and extracellular) pH levels, by contributing to the extrusion of the protons generated by the high metabolic rates of glycolytic cancer cells. At the tumour cell surface, CAIX catalyses the extracellular trapping of acid by hydrating the cell-generated CO_2 into HCO_3^- and H^{+11} . Thus, it is not surprising to see an association between MCT1 and both GLUT1 and CAIX, which is likely a result of the overall HIF-1a-mediated metabolic adaptations, conferring a glycolytic, acid-resistant phenotype to cancer cells.

According to the previously described ^{14;43;44}, in our tumour series, GLUT1 and CAIX were mainly observed in the vicinity of necrotic areas (a consequence of tumour hypoxia), which supports the hypoxiamediated regulation of the expression of these proteins. Both hypoxia markers were absent in the normal breast tissue, but up-regulated in breast tumour tissues, with expression frequencies concordant with previous reports ^{4;5;12;13;15;45}. Although the clinico-pathological value of GLUT1 and CAIX in breast cancer has already been studied by others ^{5;12-15}, our data strengthens the importance of these proteins as prognostic markers, especially GLUT1, which has been few explored in breast cancer ^{4,5}. So far, GLUT1 has been associated with lower disease-free survival, loss of ER and PR⁴ and both higher grade 4;5 and proliferative activity (through Ki67 expression) ⁵. In the present work, although we did not find associations of GLUT1 with disease-free or overall survival, GLUT1 was more frequently expressed in high grade tumours, negative for PR and with high proliferative index (Ki67).

Importantly, we found GLUT1 to be more frequently expressed in basal-like tumours, as well as in vimentin positive tumours. In respect to CAIX, more data has been published in breast carcinomas, which identifies CAIX as a good marker of aggressive tumour behaviour. This protein was positively correlated with higher tumour size, basal-like ¹⁵ and high grade tumours, loss of ER ^{12;14;15;46} and PR ⁴⁶ as well as with shorter diseasefree survival ¹³⁻¹⁵. Here, we support all the previous findings described by other groups, by associating CAIX expression with high histological grade, loss of ER and PR and, importantly, basal-like subtype and disease-free survival. These results suggest that the basal-like subtype tumours may be more representative of the glycolytic, acid-resistant phenotype proposed for cancer cells and this hypoxia mediated phenotype may explain, at least partly, the more aggressive phenotype of this breast carcinoma subtype.

In the present study, we investigated the expression of the key hypoxia regulated proteins GLUT1 and CAIX. Importantly, they were positively associated with the major lactate transporter, MCT1, especially in a subset of aggressive breast carcinomas (basal-like), where these proteins are more frequently expressed. Since this subtype of tumours does not have a specific molecular therapy ⁴⁷, the development of therapeutic approaches targeting these particular metabolic features could be a promising strategy to be explored in the treatment of basal-like breast tumours.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank to Dr. Vitor Carneiro (pathologist from the Hospital do Divino Espírito Santo, Ponta Delgada, São Miguel, Azores), for his help in retrieving the breast cancer samples for this study. We also thank the Portuguese Science and Technology Foundation (FCT) for AA's and CP's PhD fellowships (SFRH/BD/15316/2005 and SFRH/BD/27465/2006, respectively) and financial support to develop this work

(PTDC/SAU-FCF/104347/2008).

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

These authors declare no conflict of interest.

ETHICS

The present study has been approved by the local Ethic Committees.

REFERENCES

- Gatenby RA, Gillies RJ. Why do cancers have high aerobic glycolysis? Nat Rev Cancer 2004; 4(11):891-899.
- Ganapathy V, Thangaraju M, Prasad PD. Nutrient transporters in cancer: relevance to Warburg hypothesis and beyond. Pharmacol Ther 2009; 121(1):29-40.
- Airley RE, Mobasheri A. Hypoxic regulation of glucose transport, anaerobic metabolism and angiogenesis in cancer: novel pathways and targets for anticancer therapeutics. Chemotherapy 2007; 53(4):233-256.
- Kang SS, Chun YK, Hur MH et al. Clinical significance of glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1) expression in human breast carcinoma. Jpn J Cancer Res 2002; 93(10):1123-1128.
- Younes M, Brown RW, Mody DR, Fernandez L, Laucirica R. GLUT1 expression in human breast carcinoma: correlation with known prognostic markers. Anticancer Res 1995; 15(6B):2895-2898.
- Gatenby RA, Gawlinski ET, Gmitro AF, Kaylor B, Gillies RJ. Acid-mediated tumor invasion: a multidisciplinary study. Cancer Res 2006; 66(10):5216-5223.
- Rofstad EK, Mathiesen B, Kindem K, Galappathi K. Acidic extracellular pH promotes experimental metastasis of human melanoma cells in athymic nude mice. Cancer Res 2006; 66(13):6699-6707.
- 8. Helmlinger G, Sckell A, Dellian M, Forbes NS,

Jain RK. Acid production in glycolysis-impaired tumors provides new insights into tumor metabolism. Clin Cancer Res 2002; 8(4):1284-1291.

- Svastova E, Hulikova A, Rafajova M et al. Hypoxia activates the capacity of tumorassociated carbonic anhydrase IX to acidify extracellular pH. FEBS Lett 2004; 577(3):439-445.
- Chiche J, Ilc K, Laferriere J et al. Hypoxiainducible carbonic anhydrase IX and XII promote tumor cell growth by counteracting acidosis through the regulation of the intracellular pH. Cancer Res 2009; 69(1):358-368.
- Swietach P, Vaughan-Jones RD, Harris AL. Regulation of tumor pH and the role of carbonic anhydrase 9. Cancer Metastasis Rev 2007; 26(2):299-310.
- Trastour C, Benizri E, Ettore F et al. HIF-1alpha and CA IX staining in invasive breast carcinomas: prognosis and treatment outcome. Int J Cancer 2007; 120(7):1451-1458.
- Hussain SA, Ganesan R, Reynolds G et al. Hypoxia-regulated carbonic anhydrase IX expression is associated with poor survival in patients with invasive breast cancer. Br J Cancer 2007; 96(1):104-109.
- Chia SK, Wykoff CC, Watson PH et al. Prognostic significance of a novel hypoxiaregulated marker, carbonic anhydrase IX, in invasive breast carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 2001; 19(16):3660-3668.
- Tan EY, Yan M, Campo L et al. The key hypoxia regulated gene CAIX is upregulated in basal-like breast tumours and is associated with resistance to chemotherapy. Br J Cancer 2009; 100(2):405-411.
- Izumi H, Torigoe T, Ishiguchi H et al. Cellular pH regulators: potentially promising molecular targets for cancer chemotherapy. Cancer Treat

Rev 2003; 29(6):541-549.

- Mathupala SP, Parajuli P, Sloan AE. Silencing of monocarboxylate transporters via small interfering ribonucleic acid inhibits glycolysis and induces cell death in malignant glioma: an in vitro study. Neurosurgery 2004; 55(6):1410-1419.
- Fang J, Quinones QJ, Holman TL et al. The H+linked monocarboxylate transporter (MCT1/SLC16A1): a potential therapeutic target for high-risk neuroblastoma. Mol Pharmacol 2006; 70(6):2108-2115.
- Koukourakis MI, Giatromanolaki A, Harris AL, Sivridis E. Comparison of metabolic pathways between cancer cells and stromal cells in colorectal carcinomas: a metabolic survival role for tumor-associated stroma. Cancer Res 2006; 66(2):632-637.
- Pinheiro C, Longatto-Filho A, Scapulatempo C et al. Increased expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1, 2, and 4 in colorectal carcinomas. Virchows Arch 2008; 452(2):139-146.
- Koukourakis MI, Giatromanolaki A, Bougioukas G, Sivridis E. Lung cancer: a comparative study of metabolism related protein expression in cancer cells and tumor associated stroma. Cancer Biol Ther 2007; 6(9):1476-1479.
- Pinheiro C, Longatto-Filho A, Ferreira L et al. Increasing expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1 and 4 along progression to invasive cervical carcinoma. Int J Gynecol Pathol 2008; 27(4):568-574.
- Pinheiro C, Albergaria A, Paredes J et al. Monocarboxylate transporter 1 is upregulated in basal-like breast carcinoma. Histopathology. In press.
- 24. Pinheiro C, Longatto-Filho A, Simoes K et al. The prognostic value of CD147/EMMPRIN is associated with monocarboxylate transporter 1 co-expression in gastric cancer. Eur J Cancer

2009; 45(13):2418-2424.

- Kirk P, Wilson MC, Heddle C et al. CD147 is tightly associated with lactate transporters MCT1 and MCT4 and facilitates their cell surface expression. EMBO J 2000; 19(15):3896-3904.
- 26. Wilson MC, Meredith D, Fox JE et al. Basigin (CD147) is the target for organomercurial inhibition of monocarboxylate transporter isoforms 1 and 4: the ancillary protein for the insensitive MCT2 is EMBIGIN (gp70). J Biol Chem 2005; 280(29):27213-27221.
- Philp NJ, Ochrietor JD, Rudoy C, Muramatsu T, Linser PJ. Loss of MCT1, MCT3, and MCT4 expression in the retinal pigment epithelium and neural retina of the 5A11/basigin-null mouse. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2003; 44(3):1305-1311.
- Pinheiro C, Longatto A, Pereira SMM et al. Monocarboxylate transporters 1 and 4 are associated with CD147 in cervical carcinoma. Disease Markers 2009; 26(3):97-103.
- Vaupel P, Harrison L. Tumor hypoxia: causative factors, compensatory mechanisms, and cellular response. Oncologist 2004; 9 Suppl 5:4-9.
- Perez de HF, Wood IS, Trayhurn P. Hypoxia stimulates lactate release and modulates monocarboxylate transporter (MCT1, MCT2, and MCT4) expression in human adipocytes. Pflugers Arch 2009.
- Ullah MS, Davies AJ, Halestrap AP. The plasma membrane lactate transporter MCT4, but not MCT1, is up-regulated by hypoxia through a HIF-1alpha-dependent mechanism. J Biol Chem 2006; 281(14):9030-9037.
- Sonveaux P, Vegran F, Schroeder T et al. Targeting lactate-fueled respiration selectively kills hypoxic tumor cells in mice. J Clin Invest 2008; 118(12):3930-3942.
- Emens LA, Davidson NE. The follow-up of breast cancer. Seminars in Oncology 2003;

30(3):338-348.

- Sattler UG, Hirschhaeusera F, Mueller-Klieser WF. Manipulation of Glycolysis in Malignant Tumors: Fantasy or Therapy? Curr Med Chem 2009.
- 35. Mathupala SP, Colen CB, Parajuli P, Sloan AE. Lactate and malignant tumors: a therapeutic target at the end stage of glycolysis. J Bioenerg Biomembr 2007; 39(1):73-77.
- Macheda ML, Rogers S, Best JD. Molecular and cellular regulation of glucose transporter (GLUT) proteins in cancer. J Cell Physiol 2005; 202(3):654-662.
- Amann T, Maegdefrau U, Hartmann A et al. GLUT1 expression is increased in hepatocellular carcinoma and promotes tumorigenesis. Am J Pathol 2009; 174(4):1544-1552.
- Baumann MU, Zamudio S, Illsley NP. Hypoxic upregulation of glucose transporters in BeWo choriocarcinoma cells is mediated by hypoxiainducible factor-1. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2007; 293(1):C477-C485.
- Wykoff CC, Beasley NJ, Watson PH et al. Hypoxia-inducible expression of tumorassociated carbonic anhydrases. Cancer Res 2000; 60(24):7075-7083.
- Vordermark D, Brown JM. Endogenous markers of tumor hypoxia predictors of clinical radiation resistance? Strahlenther Onkol 2003; 179(12):801-811.
- 41. Deora AA, Philp N, Hu J, Bok D, Rodriguez-Boulan E. Mechanisms regulating tissue-specific

polarity of monocarboxylate transporters and their chaperone CD147 in kidney and retinal epithelia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005; 102(45):16245-16250.

- 42. Gallagher SM, Castorino JJ, Wang D, Philp NJ. Monocarboxylate transporter 4 regulates maturation and trafficking of CD147 to the plasma membrane in the metastatic breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231. Cancer Res 2007; 67(9):4182-4189.
- Vleugel MM, Greijer AE, Shvarts A et al. Differential prognostic impact of hypoxia induced and diffuse HIF-1alpha expression in invasive breast cancer. J Clin Pathol 2005; 58(2):172-177.
- Tomes L, Emberley E, Niu Y et al. Necrosis and hypoxia in invasive breast carcinoma. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2003; 81(1):61-69.
- 45. Avril N, Menzel M, Dose J et al. Glucose metabolism of breast cancer assessed by 18F-FDG PET: histologic and immunohistochemical tissue analysis. J Nucl Med 2001; 42(1):9-16.
- Span PN, Bussink J, Manders P, Beex LV, Sweep CG. Carbonic anhydrase-9 expression levels and prognosis in human breast cancer: association with treatment outcome. Br J Cancer 2003; 89(2):271-276.
- Matos I, Dufloth R, Alvarenga M, Zeferino LC, Schmitt F. p63, cytokeratin 5, and P-cadherin: three molecular markers to distinguish basal phenotype in breast carcinomas. Virchows Arch 2005; 447(4):688-694.

5.4. UNPUBLISHED RESULTS

Finally, this chapter also comprises the following unpublished results, entitled "Sensitivity of breast cancers to CHC, a monocarboxyate transporter 1 inhibitor", **to be submitted** for publication in an international scientific periodical with referees.

The following results were also presented as poster in the following national scientific meeting:

XIX Porto Cancer Meeting, 2010, Porto, Portugal. **Pinheiro C**, Pinheiro S, Gonçalves V, Vieira A, Paredes J, Schmitt F, Baltazar F. Sensitivity of breast cancer cells to CHC, an inhibitor of monocarboxylate transporter 1.

5.4.1. SENSITIVITY OF BREAST CANCER CELLS TO CHC, A MONOCARBOXYLATE TRANSPORTER 1 INHIBITOR

Sensitivity of breast cancer cells to CHC, a monocarboxylate transporter 1 inhibitor

Céline Pinheiro, B.Sc.¹, Sílvia Pinheiro, B.Sc.¹, Vera Gonçalves, B.Sc.¹, André Vieira, B.Sc.², Joana Paredes, Ph.D.², Fernando Schmitt, M.D., Ph.D., F.I.A.C.^{2,3}, Fátima Baltazar, Ph.D.^{1*}

¹Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, Campus of Gualtar, 4710-057 Braga, Portugal;

²IPATIMUP, Institute of Molecular Pathology and Immunology of the University of Porto, Porto, Portugal; ³Federal University of Santa Catarina – UFSC – Florianópolis (SC), Brazil; ⁴Medical Faculty of the University of Porto, Porto, Portugal.

ABSTRACT

Tumour microenvironment is known to be acidic due to the high glycolytic rates of tumour cells. Monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs) are one of the major players responsible for the maintenance of tumour intracellular pH, which is achieved by the transport of lactate coupled with a proton, through the cell plasma membrane. It is widely known that acidification of the extracellular microenvironment has important implications in tumour progression and, therefore, MCTs have been suggested as potential targets for cancer therapy. We have recently described the up-regulation of monocarboxylate transporter 1 (MCT1) in breast carcinomas and its association with poor prognostic variables, such as basal-like subtype and high grade tumours. Therefore, we aimed to evaluate the effect of MCT1 inhibition in different breast cancer cell lines.

The human breast cancer cell lines MCF-7/AZ, SkBr3, MDA-MB-468, BT-20, MDA-MB-231 and Hs578T were used for this study. MCT1, MCT4 and CD147 expressions, as well as CAIX and GLUT1, were evaluated by immunocytochemistry in paraffin cell blocks. Also, the effect of the MCT1 inhibition in cancer cell viability and metabolic profile was evaluated using the MCT1 classical inhibitor α -cyano-4-hydroxycinnamate (CHC).

MCT1, MCT4 and CD147 were differently expressed among the breast cancer cell lines, being MCF-7/AZ, SkBr3 and MDA-MB-231 negative and MDA-MB-468, BT-20 and Hs578T positive for MCT1 plasma membrane expression. In MDA-MB-468, the CHC-induced inhibition (IC₅₀ value of 9.3 mM) was accompanied by a decrease in both glucose consumption and lactate production. Although negative for MCT1 expression, MDA-MB-231 showed the lowest IC₅₀ value after inhibition with CHC (5.3 mM); however, this inhibition in cell proliferation/viability was not accompanied by a decrease in glucose consumption and lactate production. BT20 showed the highest IC₅₀ value (23.5 mM), with no effect on glucose or lactate extracellular concentrations.

In this study, we evaluated, for the first time, the sensitivity of different breast cancer cell lines to the classical MCT1 inhibitor CHC. The results obtained here led us to hypothesise that MCT1 inhibition may be a good therapeutic strategy to treat breast cancer, with special emphasis on basal-like subtype, which so far does not have a specific molecular therapy.

Keywords: Monocarboxylate transporter, breast carcinoma, lactate, CHC, metabolism.

Abbreviations: AE (anion exchanger); CA (carbonic anhydrase); CHC (α -cyano-4-hydroxycinnamate); DMSO (dimethyl sulfoxide); FBS (fetal bovine serum); FdG-PET (¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography); GLUT (glucose transporter); HIF-1 α (hypoxia inducible-factor 1 alpha); MCT (monocarboxylate transporter); siRNA (small-interfering RNA).

*Corresponding author: Fátima Baltazar, Life and Health Sciences Research Institute, School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, Campus of Gualtar, 4710-057 Braga, Portugal, Phone: +351 253604828, Fax: +351 253604820, E-mail: fbaltazar@ecsaude.uminho.pt

INTRODUCTION

The increased uptake of glucose by cancer cells is a widely described phenomenon, being the rationale ¹⁸Fbehind the whole-body noninvasive fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography (FdG-PET). This imaging technique is considered to be the most reliable for the diagnosis and prognosis of breast cancer, especially regarding the detection of distant metastases, recurrent disease as well as monitoring therapy response [1]. This increased uptake of glucose, especially through glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1), is a consequence of an increased glycolytic metabolism that generates acids inside the cell, inducing the up-regulation of some pH regulators, like carbonic anhydrases IX (CAIX) [2], to maintain physiological pH inside the cell, causing extracellular acidosis. The increased glycolytic metabolism ultimately leads to an increase in lactate release by cancer cells, contributing also to microenvironmental acidosis, as well as increased invasion capacity [3] and suppression of anticancer immune response [4]. More recently, a metabolic symbiosis between glycolytic and oxidative cancer cells was described, in which the peripheral and oxygenated oxidative cells consume the lactate produced by the central and less oxygenated glycolytic cells [5]. In this context, lactate has a central role and lactate transporters are currently seen as potential therapeutic targets in cancer treatment, with promising results using in vitro and in vivo models [5-11]. Presently, monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs) are a family of 14 members, with isoforms 1 to 4 being lactate proton symporters that exhibit different affinities for lactate [12]. MCT1 isoform has been described as the gatekeeper of cancer metabolic symbiosis, by up-taking lactate in the oxidative cancer cells [5]. Therefore, MCT1 would probably be the most promising isoform in this context and reports on MCT1 upregulation in a variety of tumours are becoming more frequent [8,10,13-17]. We also

described the association of MCTs, especially MCT1, with poor prognostic variables [15,17,18], reinforcing the potential of MCT1 as cancer therapeutic target. Recently, our group described an increase of MCT1 expression in breast carcinoma, when comparing with normal tissue. Importantly, this enhanced MCT1 expression, as well as the expression of CD147 (MCT1 chaperone), were associated with basal-like subtype tumours and other poor prognostic parameters [17].

Over the last years, different approaches have been used to inhibit lactate efflux from cancer cells, including MCT small-molecule inhibitors like α cyano-4-hydroxycinnamic acid (CHC) [5,6,9] and MCT small-interfering RNA (siRNA) [5,8,10]. Continued inhibition of lactate efflux inhibits pyruvate reduction to lactate and, therefore, prevents NAD⁺ recycling, causing metabolic crisis in tumour cells. MCT inhibition studies are providing evidence for the effectiveness of targeting the end stage of glycolysis, with data showing a reduction of tumour malignancy, enhancement of radio-sensitivity and induction of celldeath in MCT targeted tumour tissue (for review, see [11]).

Despite the promising results obtained by MCT inhibition, we are still far from definitely pointing at MCTs as effective targets for cancer therapy. Without doubt, more efforts are needed to increase evidence supporting that inhibition of metabolism, more specifically lactate transport and pH regulation, may be an alternative therapeutic strategy to use in cancer treatment, in a near future. Therefore, the present work is an attempt to provide new data supporting in the exploitation of MCTs as targets in breast cancer therapy.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cell lines

Human breast cancer cell lines MCF-7/AZ,

SkBr3, MDA-MB-468, BT-20, MDA-MB-231 and Hs578T were obtained from ATCC or from collections developed in the laboratories of Drs Elena Moisseva (Cancer Biomarkers and Prevention Group, Departments of Biochemistry and Cancer Studies, University of Leicester, UK), Marc Mareel (Laboratory of Experimental Cancerology, Ghent University Hospital, Belgium) and Eric Lam (Imperial College School of Medicine, Hammersmith Hospital, London, UK).

Cell culture

All cell lines were grown in commercially available culture medium (DMEM, Invitrogen), supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS, Invitrogen) and 1% antibiotic solution (penicillin–streptomycin, Invitrogen). All cell lines were routinely cultured at 37°C, in a humidified atmosphere with 5% CO₂.

Protein expression assessment

Paraffin cytoblock

Concentrated cell suspensions were made by centrifuging fresh cell suspensions at 1200 rpm for 5 minutes. After discarding the supernatant, cell pellets were incubated with formaldehyde 3.7% overnight and re-centrifuged. Cell pellets were then processed in an automatic tissue processor (TP1020, Leica), before inclusion into paraffin (block-forming unit, EG1140H, Leica).

Immunocytochemistry

Immunocytochemistry was performed for MCT1, MCT4, CD147 (MCT1 and MCT4 chaperone [19-21]), GLUT1 and CAIX as previously described [15,22]. Briefly, deparaffinised and rehydrated 4 µm cytoblock sections were submitted to the adequate antigen retrieval, followed by inactivation of endogenous peroxidase activity. Slides were then incubated with the primary antibody and immunoreactivity was visualised with 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB+ Substrate System, Dako). Please see Table 1 for detailed aspects of each antibody used. Negative controls were performed by using adequate serum control for the primary antibodies (N1699, Dako). Cytoblock sections were counterstained with haematoxylin and permanently mounted. Cells were evaluated for positive expression, distinguishing cytoplasmic from membrane expression.

Protein	Positive control	Antigen retrieval	Detection System	Antibody	Antibody dilution and incubation time
MCT1	Colon carcinoma	Citrate buffer (0.01 M, pH=6), 98°C, 20'	R.T.U. VECTASTAIN Elite ABC Kit (Universal) Vector Laboratories	AB3538P Chemicon International	1:200, overnight
MCT4	Colon carcinoma	Citrate buffer (0.01 M, pH=6), 98°C, 20'	R.T.U. VECTASTAIN Elite ABC Kit (Universal) Vector Laboratories	AB3316P Chemicon International	1:200, overnight
CD147	Colon carcinoma	EDTA (1 mM, pH=8), 98°C, 20'	Ultravision Detection System Anti-polyvalent, HRP Lab Vision Corporation	18-7344 Zymed Laboratories Inc.	1:500, 2 hours
GLUT1	Skin	Citrate buffer (0.01 M, pH=6), 98°C, 10'	Ultravision Detection System Anti-polyvalent, HRP Lab Vision Corporation	ab15309 AbCam	1:500, 2 hours
CAIX	Gastric carcinoma	Citrate buffer (0.01 M, pH=6), 98°C, 20'	Ultravision Detection System Anti-polyvalent, HRP Lab Vision Corporation	ab15086 AbCam	1:2000, 2 hours

 Table 1. Detailed aspects of the immunocytochemical procedure used to visualise the different proteins.



Figure 1. Immunocytochemical expression of different proteins in human breast carcinoma cell lines (400x magnification). MCT1 was mainly found in the plasma membrane of MDA-MB-468, BT20 and Hs578T cells, while MCT4 was only found in the cytoplasm of all cell lines. CD147, GLUT1 and CAIX were observed at the plasma membrane of some tumour cell lines, at varying levels.

Evaluation of the metabolism/Metabolic behaviour of human breast cancer cell lines

Glucose and lactate quantification

The metabolic behaviour of the different cell lines was determined by analysing basic metabolic parameters, i. e., extracellular concentrations of glucose and lactate. For metabolic studies, to minimise variations due to cell growth and size, as well as obtain measurable variations of glucose and lactate in a short period of time, assays were performed with confluent cells, in 24-well plates. After reaching confluence, spent medium was replaced with fresh complete culture medium (supplemented with FBS and antibiotics) and aliquots were retrieved, after 24 and 48 hours. Glucose and lactate were quantified using commercial kits (Roche and SpinReact, respectively), according to the manufacturer's protocol but scaled down to microplate volumes. Results are expressed as total µg/500 µl medium.

MCT1 *in vitro* inhibition using the classical inhibitor CHC

IC₅₀ estimation

To determine the CHC IC_{50} value for the different breast cancer cell lines, cells were plated in 96-well plates, at a density ranging from 10000 to 20000 cells per well, depending on cell growth rates. Cells were allowed to grow overnight prior to incubation with culture medium (without serum) containing 3-15 mM of CHC (Sigma-Aldrich, stocks at 0.3-1.5 M in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO)). Controls

MCTs in breast carcinoma

were performed by adding DMSO to cell culture medium at the same dilution (1:100). The effect of CHC on cell number (total biomass) was evaluated by the Sulforhodamine B assay (SRB, TOX-6, Sigma-Aldrich), following the manufacturer's recommendations. IC_{50} values were estimated from three independent experiments, each one in triplicate, using the GraphPad Prism 5 software, applying a sigmoidal dose-response (variable slope) nonlinear regression, after logarithmic transformation.

Glucose and lactate quantification

For metabolic studies, as previously described, assays were performed with confluent cells, in 24-well plates. After reaching confluence, cells were incubated with 2.5, 5 and/or 10 mM of CHC, as indicated in the results section. Cell culture medium (30 μ l) was retrieved at 4, 8 and 12 hours, assuring confluences similar to the ones observed in the control. Glucose and lactate were quantified as mentioned above. Data from two independent experiments, each one in triplicate, was stored in GraphPad Prism 5 software. All conditions were examined for statistical significance using two-tailed Student's t-test for mean comparison, being threshold for significance *p* values <0.05.

RESULTS

Protein expression

Human breast cancer cell lines MCF-7/AZ, SkBr3, MDA-MB-468, BT-20, MDA-MB-231 and Hs578T were evaluated for MCT1, MCT4, CD147, GLUT1 and CAIX immunocytochemical expression, as depicted in Figure 1. Membrane expression of MCT1 was only observed in MDA-MB-468, BT20 and Hs578T cell lines, while MCT4, although differently expressed in the cytoplasm of all cell lines analysed, was not found in the plasma membrane of any of the cell lines. CD147 was observed in the plasma

membrane of the 6 cell lines studied; however, MCF-7/AZ, MDA-MB-468 and Hs578T expressed this protein at very low levels. GLUT1 was expressed at the plasma membrane, at different levels in all cell lines, and CAIX was only detected in a low percentage of cells in MDA-MB-468 and Hs578T and, at even lower levels in MCF-7/AZ.

Metabolic behaviour of human breast cancer cell lines

Glucose and lactate quantification in the culture medium showed different metabolic behaviours among the breast cancer cell lines studied (Figure 2A and 2B).



Figure 2. Extracellular amounts of glucose (A) and lactate (B) in the different human breast carcinoma cell lines, along time. Results are expressed as mean±SEM.

In general, cells consuming more glucose along time also produced more lactate. SkBr3 and MDA-MB-468 showed the highest glucose consumption rates, followed by Hs578T and MCF-7/AZ, while BT20 and MDA-MB-231 presented the lowest consumption of glucose. On the other hand, SkBr3, Hs578T and MDA-MB-468 produced more lactate



Figure 3. CHC-induced phenotypic alterations in the human breast carcinoma cell lines MCF-7/AZ (A- control, B-CHC treated), SkBr3 (C- control, D- CHC treated), MDA-MB-468 (E- control, F- CHC treated), BT20 (G- control, H-CHC treated), MDA-MB-231 (I- control, J- CHC treated) and Hs578T (K- control, L- CHC treated).

than MCF-7/AZ, MDA-MB-231 and BT20, by this order.

MCT1 inhibition using CHC

Human breast cancer cell lines were treated once with CHC at increasing concentrations (3-15 mM) and, 24 hours later, total cell biomass was determined with SRB assay (estimation of IC_{50} values). Microscopically, morphological alterations were detected after 24 hours of treatment with CHC. In general, cell volume decreased and cells became round (Figure 3), possibly due to loss of cell viability. For MDA-MB-468, which in normal growth conditions has a very round shape (Figure 3E), it was possible to observe a more elongated form in part of the population (Figure 3F), after CHC treatment. In the case of BT20, the morphological alterations were very subtle (Figure 3G *vs.* Figure 3H), anticipating a lower sensibility to CHC.

 IC_{50} values show that MDA-MB-231 is the cell line most sensitive to CHC-induced decrease in cell biomass (Figure 4E), MCF-7/AZ and MDA-MB-468 have an intermediate sensitivity to CHC (Figure 4A and 4C, respectively), while SkBr3 and Hs578T have the highest IC_{50} value (Figure 4B and 4F, respectively) being slightly less sensitive than the formers. For BT20, the IC_{50} was not within the range of concentrations used (Figure 4D), thus this cell line was considered resistant to CHC, for 24 hours of treatment.

To understand if the inhibitory effect induced by CHC in the different cell lines was due to metabolic disturbance, glucose consumption and lactate production were analysed, using a CHC concentration around the IC_{50} value (5 mM for MDA-MB-231 and 10 mM for the remaining cell lines), as well as a lower concentration (2.5 mM for MDA-MB-231 and 5 mM for the other cell lines) to observe if cancer cell metabolism is affected, at concentrations inducing a reduced effect in total biomass. Quantification of extracellular glucose and lactate along time showed that MDA-MB-468 is the only cell line where the CHC-induced inhibition leads to a significant decrease in glucose consumption and lactate production, the

latter in a dose dependent manner (Figure 5A and 5D, respectively). MCF-7/AZ, SkBr3 and Hs578T produced a significantly lower amount of lactate (soon after 4 hours for MCF-7/AZ and Hs578T) for both CHC concentrations used, and in a dose dependent manner for Hs578T (Figure 5B, 5C and 5G, respectively), however, this alteration in lactate production was not accompanied by a decrease in glucose consumption (data not shown). BT20 also showed a decrease in lactate production, but only when treated with 10 mM of CHC (Figure 5E) and also with no decrease in glucose consumption (data

not shown), while MDA-MB-231 showed no alteration in both CHC concentrations at the different time points (Figure 5F).

DISCUSSION

We have previously described the up-regulation of MCT1 in breast cancer and, importantly, we observed that MCT1 was more frequently expressed in high-grade tumours, as well as in the basal-like subtype [17]. Basal-like tumours have a more aggressive clinical behaviour when compared to



Figure 4. Effect of CHC in total cell biomass, evaluated by SRB assay. Results are represented as mean±SD.


Figure 5. Effect of CHC in MDA-MB-468 glucose uptake (A) and in lactate production in the human breast carcinoma cell lines. Results are represented as mean±SEM.

luminal and normal-like breast carcinomas [23-27] and, in contrast to the other groups, do not have a specific molecular therapy [28,29]. This entails the search for new molecular targets in this aggressive group of tumours, and, considering the increased

expression of MCT1 in basal-like tumours as well as recent evidence for using MCTs as effective anticancer targets [5,6,8-10], MCT1 emerges as a promising therapeutic target, that needs to be further explored in breast cancer.

MCTs in breast carcinoma

In the present work, we analysed MCT1 expression, as well as the expression of other relevant proteins in cancer metabolism, in a variety of human breast cancer cell lines. Plasma membrane expression of MCT1 was found in MDA-MB-468, BT20 and Hs578T, which are basal-like subtype cell lines, being in accordance with our findings in human breast carcinoma samples [17]. However, in MDA-MB-231, another basal-like subtype cell line, MCT1 was not detected, as described by others [19,30,31], and the same was observed for the luminal subtype cell line (MCF-7/AZ) and the HER2 positive subtype cell line (SkBr3). The other MCT isoform involved in the glycolytic phenotype, MCT4, was strongly expressed in some cell lines, namely MCF-7/AZ, SkBr3 and MDA-MB-468, however, the immunocytochemical staining did not reveal any plasma membrane expression. This strong expression of MCT4 may reflect the involvement of MCT4 in other cell functions, such as in lactate/pyruvate transport through the mitochondrial/peroxisomal membranes. Actually, MCT4, as well as MCT1, has been described to be present in the mitochondrial membrane [32,33]. To infer on MCT4 but especially on MCT1 activity, CD147 expression was analysed, since proper plasma membrane expression and activity of these MCT isoforms requires this chaperone [19-21]. However, MDA-MB-468 and Hs578T, having a strong plasma membrane expression of MCT1, presented low and absent CD147 expression, respectively. This indicates that CD147 may not be the only chaperone required for MCT trafficking to the plasma membrane, hypothesis already raised by us and others in previous studies [17,34,35]. As expected, since all cell lines consume glucose, GLUT1, one of the major glucose transporters, was expressed in all cell lines analysed. However, GLUT1 staining intensity was not associated with the glucose consumption rates observed for each cell line, which may be explained by the presence of other GLUT isoforms, such as

GLUT12 [36]. CAIX, which is highly induced by hypoxia inducible-factor 1 alpha (HIF-1 α), was analysed as a surrogate marker of HIF-1 α stabilisation. Although HIF-1 α also induces MCT1, MCT4 and GLUT1 expressions [37-39], no associations were observed between these proteins and CAIX. Actually, focal CAIX expression was only found in MDA-MB-468, Hs578T and with a very faint staining in MCF-7/AZ. Probably, if cell lines were cultured up to a higher confluence, CAIX would be more extensively expressed, as described in confluent but not in subconfluent MDA-MB-231 cells [40].

Inhibition of lactate transport can be achieved by different ways but, considering the outstanding results obtained by Sonveaux and colleagues [5] with CHC, we decided to use this MCT1 inhibitor in our studies in human breast cancer cells. Importantly, we applied a not so conventional assay to determine the inhibitory effect of CHC, the SRB assay, since it has been described by others that conventional assays like MTS or MTT are not adequate when inhibiting MCTs' activity [8].

Our results show that the human breast cancer cell lines studied have a different response to CHC and the underlying mechanisms seem to vary among these cell lines. In fact, the most CHC sensitive cell line, MDA-MB-231, besides being negative for MCT1 and producing less lactate then the other lines, showed no alterations in glucose consumption or lactate production after CHC treatment. Additionally, CHC has been described as an effective MCT1 inhibitor in *vitro* and *in vivo* at concentrations ≥ 10 mM [9]; however, we determined the lowest IC₅₀ for MDA-MB-231, which is negative for MCT1. These puzzling results led us to hypothesise that CHC, in this particular cell line, should have other means of action, not related to lactate efflux or the glycolytic metabolism. CHC has also been described as a potent inhibitor of the mitochondrial pyruvate transporter [41], however, permeability studies carried out by others show that CHC is not internalised in U-87MG glioma cells [9]. Additionally, CHC has also been pointed out as an inhibitor of the anion exchanger 1 (AE1) [42], an important pH regulator that is responsible for Cl⁻/HCO₃⁻ membrane exchange [43]. Therefore, further studies to unveil the alterative target for CHC inhibitory activity are warranted. In contrast, MDA-MB-468 and Hs578T, both basal-like, MCT1 positive cell lines, which consume high amounts of glucose and produce high amounts of lactate, suffered a significant decrease in glucose consumption (only for MDA-MB-468) and lactate production in a dose dependent manner, simultaneously with a decrease in total biomass. This was the expected result in a highly glycolytic cell line after inhibition of MCT1. The blockage of lactate efflux likely led to accumulation of lactate in the cytoplasm, arrest of glycolysis and subsequent decrease in glucose uptake. Inhibition of cell proliferation and/or induction of cell death will be caused not only by arrest of the metabolic pathway of energy production but also due to a decrease in intracellular pH, as MCT1 also functions as a pH regulator [7]. Additionally, BT20 basal-like subtype cell line, although positive for MCT1, was insensitive to CHC treatment. This may be due to the low glycolytic metabolism of this cell line and dependence on other metabolic pathways for energy production. The reason why BT20 expresses high levels of MCT1 in the plasma membrane, regardless of the low amounts of lactate produced, remains unclear, but has probably to do with the uptake of an alternative source of energy from the culture medium, that is also a substrate for MCT1, such as pyruvate. Unexpectedly, MCF-7/AZ and SkBr3 were sensitive to CHC-induced decrease in total biomass in a metabolic dependent manner (extracellular lactate was significantly decreased, although independent from CHC dose and at a lower magnitude than that observed for MDA-MB-468 and Hs578T), albeit being negative for MCT1 expression at the plasma membrane. MCT4 could be pointed as another target of CHC, however, K_i values for MCT4 should be 5-10 times higher than for MCT1, ranging the 50 to 100 mM, which is not the case observed in this cell lines.

The results herein presented are very promising and need to be completed with other functional analysis such as apoptosis, invasion and migration assays to further characterise the alterations induced by CHC as well as anticipate the practical effect of MCT1 inhibition. However, one should always be careful when using CHC as a MCT1 inhibitor, always confirming the inhibition of the metabolism, avoiding looking only to viability and/or proliferating rates. In this perspective, other more particular approaches such as siRNA or specific MCT1 inhibitors like the ones developed by AstraZeneca [44-46] should be used. We are currently optimising the use of MCT1 and MCT4 siRNA to evaluate the effect of MCT silencing in cancer cell viability, proliferation, apoptosis, invasion and migration.

The importance of metabolism as a disease progression driving force and a strategic therapeutic target in cancer has becoming more explored over the last years. Evidence provided by experimental data, as well as mathematical models, show that the hyperglycolytic, acid-resistant phenotype of cancer cells, besides providing a growth advantage over normal cells, is also critical for the ability of cancer cells to invade the surrounding tissue [47-52]. Therefore, the targeting of this phenotype will probably retard or prevent transition from in situ to invasive cancer. Here, by targeting lactate efflux through CHC-induced inhibition of MCT1 activity, we took a little step forward in the direction to accept metabolism targeting as an effective way to control tumour and, in particular, to consider the development of therapeutic approaches targeting MCT1 as a promising strategy to treat basal-like breast tumours. However, other in vitro as well as in vivo approaches are necessary to confirm these conjectures.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Drs Elena Moisseva (Cancer Biomarkers and Prevention Group, Departments of Biochemistry and Cancer Studies University of Leicester), Marc Mareel Laboratory of Experimental Cancerology, Ghent University Hospital, Belgium) and Eric Lam (Imperial College School of Medicine, Hammersmith Hospital, London, UK) for providing the breast cancer cell lines. We also thank the Portuguese Science and Technology Foundation (FCT) CP's PhD for fellowship (SFRH/BD/27465/2006) and financial support to develop this work (PTDC/SAU-FCF/104347/2008).

REFERENCES

- Jadvar H, Alavi A, Gambhir SS. 18F-FDG uptake in lung, breast, and colon cancers: molecular biology correlates and disease characterization. J Nucl Med 2009; 50: 1820-7.
- Pouyssegur J, Dayan F, Mazure NM. Hypoxia signalling in cancer and approaches to enforce tumour regression. Nature 2006; 441: 437-43.
- Stern R, Shuster S, Neudecker BA, Formby B. Lactate stimulates fibroblast expression of hyaluronan and CD44: the Warburg effect revisited. Exp Cell Res 2002; 276: 24-31.
- Fischer K, Hoffmann P, Voelkl S, Meidenbauer N, Ammer J, Edinger M, Gottfried E, Schwarz S, Rothe G, Hoves S, Renner K, Timischl B, Mackensen A, Kunz-Schughart L, Andreesen R, Krause SW, Kreutz M. Inhibitory effect of tumor cell-derived lactic acid on human T cells. Blood 2007; 109: 3812-9.
- Sonveaux P, Vegran F, Schroeder T, Wergin MC, Verrax J, Rabbani ZN, De Saedeleer CJ, Kennedy KM, Diepart C, Jordan BF, Kelley MJ, Gallez B, Wahl ML, Feron O, Dewhirst MW. Targeting lactate-fueled respiration selectively kills hypoxic tumor cells in mice. J

Clin Invest 2008; 118: 3930-42.

- Wahl ML, Owen JA, Burd R, Herlands RA, Nogami SS, Rodeck U, Berd D, Leeper DB, Owen CS. Regulation of intracellular pH in human melanoma: potential therapeutic implications. Mol Cancer Ther 2002; 1: 617-28.
- Izumi H, Torigoe T, Ishiguchi H, Uramoto H, Yoshida Y, Tanabe M, Ise T, Murakami T, Yoshida T, Nomoto M, Kohno K. Cellular pH regulators: potentially promising molecular targets for cancer chemotherapy. Cancer Treat Rev 2003; 29: 541-9.
- Mathupala SP, Parajuli P, Sloan AE. Silencing of monocarboxylate transporters via small interfering ribonucleic acid inhibits glycolysis and induces cell death in malignant glioma: an in vitro study. Neurosurgery 2004; 55: 1410-9.
- Colen CB, Seraji-Bozorgzad N, Marples B, Galloway MP, Sloan AE, Mathupala SP. Metabolic remodeling of malignant gliomas for enhanced sensitization during radiotherapy: an in vitro study. Neurosurgery 2006; 59: 1313-23.
- Fang J, Quinones QJ, Holman TL, Morowitz MJ, Wang Q, Zhao H, Sivo F, Maris JM, Wahl ML. The H+-linked monocarboxylate transporter (MCT1/SLC16A1): a potential therapeutic target for high-risk neuroblastoma. Mol Pharmacol 2006; 70: 2108-15.
- Mathupala SP, Colen CB, Parajuli P, Sloan AE. Lactate and malignant tumors: a therapeutic target at the end stage of glycolysis. J Bioenerg Biomembr 2007; 39: 73-7.
- Halestrap AP, Meredith D. The SLC16 gene family-from monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs) to aromatic amino acid transporters and beyond. Pflugers Arch 2004; 447: 619-28.
- Koukourakis MI, Giatromanolaki A, Bougioukas G, Sivridis E. Lung cancer: a comparative study of metabolism related protein expression in cancer cells and tumor

associated stroma. Cancer Biol Ther 2007; 6: 1476-9.

- Koukourakis MI, Giatromanolaki A, Harris AL, Sivridis E. Comparison of metabolic pathways between cancer cells and stromal cells in colorectal carcinomas: a metabolic survival role for tumor-associated stroma. Cancer Res 2006; 66: 632-7.
- Pinheiro C, Longatto-Filho A, Scapulatempo C, Ferreira L, Martins S, Pellerin L, Rodrigues M, Alves VA, Schmitt F, Baltazar F. Increased expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1, 2, and 4 in colorectal carcinomas. Virchows Arch 2008; 452: 139-46.
- Pinheiro C, Longatto-Filho A, Ferreira L, Pereira SM, Etlinger D, Moreira MA, Jube LF, Queiroz GS, Schmitt F, Baltazar F. Increasing expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1 and 4 along progression to invasive cervical carcinoma. Int J Gynecol Pathol 2008; 27: 568-74.
- Pinheiro C, Albergaria A, Paredes J, Sousa B, Dufloth R, Vieira D, Schmitt F, Baltazar F. Monocarboxylate transporter 1 is upregulated in basal-like breast carcinoma. Histopathology. In press.
- Pinheiro C, Longatto-Filho A, Simoes K, Jacob CE, Bresciani CJ, Zilberstein B, Cecconello I, Alves VA, Schmitt F, Baltazar F. The prognostic value of CD147/EMMPRIN is associated with monocarboxylate transporter 1 co-expression in gastric cancer. Eur J Cancer 2009; 45: 2418-24.
- Gallagher SM, Castorino JJ, Wang D, Philp NJ. Monocarboxylate transporter 4 regulates maturation and trafficking of CD147 to the plasma membrane in the metastatic breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231. Cancer Res 2007; 67: 4182-9.
- 20. Kirk P, Wilson MC, Heddle C, Brown MH,

Barclay AN, Halestrap AP. CD147 is tightly associated with lactate transporters MCT1 and MCT4 and facilitates their cell surface expression. EMBO J 2000; 19: 3896-904.

- Philp NJ, Ochrietor JD, Rudoy C, Muramatsu T, Linser PJ. Loss of MCT1, MCT3, and MCT4 expression in the retinal pigment epithelium and neural retina of the 5A11/basigin-null mouse. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2003; 44: 1305-11.
- Pinheiro C, Longatto A, Pereira SMM, Etlinger D, Moreira MAR, Jube LF, Queiroz GS, Schmitt F, Baltazar F. Monocarboxylate transporters 1 and 4 are associated with CD147 in cervical carcinoma. Disease Markers 2009; 26: 97-103.
- 23. Sotiriou C, Neo SY, McShane LM, Korn EL, Long PM, Jazaeri A, Martiat P, Fox SB, Harris AL, Liu ET. Breast cancer classification and prognosis based on gene expression profiles from a population-based study. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2003; 100: 10393-8.
- 24. Nielsen TO, Hsu FD, Jensen K, Cheang M, Karaca G, Hu Z, Hernandez-Boussard T, Livasy C, Cowan D, Dressler L, Akslen LA, Ragaz J, Gown AM, Gilks CB, van de RM, Perou CM. Immunohistochemical and clinical characterization of the basal-like subtype of invasive breast carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 2004; 10: 5367-74.
- 25. van de Rijn M, Perou CM, Tibshirani R, Haas P, Kallioniemi O, Kononen J, Torhorst J, Sauter G, Zuber M, Kochli OR, Mross F, Dieterich H, Seitz R, Ross D, Botstein D, Brown P. Expression of cytokeratins 17 and 5 identifies a group of breast carcinomas with poor clinical outcome. Am J Pathol 2002; 161: 1991-6.
- Sorlie T, Perou CM, Tibshirani R, Aas T, Geisler S, Johnsen H, Hastie T, Eisen MB, van de RM, Jeffrey SS, Thorsen T, Quist H, Matese

JC, Brown PO, Botstein D, Eystein LP, Borresen-Dale AL. Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001; 98: 10869-74.

- 27. Sorlie T, Tibshirani R, Parker J, Hastie T, Marron JS, Nobel A, Deng S, Johnsen H, Pesich R, Geisler S, Demeter J, Perou CM, Lonning PE, Brown PO, Borresen-Dale AL, Botstein D. Repeated observation of breast tumor subtypes in independent gene expression data sets. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2003; 100: 8418-23.
- Matos I, Dufloth R, Alvarenga M, Zeferino LC, Schmitt F. p63, cytokeratin 5, and P-cadherin: three molecular markers to distinguish basal phenotype in breast carcinomas. Virchows Arch 2005; 447: 688-94.
- Paredes J, Lopes N, Milanezi F, Schmitt FC. Pcadherin and cytokeratin 5: useful adjunct markers to distinguish basal-like ductal carcinomas in situ. Virchows Arch 2007; 450: 73-80.
- Asada K, Miyamoto K, Fukutomi T, Tsuda H, Yagi Y, Wakazono K, Oishi S, Fukui H, Sugimura T, Ushijima T. Reduced expression of GNA11 and silencing of MCT1 in human breast cancers. Oncology 2003; 64: 380-8.
- Garcia CK, Goldstein JL, Pathak RK, Anderson RG, Brown MS. Molecular characterization of a membrane transporter for lactate, pyruvate, and other monocarboxylates: implications for the Cori cycle. Cell 1994; 76: 865-73.
- Benton CR, Campbell SE, Tonouchi M, Hatta H, Bonen A. Monocarboxylate transporters in subsarcolemmal and intermyofibrillar mitochondria. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2004; 323: 249-53.
- Dubouchaud H, Butterfield GE, Wolfel EE, Bergman BC, Brooks GA. Endurance training,

expression, and physiology of LDH, MCT1, and MCT4 in human skeletal muscle. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2000; 278: E571-E579.

- 34. Slomiany MG, Grass GD, Robertson AD, Yang XY, Maria BL, Beeson C, Toole BP. Hyaluronan, CD44, and emmprin regulate lactate efflux and membrane localization of monocarboxylate transporters in human breast carcinoma cells. Cancer Res 2009; 69: 1293-301.
- 35. Pinheiro C, Reis RM, Ricardo S, Longatto FA, Schmitt F, Baltazar F. Expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1, 2 and 4 in human tumours and their association with CD147 and CD44. J Biomed Biotechnol 2010; 2010: Article ID 427694
- Macheda ML, Rogers S, Best JD. Molecular and cellular regulation of glucose transporter (GLUT) proteins in cancer. J Cell Physiol 2005; 202: 654-62.
- Perez de HF, Wood IS, Trayhurn P. Hypoxia stimulates lactate release and modulates monocarboxylate transporter (MCT1, MCT2, and MCT4) expression in human adipocytes. Pflugers Arch 2009.
- 38. Ullah MS, Davies AJ, Halestrap AP. The plasma membrane lactate transporter MCT4, but not MCT1, is up-regulated by hypoxia through a HIF-1alpha-dependent mechanism. J Biol Chem 2006; 281: 9030-7.
- Vaupel P, Harrison L. Tumor hypoxia: causative factors, compensatory mechanisms, and cellular response. Oncologist 2004; 9 Suppl 5: 4-9.
- 40. Li Y, Wang H, Oosterwijk E, Tu C, Shiverick KT, Silverman DN, Frost SC. Expression and activity of carbonic anhydrase IX is associated with metabolic dysfunction in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells. Cancer Invest 2009; 27:

613-23.

- Halestrap AP, Denton RM. Specific inhibition of pyruvate transport in rat liver mitochondria and human erythrocytes by alpha-cyano-4hydroxycinnamate. Biochem J 1974; 138: 313-6.
- 42. Deuticke B. Monocarboxylate transport in erythrocytes. J Membr Biol 1982; 70: 89-103.
- Kopito RR. Molecular biology of the anion exchanger gene family. Int Rev Cytol 1990; 123: 177-99.
- 44. Guile SD, Bantick JR, Cheshire DR, Cooper ME, Davis AM, Donald DK, Evans R, Eyssade C, Ferguson DD, Hill S, Hutchinson R, Ingall AH, Kingston LP, Martin I, Martin BP, Mohammed RT, Murray C, Perry MW, Reynolds RH, Thorne PV, Wilkinson DJ, Withnall J. Potent blockers of the monocarboxylate transporter MCT1: novel immunomodulatory compounds. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 2006; 16: 2260-5.
- 45. Ekberg H, Qi Z, Pahlman C, Veress B, Bundick RV, Craggs RI, Holness E, Edwards S, Murray CM, Ferguson D, Kerry PJ, Wilson E, Donald DK. The specific monocarboxylate transporter-1 (MCT-1) inhibitor, AR-C117977, induces donor-specific suppression, reducing acute and chronic allograft rejection in the rat. Transplantation 2007; 84: 1191-9.
- 46. Bueno V, Binet I, Steger U, Bundick R,

Ferguson D, Murray C, Donald D, Wood K. The specific monocarboxylate transporter (MCT1) inhibitor, AR-C117977, a novel immunosuppressant, prolongs allograft survival in the mouse. Transplantation 2007; 84: 1204-7.

- Gatenby RA, Gawlinski ET, Gmitro AF, Kaylor B, Gillies RJ. Acid-mediated tumor invasion: a multidisciplinary study. Cancer Res 2006; 66: 5216-23.
- Smallbone K, Gatenby RA, Gillies RJ, Maini PK, Gavaghan DJ. Metabolic changes during carcinogenesis: potential impact on invasiveness. J Theor Biol 2007; 244: 703-13.
- 49. Gatenby RA, Gillies RJ. Why do cancers have high aerobic glycolysis? Nat Rev Cancer 2004; 4: 891-9.
- Martinez-Zaguilan R, Seftor EA, Seftor RE, Chu YW, Gillies RJ, Hendrix MJ. Acidic pH enhances the invasive behavior of human melanoma cells. Clin Exp Metastasis 1996; 14: 176-86.
- Silva AS, Gatenby RA, Gillies RJ, Yunes JA. A quantitative theoretical model for the development of malignancy in ductal carcinoma in situ. J Theor Biol 2010; 262: 601-13.
- Rofstad EK, Mathiesen B, Kindem K, Galappathi K. Acidic extracellular pH promotes experimental metastasis of human melanoma cells in athymic nude mice. Cancer Res 2006; 66: 6699-707.

Chapter 6. FURTHER INSIGHTS ON MCT REGULATION

6.1. CHAPTER OVERVIEW

The regulatory mechanisms of MCT expression are far from being completely understood, however, regulation by the chaperone CD147 is a well characterised mechanism, supported by many *in vitro* studies [1-8]. Other regulatory mechanisms have also been identified but further evidence is needed. One of those alternative mechanisms is MCT regulation by CD44, as only one study describes the association between this protein and MCT1, MCT4, as well as CD147 [9].

Therefore, a tumour screening was performed aiming to confirm CD44 as a putative chaperone of MCTs. For that, CD44 and CD147 expressions, as well as MCT1, MCT2 and MCT4 were evaluated, in four different types of tumours: breast carcinoma, colon adenocarcinoma, non-small cell lung cancer and ovarian adenocarcinoma. In this work, published in an international periodical with referees, evidence is presented for the possible association of CD44 and MCT1 in lung cancer. Further, MCT1 was associated with CD147 in ovarian cancer, while MCT4 was associated with CD147 in breast and lung cancer. Notably, a relatively important number of cases expressed MCT1 at the plasma membrane of cancer cells but neither CD147 nor CD44 were present, suggesting that other mechanisms of regulation for correct trafficking of MCTs to the plasma membrane might exist. Also, MCT4 plasma membrane expressed in a considerable number of ovary tumours, warranting further studies in larger series of these types of tumours.

1. Kirk P, Wilson MC, Heddle C, Brown MH, Barclay AN, Halestrap AP. CD147 is tightly associated with lactate transporters MCT1 and MCT4 and facilitates their cell surface expression. EMBO J 2000; 19: 3896-904.

2. Makuc J, Cappellaro C, Boles E. Co-expression of a mammalian accessory trafficking protein enables functional expression of the rat MCT1 monocarboxylate transporter in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. FEMS Yeast Res 2004; 4: 795-801.

3. Philp NJ, Ochrietor JD, Rudoy C, Muramatsu T, Linser PJ. Loss of MCT1, MCT3, and MCT4 expression in the retinal pigment epithelium and neural retina of the 5A11/basigin-null mouse. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2003; 44: 1305-11.

4. Deora AA, Philp N, Hu J, Bok D, Rodriguez-Boulan E. Mechanisms regulating tissue-specific polarity of monocarboxylate transporters and their chaperone CD147 in kidney and retinal epithelia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005; 102: 16245-50.

5. Wilson MC, Meredith D, Fox JE, Manoharan C, Davies AJ, Halestrap AP. Basigin (CD147) is the target for organomercurial inhibition of monocarboxylate transporter isoforms 1 and 4: the ancillary protein for the insensitive MCT2 is EMBIGIN (gp70). J Biol Chem 2005; 280: 27213-21.

6. Gallagher SM, Castorino JJ, Wang D, Philp NJ. Monocarboxylate transporter 4 regulates maturation and trafficking of CD147 to the plasma membrane in the metastatic breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231. Cancer Res 2007; 67: 4182-9.

7. Schneiderhan W, Scheler M, Holzmann KH, Marx M, Gschwend JE, Buchholz M, Gress TM, Adler G, Seufferlein T, Oswald F. CD147 Silencing Inhibits Lactate Transport and Reduces Malignant Potential of pancreatic cancer cells in in-vivo and in-vitro Models. Gut 2009; 58: 1391-8.

8. Su J, Chen X, Kanekura T. A CD147-targeting siRNA inhibits the proliferation, invasiveness, and VEGF production of human malignant melanoma cells by down-regulating glycolysis. Cancer Lett 2009; 273: 140-7.

9. Slomiany MG, Grass GD, Robertson AD, Yang XY, Maria BL, Beeson C, Toole BP. Hyaluronan, CD44, and emmprin regulate lactate efflux and membrane localization of monocarboxylate transporters in human breast carcinoma cells. Cancer Res 2009; 69: 1293-301.

6.2. PUBLISHED RESULTS

This chapter comprises the following paper, **published** in an international scientific periodical with referees:

Pinheiro C, Reis RM, Ricardo S, Longatto-Filho A, Schmitt F, Baltazar F (2010). Expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1, 2 and 4 in human tumours and their association with CD147 and CD44. *J Biomed Biotechnol* 2010, Article ID 427694.

6.2.1. EXPRESSION OF MONOCARBOXYLATE TRANSPORTERS 1, 2 AND 4 IN HUMAN TUMOURS AND THEIR ASSOCIATION WITH CD147 AND CD44

Hindawi Publishing Corporation Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology Volume 2010, Article ID 427694, 7 pages doi:10.1155/2010/427694

Research Article

Expression of Monocarboxylate Transporters 1, 2, and 4 in Human Tumours and Their Association with CD147 and CD44

Céline Pinheiro,¹ Rui M. Reis,¹ Sara Ricardo,² Adhemar Longatto-Filho,^{1,3} Fernando Schmitt,^{2,4} and Fátima Baltazar¹

¹Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, Campus of Gualtar, 4710-057 Braga, Portugal

² Institute of Molecular Pathology and Immunology of Porto University (IPATIMUP), The University of Porto, 4200-465 Porto, Portugal ³ Laboratory of Medical Investigation (LIM-14), School of Medicine, São Paulo University, 01246-903 São Paulo, Brazil

⁴ Faculty of Medicine, The University of Porto, 4200-319 Porto, Portugal

Correspondence should be addressed to Fátima Baltazar, fbaltazar@ecsaude.uminho.pt

Received 3 November 2009; Revised 12 February 2010; Accepted 12 February 2010

Academic Editor: Anne Hamburger

Copyright © 2010 Céline Pinheiro et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs) are important cellular pH regulators in cancer cells; however, the value of MCT expression in cancer is still poorly understood. In the present study, we analysed MCT1, MCT2, and MCT4 protein expression in breast, colon, lung, and ovary neoplasms, as well as CD147 and CD44. MCT expression frequency was high and heterogeneous among the different tumours. Comparing with normal tissues, there was an increase in MCT1 and MCT4 expressions in breast carcinoma and a decrease in MCT4 plasma membrane expression in lung cancer. There were associations between CD147 and MCT1 expressions in ovarian cancer as well as between CD147 and MCT4 in both breast and lung cancers. CD44 was only associated with MCT1 plasma membrane expression in lung cancer. An important number of MCT1 positive cases are negative for both chaperones, suggesting that MCT plasma membrane expression in tumours may depend on a yet nonidentified regulatory protein.

1. Introduction

Uncontrolled tumour cell proliferation is a pivot mechanism in tumourigenesis, which consequently leads to significant metabolic changes. In tumour cells, the preference by anaerobic glycolysis, even in the presence of oxygen, phenomenon known as "the Warburg effect", stimulates the conversion of pyruvate to lactic acid [1, 2]. To allow proliferation through continuous glycolysis and avoid acid-induced apoptosis, cells must develop mechanisms to oppose the increased generation of lactic acid. Thus, several plasma membrane transporters and exchangers have been implicated in the maintenance of the intracellular pH of cancer cells, by exporting the accumulating acid, leading to acidification of the extracellular milieu [3]. Currently, it is acknowledged that this acidic tumour microenvironment is associated with tumour aggressiveness features, such as growth advantage, increased survival, migration, invasion, and angiogenesis [1, 4].

Monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs) are among the most important cellular pH regulators likely involved in cancer pH homeostasis [3, 5]. The MCT family comprises fourteen members, being the isoforms 1, 2, 3, and 4 responsible for the H⁺-linked transport of monocarboxylates such as lactic acid across the plasma membrane [6]. The underlying molecular events involved in MCT regulation are poorly understood; however, it was recently demonstrated that proper plasma membrane expression and activity of MCTs, particularly MCT1 and MCT4, require the presence of a chaperone, CD147 [7-9], also known as EMMPRIN and basigin. Interestingly, CD147 expression seems to be also dependent on MCT1 and MCT4 expressions [10, 11]. Most recently, it was suggested that constitutive interactions between hyaluronan and CD44 also contribute to regulation of MCT localization and function [12]. In the past few years, some studies reported abnormal expression of MCTs, particularly MCT1, 2, 3, and 4 in distinct solid tumours, however, with contradictory conclusions [13-24]. Besides

Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology

acting as MCT chaperone, CD147 plays many other roles, including production of matrix metalloproteinases and vascular endothelial growth factor, being upregulated in a variety of human cancers [25–28]. Additionally, activation of CD44 has been described as important in various aspects of cancer progression including cell growth control, adhesion, migration, invasion, and chemoresistance [29, 30].

The aim of the present study was to perform a comprehensive analysis of MCT1, MCT2, and MCT4 protein expression in a variety of tumours, namely, breast, colon, lung, and ovary neoplasms in order to elucidate their pattern of expression and their role in the development of these tumours. In addition, CD147 and CD44 expressions were analysed to infer the contribution of these chaperones to MCT expression in these different tumours.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Cases. A commercial human multitumour tissue microarray (TARP) (NCI Tumour Repository MTA, MD, USA), containing 200 tumour samples, was used to perform the immunohistochemical reactions, corresponding to 50 breast carcinomas (42 ductal, 5 lobular, and 3 not classified), 50 colon adenocarcinomas, 50 nonsmall cell lung cancers, and 50 ovarian adenocarcinomas (32 serous, 8 clear cell, 4 mucinous, 4 endometrioid, and 2 not classified). Additionally, to allow comparison between nonneoplastic and malignant tissues, 15 normal breast samples and 11 normal lung samples were included in the analysis. Since ovarian normal tissues are not readily available, they were not included in this study. MCT expression in nonneoplastic colon epithelia was already described by our group [19].

2.2. Immunohistochemistry

2.2.1. MCT Detection. Immunohistochemistry was performed according to the avidin-biotin-peroxidase complex principle (R.T.U. VECTASTAIN Elite ABC Kit (Universal), Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA), with the primary antibodies for MCT1 (AB3538P, Chemicon International, Temecula, CA, USA), MCT2 (sc-14926, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA), and MCT4 (AB3316P, Chemicon International, Temecula, CA, USA), diluted 1:200 for both MCT1 and MCT2 and 1:100 for MCT4, as previously described by our group [18, 19].

2.2.2. CD147 Detection. Immunohistochemistry was performed according to the avidin-biotin-peroxidase complex principle (Ultravision Detection System Anti-polyvalent, HRP, Lab Vision Corporation, Fremont, CA, USA), using a primary antibody raised against CD147 (18-7344, ZYMED Laboratories Inc., South San Francisco, CA, USA) diluted 1:750, as previously described by our group [31].

2.2.3. CD44 Detection. Immunohistochemistry was performed according to the avidin-biotin-peroxidase complex principle (Ultravision Detection System Anti-polyvalent, HRP, Lab Vision Corporation, Fremont, CA, USA), using



FIGURE 1: Western-blot for CD44 (breast cancer cell line MDA MB 231) and CD147 (human colon tissue). The protein molecular weights observed are in accordance with the predicted for these proteins. FG: fully glycosylated, CG: core glycosylated.

a primary antibody raised against total CD44 (clone 156-3C11, Cell Signalling Technology, Beverly, MA, USA), diluted 1:100. Briefly, deparaffinised and rehydrated sections were immersed in 0.01 M citrate-buffered solution (pH 6.0), heated up to 98°C in a water bath for 15 minutes, and washed in PBS. Endogenous peroxidases were inactivated with 3% hydrogen peroxide in methanol for 10 minutes, followed by washing in PBS. Tissue sections were incubated with blocking solution for 10 minutes and incubated at room temperature with the primary antibody for 30 minutes. Sections were then sequentially washed in PBS, incubated with biotinylated goat anti-polyvalent antibody for 10 minutes, streptavidin peroxidase for 10 minutes, and developed with 3,3'-diamino-benzidine (DAB+ Substrate System, Dako, Carpinteria, CA, USA) for 10 minutes. Negative controls were performed by using the adequate serum control (N1698, Dako, Carpinteria, CA, USA) and tonsil was used as positive control. Tissue sections were counterstained with haematoxylin and permanently mounted.

The specificity of CD147 and CD44 antibodies was further demonstrated by Western-blot, as shown in Figure 1. Antibodies for the MCT isoforms have been previously validated by our group by Western-blot [19].

2.2.4. Immunohistochemical Evaluation. MCTs, CD147, and CD44 immunoreactions were evaluated semiquantitatively using the criteria previously described [19, 31]. Immunoreaction extent was scored semiquantitatively as follows: 0: 0% of immunoreactive cells, 1: <5% of immunoreactive cell, 2: 5%–50% of immunoreactive cells, and 3: >50% of immunoreactive cells. Also, intensity of staining was scored semi-qualitatively as 0: negative, 1: weak, 2: intermediate, and 3: strong. Immunoreaction final score was defined as the sum of both parameters (extent and intensity), and grouped as negative (scores 0 and 2) and positive (3–6). Finally, since plasma membrane location is essential for MCT1 and MCT4 membrane localization and activity, we also analysed the plasma membrane positive cases separately. Evaluation

Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology

	Expression													
Turnaur trma	MCT1 Positive (%)			MCT2 Positive (%)				MCT4			CD147	CD44		
Tunioui type							Positive (%)			Positive (%)		Positive (%)		
	п	Cyt ^a	PM	п	Cyt ^a	PM	n	Cyt ^a	PM	n	Cyt ^a /PM	n	Cyt ^a /PM	
Breast carcinoma	22	21 (95.5)	5 (22.7)	24	34 (100.0)	0 (0.0)	24	19 (79.2)	1 (4.2)	28	13 (46.4)	27	8 (29.6)	
Colon adenocarcinoma	32	23 (71.9)	19 (59.4)	29	29 (100.0)	0 (0.0)	26	19 (73.1)	0 (0.0)	34	13 (38.2)	31	4 (12.9)	
Nonsmall cell lung cancer	23	14 (60.9)	5 (21.7)	21	21 (100.0)	0(0.0)	23	16 (69.6)	0(0.0)	28	13 (46.4)	27	12 (44.4)	
Ovarian adenocarcinoma	24	18 (75.0)	10(41.7)	30	18 (93.3)	0(0.0)	28	13(46.4)	1(3.6)	26	11(42.3)	28	2(7.1)	

TABLE 1: Frequency of MCTs, CD147, and CD44 expressions in tumour samples.

Cyt: cytoplasm; PM: plasma membrane; ^awith or without plasma membrane staining.

Note: for CD147 and CD44, frequency results are the same for cytoplasm and plasma membrane expression.



FIGURE 2: Representative immunohistochemical expression of MCT1 in ovarian carcinoma (a), MCT2 in breast carcinoma (b), MCT4 in ovarian carcinoma (c), CD147 in ovarian carcinoma (d), MCT1 in lung cancer (e), and CD44 in lung cancer (f). Plasma membrane staining for both MCT1 (a) and CD147 (d) is shown in the same tumour area of an ovary cancer case and for both MCT1 (e) and CD44 (f) in the same area of lung cancer case.

was performed blindly by two independent observers (AL, FS). Discordant results were discussed in a double-head microscope and a final score was agreed.

2.3. Statistical Analysis. Data were stored and analysed using the SPSS statistical software (version 16.0, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). All comparisons were examined for statistical significance using Pearson's Chi-square (χ^2) test and Fisher's exact test (when n < 5), being threshold for significance *P* values <.05.

3. Results

From the 200 tumour samples, only approximately 60% were suitable for analysis. The remaining tumour spots were missing, dropped out during immunohistochemistry protocol, or did not contain representative tissue, with

some heterogeneity between TARP slides. Tumour samples were assessed for MCT1, MCT2, MCT4, CD147, and CD44 immunohistochemical expressions and the results are summarised in Table 1. Positive MCT1 expression was observed in both plasma membrane and cytoplasm (Figures 2(a) and 2(e)), while MCT2 expression was only observed in the cytoplasm (Figure 2(b)) and MCT4 was commonly found in the cytoplasm (Figure 2(c)) and rarely in the plasma membrane. Regarding CD147 and CD44, expression was always present in the plasma membrane (Figures 2(d) and 2(f), resp.), with some cytoplasmic staining. There was a strong tendency for differences in MCT1 and MCT4 expression frequencies among the different tumours (P = .056 and P = .061, resp.); however, differences were only significant when considering MCT1 plasma membrane staining (P =.012), being highest for colon, followed by ovary. MCT2 and CD147 expression frequencies were not significantly different among the tumour types studied. CD44 expression

4

Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology

TABLE 2: Frequency of MCTs expression in nonneoplastic and malignant breast and lung tissues.

			Breast tiss	ues	Lung tissues								
		Cyt ^a		PM			Cyt ^a		PM				
	n	Positive (%)	Р	Positive (%)	Р	n	Positive (%)	Р	Positive (%)	Р			
MCT1			.001		.067			1		.612			
Normal	15	7 (46.7)		0 (0.0)		6	4 (66.7)		2 (33.3)				
Tumour	22	21 (95.5)		5 (22.7)		23	14 (60.9)		5 (21.7)				
MCT2			.142					.300					
Normal	15	13 (86.7)				9	8 (88.9)						
Tumour	24	24 (100.0)				21	21 (100.0)						
MCT4			.004		1			.289		.001			
Normal	15	5 (33.3)		0 (0.0)		6	6 (100.0)		4 (66.7)				
Tumour	24	19 (79.2)		1 (4.2)		23	16 (69.6)		0 (0.0)				

Cyt: cytoplasm; PM: plasma membrane; awith or without plasma membrane staining.

was also significantly different among tumours (P = .004), being more frequent in lung, followed by breast. Overall, and looking at each tumour entity, we observed that MCT2 was the most frequently expressed MCT isoform, followed by MCT1 and 4. MCT1 exhibited the highest frequency of staining at the plasma membrane, while MCT4 was barely present and MCT2 was absent.

Comparison of MCT expression frequencies in breast and lung malignant tissues with the corresponding normal tissues is depicted in Table 2. In breast carcinomas, there was a significant increase in MCT1 and MCT4 staining (P = .001and P = .004, resp.), while in lung cancer, there was a significant decrease in MCT4 plasma membrane expression (P = .001).

In order to assess the association of CD147 and CD44 to MCT expression in tumours, we searched for associations among expressions of these proteins (Tables 3 and 4). Overall, considering all tumour entities, both MCT1 and MCT4 immunoreactions correlated with CD147 (P = .001 and P < .001, resp.), while, for plasma membrane localisation, this association was only observed for MCT1 (P = .025), as illustrated in Figures 2(a) and 2(d). No association was observed between CD147 and MCT2. Considering the different tumours individually, associations between CD147 and MCT4 immunoreaction were only observed in breast and lung cancers (P = .024 and P = .023, resp.); however, other values showed a tendency for significance but the low number of cases limited statistical power. Regarding CD44, the only significant association was with MCT1 plasma membrane expression in lung cancer (P = .039), as illustrated in Figures 2(e) and 2(f). Importantly, among the 36 cases positive for MCT1 plasma membrane expression, 12 were negative for both CD147 and CD44 (data not shown).

4. Discussion

Upregulation of glycolysis and adaptation to acidosis are key events in the transition from *in situ* to invasive cancer [1] and MCTs may play an important role through their involvement in exporting lactate [6]. MCTs have been described to be up-regulated in several cancers [13–19]; however, there are still some controversies [22, 23]. Moreover, their regulation in cancer is starting to be unravelled.

In the present study, we observed a high and heterogeneous frequency of MCT expression among the different tumour entities. Importantly, only MCT1 presented a relevant expression at the plasma membrane, a fact which is essential for lactate transporter activity. It appears that the pair MCT1/CD147 is the most relevant in the tumours studied, likely by promoting lactate efflux from cancer cells. Lactate efflux allows continuous proliferation, avoiding apoptosis by intracellular acidification, thus conferring a proliferative advantage to cancer cells [1, 4]. The high frequencies of MCT2 and MCT4 in the cytoplasm might mean that they are involved in other functions in the cell, such as in lactate/pyruvate transport through the mitochondrial/peroxisomal membrane. Actually, MCT2 and MCT4, as well as MCT1, have been described to be present in the mitochondrial membrane [32-34].

In the present study, we showed that MCT1 is upregulated in breast carcinomas, which does not corroborate a previous report in breast cancer, pointing to a possible silencing of MCT1 expression by gene promoter hypermethylation [10, 22]. However, this study only presented the results of MCT1 promoter methylation and was not supported by MCT1 protein expression. Taking into consideration that MCT2 is not present in the plasma membrane and MCT4 is expressed at low levels, it is reasonable to hypothesise that MCT1 is the main isoform responsible for lactate plasma membrane transport in breast carcinoma. To confirm this hypothesis, we are currently evaluating MCT expression in a larger series of breast carcinomas. The important role of MCTs in substrate transport in colonic epithelium has been vastly studied [23, 24, 35-38]. However, data on MCT expression in colorectal carcinoma are still contradictory [17, 19, 23, 24]. Our findings on MCT expression are in agreement with our previous report [19] in which we described MCT upregulation, especially MCT1 and MCT4. Comparative studies on lung cancer showed an absent MCT expression in normal lung but a high MCT plasma

Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology

		CD147 expression												
		Breast			Colon				Lung			Ovary		
		п	Positive (%)	P	n	Positive (%)	P	n	Positive (%)	P	п	Positive (%)	P	
	Cytoplasm ^a			.381			.184			.074			.245	
	Negative	1	0 (0.0)		7	1 (14.3)		8	2 (25.0)		3	0 (0.0)		
MCT1	Positive	20	13 (65.0)		21	11 (52.4)		14	10 (71.4)		15	7 (46.7)		
	Plasma membrane			.131			.114			1			.050	
	Negative	17	9 (52.9)		10	2 (20.0)		17	9 (52.9)		9	1(11.1)		
	Positive	4	4 (100.0)		18	10 (55.6)		5	3 (60.0)		9	6 (66.7)		
	Cytoplasm ^a			.024			.118			.023			.214	
	Negative	4	0 (0.0)		5	0 (0.0)		6	1 (16.7)		12	3 (25.0)		
MCT4	Positive	19	13 (68.4)		19	9 (47.4)		16	12 (75.0)		12	7 (58.3)		
MC14	Plasma membrane			1			_			_			1	
	Negative	22	12 (54.5)		24	9 (37.5)		22	13 (59.1)		23	10 (43.5)		
	Positive	1	1 (100.0)		0	_		0	_		1	0 (0.0)		

TABLE 3: Correlations between MCTs and CD147 expressions in tumours.

^a with or without plasma membrane staining.

TABLE 4: Correlations between MCTs and CD44 expressions in tumours.

		CD44 expression											
		Breast				Colon			Lung			Ovary	
		п	Positive (%)	P	n	Positive (%)	P	n	Positive (%)	P	n	Positive (%)	P
	Cytoplasm ^a			.364			.218			1			.250
	Negative	1	1 (100.0)		6	2 (33.3)		9	3 (33.3)		5	1 (20.0)	
MCT1	Positive	21	7 (33.3)		20	2 (10.0)		13	5 (38.5)		15	0 (0.0)	
	Plasma membrane			.309			.591			.039			1
	Negative	17	5 (29.4)		9	2 (22.2)		17	4 (23.5)		10	1 (10.0)	
	Positive	5	3 (60.0)		17	2 (11.8)		5	4 (80.0)		10	0 (0.0)	
	Cytoplasm ^a			1			.539			.613			.482
	Negative	4	1 (25.0)		5	1 (20.0)		6	1 (16.7)		13	2 (15.4)	
MCT4	Positive	18	6 (33.3)		18	2 (11.1)		15	6 (40.0)		11	0 (0.0)	
	Plasma membrane			.318			_			_			1
	Negative	21	6 (28.6)		23	3 (13.0)		21	7 (33.3)		23	2 (8.7)	
	Positive	1	1 (100.0)		0	—		0	—		1	0 (0.0)	

^a with or without plasma membrane staining.

membrane expression in cancer cells, especially MCT1 [16]. Although at a significantly lower level (20% versus 100%) we also detected MCT1 in the membrane of cancer cells, the same was not observed for MCT2 and MCT4. Therefore, it appears that MCT1 is the most important MCT isoform likely involved in lactate efflux from lung cancer cells. To the best of our knowledge, there are no reports on MCT expression in ovarian cancer. Thus, the results here presented are novel and may shed some light onto the metabolic alterations occurring in this type of cancer. Indeed, the upregulation of glycolytic enzymes in ovarian cancer [39-41] points to an increased production of lactate and, consequently, to the need for upregulation of lactate transport. In harmony with this line of evidence, we found a relevant MCT1 expression in ovarian carcinoma, which warrants further studies on MCT expression in this type of carcinoma.

Importantly, we assessed the association between MCTs and the glycoproteins CD147 and CD44 in human tumour samples. We observed a close association between CD147 expression and MCT1 and MCT4 isoforms, which corroborates the data from the literature stating that CD147 is essential for MCT1 and MCT4 regulation [7, 9, 10] and that CD147 maturation and cell surface expression is dependent on MCT1 and MCT4 [10, 11]. It is important to note that these associations were not homogeneous among tumour entities, which might indicate that regulation of these proteins diverges from tumour to tumour. Thus, additional studies are necessary to unveil the possible synergism between MCT and CD147 in malignant progression of tumours from different origins. Since it was recently described that CD44 was also involved in MCT regulation in breast cancer [12], we analysed MCT and CD44 coexpression. However, we only found an association

Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology

between CD44 and MCT1 plasma membrane expression in lung cancer. Notably, we observed that there are still an important number of cases positive for MCT1, which are negative for both CD147 and CD44, suggesting that MCT1 plasma membrane expression in tumours may depend on a yet nonidentified regulatory protein.

In summary, we analysed the expression of MCT1, MCT2, MCT4, CD147, and CD44 in different primary tumours. Importantly, we evaluated for the first time MCT expression in ovarian carcinoma and the association between MCT and both CD147 and CD44 expressions in four different types of tumours. The results herein presented can contribute to understanding of MCTs' regulation and role in human tumours. Nevertheless, additional studies, including larger and well-characterized tumour series, especially of breast and ovary, will definitely complement this work and pave the way to the possible exploitation of MCTs as targets for cancer therapy.

Competing Interests

6

These authors declare no competing interests.

Acknowledgments

Céline Pinheiro received a Ph.D. fellowship from the Portuguese Science and Technology Foundation (SFRH/BD/ 27465/2006). The authors acknowledge NCI (National Cancer Institute) Tumour Repository MTA, MD, USA for the multitumour tissue microarray (TARP).

References

- R. A. Gatenby and R. J. Gillies, "Why do cancers have high aerobic glycolysis?" *Nature Reviews Cancer*, vol. 4, no. 11, pp. 891–899, 2004.
- [2] O. Warburg, "On the origin of cancer cells," *Science*, vol. 123, no. 3191, pp. 309–314, 1956.
- [3] H. Izumi, T. Torigoe, H. Ishiguchi, et al., "Cellular pH regulators: potentially promising molecular targets for cancer chemotherapy," *Cancer Treatment Reviews*, vol. 29, no. 6, pp. 541–549, 2003.
- [4] J. S. Fang, R. D. Gillies, and R. A. Gatenby, "Adaptation to hypoxia and acidosis in carcinogenesis and tumor progression," *Seminars in Cancer Biology*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 330–337, 2008.
- [5] M. L. Wahl, J. A. Owen, R. Burd, et al., "Regulation of intracellular pH in human melanoma: potential therapeutic implications," *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, vol. 1, no. 8, pp. 617–628, 2002.
- [6] A. P. Halestrap and D. Meredith, "The SLC16 gene family from monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs) to aromatic amino acid transporters and beyond," *Pflugers Archiv European Journal of Physiology*, vol. 447, no. 5, pp. 619–628, 2004.
- [7] P. Kirk, M. C. Wilson, C. Heddle, M. H. Brown, A. N. Barclay, and A. P. Halestrap, "CD147 is tightly associated with lactate transporters MCT1 and MCT4 and facilitates their cell surface expression," *The EMBO Journal*, vol. 19, no. 15, pp. 3896– 3904, 2000.

- [8] M. C. Wilson, D. Meredith, J. E. M. Fox, C. Manoharan, A. J. Davies, and A. P. Halestrap, "Basigin (CD147) is the target for organomercurial inhibition of monocarboxylate transporter isoforms 1 and 4: the ancillary protein for the insensitive MCT2 is embigin (gp70)," *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 280, no. 29, pp. 27213–27221, 2005.
- [9] N. J. Philp, J. D. Ochrietor, C. Rudoy, T. Muramatsu, and P. J. Linser, "Loss of MCT1, MCT3, and MCT4 expression in the retinal pigment epithelium and neural retina of the 5A11/basigin-null mouse," *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science*, vol. 44, no. 3, pp. 1305–1311, 2003.
- [10] S. M. Gallagher, J. J. Castorino, D. Wang, and N. J. Philp, "Monocarboxylate transporter 4 regulates maturation and trafficking of CD147 to the plasma membrane in the metastatic breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231," *Cancer Research*, vol. 67, no. 9, pp. 4182–4189, 2007.
- [11] A. A. Deora, N. Philp, J. Hu, D. Bok, and E. Rodriguez-Boulan, "Mechanisms regulating tissue-specific polarity of monocarboxylate transporters and their chaperone CD147 in kidney and retinal epithelia," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 102, no. 45, pp. 16245–16250, 2005.
- [12] M. G. Slomiany, G. D. Grass, A. D. Robertson, et al., "Hyaluronan, CD44, and emmprin regulate lactate efflux and membrane localization of monocarboxylate transporters in human breast carcinoma cells," *Cancer Research*, vol. 69, no. 4, pp. 1293–1301, 2009.
- [13] M. K. Froberg, D. Z. Gerhart, B. E. Enerson, et al., "Expression of monocarboxylate transporter MCT1 in normal and neoplastic human CNS tissues," *NeuroReport*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 761–765, 2001.
- [14] S. P. Mathupala, P. Parajuli, and A. E. Sloan, "Silencing of monocarboxylate transporters via small interfering ribonucleic acid inhibits glycolysis and induces cell death in malignant glioma: an in vitro study," *Neurosurgery*, vol. 55, no. 6, pp. 1410–1419, 2004.
- [15] J. Fang, Q. J. Quinones, T. L. Holman, et al., "The H⁺-linked monocarboxylate transporter (MCT1/SLC16A1): a potential therapeutic target for high-risk neuroblastoma," *Molecular Pharmacology*, vol. 70, no. 6, pp. 2108–2115, 2006.
- [16] M. I. Koukourakis, A. Giatromanolaki, G. Bougioukas, and E. Sivridis, "Lung cancer: a comparative study of metabolism related protein expression in cancer cells and tumor associated stroma," *Cancer Biology and Therapy*, vol. 6, no. 9, pp. 1476– 1479, 2007.
- [17] M. I. Koukourakis, A. Giatromanolaki, A. L. Harris, and E. Sivridis, "Comparison of metabolic pathways between cancer cells and stromal cells in colorectal carcinomas: a metabolic survival role for tumor-associated stroma," *Cancer Research*, vol. 66, no. 2, pp. 632–637, 2006.
- [18] C. Pinheiro, A. Longatto-Filho, L. Ferreira, et al., "Increasing expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1 and 4 along progression to invasive cervical carcinoma," *International Journal of Gynecological Pathology*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 568–574, 2008.
- [19] C. Pinheiro, A. Longatto-Filho, C. Scapulatempo, et al., "Increased expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1, 2, and 4 in colorectal carcinomas," *Virchows Archiv*, vol. 452, no. 2, pp. 139–146, 2008.
- [20] C. Pinheiro, A. Albergaria, J. Paredes, et al., "Monocarboxylate transporter 1 is upregulated in basal-like breast carcinoma," *Histopathology*. In press.

7

Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology

- [21] C. Pinheiro, A. Longatto-Filho, K. Simoes, et al., "The prognostic value of CD147/EMMPRIN is associated with monocarboxylate transporter 1 co-expression in gastric cancer," *European Journal of Cancer*, vol. 45, no. 13, pp. 2418– 2424, 2009.
- [22] K. Asada, K. Miyamoto, T. Fukutomi, et al., "Reduced expression of GNA11 and silencing of MCT1 in human breast cancers," *Oncology*, vol. 64, no. 4, pp. 380–388, 2003.
- [23] D. W. Lambert, I. S. Wood, A. Ellis, and S. P. Shirazi-Beechey, "Molecular changes in the expression of human colonic nutrient transporters during the transition from normality to malignancy," *British Journal of Cancer*, vol. 86, no. 8, pp. 1262– 1269, 2002.
- [24] A. Ritzhaupt, I. S. Wood, A. Ellis, K. B. Hosie, and S. P. Shirazi-Beechey, "Identification of a monocarboxylate transporter isoform type l (MCT1) on the luminal membrane of human and pig colon," *Biochemical Society Transactions*, vol. 26, no. 2, article S120, 1998.
- [25] K. T. Iacono, A. L. Brown, M. I. Greene, and S. J. Saouaf, "CD147 immunoglobulin superfamily receptor function and role in pathology," *Experimental and Molecular Pathology*, vol. 83, no. 3, pp. 283–295, 2007.
- [26] K. Nabeshima, H. Iwasaki, K. Koga, H. Hojo, J. Suzumiya, and M. Kikuchi, "Emmprin (basigin/CD147): matrix metalloproteinase modulator and multifunctional cell recognition molecule that plays a critical role in cancer progression," *Pathology International*, vol. 56, no. 7, pp. 359–367, 2006.
- [27] S. Riethdorf, N. Reimers, V. Assmann, et al., "High incidence of EMMPRIN expression in human tumors," *International Journal of Cancer*, vol. 119, no. 8, pp. 1800–1810, 2006.
- [28] E. E. Gabison, T. Hoang-Xuan, A. Mauviel, and S. Menashi, "EMMPRIN/CD147, an MMP modulator in cancer, development and tissue repair," *Biochimie*, vol. 87, no. 3-4, pp. 361– 368, 2005.
- [29] R. Marhaba and M. Zoller, "CD44 in cancer progression: adhesion, migration and growth regulation," *Journal of Molecular Histology*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 211–231, 2004.
- [30] B. P. Toole and M. G. Slomiany, "Hyaluronan, CD44 and Emmprin: partners in cancer cell chemoresistance," *Drug Resistance Updates*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 110–121, 2008.
- [31] C. Pinheiro, A. Longatto-Filho, S. M. M. Pereira, et al., "Monocarboxylate transporters 1 and 4 are associated with CD147 in cervical carcinoma," *Disease Markers*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 97–103, 2009.
- [32] C. R. Benton, S. E. Campbell, M. Tonouchi, H. Hatta, and A. Bonen, "Monocarboxylate transporters in subsarcolemmal and intermyofibrillar mitochondria," *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, vol. 323, no. 1, pp. 249– 253, 2004.
- [33] H. Dubouchaud, G. E. Butterfield, E. E. Wolfel, B. C. Bergman, and G. A. Brooks, "Endurance training, expression, and physiology of LDH, MCT1, and MCT4 in human skeletal muscle," *American Journal of Physiology*, vol. 278, no. 4, pp. E571–E579, 2000.
- [34] C. K. Garcia, M. S. Brown, R. K. Pathak, and J. L. Goldstein, "cDNA cloning of MCT2, a second monocarboxylate transporter expressed in different cells than MCT1," *Journal* of *Biological Chemistry*, vol. 270, no. 4, pp. 1843–1849, 1995.
- [35] A. Borthakur, S. Saksena, R. K. Gill, W. A. Alrefai, K. Ramaswamy, and P. K. Dudeja, "Regulation of monocarboxylate transporter 1 (MCT1) promoter by butyrate in human intestinal epithelial cells: involvement of NF-κB pathway," *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, vol. 103, no. 5, pp. 1452–1463, 2008.

- [36] R. K. Gill, S. Saksena, W. A. Alrefai, et al., "Expression and membrane localization of MCT isoforms along the length of the human intestine," *American Journal of Physiology*, vol. 289, no. 4, pp. C846–C852, 2005.
- [37] T. Iwanaga, K. Takebe, I. Kato, S.-I. Karaki, and A. Kuwahara, "Cellular expression of monocarboxylate transporters (MCT) in the digestive tract of the mouse, rat, and humans, with special reference to slc5a8," *Biomedical Research*, vol. 27, no. 5, pp. 243–254, 2006.
- [38] E. Lecona, N. Olmo, J. Turnay, et al., "Kinetic analysis of butyrate transport in human colon adenocarcinoma cells reveals two different carrier-mediated mechanisms," *Biochemical Journal*, vol. 409, no. 1, pp. 311–320, 2008.
- [39] S. Simaga, M. Osmak, D. Babic, M. Sprem, B. Vukelic, and M. Abramic, "Quantitative biochemical analysis of lactate dehydrogenase in human ovarian tissues: correlation with tumor grade," *International Journal of Gynecological Cancer*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 438–444, 2005.
- [40] G. Cantuaria, A. Fagotti, G. Ferrandina, et al., "GLUT-1 expression in ovarian carcinoma: association with survival and response to chemotherapy," *Cancer*, vol. 92, no. 5, pp. 1144– 1150, 2001.
- [41] K. Shibata, H. Kajiyama, Y. Mizokami, et al., "Placental leucine aminopeptidase (P-LAP) and glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) expression in benign, borderline, and malignant ovarian epithelia," *Gynecologic Oncology*, vol. 98, no. 1, pp. 11– 18, 2005.

Chapter 7. GENERAL DISCUSSION

7.1. OVERVIEW ON THE CONTRIBUTION TO THE STATE OF THE ART

Carcinogenesis has been viewed as an evolutionary process described as "somatic evolution" as it requires a sequence of genetic changes; however, recent models of carcinogenesis integrate the neo-Darwinian evolution, stating that phenotypic properties are retained or lost based on their contribution to fitness for survival, with cell-environment interactions. This new concept of carcinogenesis was applied to explain the Warburg phenomenon, i.e., the preference for the glycolytic phenotype, even in the presence of oxygen. Thus, as cancer progression proceeds, mutations in tumour cells increase and traits that are found in invasive cancers, like the hyperglycolytic and acid-resistant phenotypes, arise as adaptive mechanisms to environmental proliferative constraints, such as hypoxia. Many players have been associated with these cellular adaptations; however, although an important role of lactate transporters could be anticipated in the context of the Warburg effect, the underlying role of MCTs in solid tumours are far from being characterised. Although pointed out some times as potential therapeutic targets, information on MCTs' expression in human solid tumours is still very scarce. To be used as therapeutic targets in cancer, MCTs must be differently expressed, either in quantity or in isoform. Thus, there is an urgent need to determine MCTs' expression during the carcinogenesis process. Some information is provided for human tumours from the nervous system, colon and lung [1-8], but similar studies are lacking for other types of tumours. Importantly, only one of these studies analysed the clinicopathological value of MCT1 [7]. Also, additional functional studies are needed to comprehend the overall contribution of MCTs to tumour malignancy.

7.1.1. MCT EXPRESSION IN SOLID TUMOURS

In this work, an important step forward was taken towards the possibility of exploiting MCTs as targets for cancer therapy. In fact, colorectal, cervical and breast carcinomas were found to express MCTs, especially MCT1, more frequently than the corresponding normal tissues (Table 1).

Importantly, MCT1 was associated with poorer patient prognosis, especially in gastric and breast carcinomas. Although MCT1 was not up-regulated in gastric carcinoma, MCT1/CD147 co-expression was associated with parameters of poor prognosis, such as tumour invasion and metastasis, implying a role of MCT1 in tumour aggressiveness.

Tumour type	MCT1	MCT2	MCT4			
Brain	Strongest in high grade glial neoplasms, compared to low grade glial neoplasms [2] (+) in glioblastoma and (-) in normal tissue [5]	↑ in glioblastoma, compared to normal tissue [5]	(-) in glioblastoma [5]			
Breast	↓ due to gene hypermethylation [9] ↑ in tumour cells, compared to normal epithelium / associated with basal-like subtype, high histological grade, estrogen and progesterone receptors, cytokeratins 5 and 14 and vimentin (alone or co-expressed with CD147)	(+) in tumour cells cytoplasm, but not in plasma membrane (+) normal epithelium	Tendency to be ↑ in tumour cells, compared to normal epithelium			
Cervical	↑ from preinvasive to invasive / associated with metastases in AC (when co-expressed with CD147)	No progressive change from preinvasive to invasive / ↑ ASC	↑ from preinvasive to invasive / ↑ AC			
Colorectal	↓ from normality to malignancy [1,3] (+) in tumour cells but (-) normal epithelium [6] ↑ in tumour cells, compared to normal epithelium / associated with vascular invasion	Not detected in either normal or tumour tissues [3] + in tumour cells cytoplasm, but not in plasma membrane [6] ↑ in cytoplasm expression but ↓ in tumour cells plasma membrane compared to normal epithelium	Not detected in either normal or tumour tissues [3] Weak in tumour microenvironment [6] ↑ in tumour cells, compared to normal epithelium			
Gastric	No change along progression / associated with advanced gastric cancer, Lauren's intestinal type, stage III+IV and lymph-node metastases when (co-expressed with CD147)		↓ from normal tissue, to primary tumour, to lymph- node metastases / associated with early gastric cancer and Lauren's intestinal type			
Lung	Cytoplasmic accumulation in alveolar soft-part sarcoma [4] (+) in tumour cells but (-) normal epithelium [8] (+) in tumour cells and normal epithelium	 (+) in tumour cells but (-) normal epithelium [8] (+) in tumour cells cytoplasm, but not in plasma membrane (+) normal epithelium 	 (+) in tumour cells but (-) normal epithelium [8] ↓ in tumour cells, compared to normal epithelium 			
Ovarian	(+) in tumour cells[10]	(+) in tumour cells cytoplasm, but not in plasma membrane[10]	(+) in tumour cells			
Neuroendocrine	(+) in neuroblastoma / associated with age >1 year at diagnosis, stage 4 disease, unfavourable Shimada histopathology, DNA diploid index, <i>n-myc</i> amplification and high-risk clinical group (COG criteria) [7]					

Table 1. Overview on MCT1, MCT2 and MCT4 expression and prognosis in different tumour types.

Results from this thesis are shown in bold. \uparrow , up-regulated; \downarrow , down-regulated; (+) positive, (-), negative. Abbreviations: AC, <u>adenocarcinoma</u>; ASC, <u>adenosquamous carcinoma</u>; COG, <u>Children's Oncology Group</u>.

Additionally, it is important to highlight that both MCT4 and CD147 alone, or MCT1 in association with CD147, were more frequently observed in gastric tumours of intestinal-type

(Lauren's classification). This may indicate that the carcinogenic process leading to intestinal-type gastric carcinoma, which includes evolution of normal gastric mucosa through chronic gastritis, atrophic gastritis (which are common to the diffuse-type gastric carcinogenesis), as well as intestinal metaplasia and adenoma/dysplasia (exclusive of the intestinal-type carcinogenesis) [11], may require metabolic adaptations involving MCT up-regulation, which are not required during carcinogenesis towards diffuse-type gastric carcinomas. Also, in breast carcinoma, an important association between MCT1 and basal-like subtype was found. This finding is of great importance as, although being a less frequent group of breast tumours, accounting for around 15% of cases [12], basal-like subtype tumours have a more aggressive clinical behaviour and, until now, does not have a specific molecular therapy. In this scenario, MCT1 arises as a promising therapeutic target for this particular group of breast tumours. Considering these findings in the light of the microenvironmental model of carcinogenesis, where MCTs shall have a vital role in the emergence of both the hyper-glycolytic and acid-resistant phenotypes, one can easily justify the up-regulation of MCTs, as well as their contribution to a more aggressive tumour behaviour. By enabling lactate efflux from cancer cells, as well as regulate the intracellular pH and, consequently, acidifying the extracellular microenvironment, MCT activity will promote the aggressive behaviour by enhancing migration, invasion and angiogenesis, among others [13-33].

Furthermore, in view of the recent model of metabolic symbiosis between glycolytic and oxidative cancer cells, where lactate plays a key role as the metabolic intermediate, MCTs are essential players in this process. It is proposed in this model that lactate release from glycolytic/hypoxic cancer cells occurs through the low-affinity lactate transporter MCT4 and lactate uptake by the oxidative/oxygenated cancer cells occurs through MCT1. Moreover, MCT1 inhibition will lead to a switch from lactate oxidation to glycolysis in oxidative tumour cells, thereby preventing the necessary glucose delivery to glycolytic cells, which will die from glucose starvation [34]. However, it is important to note that, in the breast carcinoma series herein analysed, in contrast to the previous model, MCT1 was expressed in the peri-necrotic/hypoxic regions and was expressed in the same cells than the hypoxia markers CAIX and GLUT1, important in glycolytic metabolism. This indicates that MCT1, besides being important in oxidative cancer cells, may also be important in glycolytic cancer cells. In fact, the kinetic parameters of MCT1 is also appropriate for lactate efflux from glycolytic cancer cells. The role of MCT1 in both types of metabolic cancer cells makes it an even more interesting therapeutic target.

Characterisation of MCT expression in series of human solid tumours provided the first evidence of this thesis, suggesting MCT1 as promising therapeutic target for cancer therapy, in sub-groups of colorectal, cervical and breast carcinomas. However, in this regard, gastric carcinoma was an exception as, besides not having MCT up-regulation, MCT4 expression was, actually, decreased along progression to malignancy. Therefore, MCT1 will probably not be a good therapeutic target in gastric cancer, since is not increased in comparison to the normal tissue, but may be an additional marker for prognosis, as it is associated, when co-expressed with CD147, to patient's poor outcome.

Due to the lack of relevant alterations in the expression of MCT2 in colorectal and cervical carcinomas, as well as the lack of associations with clinic-pathological variables, data from this MCT isoform expression was not included in the subsequent series. Indeed, MCT2 was also evaluated in gastric and breast carcinomas, however with no relevant results (data not shown). Importantly, one should never exclude a possible role of MCT2, especially in tumours with non-glycolytic metabolism. Actually, preliminary results in prostate carcinoma suggest an up-regulation of MCT2 in tumour cells, as compared to normal epithelium. Importantly, the similar specificity and sensitivity of MCT2 staining, as compared with the prostate tumour marker AMACR, led to the hypothesis that this MCT isoform may be explored as a new marker of prostate carcinoma.

7.1.2. MCT REGULATION

With this thesis, some contribution was also made to understand the possible mechanisms underlying MCT regulation.

Firstly, the regulation of MCT1 and MCT4, but not MCT2, by CD147, was supported by evidence on human tissues, complementing the *in vitro* and some *in vivo* studies previously described by others [35-42]. Indeed, the prognostic value of CD147 appears to be associated with its co-expression with MCT1, as observed in breast and gastric carcinomas. Therefore, targeting CD147, which will also impair MCT activity, appears to be a rational therapeutic approach against human cancer, as already described both *in vitro* and *in vivo* [41-43]. Besides the role of CD147 as chaperone for MCT1 and MCT4 plasma membrane trafficking and activity, these MCT isoforms also have been implicated in CD147 proper membrane expression [38,40]. Thus, the contribution of MCTs to the malignant phenotype is not limited to their own function as lactate transporters and pH regulators, but may also be further enhanced by their role in regulating CD147 expression. If so, MCTs may also have major roles in tumour growth and angiogenesis, as well as cancer cell migration and invasion, as described for CD147 [44-46].

Additionally, CD44 was analysed as a putative chaperone of MCT1 and MCT4 [47]. Although CD44 was only associated with MCT1 in lung cancer, the number of cases was small and the results obtained demand further analysis, with a higher number of cases. Indeed, as for CD147, which was not associated with MCT1 in the breast carcinoma screening but the tendency observed was confirmed in the study with the larger series (with a significant association between MCT1 and CD147), CD44 association with MCTs will most likely be also confirmed in larger series. As a result, MCT expression may also have a role in cell growth control, adhesion, migration, invasion, and chemoresistance [48-50], through interaction with CD44. Importantly, although CD147 was associated with both MCT1 and MCT4 in all series analysed, in cervical cancer, association was only at the overall expression level and not at the plasma membrane level. Additionally, in the other tumour types (gastric and breast carcinoma), there was a relevant number of cases with MCT plasma membrane expression that lacked CD147 was not overcome by CD44. These findings suggest that a not yet identified chaperone may be involved in MCT trafficking to the plasma membrane.

HPV is present in virtually all cervical cancer cases, being a necessary cause for this type of cancer [51]. In this thesis, an association between HPV and both MCT1 and MCT4 expression was observed in pre-malignant cervical lesions, presenting the first evidence for a possible HPV-dependent MCT regulation. High-risk HPVs exert their malignant action by constitutively expressing two major oncoproteins E6 and E7 [52]. The well-known functions of E6 and E7 are that E6 targets p53, resulting in cell resistance to apoptosis, and E7 associates with retinoblastoma protein (pRB), promoting cell cycle progression [53]. However, other mechanisms of HPV-induced carcinogenesis take place, and include activation of transcription factors such as HIF-1 α and c-myc [54,55]. As these transcription factors are regulators of MCT expression [56-60], one can hypothesise that the molecular alterations induced by HPV oncoproteins, which are required for cervical carcinogenesis, include up-regulation of MCTs.

Study on MCT regulation by hypoxia has provided puzzling results, especially in what concerns regulation of MCT1 isoform [34,57,58,60-63]. While MCT4 expression has been associated with hypoxic conditions and promoter regulation by HIF-1 α [58,60-63], MCT1 regulation by hypoxia points to both directions: induction and repression [34,57,58,60,61,63]. Here, additional evidence on MCT regulation by hypoxia is provided, by evaluating the co-expression of MCTs with the hypoxia-inducible proteins GLUT1 and CAIX, recognised as tumour hypoxia markers [64], in breast carcinomas. MCT4, unexpectedly, was not increased in GLUT1 or CAIX positive tumours; however, MCT1 was more frequently expressed in both GLUT1 and

CAIX positive tumours, pointing to a hypoxia dependent up-regulation of this MCT isoform that is accompanied by co-expression of its chaperone CD147. Therefore, it seems that, in breast carcinoma, the MCT isoform induced by the hypoxic microenvironment is MCT1, since this isoform is present in tumours presenting a hypoxia induced profile, which, in turn, is also associated with the basal-like subtype. Importantly, these findings are relevant for the metabolic characterisation of basal-like breast tumours, and may have important therapeutic implications as new potential targets may arise for this aggressive tumour type.

7.1.3. EFFECT OF MCT INHIBITION IN IN VITRO MODELS OF SOLID TUMOURS

As MCTs play a key role in tumour cell viability and, probably, aggressiveness, some groups have performed *in vitro* inhibition studies targeting MCT expression and activity [5,7,34,65,66]. Although with very promising results, these studies are still very scarce and further efforts are needed to support the exploitation of MCTs as therapeutic targets.

Importantly, in this thesis, some in vitro studies were performed for the first time in breast cancer cell lines. CHC induced a decrease in total cancer cell biomass, in accordance to results described by others in different in vitro models. In the majority of the cell lines, this inhibition was accompanied by a decrease in lactate efflux. MDA-MB-468 cell line, presented the most notable results, with a CHC-induced inhibition of proliferation, accompanied by a dose dependent inhibition of glucose uptake and lactate production. Interestingly, this is a basal-like subtype breast cancer cell line, supporting the important role of MCT1 expression demonstrated in the results obtained with the breast cancer series. However, this was not observed in all cell lines studied and, surprisingly, the most sensitive breast cancer cell line, MDA-MB-231, was negative for MCT1 and maintained the same level of lactate production and glucose consumption. Therefore, a CHCinduced inhibition of proliferation that does not have an impact on cancer cell metabolism suggests an off-target effect of CHC. In fact, CHC has been described as a potent inhibitor of other transporters, such as AE1 [67], but, if those off-target effects of CHC are, in fact, harmful for cancer cells as observed in MDA-MB-231, this CHC lack of specificity could actually be an advantage, by inducing a more effective cancer cell death. However, to correctly infer on the role of MCTs in cancer survival and aggressiveness, more specific inhibitions are needed. One of those more directed strategies is the use of siRNAs, which have already shown promising results in other models [5,7,34], and some preliminary results in the cervical cancer cell line HeLa point in the same direction (data not shown). Also, AstraZeneca MCT1 specific inhibitors currently studied

in immunosupression for allotransplantation also anticipate promising results in the cancer research field.

Additionally, it is important to draw attention to the fact that some compounds described as MCT inhibitors have been pointed out as chemopreventive agents, such as quercetin, NSAIDs and cholesterol synthesis inhibitors (statins) [68-75], as well as effective anti-cancer agents in clinical trials, like lonidamine [76]. In fact, NSAIDs and statins were shown to prevent ER-negative breast cancer [72,74], which are described in this thesis as having an increased MCT1 expression. Hence, MCT1 inhibition may contribute to the chemopreventive and anti-cancer effects of these compounds, and further studies on the additional mechanisms underlying their beneficial properties are needed.

When considering MCTs as targets for therapy, it is imperative to bear in mind and evaluate toxicity to normal tissue. Systemic delivery of MCT inhibitors, more specifically MCT1, will probably affect almost every organ of the body. In skeletal muscle, as MCT1 participates in the lactate shuttle, possible side effects will include muscle fatigue and inability to tolerate moderateto high-intensity training due to accumulation of lactate and H+ in the extracellular milieu, as oxidative muscle fibers will no longer perform lactate uptake. In the colon, as MCT1 is responsible for butyrate transport in colonic epithelium, MCT1 inhibition may inhibit cell proliferation and proper differentiation [77]. Importantly, as MCT1 is fundamental for T cell activation and, as MCT1 specific inhibition is being studied for immunosupression in transplantation, MCT1 inhibition in the cancer context will likely cause immunosupression and further inhibition of the immune response against cancer cells. However, in practice, MCT1 inhibition may have manageable side-effects like myalgia, asthenia, testicular pain, and gastrointestinal discomfort, with no serious organ toxicity or myelosupression, as observed for lonidamine. Nevertheless, these adverse effects may be decreased or eliminated in association with other therapies [76]. Although MCT1 inhibition is prone to cause some important side-effects, one should never forget that some drawbacks are acceptable if the benefit is justified, as it happens with virtually all drugs.

7.2. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

In general, the results here presented support the hypothesis of a major role of MCTs in the emergence of the hyper-glycolytic and acid-resistant phenotypes, as adaptations to the hypoxic microenvironment. The up-regulation of MCTs in the plasma membrane of colorectal, cervical

and breast cancer cells is most likely an adaptive mechanism to allow continuous high glycolytic rates, by exporting the accumulating end-product, lactate, as well as to counteract acid-induced apoptosis or necrosis. This may not be the case for all tumour types as gastric carcinoma revealed no up-regulation of MCTs. As "aerobic glycolysis" is considered a new hallmark of cancer [78,79], and MCTs are key players in the adaptations to hypoxia and acidosis, further efforts should be made on the exploitation of these proteins, especially MCT1, as therapeutic targets in cancer.

Although much was achieved with this work, many other doors are now open that should be explored. Importantly, characterisation of MCT expression in other tumour series would be of great value, as additional promising results are anticipated. Ovarian carcinoma, which presented high amounts of MCT1 in the tumour screening study, as well as lung cancer that, similarly to gastric carcinoma, presented, in opposition to results from other groups [8], a loss of MCT4 expression, would be two interesting tumour series to proceed with. Additionally, characterisation of MCT expression in tumours that are known to have a different metabolic behaviour, such as prostate tumours, which rely mainly on fatty acid oxidation rather than glycolysis [80], will also be of great interest. Many other tumours, where the contribution of MCTs is still unknown, could benefit from additional metabolic studies with evaluation of MCT expression.

Additional *in vitro* studies with MCT specific inhibition, evaluating parameters of aggressive behaviour, such as migration, invasion and colony formation capacity will shed some light on the true value of MCTs. Indeed, MCT4 has already been associated with migration capacity [40,81]. Also, by studying the possible contribution of MCT inhibition to the chemopreventive and/or anti-cancer effects of compounds such as quercetin, NSAIDs, statins and lonidamine, MCTs may stand out as important molecular players in cancer and promising therapeutic targets. However, one should always bear in mind that the main goal of MCT1 inhibition is the possible clinical application, so, MCT inhibitors should be subjected to experimental an clinical studies.

As an alternative not yet identified chaperone is suggested to be involved in MCT trafficking to the plasma membrane, additional studies assessing protein interactions with MCTs may bring some new knowledge on MCT regulation. For that, databases of protein interactions would be an important tool to explore.

Besides the more obvious lines that can be further explored, other directions on the assessment of the role of MCTs can be taken, such as the study of other metabolic pathways important in cancer, like glutaminolysis (where lactate is also produced), microenvironmental conditions like acidity and hypoxia, and other players in MCT regulation such as, among others,

HIF-1α, AKT, c-myc and, possibly, HPV. Also, other mechanisms by which MCT expression may be controlled, including gene mutations or methylation, could also provide relevant information regarding MCT tumour alterations.

Importantly, since cell culture does not mimic all real tumour conditions, including O_2 and nutrient limitation, key factors in metabolism, it is fundamental to assess the effects of MCT inhibition in animal models, in what concerns tumour survival and aggressiveness. Therefore, *in vivo* studies, evaluating the effect of MCT inhibition in, among others, tumour growth, angiogenesis and metastisation will be essential. In parallel, as MCTs are also important in physiological homeostasis, toxicological studies to determine MCT inhibition side effects will determine the real potential of MCTs as therapeutic targets in cancer.

In conclusion, the results herein presented encourage the exploitation of MCTs, especially MCT1, as potential targets for cancer therapy, and pave the way for further efforts to understand the role of MCTs in solid tumours. Although major advances have been made with the present work, it elicits for many other studies to complement the present knowledge on MCTs' role in tumour survival and aggressiveness.

7.3. REFERENCES

1. Ritzhaupt A, Wood IS, Ellis A, Hosie KB, Shirazi-Beechey SP. Identification of a monocarboxylate transporter isoform type 1 (MCT1) on the luminal membrane of human and pig colon. Biochem Soc Trans 1998; 26: S120.

2. Froberg MK, Gerhart DZ, Enerson BE, Manivel C, Guzman-Paz M, Seacotte N, Drewes LR. Expression of monocarboxylate transporter MCT1 in normal and neoplastic human CNS tissues. Neuroreport 2001; 12: 761-5.

3. Lambert DW, Wood IS, Ellis A, Shirazi-Beechey SP. Molecular changes in the expression of human colonic nutrient transporters during the transition from normality to malignancy. Br J Cancer 2002; 86: 1262-9.

4. Ladanyi M, Antonescu CR, Drobnjak M, Baren A, Lui MY, Golde DW, Cordon-Cardo C. The precrystalline cytoplasmic granules of alveolar soft part sarcoma contain monocarboxylate transporter 1 and CD147. Am J Pathol 2002; 160: 1215-21.

5. Mathupala SP, Parajuli P, Sloan AE. Silencing of monocarboxylate transporters via small interfering ribonucleic acid inhibits glycolysis and induces cell death in malignant glioma: an in vitro study. Neurosurgery 2004; 55: 1410-9.

6. Koukourakis MI, Giatromanolaki A, Harris AL, Sivridis E. Comparison of metabolic pathways between cancer cells and stromal cells in colorectal carcinomas: a metabolic survival role for tumor-associated stroma. Cancer Res 2006; 66: 632-7.

7. Fang J, Quinones QJ, Holman TL, Morowitz MJ, Wang Q, Zhao H, Sivo F, Maris JM, Wahl ML. The H+-linked monocarboxylate transporter (MCT1/SLC16A1): a potential therapeutic target for high-risk neuroblastoma. Mol Pharmacol 2006; 70: 2108-15.

8. Koukourakis MI, Giatromanolaki A, Bougioukas G, Sivridis E. Lung cancer: a comparative study of metabolism related protein expression in cancer cells and tumor associated stroma. Cancer Biol Ther 2007; 6: 1476-9.

9. Asada K, Miyamoto K, Fukutomi T, Tsuda H, Yagi Y, Wakazono K, Oishi S, Fukui H, Sugimura T, Ushijima T. Reduced expression of GNA11 and silencing of MCT1 in human breast cancers. Oncology 2003; 64: 380-8.

10. Pinheiro C, Reis RM, Ricardo S, Longatto-Filho A, Schmitt F, Baltazar F. Expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1, 2, and 4 in human tumours and their association with CD147 and CD44. J Biomed Biotechnol 2010; 2010: 427694.

11. Yuasa Y. Control of gut differentiation and intestinal-type gastric carcinogenesis. Nat Rev Cancer 2003; 3: 592-600.

12. Nielsen TO, Hsu FD, Jensen K, Cheang M, Karaca G, Hu Z, Hernandez-Boussard T, Livasy C, Cowan D, Dressler L, Akslen LA, Ragaz J, Gown AM, Gilks CB, van de RM, Perou CM. Immunohistochemical and clinical characterization of the basal-like subtype of invasive breast carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 2004; 10: 5367-74.

13. Martinez-Zaguilan R, Seftor EA, Seftor RE, Chu YW, Gillies RJ, Hendrix MJ. Acidic pH enhances the invasive behavior of human melanoma cells. Clin Exp Metastasis 1996; 14: 176-86.

14. Smallbone K, Gavaghan DJ, Gatenby RA, Maini PK. The role of acidity in solid tumour growth and invasion. J Theor Biol 2005; 235: 476-84.

15. Rofstad EK, Mathiesen B, Kindem K, Galappathi K. Acidic extracellular pH promotes experimental metastasis of human melanoma cells in athymic nude mice. Cancer Res 2006; 66: 6699-707.

16. Gatenby RA, Gawlinski ET, Gmitro AF, Kaylor B, Gillies RJ. Acid-mediated tumor invasion: a multidisciplinary study. Cancer Res 2006; 66: 5216-23.

17. Kato Y, Lambert CA, Colige AC, Mineur P, Noel A, Frankenne F, Foidart JM, Baba M, Hata R, Miyazaki K, Tsukuda M. Acidic extracellular pH induces matrix metalloproteinase-9 expression in mouse metastatic melanoma cells through the phospholipase D-mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling. J Biol Chem 2005; 280: 10938-44.

18. Kato Y, Ozawa S, Tsukuda M, Kubota E, Miyazaki K, St-Pierre Y, Hata R. Acidic extracellular pH increases calcium influx-triggered phospholipase D activity along with acidic sphingomyelinase activation to induce matrix metalloproteinase-9 expression in mouse metastatic melanoma. FEBS J 2007; 274: 3171-83.

19. Schwickert G, Walenta S, Sundfor K, Rofstad EK, Mueller-Klieser W. Correlation of high lactate levels in human cervical cancer with incidence of metastasis. Cancer Res 1995; 55: 4757-9.

20. Walenta S, Salameh A, Lyng H, Evensen JF, Mitze M, Rofstad EK, Mueller-Klieser W. Correlation of high lactate levels in head and neck tumors with incidence of metastasis. Am J Pathol 1997; 150: 409-15.

21. Walenta S, Wetterling M, Lehrke M, Schwickert G, Sundfor K, Rofstad EK, Mueller-Klieser W. High lactate levels predict likelihood of metastases, tumor recurrence, and restricted patient survival in human cervical cancers. Cancer Res 2000; 60: 916-21.

22. Fukumura D, Xu L, Chen Y, Gohongi T, Seed B, Jain RK. Hypoxia and acidosis independently up-regulate vascular endothelial growth factor transcription in brain tumors in vivo. Cancer Res 2001; 61: 6020-4.

23. Spector JA, Mehrara BJ, Greenwald JA, Saadeh PB, Steinbrech DS, Bouletreau PJ, Smith LP, Longaker MT. Osteoblast expression of vascular endothelial growth factor is modulated by the extracellular microenvironment. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2001; 280: C72-C80.

24. Brizel DM, Schroeder T, Scher RL, Walenta S, Clough RW, Dewhirst MW, Mueller-Klieser W. Elevated tumor lactate concentrations predict for an increased risk of metastases in head-and-neck cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2001; 51: 349-53.

25. Xu L, Fukumura D, Jain RK. Acidic extracellular pH induces vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in human glioblastoma cells via ERK1/2 MAPK signaling pathway: mechanism of low pH-induced VEGF. J Biol Chem 2002; 277: 11368-74.

26. Lu H, Forbes RA, Verma A. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 activation by aerobic glycolysis implicates the Warburg effect in carcinogenesis. J Biol Chem 2002; 277: 23111-5.

27. Stern R, Shuster S, Neudecker BA, Formby B. Lactate stimulates fibroblast expression of hyaluronan and CD44: the Warburg effect revisited. Exp Cell Res 2002; 276: 24-31.

28. Walenta S, Schroeder T, Mueller-Klieser W. Metabolic mapping with bioluminescence: basic and clinical relevance. Biomol Eng 2002; 18: 249-62.

29. Rudrabhatla SR, Mahaffey CL, Mummert ME. Tumor microenvironment modulates hyaluronan expression: the lactate effect. J Invest Dermatol 2006; 126: 1378-87.

30. Quennet V, Yaromina A, Zips D, Rosner A, Walenta S, Baumann M, Mueller-Klieser W. Tumor lactate content predicts for response to fractionated irradiation of human squamous cell carcinomas in nude mice. Radiother Oncol 2006; 81: 130-5.

31. Fischer K, Hoffmann P, Voelkl S, Meidenbauer N, Ammer J, Edinger M, Gottfried E, Schwarz S, Rothe G, Hoves S, Renner K, Timischl B, Mackensen A, Kunz-Schughart L, Andreesen R, Krause SW, Kreutz M. Inhibitory effect of tumor cell-derived lactic acid on human T cells. Blood 2007; 109: 3812-9.

32. Kumar VB, Viji RI, Kiran MS, Sudhakaran PR. Endothelial cell response to lactate: implication of PAR modification of VEGF. J Cell Physiol 2007; 211: 477-85.

33. Hunt TK, Aslam RS, Beckert S, Wagner S, Ghani QP, Hussain MZ, Roy S, Sen CK. Aerobically derived lactate stimulates revascularization and tissue repair via redox mechanisms. Antioxid Redox Signal 2007; 9: 1115-24.

34. Sonveaux P, Vegran F, Schroeder T, Wergin MC, Verrax J, Rabbani ZN, De Saedeleer CJ, Kennedy KM, Diepart C, Jordan BF, Kelley MJ, Gallez B, Wahl ML, Feron O, Dewhirst MW. Targeting lactate-fueled respiration selectively kills hypoxic tumor cells in mice. J Clin Invest 2008; 118: 3930-42.

35. Kirk P, Wilson MC, Heddle C, Brown MH, Barclay AN, Halestrap AP. CD147 is tightly associated with lactate transporters MCT1 and MCT4 and facilitates their cell surface expression. EMBO J 2000; 19: 3896-904.
36. Makuc J, Cappellaro C, Boles E. Co-expression of a mammalian accessory trafficking protein enables functional expression of the rat MCT1 monocarboxylate transporter in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. FEMS Yeast Res 2004; 4: 795-801.

37. Philp NJ, Ochrietor JD, Rudoy C, Muramatsu T, Linser PJ. Loss of MCT1, MCT3, and MCT4 expression in the retinal pigment epithelium and neural retina of the 5A11/basigin-null mouse. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2003; 44: 1305-11.

38. Deora AA, Philp N, Hu J, Bok D, Rodriguez-Boulan E. Mechanisms regulating tissuespecific polarity of monocarboxylate transporters and their chaperone CD147 in kidney and retinal epithelia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005; 102: 16245-50.

39. Wilson MC, Meredith D, Fox JE, Manoharan C, Davies AJ, Halestrap AP. Basigin (CD147) is the target for organomercurial inhibition of monocarboxylate transporter isoforms 1 and 4: the ancillary protein for the insensitive MCT2 is EMBIGIN (gp70). J Biol Chem 2005; 280: 27213-21.

40. Gallagher SM, Castorino JJ, Wang D, Philp NJ. Monocarboxylate transporter 4 regulates maturation and trafficking of CD147 to the plasma membrane in the metastatic breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231. Cancer Res 2007; 67: 4182-9.

41. Schneiderhan W, Scheler M, Holzmann KH, Marx M, Gschwend JE, Buchholz M, Gress TM, Adler G, Seufferlein T, Oswald F. CD147 Silencing Inhibits Lactate Transport and Reduces Malignant Potential of pancreatic cancer cells in in-vivo and in-vitro Models. Gut 2009; 58: 1391-8.

42. Su J, Chen X, Kanekura T. A CD147-targeting siRNA inhibits the proliferation, invasiveness, and VEGF production of human malignant melanoma cells by down-regulating glycolysis. Cancer Lett 2009; 273: 140-7.

43. Baba M, Inoue M, Itoh K, Nishizawa Y. Blocking CD147 induces cell death in cancer cells through impairment of glycolytic energy metabolism. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2008; 374: 111-6.

44. Nabeshima K, Iwasaki H, Koga K, Hojo H, Suzumiya J, Kikuchi M. Emmprin (basigin/CD147): matrix metalloproteinase modulator and multifunctional cell recognition molecule that plays a critical role in cancer progression. Pathol Int 2006; 56: 359-67.

45. Yan L, Zucker S, Toole BP. Roles of the multifunctional glycoprotein, emmprin (basigin; CD147), in tumour progression. Thromb Haemost 2005; 93: 199-204.

46. Iacono KT, Brown AL, Greene MI, Saouaf SJ. CD147 immunoglobulin superfamily receptor function and role in pathology. Exp Mol Pathol 2007; 83: 283-95.

47. Slomiany MG, Grass GD, Robertson AD, Yang XY, Maria BL, Beeson C, Toole BP. Hyaluronan, CD44, and emmprin regulate lactate efflux and membrane localization of monocarboxylate transporters in human breast carcinoma cells. Cancer Res 2009; 69: 1293-301.

48. Marhaba R, Zoller M. CD44 in cancer progression: adhesion, migration and growth regulation. J Mol Histol 2004; 35: 211-31.

49. Toole BP, Slomiany MG. Hyaluronan, CD44 and Emmprin: partners in cancer cell chemoresistance. Drug Resist Updat 2008; 11: 110-21.

50. Toole BP, Slomiany MG. Hyaluronan: a constitutive regulator of chemoresistance and malignancy in cancer cells. Semin Cancer Biol 2008; 18: 244-50.

51. Walboomers JM, Jacobs MV, Manos MM, Bosch FX, Kummer JA, Shah KV, Snijders PJ, Peto J, Meijer CJ, Munoz N. Human papillomavirus is a necessary cause of invasive cervical cancer worldwide. J Pathol 1999; 189: 12-9.

52. Finzer P, guilar-Lemarroy A, Rosl F. The role of human papillomavirus oncoproteins E6 and E7 in apoptosis. Cancer Lett 2002; 188: 15-24.

53. Doorbar J. Molecular biology of human papillomavirus infection and cervical cancer. Clin Sci (Lond) 2006; 110: 525-41.

54. Peter M, Rosty C, Couturier J, Radvanyi F, Teshima H, Sastre-Garau X. MYC activation associated with the integration of HPV DNA at the MYC locus in genital tumors. Oncogene 2006; 25: 5985-93.

55. Tang X, Zhang Q, Nishitani J, Brown J, Shi S, Le AD. Overexpression of human papillomavirus type 16 oncoproteins enhances hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha protein accumulation and vascular endothelial growth factor expression in human cervical carcinoma cells. Clin Cancer Res 2007; 13: 2568-76.

56. Coller HA, Grandori C, Tamayo P, Colbert T, Lander ES, Eisenman RN, Golub TR. Expression analysis with oligonucleotide microarrays reveals that MYC regulates genes involved in growth, cell cycle, signaling, and adhesion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000; 97: 3260-5.

57. Zhang F, Vannucci SJ, Philp NJ, Simpson IA. Monocarboxylate transporter expression in the spontaneous hypertensive rat: effect of stroke. J Neurosci Res 2005; 79: 139-45.

58. Ullah MS, Davies AJ, Halestrap AP. The plasma membrane lactate transporter MCT4, but not MCT1, is up-regulated by hypoxia through a HIF-1alpha-dependent mechanism. J Biol Chem 2006; 281: 9030-7.

59. Kang KW, Im YB, Go WJ, Han HK. C-myc amplification altered the gene expression of ABC- and SLC-transporters in human breast epithelial cells. Mol Pharm 2009; 6: 627-33.

60. Perez de HF, Wood IS, Trayhurn P. Hypoxia stimulates lactate release and modulates monocarboxylate transporter (MCT1, MCT2, and MCT4) expression in human adipocytes. Pflugers Arch 2009.

61. McClelland GB, Brooks GA. Changes in MCT 1, MCT 4, and LDH expression are tissue specific in rats after long-term hypobaric hypoxia. J Appl Physiol 2002; 92: 1573-84.

62. Ord JJ, Streeter EH, Roberts IS, Cranston D, Harris AL. Comparison of hypoxia transcriptome in vitro with in vivo gene expression in human bladder cancer. Br J Cancer 2005; 93: 346-54.

63. Kay HH, Zhu S, Tsoi S. Hypoxia and lactate production in trophoblast cells. Placenta 2007; 28: 854-60.

64. Vordermark D, Brown JM. Endogenous markers of tumor hypoxia predictors of clinical radiation resistance? Strahlenther Onkol 2003; 179: 801-11.

65. Wahl ML, Owen JA, Burd R, Herlands RA, Nogami SS, Rodeck U, Berd D, Leeper DB, Owen CS. Regulation of intracellular pH in human melanoma: potential therapeutic implications. Mol Cancer Ther 2002; 1: 617-28.

66. Colen CB, Seraji-Bozorgzad N, Marples B, Galloway MP, Sloan AE, Mathupala SP. Metabolic remodeling of malignant gliomas for enhanced sensitization during radiotherapy: an in vitro study. Neurosurgery 2006; 59: 1313-23.

67. Deuticke B. Monocarboxylate transport in erythrocytes. J Membr Biol 1982; 70: 89-103.

68. Murakami A, Ashida H, Terao J. Multitargeted cancer prevention by quercetin. Cancer Lett 2008; 269: 315-25.

69. Kashfi K, Rigas B. Non-COX-2 targets and cancer: expanding the molecular target repertoire of chemoprevention. Biochem Pharmacol 2005; 70: 969-86.

70. Kashfi K, Rigas B. Is COX-2 a 'collateral' target in cancer prevention? Biochem Soc Trans 2005; 33: 724-7.

71. Pereg D, Lishner M. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs for the prevention and treatment of cancer. J Intern Med 2005; 258: 115-23.

72. Li Y, Brown PH. Translational approaches for the prevention of estrogen receptornegative breast cancer. Eur J Cancer Prev 2007; 16: 203-15.

73. Colli JL, Amling CL. Chemoprevention of prostate cancer: what can be recommended to patients? Curr Urol Rep 2009; 10: 165-71.

74. Li Y, Brown PH. Prevention of ER-negative breast cancer. Recent Results Cancer Res 2009; 181: 121-34.

75. Half E, Arber N. Colon cancer: preventive agents and the present status of chemoprevention. Expert Opin Pharmacother 2009; 10: 211-9.

76. Di CS, Ferretti G, Papaldo P, Carlini P, Fabi A, Cognetti F. Lonidamine: efficacy and safety in clinical trials for the treatment of solid tumors. Drugs Today (Barc) 2003; 39: 157-74.

77. Kennedy KM, Dewhirst MW. Tumor metabolism of lactate: the influence and therapeutic potential for MCT and CD147 regulation. Future Oncol 2010; 6: 127-48.

78. Gatenby RA, Gillies RJ. Why do cancers have high aerobic glycolysis? Nat Rev Cancer 2004; 4: 891-9.

79. Gillies RJ, Gatenby RA. Hypoxia and adaptive landscapes in the evolution of carcinogenesis. Cancer Metastasis Rev 2007; 26: 311-7.

80. Liu Y. Fatty acid oxidation is a dominant bioenergetic pathway in prostate cancer. Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis 2006; 9: 230-4.

81. Gallagher SM, Castorino JJ, Philp NJ. Interaction of monocarboxylate transporter 4 with (beta)1-integrin and its role in cell migration. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2009; 296: C414-C421.

APPENDIX I

Atlas of Genetics and Cytogenetics in Oncology and Haematology

Home Genes Leukemias Solid Tumours Cancer-Prone Deep Insight Case Reports Journals Portal Teaching

 $X\,Y\,1\,2\,3\,4\,5\,6\,7\,8\,9\,10\,11\,12\,13\,14\,15\,16\,17\,18\,19\,20\,21\,22\,\text{NA}$

SLC16A1 (solute carrier family 16, member 1 (monocarboxylic acid transporter 1))

Identity

Other names	FLJ36745
	HHF7
	MCT
	MCT1
	MGC44475
HGNC (Hugo)	SLC16A1
Location	1p13.2
Location_base_pair	Starts at 113454472 and ends at 113498685 bp from pter (according to hg19-Feb_2009) [Mapping]
DNA/RNA	

Note	Human SLC16A1 was firstly cloned in 1994, by Garcia and colleagues. Structural gene organization as well as isolation and characterization of SLC16A1 promoter was achieved in 2002, by Cuff and Shirazi-Beechey.
Description	44507 bp lenght, containing 5 exons. Various SNPs have been described in SLC16A1 gene.
Transcription	6 transcripts have been described for this gene (4 with protein product, 2 with no protein product): SLC16A1-001 (5 exons; 3910 bps transcript length; 500 residues translation length); SLC16A1-002 (5 exons; 2101 bps transcript length; 456 residues translation length); SLC16A1-003 (4 exons; 865 bps transcript length; 215 residues translation length); SLC16A1-004 (2 exons; 452 bps transcript length; no translation product); SLC16A1-005 (4 exons; 1099 bps transcript length; 296 residues translation length); SLC16A1-006 (2 exons; 430 bps transcript length; no translation product).

Pseudogene 1 related pseudogene identified - AKR7 family pseudogene (AFARP1), non-coding RNA.

Protein



Description

Prote in diagram drawn following UniProtKB/Swiss-Prot database prediction, using TMRPres2D software.

500 amino acids; 53958 Da; 12 transmembrane domains, intracellular N- and C-terminal and a large intracellular loop between transmembrane domains 6 and 7. Ubiquitous.

Expression Localisation

Plasma membrane; also described in rat mitochondrial and peroxisomal membranes.

Function	Catalyses the proton-linked transport of metabolically important monocarboxylates such as lactate, pyruvate, branched-chain oxo acids derived from leucine, valine and isoleucine, and ketone bodies (acetoacetate, beta-hydroxybutyrate and acetate).			
Homology	Belongs to the major facilitator superfamily (MFS). Monocarboxylate porter (TC 2.A.1.13) family. SLC16A1 gene is conserved in chimpanzee, dog, cow, mouse, rat, chicken, and zebrafish.			
Implicated in				
Entity	Various cancers			
Note	MCT1/SLC16A1 has been described to be upregulated in a variety of tumours.			
Disease	High grade <u>glial neoplasms</u> (Mathupala et al., 2004; Fang et al., 2006), colorectal (Koukourakis et al., 2006; Pinheiro et al., 2008), <u>lung</u> (Koukourakis et al., 2007), <u>cervical</u> (Pinheiro et al., 2008), and breast carcinomas (Pinheiro et al., in Press).			
Entity	Breast cancer			
Prognosis	In breast cancer, MCT1/SLC16A1 was found to be associated with poor prognostic variables such as basal-like subtype and high grade tumours (Pinheiro et al., in Press).			
Oncogenesis	SLC16A1 is expressed in normal breast tissue, but is silenced in breast cancer due to gene methylation (Asada et al., 2003).			
Entity	Gastric cancer			
Note	The prognostic value of CD147 (a MCT1/SLC16A1 and MCT4/SLC16A3 chaperone required for plasma membrane expression and activity) was associated with MCT1/SLC16A1 co-expression in gastric cancer cells (Pinheiro et al., 2009).			
Prognosis	Co-expression of MCT1/SLC16A1 with CD147 was associated with advanced gastric carcinoma, Lauren's intestinal type, TNM staging and lymph-node metastasis, in gastric cancer.			
Entity	Colorectal carcinoma			
Note	MCT1/SLC16A1 has been described to be downregulated in colorectal carcinoma (Lamber et al., 2002).			
Entity	Erythrocyte lactate transporter defect			
Note	Merezhinskaya et al. (2000) identified two heterozygous transitions in the SLC16A1 gene, in patients with erythrocyte lactate transporter defect: 610A-G transition (resulting in a lys204-to-glu (K204E) substitution in a highly conserved residue) and 1414G-A transition (resulting in a gly472-to-arg (G472R) substitution halfway along the cytoplasmic C-terminal chain).			
	These substitutions are not conserved, but were not identified in 90 healthy control individuals. Erythrocyte lactate clearance in patients with these mutations was 40 to 50% that of normal control values.			
Entity	Hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemia familial 7			
Note	Otonkoski et al. (2007) identified two heterozygotic alterations in the SLC16A1, in affected members of a Finnish family segregating autosomal dominant exercise-induced hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemia. First, a 163G-A transition in exon 1 located within a binding site for nuclear matrix protein-1 and predicted to disrupt the binding sites of 2 potential transcriptional repressors, and, secondly, a 25-bp insertion at nucleotide -24 introducing additional binding sites for the ubiquitous transcription factors SP1, USF and MZF1. The first variation leads to a 3-fold increase in transcription while the second variation leads to a 10-fold increase in transcription. These mutations were not found in 92 Finnish and German controls.			

External links

	Nomenclature
HGNC (Hugo)	<u>SLC16A1</u> 10922
Entrez Gene (NCBI)	SLC16A1_6566 solute carrier family 16, member 1 (monocarboxylic acid transporter 1)
	Cards
Atlas	SLC16A1ID44046ch1p13
GeneCards (Weizmann)	SLC16A1
Ensembl (Hinxton)	ENSG00000155380 [Gene_View] SLC16A1 [Vega]
AceView (NCBI)	SLC16A1
Genatlas (Paris)	SLC16A1
euGene (Indiana)	6566
SOURCE (Stanford)	<u>NM 001166496 NM 003051</u>
Gene Expression (Array Express)	ENSG00000155380
	Genomic and cartography
GoldenPath (UCSC)	<u>SLC16A1</u> - <u>1p13.2</u> <u>chr1:113454472-113498685 - 1p12</u> [Description] (hg19-Feb_2009)
Ensembl	SLC16A1 - 1p12 [CytoView]

Mapping of homologs : NCBI	SLC16A1 [Mapview]
OMIM	245340 600682 610021
	Gene and transcription
Gene : <u>Genbank</u> (<u>Entrez)</u>	AI656300 AJ438942 AJ438943 AK000641 AK094064
Reference sequence (RefSeq transcript) : <u>SRS</u>	<u>NM_001166496 NM_003051</u>
Reference transcript : Entrez	<u>NM 001166496 NM 003051</u>
RefSeq genomic : SRS	AC 000044 AC 000133 NC 000001 NG 015880 NT 032977 NW 001838594 NW 922462
RefSeq genomic : <u>Entrez</u>	AC 000044 AC 000133 NC 000001 NG 015880 NT 032977 NW 001838594 NW 922462
Consensus coding sequences : <u>CCDS</u> <u>NCBI</u>	<u>SLC16A1</u>
Cluster EST : Unigene	<u>Hs.75231</u> [SRS] <u>Hs.75231</u> [NCBI]
Fast-db (Paris)	17105
	Protein : pattern, domain, 3D structure
Protein :	P53985 (SRS) P53985 (Expany) P53985 (Uniprot)
With graphics : InterPro	P53985
Splice isoforms :	D52005
VarSplice FASTA	<u>PO3985</u> (VarSplice FASTA)
Domaine pattern : <u>Prosite (SRS)</u>	<u>MFS</u> (PS50850)
Prosite (Expaxy)	<u>MFS</u> (PS50850)
Domains : <u>Interpro</u> (SRS)	MFS 1 MFS general subst transpt Monocarb transpt
Domains : <u>Interpro</u> (EBI)	MFS 1 MFS general subst transpt Monocarb transpt
Related proteins : CluSTr	<u>P53985</u>
Domain families : <u>Pfam</u> <u>SRS</u>	<u>MFS_1</u> (PF07690)
Domain families : <u>Pfam</u> <u>Sanger</u>	<u>MFS_1</u> (PF07690)
Domain families : <u>Pfam</u> <u>NCBI</u>	<u>pfam07690</u>
Blocks (Seattle)	<u>P53985</u>
Crystal structure of protein : <u>PDB SRS</u>	
Crystal structure of protein : PDBSum	
Crystal structure of	
protein : IMB	
Crystal structure of protein : <u>PDB RSDB</u>	
Human Protein Atlas	ENSG00000155380
HPRD	U2810 Pratein Interaction databases
DIP (DOE-UCLA)	P53985
IntAct (EBI)	P53985
FunCoup	ENSG00000155380 Polymorphism : SNP mutations, diseases
Single Nucleotide Polymorphism (SNP) : dbSNP NCBI	<u>SLC16A1</u>
SNP : GeneSNP Utah	SLC16A1
SNP : HGBase	SLC16A1

Domains : <u>Interpro</u> (EBI)	MFS 1 MFS general subst transpt Monocarb transpt
Related proteins : CluSTr	<u>P53985</u>
Domain families : <u>Pfam</u> <u>SRS</u>	<u>MFS 1</u> (PF07690)
Domain families : Pfam Sanger	<u>MFS 1</u> (PF07690)
Domain families : <u>Pfam</u> <u>NCBI</u>	pfam07690
Blocks (Seattle)	<u>P53985</u>
protein : <u>PDB SRS</u>	
Crystal structure of protein : <u>PDBSum</u>	
Crystal structure of protein : <u>IMB</u>	
Crystal structure of protein : <u>PDB RSDB</u>	
Human Protein Atlas	ENSG00000155380
HPRD	02816 Protein Interaction databases
DIP (DOE-UCLA)	P53985
IntAct (EBI)	<u>P53985</u>
FunCoup	ENSG00000155380
0. I.N. I	Polymorphism : SNP, mutations, diseases
Single Nucleotide Polymorphism (SNP) : <u>dbSNP NCBI</u>	SLC16A1
SNP : GeneSNP Utah	SLC16A1
SNP : HGBase	SLC16A1
Genetic variants : HAPMAP	SLC16A1
Somatic Mutations in Cancer : <u>COSMIC</u>	<u>SLC16A1</u>
Mutations and Diseases : <u>HGMD</u>	SLC16A1
Hereditary diseases : OMIM	<u>245340</u> <u>600682</u> <u>610021</u>
Hereditary diseases : GENETests	<u>245340</u> <u>600682</u> <u>610021</u>
Diseases : <u>Genetic</u> Association	SLC16A1
	General knowledge
Homologs : HomoloGene	<u>SLC16A1</u>
Homology/Alignments : Family Browser UCSC	SLC16A1
Phylogenetic Trees/Animal Genes : <u>TreeFam</u>	<u>SLC16A1</u>
Chemical/Protein Interactions : CTD	<u>6566</u>
Keywords Ontology : AmiGO	protein binding membrane fraction plasma membrane plasma membrane pyruvate metabolic process monocarboxylic acid transmembrane transporter activity mevalonate transmembrane transporter activity symporter activity secondary active monocarboxylate transmembrane transporter activity organic anion transport monocarboxylic acid transport mevalonate transport integral to membrane transmembrane transport
Keywords Ontology : <u>EGO-EBI</u>	protein binding membrane fraction plasma membrane plasma membrane pyruvate metabolic process monocarboxylic acid transmembrane transporter activity secondary active monocarboxylate transmembrane transporter activity symporter activity secondary active monocarboxylate transmembrane transporter activity organic anion transport monocarboxylic acid transport mevalonate transport integral to membrane transmembrane transport
Pathways : BIOCARTA	

Pathways : KEGG

Other databases Probes

Probes : Imagenes SLC16A1 Related clones (RZPD - Berlin) Literature PubMed 52 Pubmed reference(s) in Entrez PubGene SLC16A1

Bibliography

cDNA cloning of the human monocarboxylate transporter 1 and chromosomal localization of the SLC16A1 locus to 1p13.2-p12. Garcia CK, Li X, Luna J, Francke U. Genomics. 1994 Sep 15;23(2):500-3. PMID <u>7835905</u>

Cardiac and skeletal muscle mitochondria have a monocarboxylate transporter MCT1. Brooks GA, Brown MA, Butz CE, Sicurello JP, Dubouchaud H. J Appl Physiol. 1999 Nov;87(5):1713-8. PMID <u>10562613</u>

Mutations in MCT1 cDNA in patients with symptomatic deficiency in lactate transport. Merezhinskaya N, Fishbein WN, Davis JI, Foellmer JW. Muscle Nerve. 2000 Jan;23(1):90-7. PMID <u>10590411</u>

The human monocarboxylate transporter, MCT1: genomic organization and promoter analysis. Cuff MA, Shirazi-Beechey SP. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2002 Apr 12;292(4):1048-56. PMID <u>11944921</u>

Molecular changes in the expression of human colonic nutrient transporters during the transition from normality to malignancy. Lambert DW, Wood IS, Ellis A, Shirazi-Beechey SP. Br J Cancer. 2002 Apr 22;86(8):1262-9. PMID <u>11953883</u>

Reduced expression of GNA11 and silencing of MCT1 in human breast cancers. Asada K, Miyamoto K, Fukutomi T, Tsuda H, Yagi Y, Wakazono K, Oishi S, Fukui H, Sugimura T, Ushijima T. Oncology. 2003;64(4):380-8. PMID <u>12759536</u>

Peroxisomal membrane monocarboxylate transporters: evidence for a redox shuttle system? McClelland GB, Khanna S, Gonzalez GF, Butz CE, Brooks GA. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2003 Apr 25;304(1):130-5. PMID <u>12705896</u>

The SLC16 gene family-from monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs) to aromatic amino acid transporters and beyond. Halestrap AP, Meredith D. Pflugers Arch. 2004 Feb;447(5):619-28. Epub 2003 May 9. (REVIEW) PMID <u>12739169</u>

Silencing of monocarboxylate transporters via small interfering ribonucleic acid inhibits glycolysis and induces cell death in malignant glioma: an in vitro study.

Mathupala SP, Parajuli P, Sloan AE. Neurosurgery. 2004 Dec;55(6):1410-9; discussion 1419. PMID <u>15574223</u>

The H+-linked monocarboxylate transporter (MCT1/SLC16A1): a potential therapeutic target for high-risk neuroblastoma. Fang J, Quinones QJ, Holman TL, Morowitz MJ, Wang Q, Zhao H, Sivo F, Maris JM, Wahl ML. Mol Pharmacol. 2006 Dec;70(6):2108-15. Epub 2006 Sep 25. PMID <u>17000864</u>

Comparison of metabolic pathways between cancer cells and stromal cells in colorectal carcinomas: a metabolic survival role for tumorassociated stroma. Koukourakis MI, Giatromanolaki A, Harris AL, Sivridis E. Cancer Res. 2006 Jan 15;66(2):632-7. PMID <u>16423989</u> Lung cancer: a comparative study of metabolism related protein expression in cancer cells and tumor associated stroma.

Lung cancer: a comparative study of metabolism related protein expression in cancer cells and tumor associated stroma. Koukourakis MI, Giatromanolaki A, Bougioukas G, Sivridis E, Cancer Biol Ther. 2007 Sep;6(9):1476-9. Epub 2007 Jun 27. PMID <u>17881895</u>

Physical exercise- Otonkoski T, Jiao I Rutter GA, Kere J.	induced H, Kamin	l hypoglyce nen-Ahola N	mia caused by fai I, Tapia-Paez I, Ull	iled silencing of a ah MS, Parton LE	monocarboxyl 2, Schuit F, Quir	late transporte ntens R, Sipila I,	r 1 in pancreatic beta cells. , Mayatepek E, Meissner T, Halestrap AP,
Am J Hum Genet, 1 PMID <u>17701893</u>	2007 Sep	5;81(3):467-	74, Epub 2007 Jul	26,			
Increased express Pinheiro C, Longat Virchows Arch. 20 PMID <u>18188595</u>	ion of m to-Filho 08 Feb;4	onocarbox; A, Scapulat 52(2):139-4	y late transporters empo C, Ferreira L 16. Epub 2008 Jan 1	1, 2, and 4 in col , Martins S, Pelle 10.	orectal carcino rin L, Rodrigue	o mas. s M, Alves VA,	Schmitt F, Baltazar F.
Increasing express Pinheiro C, Longat Int J Gynecol Patho PMID <u>18753962</u>	sion of n to-Filho ol. 2008	nonocarbox A, Ferreira Oct;27(4):5	ylate transporters L, Pereira SM, Etlin 58-74.	s 1 and 4 along pa nger D, Moreira N	rogression to ir A, Jubé LF, Q	nvasive cervical Jueiroz GS, Schn	carcinoma. nitt F, Baltazar F.
The prognostic va Pinheiro C, Longat Eur J Cancer. 2009 PMID <u>19628385</u>	lue of C to-Filho Sep;45(D147/EMN A, Simoes I 13):2418-24	IPRIN is associate K, Jacob CE, Bresci I. Epub 2009 Jul 21	d with monocarl iani CJ, Zilberstei	ooxylate transp n B, Cecconello	p orter 1 co-expr o I, Alves VA, S	ression in gastric cancer. chmitt F, Baltazar F.
Monocarbøxylate Pinheiro C, Alberg Histopathology In j	transpo aria A, P press	rter 1 is up Paredes J, Sc	regulated in basal- usa B, Dufloth R, V	-like breast carci √ieira D, Schmitt	noma. F, Baltazar F.		
REVIEW articles Last year publicat	tions	a	<i>utomatic</i> search in F <i>utomatic</i> search in F	PubMed PubMed			
Search in all							
<u>EBI NCBI</u>							
Contributor(s)							
Written	02-2	.010 0	Véline Pinheiro, Fá	itima Baltazar			
		I	ife and Health Scienc raga, Portugal	es Research Institut	e, School of Healt	th Sciences, Univer	sity of Minho, Campus of Gualtar, 4710-057
Citation							
This paper should	be refe	renced as su	ch:				
Pinheiro C, Balta Haematol. Febru URL : http://Atla	zar F . S ary 2010 sGeneti	SLC16A1 (s) . csOncology	olute carrier fami .org/Genes/SLC1	ly 16, member 1 6A1ID44046ch1p	(monocarboxy o13.html	ylic acid transp	orter 1)). Atlas Genet Cytogenet Oncol
© Atlas of Genetics a	nd Cytoge	netics in Onc	ology and Haematolog	у			indexed on : Fri May 28 19:19:11 CEST 2010
Home	Genes	Leukemia	s Solid Tumours	Cancer-Prone	Deep Insight	Case Reports	Journals Portal Teaching
			For comments a	nd suggestions o	contributions	s, please contact	tus

ilhuret@AtlasGeneticsOncology.org.

APPENDIX II

Atlas of Genetics and Cytogenetics in Oncology and Haematology

Home Genes Leukemias Solid Tumours Cancer-Prone Deep Insight Case Reports Journals Portal Teaching

X Y 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 NA

SLC16A3 (solute carrier family 16, member 3 (monocarboxylic acid transporter 4))

Identity

Other names	MCT3
	MCT4
	MGC138472
	MGC138474
HGNC (Hugo)	SLC16A3
Location	17q25.3
Location_base_pair	Starts at 80186293 and ends at 80197368 bp from pter ($according$ to $hg19\mathchar{Feb}\space2009)$

DNA/RNA

Note	SLC16A3 was first cloned from human circulating blood by Price et al. (1998).
Description	11077 bp lenght, 5 exons.
Transcription	3 transcripts have been described for this gene (all with protein product): SLC16A3-201, (5 exons; 2033 bps transcript length; 465 residues translation length); SLC16A3-202 (4 exons; 4222 bps transcript length; 465 residues translation length); SLC16A3-203 (5 exons; 2054 bps transcript length; 465 residues translation length).

Protein



 Prote in diagram drawn follow in 	g UniProtKB/Swiss-Prot database	e prediction, using TMRPres2D software.
--	---------------------------------	---

Description	465 residues; 49469 Da; 12 transmembrane domains; intracellular N- and C-terminals.
Expression	SLC16A3/MCT4 is expressed in tissues such as white skeletal muscle fibres, astrocytes, white blood cells, chondrocytes, testis, lung, placenta, heart and some mammalian cell lines (Halestrap and Meredith, 2004; Meredith and Christian, 2008).
Localisation	Plasma membrane.
Function	Proton-linked monocarboxylate transporter. Catalyzes plasma membrane transport of monocarboxylates such as lactate, pyruvate, branched-chain oxo acids derived from leucine, valine and isoleucine, and the ketone bodies acetoacetate, beta- hydroxybutyrate and acetate.
Homology	Belongs to the major facilitator superfamily (MFS). Monocarboxylate porter (TC 2.A.1.13) family. The SLC16A3 gene is conserved in chimpanzee, dog, cow, mouse, rat, chicken, zebrafish, and M. grisea.

Homology

203

Implicated in

Entity Note	<u>Colorectal carcinoma</u> SLC16A3/MCT4 protein is overexpressed in colorectal cancer (Pinheiro et al., 2008a).
Entity Note	<u>Cervical cancer</u> SLC16A3/MCT4 protein is overexpressed in cervical cancer (Pinheiro et al., 2008b). SLC16A3/MCT4 protein overexpression in cervical cancer correlated with positivity for high-risk HPV (Pinheiro et al., 2008b).
Entity Note	Bladder cancer SLC16A3 gene expression was upregulated in some bladder tumours and induced by hypoxia in bladder cancer cell lines, but not in cultures of normal urothelium (Ord et al., 2005).
Entity Note	Breast cancer Induction was also seen in two breast cancer cell lines. Expression of SLC16A3 gene is higher in breast cancer distant metastasis as compared to primary tumours or regional metastasis. SLC16A3 gene was then included in the 'VEGF profile' of breast cancer, associated with promotion of vessel formation, survival under anaerobic conditions and loss of dependence upon fibroblasts (Hu et al., 2009).
Entity Note	Ovarian cancer SLC16A3 gene expression was described to be downregulated in malignant ovarian tumours as compared to normal ovarian surface epithelial cells. Additionally, the non-tumorigenic cell line TOV-81D presented higher expression that tumorigenic cell lines (Wojnarowicz et al., 2008). SLC16A3 gene, among other transporter genes, was differentially expressed in a chemotherapy resistant ovarian cancer cell line and tumour tissue as compared to a chemosensitive cell line and tumour tissue. It was suggested that these transporters might be involved in drug influx/efflux, modulating chemotherapy response (Cheng et al., 2010).
Entity Note	Mitochondrial myopathy SLC16A3/MCT4 overexpression was described in a patient with a mitochondrial myopathy (Baker et al., 2001).
Entity	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
Note	SLC16A3/MCT4 downregulation was described in the vastus lateralis muscle of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease as compared with healthy controls (Green et al., 2008).

External links

	Nomenclature
HGNC (Hugo)	<u>SLC16A3</u> 10924
Entrez Gene (NCBI)	SLC16A3 9123 solute carrier family 16, member 3 (monocarboxylic acid transporter 4)
	Cards
Atlas	SLC16A3ID44573ch17q25
GeneCards (Weizmann)	<u>SLC16A3</u>
Ensembl (Hinxton)	ENSG00000141526 [Gene_View] SLC16A3 [Vega]
AceView (NCBI)	<u>SLC16A3</u>
Genatlas (Paris)	<u>SLC16A3</u>
euGene (Indiana)	9123
SOURCE (Stanford)	<u>NM 001042422 NM 001042423 NM 004207</u>
Gene Expression (Array Express)	ENSG00000141526
	Genomic and cartography
GoldenPath (UCSC)	<u>SLC16A3</u> - <u>17q25.3</u> <u>chr17:80186293-80197368 + 17q25</u> [Description] (hg19-Feb_2009)
Ensembl	SLC16A3 - 17q25 [CytoView]
Mapping of homologs : <u>NCBI</u>	SLC16A3 [Mapview]
OMIM	<u>603877</u>
	Gene and transcription
Gene : <u>Genbank</u> (<u>Entrez)</u>	<u>AK127319 AK223040 BC112267 BC112269 CR604145</u>
Reference sequence (RefSeq transcript) : <u>SRS</u>	<u>NM 001042422 NM 001042423 NM 004207</u>

Reference transcript : Entrez	<u>NM 001042422 NM 001042423 NM 004207</u>
RefSeq genomic : SRS	AC 000060 AC 000149 NC 000017 NT 010663 NW 001838459 NW 926918
RefSeq genomic : Entrez	AC 000060 AC 000149 NC 000017 NT 010663 NW 001838459 NW 926918
Consensus coding sequences : <u>CCDS</u> NCBI	<u>SLC16A3</u>
Cluster EST : Unigene	<u>Hs.500761</u> [SRS] <u>Hs.500761</u> [NCBI] Protein : pattern, domain, 3D structure
Protein :	015427 (BRS) 015427 (Terrin) 015427 (Terrin)
UniProt/SwissProt	015427 (Sk3) 015427 (Expasy) 015427 (Uniprot)
With graphics : InterPro	015427
VarSplice FASTA	O15427(VarSplice FASTA)
Domaine pattern : <u>Prosite (SRS)</u>	<u>MFS</u> (PS50850)
Domain pattern : Prosite (Expaxy)	<u>MFS</u> (PS50850)
Domains : <u>Interpro</u> (SRS)	MFS 1 MFS general subst transpt Monocarb transpt
Domains : <u>Interpro</u> (EBI)	MFS 1 MFS general subst transpt Monocarb transpt
Related proteins : CluSTr	<u>015427</u>
Domain families : <u>Pfam</u> <u>SRS</u>	<u>MFS 1</u> (PF07690)
Domain families : <u>Pfam</u> <u>Sanger</u>	<u>MFS 1</u> (PF07690)
Domain families : <u>Pfam</u> <u>NCBI</u>	pfam07690
Blocks (Seattle)	<u>O15427</u>
Crystal structure of	
protein : PDB SRS	
Crystal structure of protein : <u>PDBSum</u>	
Crystal structure of	
protein : <u>IMB</u> Crustel structure of	
protein : <u>PDB RSDB</u>	
<u>Human Protein Atlas</u> <u>HPRD</u>	ENSG00000141526 04854
	Protein Interaction databases
DIP (DOE-UCLA)	<u>015427</u>
IntAct (EBI)	<u>015427</u>
FunCoup	ENSG00000141526
	Polymorphism : SNP, mutations, diseases
Single Nucleotide Polymorphism (SNP) : <u>dbSNP NCBI</u>	SLC16A3
SNP : GeneSNP Utah	SLC16A3
SNP : HGBase	SLC16A3
Genetic variants : <u>HAPMAP</u>	SLC16A3
Somatic Mutations in Cancer : <u>COSMIC</u>	SLC16A3
Mutations and Diseases : HGMD	<u>SLC16A3</u>
Hereditary diseases : OMIM	<u>603877</u>
Hereditary diseases : GENETests	603877

Diseases : <u>Genetic</u> Association	<u>SLC16A3</u>
	General knowledge
Homologs : HomoloGene	<u>SLC16A3</u>
Homology/Alignments : Family Browser UCSC	SLC16A3
Phylogenetic Trees/Animal Genes : <u>TreeFam</u>	<u>SLC16A3</u>
Chemical/Protein Interactions : <u>CTD</u>	9123
Keywords Ontology : <u>AmiGO</u>	membrane fraction plasma membrane integral to plasma membrane pyruvate metabolic process monocarboxylic acid transmembrane transporter activity symporter activity secondary active monocarboxylate transmembrane transporter activity organic anion transport monocarboxylic acid transport transmembrane transport
Keywords Ontology : <u>EGO-EBI</u>	membrane fraction plasma membrane integral to plasma membrane pyruvate metabolic process monocarboxylic acid transmembrane transporter activity symporter activity secondary active monocarboxylate transmembrane transporter activity organic anion transport monocarboxylic acid transport transmembrane transport
Pathways : BIOCARTA	
Pathways : KEGG	
	Other databases
	Probes
Probes : Imagenes	SLC16A3 Related clones (RZPD - Berlin)
	Literature
PubMed	13 Pubmed reference(s) in Entrez
PubGene	SLC16A3

Bibliography

Cloning and sequencing of four new mammalian monocarboxylate transporter (MCT) homologues confirms the existence of a transporter family with an ancient past. Price NT, Jackson VN, Halestrap AP. Biochem J. 1998 Jan 15:329 (Pt 2):321-8. PMID <u>9425115</u>

Expression of MCT1 and MCT4 in a patient with mitochondrial myopathy. Baker SK, Tarnopolsky MA, Bonen A. Muscle Nerve. 2001 Mar;24(3):394-8. PMID <u>11353425</u>

The SLC16 gene family-from monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs) to aromatic amino acid transporters and beyond. Halestrap AP, Meredith D. Pflugers Arch. 2004 Feb;447(5):619-28. Epub 2003 May 9. PMID <u>12739169</u>

Comparison of hypoxia transcriptome in vitro with in vivo gene expression in human bladder cancer. Ord JJ, Streeter EH, Roberts IS, Cranston D, Harris AL. Br J Cancer. 2005 Aug 8;93(3):346-54. PMID <u>16052224</u>

Altered metabolic and transporter characteristics of vastus lateralis in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Green HJ, Burnett ME, D'Arsigny CL, O'Donnell DE, Ouyang J, Webb KA. J Appl Physiol. 2008 Sep;105(3):879-86. Epub 2008 Jul 17. PMID <u>18635880</u>

The SLC16 monocaboxylate transporter family. Meredith D, Christian HC. Xenobiotica. 2008 Jul;38(7-8):1072-106. (REVIEW) PMID <u>18668440</u>

Increased expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1, 2, and 4 in colorectal carcinomas. Pinheiro C, Longatto-Filho A, Scapulatempo C, Ferreira L, Martins S, Pellerin L, Rodrigues M, Alves VA, Schmitt F, Baltazar F. Virchows Arch. 2008a Feb;452(2):139-46. Epub 2008 Jan 10. PMID <u>18188595</u>

Increasing expression of monocarboxylate transporters 1 and 4 along progression to invasive cervical carcinoma. Pinheiro C, Longatto-Filho A, Ferreira L, Pereira SM, Etlinger D, Moreira MA, Jube LF, Queiroz GS, Schmitt F, Baltazar F. Int J Gynecol Pathol. 2008b Oct;27(4):568-74. PMID <u>18753962</u>

Construction of a chromosome 17 transcriptome in serous ovarian cancer identifies differentially expressed genes. Wojnarowicz PM, Breznan A, Arcand SL, Filali-Mouhim A, Provencher DM, Mes-Masson AM, Tonin PN. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2008 Sep-Oct; 18(5):963-75. Epub 2007 Nov 20. PMID 18028382 A compact VEGF signature associated with distant metastases and poor outcomes. Hu Z, Fan C, Livasy C, He X, Oh DS, Ewend MG, Carey LA, Subramanian S, West R, Ikpatt F, Olopade OI, van de Rijn M, Perou CM. BMC Med. 2009 Mar 16;7:9. PMID 19291283 Analysis of chemotherapy response programs in ovarian cancers by the next-generation sequencing technologies. Cheng L, Lu W, Kulkarni B, Pejovic T, Yan X, Chiang JH, Hood L, Odunsi K, Lin B. Gynecol Oncol. 2010 Feb 22. [Epub ahead of print] PMID 20181382 REVIEW articles Last year publications automatic search in PubMed automatic search in PubMed Search in all EBI NCBI Contributor(s) Written 03-2010 Céline Pinheiro, Fátima Baltazar Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), School of Health Sciences, University of Minho, Campus of Gualtar, 4710-057 Braga, Portugal Citation This paper should be referenced as such : Pinheiro C, Baltazar F . SLC16A3 (solute carrier family 16, member 3 (monocarboxylic acid transporter 4)). Atlas Genet Cytogenet Oncol Haematol. March 2010. URL : http://AtlasGeneticsOncology.org/Genes/SLC16A3ID44573ch17q25.html © Atlas of Genetics and Cytogenetics in Oncology and Haematology indexed on : Fri May 28 19:18:43 CEST 2010

Home Genes Leukemias Solid Tumours Cancer-Prone Deep Insight Case Reports Journals Portal Teaching

For comments and suggestions or contributions, please contact us

jlhuret@AtlasGeneticsOncology.org.